MODELLING SMOKING MOTIVATION: MOOD, PERSONALITY AND APPETITIVE BEHAVIOUR

Nima Golijani Moghaddam, BSc.

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

April 2006

ABSTRACT

The overarching aim of this research was to investigate the role of affectivity in real-world smoking behaviour. The motivational relationship between affect and smoking was conceptualised within an interactive hierarchical framework: assessing associations with natural situational variability over time, and moderation by relevant individual differences (chiefly, BIS-BAS scores - as reflecting affective disposition/motivational sensitivity).

An initial questionnaire study was undertaken towards the development of a diary design that would be useful in capturing experiences around everyday smoking behaviour (Chapter 4). This design was then applied in a series of diary studies that were set up to address questions pertaining to the central aim of the research. The main body of the thesis is structured around these areas of enquiry.

Chapter 5 tested competing theoretical models of mood-smoking motivation in everyday contexts and Chapter 6 extended this investigation hierarchically: to ascertain whether there are individual differences in identified motivational experiences. Chapter 7 compared smoking with natural appetitive behaviour (food consumption) to better demarcate parts of the motivational process that might be set awry in reinforcement of non-natural consumption. The influence of more general periodic shifts in motivational experiences and behaviour on consumption/desire to consume was examined in Chapter 8. The final investigative chapter (Chapter 9) compared processes identified for normal smoking behaviour with processes during deprivation/abstinence. Each chapter draws on data from the diary studies as appropriate.

Findings were generally congruent with other naturalistic research in supporting positive mood enhancement (principally, anticipatory elevation of hedonic tone) as

a motivation for normal smoking. BAS reward-sensitivity moderated hedonic incentive effects, but not in the expected direction. Comparisons with natural consumption behaviour suggested that motivations for natural appetitive rewards may differ from those for acquired substance use. Notably, smoking motivations changed somewhat during deprivation, when tense arousal and frustration emerged as operative factors.

Chapter 10 considers the implications of the research for models of mood and personality. These include implications for conceptualising reinforcement sensitivity.

Acknowledgements

I am indebted to Prof. Eamonn Ferguson for his inspiring example and patient supervision.

I owe further gratitude to Dr. Helen Cassaday. Her input as my second supervisor is greatly appreciated.

I thank my family for their unwavering love and support.

I also thank Emma for her love and encouragement.

ABSTRACT	1
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
CONTENTS	4
LIST OF FIGURES	8
LIST OF TABLES	9
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	. 11
1.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	. 11
1.1.1 Smoking motivation	. 11
1.1.2 Hypothetical model of motivation	. 13
1.1.3 Plan of discussion	. 15
1.2 MOOD, PERSONALITY, AND DEPENDENCE	. 16
1.2.1 Mood	. 16
1.2.2 The subjective experience of mood	. 19
1.2.3 Personality	. 21
1.2.4 Mood and personality	. 23
1.2.5 Mood and personality in dependence	. 24
1.3 SMOKING	. 26
1.3.1 Smoking and health	. 26
1.3.2 Smoking and dependence	. 27
1.3.3 Pharmacology of nicotine	. 29
1.4 MOOD AND SMOKING	. 31
1.4.1 Previous research	. 31
1.4.2 Positive reinforcement in mood and smoking	. 33
1.4.3 Negative reinforcement in mood and smoking	. 34
1.4.4 Current standing and limitations of research to date	. 35
1.4.5 Three models of mood regulation as a function of smoking	. 36
1.4.0 Other state correlates or smoking	. 38
1.5 PERSONALITY AND SMOKING	. 41
1.5.1 Research tonding and limitations of reasonable to date with reference t	. 41
1.5.2 Current standing and imitations of research to date with reference t	0
1.5.3 Applied concentralizations of neuropality	. 44
1.6 THE DECENT DECEMBEN	. 45
1.6.1 Methodological Pationalo	. 48
1.6.2 Key issues in the research	. 40
1.6.3 Research programme	, 31 51
1.6.4 Chapter progression	. 34
1.6.5 Summary: Aims	, 55 57
CHAPTER 2. DESIGN & DARTICIDANTS	. <i>57</i>
	. 39
2.1 METHODOLOGICAL APPROACH	. 59
2.1.1 Design	. 59
	. 60
2.2 DIARY METHODOLOGY	. 64
2.2.1 Advantages of diary methods	. 65
2.2.2 Disadvantages of diary methods	. 70
2.3 STATISTICAL METHODOLOGY	. 73
2.4 PARTICIPANTS (DIARY-STUDIES)	. 75
2.3 NEXT CHAPTER	. 78

Contents

CHAPTER 3. INITIAL ASSESSMENT	. 79
3.1 Smoking diaries	. 82
3.1.1 Socio-demographics	. 82
3.1.2 Smoking-related history	. 82
3.1.3 Readiness to change	. 82
3.1.4 Behavioural Inhibition/Behavioural Activation System scales	. 83
3.1.5 IPIP "Big Five"	. 84
3.1.6 UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist	. 84
3.1.7 QSU-Brief	. 85
3.1.8 Revised Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire	. 86
3.2 EATING DIARY	. 86
3.2.1 Weight history	. 87
3.2.2 Readiness for dietary change	. 87
3.2.3 Three Factor Eating Questionnaire	. 88
3.2.4 Hunger Questionnaire	. 88
3.2.5 Questionnaire on Eating Urges	. 89
3.3 NEXT CHAPTER	. 90
CHAPTER 4. SURVEY AND DIARY DEVELOPMENT	.91
	01
4.1 QUESTIONNAIRE STUDT	. 91
4.2 A Participante	. 94
4.2.1 Participants	. 94
4.2.2 Measure	. 94
4.2.4 Data analyses	. 33
4.3 RESULTS	. 97
4.4 DISCUSSION	105
4.5 DEVELOPED DIARY METHODS	107
4.5.1 Episodic smoking diary	107
4.5.2 Event-contingent diary adapted for eating behaviour.	109
4.5.3 Fixed-interval smoking diary	111
4.5.4 Fixed-interval diary adapted for eating behaviour.	115
4.6 DIARY PROCEDURES	116
4.6.1 Smoking diary	116
4.6.2 Eating diary	119
4.6.3 Quasi-intervention diary	119
4.7 DIARY COMPLIANCE.	120
4.7.1 Event-contingent	120
4.7.2 Fixed-interval	122
4.8 NEXT CHAPTER	123
CHAPTER 5. MODELS OF MOOD AND EPISODIC CORRELATES	174
5.1 INVESTIGATIVE APPROACH	126
5.1.1 Comparing the three models	127
5.1.2 Mood changes and episodic context	128
5.1.3 Craving and its relation to mood and context	131
5.2 RESULTS	132
5.2.1 Comparing the three models: Relationships with Mood	132
5.2.2 Comparing the three models: Changes in mean mood	133
5.2.5 ribbu changes and context: Episode-level models	130
5.2. The second se	139
5.3 1 Mood Creating and Model 5th	142
5.3.1 MUUU-SMOKING and Model-FIC	143
5.3.2 Specificity of mood change	145
5.3.5 mound and the relation to mood and contract.	14/
Signa Claving and its relation to mood and context	132

5.4 NEXT CHAPTER155
CHAPTER 6. MODERATION OF MOOD AND EPISODIC CORRELATES 156
6.1 INVESTIGATORY APPROACH
6.1.2 Moderation of mood-context covariation
6.1.4 Moderation of craving and its relation to mood and context1636.2 RESULTS164
6.2.1 Moderation of episodic mood changes
6.2.3 Individual differences in model-fit
6.3 DISCUSSION
6.3.2 Moderation of mood-context covariation
6.4 NEXT CHAPTER
CHAPTER 7. EATING AS A COMPARATIVE CONSUMPTION BEHAVIOUR 186
7.1 DATA ANALYSES
7.1.2 Moderating role of individual variability
7.2 RESULTS
7.2.2 Moderating role of individual variability
7.3 Discussion
7.3.3 Direct comparisons
CHAPTER 8. PERIODIC VARIABILITY - CRAVING, CONSUMPTION, AND
RELATED EXPERIENCES
8.1 INVESTIGATORY APPROACH
8.1.2 Periodic variability in food consumption
8.1.3 Current mood in relation to periodic craving and smoking frequency 234 8.2 RESULTS
8.2.1 Periodic craving and smoking frequency235 8.2.2 Periodic variability in food consumption
8.2.3 Mood at interval in relation to periodic craving and smoking frequency 240
8.3 DISCUSSION
8.3.2 Contrasts with periodic food consumption
8.4 Next chapter252
CHAPTER 9. CHANGES ASSOCIATED WITH ABSTINENCE
9.1 INVESTIGATORY PERSPECTIVES 255 9.1.1 Periodic abstinence experiences and moderation 255 9.1.2 Episodic 'lapse' experiences and moderation 256

9.2 RESULTS	257
9.2.1 Periodic changes during abstinence and moderation	257
9.2.1 Episodic changes during abstinence and moderation	
9.3 DISCUSSION	264
9.3.1 Periodic experiences during deprivation	267
9.3.2 Smoking episodes during deprivation	271
9.3.3 Lapse predictability	275
CHAPTER 10. GENERAL DISCUSSION	278
10.1 CENTRAL OUESTIONS ANSWERED	278
Ouestion 1: Episodic smoking motivation	279
Ouestion 2: Periodic smoking motivation	
Ouestion 3: Comparison with natural consumption	
Ouestion 4: Deprivation smoking motivation	282
Emergent implications	
10.2 IMPLICATIONS FOR MODELS OF MOTIVATION	283
10.3 IMPLICATIONS OF DISTINCTION FROM NATURAL CONSUMPTION	289
10.4 ROLE OF PERSONALITY	295
10.4.1 The moderating influence of BIS-BAS	296
10.4.2 Implications for personality theory and assessment	299
10.4 LIMITATIONS AND CONTRIBUTIONS	302
10.5 CONCLUSIONS	305
REFERENCES	307
APPENDIX A. SMOKING DIARY MATERIALS	332
APPENDIX B. EATING DIARY MATERIALS	351
APPENDIX C. QUASI-INTERVENTIONAL DIARY MATERIALS	369
APPENDIX D. INITIAL QUESTIONNAIRE MATERIALS	376

List of Figures

- **Figure 1.1** *Potential model of episodic smoking motivation*
- Figure 1.2 Predicted mood-smoking patterns by model
- Figure 4.1 The episodic smoking diary
- **Figure 4.2** The fixed-interval smoking diary
- **Figure 5.1** Mean hedonic tone and energetic arousal at baseline, pre-smoking, and post-smoking states
- Figure 5.2 Mean desire at baseline, pre-smoking, and post-smoking states
- Figure 5.3 Model of episodic mood-change
- Figure 5.4 Model of episodic mood-change covariation
- Figure 5.5 Model of episodic craving and covariation
- **Figure 6.1** *Model of episodic mood-change moderation*
- **Figure 6.2** Model of episodic mood-change covariation: extended to consider moderation
- Figure 6.3 Model of episodic craving covariation: extended to consider moderation
- **Figure 7.1** Mean energetic arousal at baseline, pre-eating, and post-eating states
- Figure 7.2 Episodic model of mood in relation to food consumption/smoking
- **Figure 7.3** Episodic model of urge in relation to food consumption/smoking
- **Figure 7.4** Direct comparison: Episodic model of smoking- (versus eating-) related experiences
- Figure 8.1 Model of periodic smoking frequency
- Figure 8.2 Model of periodic urge to smoke
- **Figure 8.3** Model of periodic eating frequency
- Figure 8.4 Model of periodic urge to eat
- Figure 9.1 Model of periodic changes during deprivation
- Figure 9.2 Model of episodic changes during deprivation

List of Tables

- **Table 1.1** Comparability of eating and smoking behaviours
- **Table 1.2** Results chapters and the studies that they draw upon
- Table 2.1
 Diary Designs Implemented in the Present Research
- **Table 3.1** Validated instruments applied in diary studies and associated

 reliabilities
- **Table 3.2** Cluster-structure of QEU-Brief adaptation in the eating diary
- **Table 4.1**Smoking characteristics of the sample
- **Table 4.2** Triggers generated within each content domain
- Table 5.1
 Episodic relationships between significant mood changes and contextual variables
- **Table 5.2**Episodic relationships between significant urge changes and
contextual variables
- **Table 6.1** Administered trait measures (level 2 variables)
- Table 6.2
 Person-level moderators of significant mood change
- Table 7.1
 Trait measures examined as potential moderators
- **Table 7.2** Episodic relationships between significant mood changes and contextual variables
- Table 7.3
 Episodic relationships between significant urge changes and contextual variables
- **Table 7.4**Experiences associated with smoking (versus natural consumption)episodes
- **Table 7.5** Logistic regression results with dependent variable = Smoker status
- **Table 8.1** Periodic measures: Smoking and food consumption
- **Table 9.1** Abstinence periods and subsequent internal state: Relationships and

 moderation
 moderation
- Table 9.2
 Abstinence periods and concurrent experiences: Relationships and moderation

- **Table 9.3**Lapse episodes and internal cues (changes from baseline to pre-
smoking): Relationships and moderation
- **Table 9.4** Lapse episodes and situational context: Relationships and moderation
- **Table 9.5**Lapse episodes and consumption effects (pre- to post-smoking
changes/intake): Relationships and moderation
- Table 10.1
 Episodic processes between behaviours

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 General Introduction

This thesis will examine the role of affectivity in smoking behaviour. Research will consider the role of affectivity at different levels of temporal stability/situational specificity – from transient states (acute affective responses and mood) to stable affective-dispositions (personality) – and how these might interact in relation to smoking motivation and behaviour embedded in time.

1.1.1 Smoking motivation

Smoking is the most prevalent preventable cause of death in the UK (Callum, 1998), yet the aetiology of smoking behaviour and dependence (onset, maintenance, and relapse) is unclear (Schmitz, Schneider, & Jarvik, 1997). One reason for this is the extent to which relevant models must account for the similarly elusive domains of human motivation and affective response systems (Elster, 1999). Within current models of substance use, affective constructs are generally latent concepts. For example, in behavioural-learning models, the incorporation of affective motivation is implicit within the context of reinforcing substanceproperties: an elicited impetus to regain previously-experienced euphoric effects (positive reinforcement) and/or assuage withdrawal-like states (negative reinforcement). The present research makes the motivational relationship between mood and smoking its direct focus. Uniquely, this relationship will be investigated in an interactive framework examining: (a) its association with natural contextual variability; and (b) its moderation by theoretically relevant individual variability (chiefly, trait affectivity). Trait and situational approaches to the investigation of smoking motivation have previously been distinct - despite identification of a need

to relate the momentary characteristics of smoking to individual differences (Shiffman *et al.*, 1997a).

To reiterate, the present approach to examining smoking motivation centres on possible interactions of mood, contextual associations, and personality.

Mood

Affective responding is closely linked to motivation (Baker, Brandon, & Chassin, 2004a) and an understanding of the relationship between smoking and affect might facilitate better comprehension of smoking behaviour and mechanisms of dependence (Kassel, Stroud, & Paronis, 2003). To the extent that subjective experiences index these mechanisms, reports indicate that mood modification is a motivationally significant function of smoking (Marsh & Mathieson, 1983). Research to date is supportive of the need for investigation of mood-smoking relationships (Wetter *et al.*, 2004), although previous findings in this regard have been inconclusive (Zinser *et al.*, 1999). Much of the research to date has been laboratory-based, and there is a need for convergent research in natural settings.

Contextual associations and craving

Much of the variation in the affect of an individual is attributable to unique contextual cues (such as particular activities) related to activation or inhibition of the individual's goal-directed behaviour (Clark & Fiske, 1982; Mandler, 1984). The present research will attempt to sample and model some of the contextual correlates of smoking that may interact with affective aspects of use behaviour - for example, the external state (location and company) within which smoking occurs. Demonstrably, situational stimuli that surround smoking and smoking rituals can come to prompt smoking behaviour through learning processes (Lazev *et al.*, 1999). These contextual cues derive meaning from their occurrence in conjunction with mood-regulatory functions of smoking (Quirk, 2001).

The subjective experience of urge to smoke (craving) may represent a cognitive summation of affective cues, contextual cues, and smoking as a potential response (Halikas, 1997). As such, craving might mediate the influence of mood-context on behaviour. At minimum, it is likely to reflect motivational variability relevant to current investigation. The present research will assess this experience as a correlate of mood-smoking in everyday contexts.

Personality

Personality appears to influence most indices of smoking behaviour. Research suggests that there are systematic individual differences between smokers and non-smokers (Colby *et al.*, 2000), and that, even within the smoker sub-population, there is significant variability between-persons in levels of dependence (Dierker *et al.*, 2001), reasons for smoking (Piper *et al.*, 2004), and smoking-related experiences (Patton, Barnes, & Murray, 1997). Traits indicative of specific affective styles warrant particular attention in relation to smoking (Gilbert, 1995). For example, emotional instability and impulsivity have been associated with smoking motivation (Reuter & Netter, 2001; Hall *et al.*, 1991; Acton, 2003), and these traits are more generally theorised to moderate mood responses (Hepburn & Eysenck, 1989; Gray, 1987).

The influence of other stable factors/traits (such as dependence level and nonaffective dimensions of personality) will also be considered in relation to smoking and mood-smoking patterns, but the principal focus is on emotionality in smoking behaviour.

1.1.2 Hypothetical model of motivation

Figure 1.1 presents a hypothetical model of the motivational relationships under investigation. Better specification of this model is a goal of the present research.

Figure 1.1

Potential model of episodic smoking motivation



Level 2

Figure 1.1 presents a model of motivational mood changes in relation to the onset and offset of smoking episodes; it further indicates that smoking-related changes might be influenced by personality (connection-type a). Personality is represented as being super-ordinate in a two-level hierarchy, where within-person relationships constitute the lower level of motivation. The model acknowledges that mood may interact with contemporaneous context and craving, and that these interactions may also be moderated by personality (connection-type b); as might the influence of more distal motives (connection-type c). The shaded box represents the duration of smoking; time is loosely conceptualised as advancing from left to right in this figure. Thus, variables shown to the left of the box depict pre-smoking state. Box arrows are indicative of potential changes in state (mood or craving) in connection with smoking.

The variable of central interest in this model is mood in relation to smoking. Mood changes from pre- to post-smoking reflect the direct effects of consumption, and changes before smoking (relative to baseline) reflect smoking cues and/or expectation (Rohsenow *et al.*, 1990-91). These mood changes may be sensitive to the context within which smoking occurs (Payne *et al.*, 1996); for example, effects of smoking consumption on mood may be different when in social situations or

when paired with alcohol. Reports of craving may represent metacognitions that reflect both mood cues and context (Toneatto, 1999), and this is indicated diagrammatically in Figure 1.1. Note that all pre- and post-smoking states could be inter-related, though all possible connections are not shown in the diagram (to minimise visual complexity). Though most states shown are contiguous to the smoking event, the model indicates that other motives – slower-acting processes lagged over time – may also influence smoking. These could also have affective content. For example, an unpleasant experience that motivates an intention to smoke might occur in a no-smoking environment (such as a work environment); circumstances dictate that smoking must be delayed. When the smoker is again able to smoke, their original feelings regarding the unpleasant experience may have subsided, but the smoking intention could still remain and provoke smoking. In such a circumstance, smoking-contiguous responses would not be sensitive to motivation. This hypothetical situation is considered in the methodological approach to the research: temporal assessment does not focus solely on the smoking episode - it also gauges associations lagged over the course of a day.

The relationships discussed above are within-person associations at level 1 of the hypothetical model. It may be that these associations are systematically moderated by personality traits at level 2 of the hierarchy: Personality may directly influence mood or influence its covariation with context (Gilbert & Gilbert, 1998); personality may further influence distal motives. The hierarchical model of motivation conceptualises the individual's experiences as being nested within their stable characteristics.

1.1.3 Plan of discussion

The introductory chapter begins by considering the constructs of mood and personality, and their potential implication in dependence processes. The scope of

the present research is limited to the investigation of mood, personality and dependence as they pertain to smoking behaviour – although natural consumption behaviour (eating) is examined using equivalent methods, so as to provide comparative appetitive data. Thus, the present chapter further provides a rationale for the research in terms of the importance of smoking as a health behaviour warranting further investigation – and evidence that smoking is a dependencerelated activity. Subsequent sections consider mood and personality in relation to smoking behaviour. These sections provide an overview of relevant research to date, and introduce the conceptualisations to be applied in the present research, supporting the latter with the former. The final sections of the introduction provide a preliminary rationale and primer for the methodology utilised in the present research, they also outline the potential interactions of mood and personality in relation to smoking behaviour that will be tested and specify the key questions to be addressed by the research.

1.2 Mood, Personality, and Dependence

1.2.1 Mood

Affect is elusively multi-dimensional and can be defined along broad dimensions or more narrowly (prototype emotional states of sadness, anger etc.; Schimmack, 2001; Tomkins, 1992). There is no consensus definition of affect, but this does not necessarily impede the development of coherent research approaches to this area of experience (Kappas, 2002). After Darwin (1965), many researchers have adopted a functional conceptualisation of affect as a rapid response system – monitoring environmental opportunities/threats and modulating motivation accordingly – affording clear adaptive advantages (Ekman & Davidson, 1994). Affective responses are posited to reflect situational impact on the needs and goals of an individual, such that they are closely linked to motivation (Watson, 2000).

Affect includes physiological, behavioural, and cognitive aspects that may demonstrate complex interrelation. For example, physiological measures of activation (such as heart rate) may not be entirely consistent with self-reported affective experience (Levenson, 1992). Debate persists as to the dimensional make-up of affect, and how it might best be assessed (Niedenthal, Halberstadt, & Innes-Ker, 1999). This implies that mood measures selected for use in the present research may not be compatible with some theoretical approaches and/or reported study-outcomes. An attempt was made to assess self-reported mood as a multidimensional experience (discussed later in this section), with the potential for greater comparability and descriptive insight than might be afforded by assessments of fewer dimensions. However, it is acknowledged that the present approach - from its self-report method to the number and nature of affective dimensions applied – will not suit all positions.

Elements of affective response – including neural, sensorimotor, motivational, and cognitive processes – may be represented as a hierarchy of physiological and psychological dimensions (Izard, 1993). Affect is generated/represented at numerous neurological levels (Davidson, 1992). Cortical processing is not necessary for sub-cortical responses (for example, in the amygdala or hippocampus) to stimuli associated with emotion (LeDoux, 1996). Cortical structures are implicated in cognitive mediation of affective responses, conscious processing of affect, and the human capacity for reflective experiences of emotion (Quirk, 2001). Cortical and sub-cortical territories have mutual neurological projections suggesting systemic interactivity in the regulation of affect (Davidson, 1999). There is growing convergence in the literature on the notional existence of two fundamental systems underlying approach and avoidance–related emotion and motivation (Cacioppo & Gardner, 1999). The precise description of these systems differs somewhat across investigators, but there is consensus regarding the essential elements. The approach system has been described as facilitating appetitive behaviour and

generating particular types of affect that are approach-related, such as affect occurring as an organism moves closer toward a desired goal. Descriptions of the avoidance system suggest that it facilitates withdrawal from aversive stimulation and/or organises appropriate responses to cues of threat: generating avoidancerelated affect such as anxiety (Gray, 1994). A variety of evidence indicates that these systems are implemented in partially separable circuits, primarily related to functioning of the prefrontal cortex and amygdale (Davidson & Irwin, 1999).

The present research methods dictate that only affective processes available to self-report will be assessed; it is important to recognise that measures applied in this research may be insensitive to some components of affect/arousal involved in the experiences under test, or sample them only indirectly. For the purposes of the present research, the terms affect, mood, and emotion will generally be used interchangeably. The DSM-IV (APA, 1995) defines mood as a more pervasive and sustained emotional "climate" in contrast to the fluctuating "weather" of affect (temporary expressions of emotion such as sadness or anger). However, these definitions have yet to be suitably operationalised (Matthews & Deary, 1998), and the distinction between acute changes in mood and changes that are less directly linked to immediate events will be more clearly demarcated by the temporal methodologies employed in the present research.

The present research applied the model of mood proposed by Matthews, Jones, & Chamberlain (1990) that comprises three main bipolar dimensions: hedonic tone (happy-depressed), energetic arousal (active-sluggish), and tense arousal (anxious-relaxed) – plus an additional unipolar dimension of anger. This model was chosen following recommendations to investigate mood-smoking relationships using conceptualisations of mood that incorporate aspects of arousal as well as affectivity (Kassel *et al.*, 2003). Comparative research further indicates that more common two-dimensional models of affect are not comprehensive enough to adequately

capture mood (Schimmack & Grob, 2000); a finding that additionally supports use of the Matthews *et al.* (1990) theory - and associated measures.

1.2.2 The subjective experience of mood

Given the focus of the present thesis on affective behaviour, and its investigative reliance on subjective self-report, it is important to acknowledge the limitations of conscious emotional experience. That which is available to self-report is secondary to more basic emotional responses (Rolls, 1999). These emotional responses form the primary response system: triggering actions prior to cognitive awareness of emotion/action (LeDoux, 1998; Zajonc, 2000). Such basic affective responses may largely be attributed to subcortical structures that evolved at an earlier stage than the human cortex, and were capable of producing appropriate responses to valenced stimuli without conscious feelings (as they are in species without higher cortical functioning; LeDoux, 1996). Even in the developmental cycle of a modern human, cognitive representation of emotional experience must emerge from these underlying responses (the reverse is not possible). Subjective reports of emotion can be informative about underlying processes, but conscious awareness is not necessary for emotional responding (Berridge, 2003).

For example, it has been shown that (conscious) affective reactions can be elicited by stimuli that are processed without conscious awareness (Bornstein, 1989). People show subjective hedonic preferences for repeatedly exposed neutral stimuli even when these stimuli are not recognised or judged more familiar (Kunst-Wilson & Zajonc, 1980). Similar effects of 'mere exposure' were found recently by Monahan, Murphy and Zajonc (2000): subliminally pre-exposed neutral stimuli elicited more positive subjective mood reports as compared with neutral stimuli that had not been presented before. Subliminal affective priming has also been shown for basic affective stimuli (human facial expressions; Murphy & Zajonc,

1993). Neutral stimuli (Chinese ideographs) preceded by subliminal displays of smiling faces were rated as more liked than neutral stimuli preceded by subliminal displays of frowning faces.

Thus, people may not be aware of the cues for the valenced emotions that motivate their behaviour. This suggests that the causes of affect-behaviour sequences might not be identified by subjective recall/insight. The present research applies eventsampling diary methods that could usefully elucidate situations surrounding affective behaviours. Contingencies that have not been explicitly identified by the participant may emerge from objective analysis of situational snapshots (elicited reports). However, evidence for unconscious elicitation of affect-behaviour sequences also suggests that cues could be missed by situational descriptions: even when these descriptions are not explicitly linked to affect/behaviour (i.e., participants are only asked to describe the situation they are in as they prepare to perform the behaviour under investigation), key details may be omitted. This could emerge from poverty of description or from genuine unawareness of the stimulus precipitating affect and behaviour (when the stimulus occurs outside conscious perception).

Discussion to this point has established that subjective reports may not capture the antecedents or triggers of an affective behaviour (such as smoking). Even if all internal and external states available to participant self-report are accurately recorded, there may be other cues for affect and behaviour that the participant is unable to report. This limits the insight into causal mechanisms that is achievable from self-report. Inference-making from self-reports relating to affective behaviour is further undermined by research that has established the operation of implicit emotion (Winkielman & Berridge, 2004): affect occurring outside of conscious awareness.

Berridge and Winkielman (2003) demonstrated that subliminal emotional stimuli (facial expressions) may prompt affective consumption behaviour without eliciting changes in subjective mood at the point of the affective reaction. In this way, both the cause and motivational state of emotion occurred outside of awareness, yet were powerful enough to influence behaviour. Clearly, this evidence has relevance for the investigation undertaken in the present thesis: it should not be assumed that affective experiences surrounding smoking behaviour will be available to selfreport. All emotional states have the potential to become conscious (Ellis & Newton, 2000), and there are adaptive advantages to the entrance of these states into consciousness (Rolls, 1999), but such states may occur and affect behaviour without consciousness. It remains to be seen whether these unconscious states are only responsive to basic affective stimuli (such as human facial expressions) or whether secondary environmental stimuli (for example, the sight of a lighter for a smoker) and stimuli above the threshold of awareness can provoke unconscious reactions without conscious reactions (Winkielman & Berridge, 2004). Nonetheless, it is known that smokers subjectively recollect smoking to regulate their mood (Wetter et al., 2004) and this suggests that measurement of conscious experiences of affect around smoking behaviour may be insightful.

1.2.3 Personality

The dominant approach in modern personality theory is trait theory (Matthews & Deary, 1998). In trait theories, people differ in amount of trait possessed on a continuum. There is a substantial body of evidence suggesting that personality traits remain stable over time (Costa & McCrae, 1992; Steyer, Schmitt & Eid, 1999). Trait concepts are couched in the everyday language of personality description and used to differentiate and generalise about individual behavioural styles. The scientific study of traits develops lay theories of personality by formalising these descriptors (Matthews, Deary, & Whiteman, 2003). Allport (1937)

shaped the theoretical development of trait psychology by formulating an argument for the use of common-sense terms in psychometric developments. Subsequent application of factor analytic techniques has led to the development of statistically validated self-report measures of personality (Segal & Coolidge, 2003). There is general agreement that dimensions of extraversion/introversion and neuroticism/emotional stability are fundamental elements of personality taxonomies (Eysenck, 1991; Pickering *et al.*, 1997; Costa & McCrae, 1992).

There is a consensus belief in the causal primacy of traits (Furnham & Heaven, 1999), and trait theories often posit links to putative biological mechanisms underlying individual differences (Eysenck, 1967; Carver & White, 1994; McCrae & Costa, 1996). However, others have argued that traits are constructions with no independent causal status – facilitating only description of natural categories of acts (Buss & Craik, 1983) – and evidence certainly questions the causal independence of traits (Hampson, 1988). Some researchers have circumvented the issue of causation, embracing the descriptive potential of trait measures and a more evidence based approach to conceptualising personality (Goldberg, 1993).

The present research applied a biologically-based, theoretically-driven measure of personality together with an exploratory lexical instrument. It was not in the scope of present research to determine which of these personality approaches (and related measures) is superior – although something might be learned about their relevance as applied to mood regulatory aspects of smoking. It was considered that the bio-theoretical measure would be particularly appropriate to the concept of reinforcement in smoking motivation, but that scoring on dimensions in the lexical measure would have descriptive utility (in fact, these dimensions can be interpreted within a number of relevant bio-theoretical accounts too; e.g., Costa & McCrae, 1992). Importantly, and in spite of their current dominance in the field, these personality theories have rarely been applied to smoking research. The measures

used, and the personality theory that guided present research, will be discussed later in the chapter.

1.2.4 Mood and personality

Since Galen's theory of humours (Stelmack & Stalikas, 1991), and its characterisation of temperament in the language of emotion (melancholic, choleric, phlegmatic, and sanguine), the notion of a fundamental link between personality and affectivity has persisted. Contemporary research has found that personality traits demonstrate strong correlations with affectivity (Matthews & Deary, 1998). The emergent correlational relationships may depend upon the conceptualisations and measurements of personality and affectivity adopted, but there are comparable consistencies that point to latent systemic processes. Evidence suggests, for example, that dimensional positive and negative affect (Watson et al., 1994) - and comparable constructs of energetic and tense arousal (Thayer, 1996) - tend to be related to trait extraversion and neuroticism respectively. However, these relationships are modified by situational factors and might best be understood within an interactionist framework (Spielberger, 1986). For example, individuals higher in trait neuroticism may be prone to experience elevations of tense arousal (anxiety) at a higher frequency/intensity than their less neurotic counterparts, but an anxiety response may not occur unless certain situational conditions are in place such as an external threat. The primacy (and independence) of personality in these interactions (personality-mood-situation) is perhaps somewhat inherent in its conceptualisation as the most stable component of the three behavioural correlates. However, Wells & Matthews (1994) describe a number of feedback mechanisms implicated in regulation/disturbance of personality, further to those affecting emotion. For example, dynamic interactions may be characterised by affective episodes (specific combinations of situation and emotion) that modify related personality traits - by feeding back to the very dimensions that pre-disposed the

affective episode. Endler (1993) is more radical in his depiction of the relative interplay of personality, mood, and situational factors: stressing the primacy of situation as determining appropriate personal-style and affective responses.

Clearly, there are gaps in our knowledge of these interactions that allow competing conceptualisations to arise. The chief implication of this for the present thesis is an affirmation of the need to look at these three components (personality, mood, and situation) simultaneously; acknowledging the potential importance of each and of their interaction. A further implication is the need for caution in interpretation. If a model shows, for example, that personality has direct effects on the mood-smoking relationship that do not vary across situations, the present methods would not allow conclusions to be made about the role of situations in personality development or the original/developmental direction of influence between mood-smoking and personality (prospective studies would be required).

1.2.5 Mood and personality in dependence

Research into specific motivations underlying dependence has only partly elucidated a phenomenon of evident complexity. Approaches that acknowledge the role of affective motivation and its relation to individual variability may help to address this situation (Gilbert & Gilbert, 1996). Eysenck's Drug Postulate model (Eysenck, 1963) was the earliest to specify a link between personality and state effects of psychoactive substances. Individual differences in extraversion formed the principal focus of Eysenck's theory, which posited a characterisation of extraversion as reflecting low cortical arousal and low sedation thresholds relative to introversion. Empirical findings have indicated that extraverts may exhibit greater affective reactivity to stimulant drugs, such as caffeine (Smith *et al.*, 1983). Claridge (1983) reviewed evidence supporting Eysenck's hypothesis, concluding in its favour, but stressing that extraversion interacts with other personality dimensions and

situational factors in predicting drug-related affect and associated responses. An individual's trait-based response tendencies may determine the key state-related motivations for their drug use across stages of initiation, maintenance, and relapse (Gilbert, 1994). For example, a person with a tendency towards depressed mood responses will experience greater depression during periods of drug abstinence such that drug use may come to be associated with the attenuation of depression.

For the purposes of the present research, smoking was investigated as a testbehaviour for potential relationships between personality, mood, and dependence. Methodologies applied in the present research might be particularly suited to examination of smoking behaviour, as animal modelling techniques - whilst successfully applied to opiate and cocaine use - have not been highly efficacious in capturing the smoking experience (Bozarth & Pudiak, 1996). Animals do not readily seek out nicotine (Dar & Frenk, 2002), requiring forced exposure to high doses to motivate marker behaviours for dependence. Furthermore, it may be that smoking behaviour is primarily related to activity of higher cortical functioning unique to humans – especially affective functioning in these regions (Davidson, 2001). Smoker sub-populations are also readily and openly available for sampling within clinically normal student populations. Thus, some of the ethical, legal, and practical barriers to conducting self-report into dependence may be circumnavigated by working with such a sample. The following section emphasises the importance of research into smoking by considering its public health consequences and the limitations of current understanding regarding motivations underlying smoking behaviour. Within this framework of discussion, the potential validity of smoking as representing a dependence-related process is also considered: such validity facilitates tentative generalisation of findings in smoking behaviour to other dependence behaviours.

1.3 Smoking

1.3.1 Smoking and health

Tobacco smoke contains numerous agents that are damaging to health (Benitez *et al.*, 1996) and smoking contributes to life threatening conditions such as heart disease, stroke, peptic ulcer disease, and lung cancer (Rose, 1996). In England, the prevalence of smoking among adults aged 16 and over has decreased from 40% in 1978, to 27% in 1998 (ONS, 2000). From a public health perspective, it is clearly important that smoking prevalence is reduced further still, with smoking-related costs to the NHS (in 1997 prices) estimated to be £1.4-1.5 billion (Parrot *et al.*, 1998). Over 120,000 deaths were caused by smoking in the UK in 1995 – a figure that accounts for one in five of all deaths that year (Callum, 1998) - and, globally, tobacco is responsible for more deaths than any other drug. It is estimated to be the cause of three million deaths a year, whereas the combined death toll causally linked to the use of alcohol and other psychoactive substances is closer to 123, 000 (WHO, 1997).

Smokers in the UK today have some knowledge of the negative health consequences of tobacco use – there is evidence to suggest that they might even overestimate the health risks of smoking (Viscusi, 1990). Health authorities and charities have done much to promote public awareness of the risks associated with smoking, and, in 1991, the government formally brought tobacco packaging health warning regulations in line with EU requirements (Tobacco Products Labelling (Safety) Regulations, 1991). Tellingly, survey data suggests that the majority of ongoing smokers – 69% (ONS, 2000) - want to quit smoking. Smokers are aware of the benefits of quitting, and statistical trends and cessation studies indicate that people *can* quit smoking, yet, clearly, smokers find it very difficult to stop – even when they want to. Smokers have little confidence in their ability to quit (Bridgewood *et al.*, 1996). In the UK, 30% of smokers try to quit each year (West

et al., 1999), but only 1% are successful (Jarvis, 1997), and it is evident that several quit attempts are often required before an individual permanently ceases smoking.

There is clearly scope for the development of effective interventions that can assist those who want to quit smoking. The present research contributes by characterising smoking associations in everyday situations – the contexts within which individuals have to cope during abstinence attempts. Moreover, the hierarchical approach of the present research acknowledges that smokers may vary in their motivation to smoke; evidence to this effect would support individualisation of treatment. Diary methods of the kind developed in the present research could be particularly efficacious in more individualised assessments.

1.3.2 Smoking and dependence

Evidence suggests that smokers become dependent on the nicotine present in tobacco smoke (APA, 1995; but see Atrens, 2001). It follows that nicotinedelivering tobacco preparations might be aptly categorised as addicting or dependence-producing drugs. Nicotine and smoking meet the criteria for substance dependence specified in both the ICD-10 and the DSM-IV (RCP, 2000). Garrett and Griffiths (2001) found that, in subjects with prior experience of cocaine and nicotine use, nicotine infusions produced dose-dependent increases in ratings of "drug effect" and "like drug"; seven of the nine subjects identified the highest dose of nicotine as cocaine. The DSM-IV defines drug dependence as: "...a cluster of cognitive, behavioural, and physiological symptoms that indicate that the person has impaired control of psychoactive substance use and continues use of the substance despite adverse consequences" (APA, 1995, p166). Typically, research has focused on the physiological component of nicotine dependence.

Animal research was the foundation for the study of neurochemical reward circuitry, and the better understanding of drug dependency it brought about, and there is a prominent tendency in the field to study substance use and related motivation within the framework of the derived dopamine (DA) theory (Wise, 1996) – which implicates the mesotelencephalic dopaminergic reward system in dependence. Available evidence from animal studies indicates that dopamine contributes in a discrete, but distinct, fashion to the nicotine cue (Di Chiara, 2000; discussed further in 1.3.3). This is not tested in the present research, but there have been notable efforts elsewhere to integrate subjective reports of mood and reward sensitivity (central measures in the current approach) with indices of dopaminergic functioning (e.g., Pickering & Gray, 1999).

Central to most definitions of reinforcement in physiological dependence is the idea that drug taking (as a reinforcing hedonic behaviour) moves the organism towards homeostasis whilst, simultaneously, the organism develops adaptive physiological mechanisms counteracting the effects of the substance. When substance use is extinguished abruptly, the now unopposed counteractive effects present the syndrome of physiological withdrawal (Schilit & Gomberg, 1991) – the symptoms of which may include agitation, difficulty concentrating, irritability, and sleep deprivation (effects opposite to the physiological experiences, and subjective correlates, associated with nicotine intake). The perception that dependence refers to a state of need for the continuation of drug consumption so as to prevent/relieve unpleasant withdrawal effects remains popular within the general public, but research indicates that acute nicotine withdrawal is not sufficient to explain dependent smoking behaviour (West & Gossop, 1994). Control of withdrawal symptoms through nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) is of limited efficacy - most smokers who are actively attempting cessation eventually relapse to tobacco products, even with the provision of alternative nicotine delivery systems (Rose, 1996) - and relapse can occur long after physiological withdrawal subsides (Somoza

et al., 1995). Sub-populations of regular smokers who show minimal signs of physical dependence (with negligible escalation in tolerance over time) have been identified (Shiffman *et al.*, 1994); these smokers do not experience acute physical withdrawal during abstinence – the maintenance of their smoking behaviour must be attributable to other factors – such as mood-regulation expectancies. This suggests the need for research into psychological reinforcement of smoking, as undertaken in the present thesis.

1.3.3 Pharmacology of nicotine

Discounting carcinogenic tars, nicotine is the only compound in tobacco possessing of pharmacological effects (Julien, 1997). Given that these effects are held to be instrumental in establishing and maintaining smoking dependence, discussion of the pharmacokinetics of nicotine is warranted.

Nicotine reaches the brain in a few seconds following smoke inhalation (principally through pulmonary absorption and via arterial blood), where it acts on 'nicotinic' cholinergic receptors. Activation of these receptors likely facilitates the release of dopamine from mesocorticolimbic neurons (Corrigall et al., 1994), and this mechanism of action accounts for the reward experienced by smokers (most clearly in early phases of use; Watkins et al., 2000): comprising mood elevation, appetite diminution, and cognitive enhancement (Stahl, 2000). The rapidity of nicotine's effects may in part account for its strength as a reinforcer (Quinn et al., 1997), especially as compared with forms of nicotine replacement delivery (Mathieu-Kia et al., 2002). At the end of each smoking episode, the blood level of nicotine rapidly peaks and falls; the elimination half-life of nicotine is approximately two hours (Julien, 1997). The falling nicotine levels between smoking episodes allow time for nicotinic receptors to re-sensitise somewhat between cigarettes (Balfour et al., 2000).

The reinforcing actions of nicotine show similarity to those associated with other psychomotor stimulants, such as cocaine. However, the effects of nicotine on psycho-pharmacology and behaviour appear more subtle than those of cocaine (Stahl, 2000). Where cocaine blocks dopamine transporters such that dopamine synapses are stimulated by a great flow of dopamine, nicotine may switch off nicotinic receptors after initial binding: such that the receptor cannot be stimulated for some time afterwards. In this way, dopaminergic stimulation from nicotine occurs in small bursts separated by gradual declines until nicotinic receptors turn on again (ready to be stimulated by the next inhalation of smoke or smoking episode). Thus, a certain amount of pacing is inherent in the effects of nicotine, potentially limiting its behavioural effects as compared with other psychomotor stimulants.

Dopamine has been identified as the key neurotransmitter in regulation of reward/pleasure reactivity (Wise 1996; Heimer et al. 1997) – although it may not be necessary or sufficient to produce subjective experiences of pleasure (Robinson & Berridge, 2001; despite correlational evidence; Volkow et al., 1999). Chronic nicotine administration may alter dopaminergic activity in the mesocorticolimbic system such that reward thresholds increase during periods of abstinence (Eissenberg, 2004). Thus withdrawal from nicotine could lead to a decrease in sensitivity to positive stimuli and depression of hedonic tone. Nicotine has a further property that may strengthen the likelihood of relapse (and, it follows, the strength of dependence) at this abstinent stage. Over time, nicotine users may sensitise their nicotinic cholinergic receptors to compensate for their being regularly shut down during smoking episodes (Stahl, 2000). A consequence of this in abstinence might be that the general anhedonia brought about by increased reward thresholds is compounded by a strong sensitivity to nicotine stimulation. In this context the rewarding value of nicotine to an organism may be particularly marked.

An understanding of the pharmacological basis of nicotine's effects bolsters interpretation of the subjective reports collected in the present research: providing a basis for linking reported experiences with knowledge of underlying mechanisms. Furthermore, it points to the importance of assessing smoking-related experiences within particular temporal windows and under particular conditions. The short-lived acute effects of smoking suggest the need to sample temporal points at close proximity to smoking episodes (event-contingent sampling). The gradual dissipation of nicotine levels between smoking events suggests that periodic reports may offer insight into slower-acting processes (fixed-interval sampling). Finally, the likely shifts in reward sensitivity and relative incentive value/direct effectiveness of nicotine during abstinence suggest that the effects of deprivation might be usefully examined.

1.4 Mood and Smoking

1.4.1 Previous research

Smokers believe that smoking may help to regulate their mood (Ikard *et al.*, 1969; Russell, Peto, & Patel, 1974; Spielberger, 1986) and many cite the perceived positive effects of smoking on mood as an important factor in their development and maintenance of smoking behaviour (Wetter *et al.*, 2004; Marsh & Mathieson, 1983). Regular smokers also report adverse moods – an increase in stress and irritability – when they have not recently smoked, and the mood-improvement attributed to smoking might represent a reversal of these effects (Parrott *et al.*, 1999). The implication remains that smokers may smoke in part to attain or avoid different feelings, and come to associate smoking with certain affective states and expectations of affective moderation. Leventhal and Cleary (1980) theorised that affectivity is central to smoking behaviour and that affective state may become conditional upon nicotine plasma level over time, more recent theories posit a link

between affectivity and smoking at a neuroregulatory level of explanation (Pomerleau & Pomerleau, 1984). Various motivational processes have been implicated in the development of mood-smoking mechanisms. Mood-smoking theories usually relate to one or more of the following causal frames: anticipation of euphoric effects of smoking (positive reinforcement; Glautier, 2004), alleviation of withdrawal symptoms (negative reinforcement; Eissenberg, 2004), and conditioning to stimuli that become associated with smoking (Carter & Tiffany, 1999). In the latter regard, mood may index motivational responses to other conditioned situational stimuli, and/or specific affective states may become conditioned cues for smoking (Gewirtz & Davis, 1998). The conditioned element has the potential to induce craving/smoking to both positive and negatively reinforced cues, and is generally considered reflective of a neural adaptation process (Nestler & Aghajanian, 1997). For example, cues associated with withdrawal might (potentially, long after withdrawal has subsided) trigger an associative neurochemical response that, in turn, produces symptoms of withdrawal (e.g., anxiety) causing the individual to seek relief in smoking (Halikas, 1997). During the maintenance phase of smoking it can be difficult to distinguish negative reinforcement involving withdrawal-induced mood (associated with nicotine plasma levels) from negative reinforcement involving mood responses to conditioned cues or other stressors.

It is emphasised that the methods applied in the present research cannot test whether identified associations result from conditioned associative mechanisms. However, a case might be made – based on prior experimental research – to suggest that state correlates of smoking could relate to smoking via such mechanisms. At minimum, the implications of associative mechanisms for present findings should be acknowledged. Clearly though, observed correlations (e.g., between being in a pub and increased positive mood before smoking) could reflect various causal sequences that may or may not represent associative learning.

Research implicating positive and negative reinforcement in mood-smoking motivational processes is considered below.

1.4.2 Positive reinforcement in mood and smoking

That smoking should have or be expected to have mood elevating (rewarding) properties is a common precondition for the development of both negative and positive reinforcement: mood from pre- to post-smoking should show improvement (although, as will be discussed below, some theorists argue that sensitivity to the direct effects of smoking may diminish after initial reinforcement). Nicotine is identified as having euphoric stimulant effects on affect and arousal (Garrett & Griffiths, 2001). Henningfield and colleagues (1985) demonstrated that a singular smoking episode may produce temporary elevation of mood. In support of positive reinforcement mechanisms, Tiffany and Drobes (1990) demonstrated that positive affect imagery induced urge to smoke in the laboratory - although negative affect imagery increased urge by a greater magnitude. Positive affectivity also precedes episodes of relapse (possibly reflecting reinforcement of positive affective cues for smoking); but it is present less frequently than negative affectivity (Shiffman et al., 1996), and tends to occur concurrently with other cues to smoke (Brandon et al., 1987). It may be that positive affect is more likely to index conditioning to different situational stimuli (such as the smell of smoke) than to become a separate/unique trigger in itself (i.e., irrespective of the underlying cause of positive affectivity).

To the extent that positive reinforcement is implicated in mood-smoking relationships, it is possible that incentive sensitisation processes may develop (Robinson & Berridge, 1993). Theoretically, repeated substance use sensitises the incentive properties of anticipatory cues whilst simultaneously producing tolerance to the direct effects of the substance. According to this framework, positive affect

might be involved in triggering smoking but come to be unresponsive to the previously rewarding effects of smoking. Much of the support for this theory of reinforcement has originated from research into other dependence behaviours, but, across these, motivational processes have been consistent (Robinson & Berridge, 2001). In relation to smoking, Zinser *et al.* (1999) reported increased positive affect in smokers when exposed to smoking cues, but not when permitted to smoke. Further evidence comes from nicotine's sensitising effects on dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens (Balfour, 2003): dopaminergic sensitisation is implicated in incentive sensitisation processes as it appears to reflect increased responsivity to anticipation of, rather than the direct effects of, reward (Robinson & Berridge, 2001).

1.4.3 Negative reinforcement in mood and smoking

Evidence suggests that negative affective states immediately precede more than half of reported relapses to smoking (Brandon *et al.*, 1987). Smokers consistently report that they smoke more frequently when sad, anxious, or angry – and anticipate that smoking will attenuate this negative affectivity – but these statements may not be valid reflections of the actual processes that occur (Kassel *et al.*, 2003). Such reports may be particularly prone to retrospective recall biases (Shiffman *et al.*, 2002). Negative affect-inducing manipulations have been shown to increase urge to smoke (in the absence of other cues; Tiffany & Drobes, 1990) and frequency/intensity of smoking (Payne *et al.*, 1991), although, again, these paradigms may not capture naturally occurring experiences (or typical subsequent responses). Further to reports of nicotine's antidepressant effects (Balfour, 1991), clinical trials have shown that antidepressant drugs (e.g., buproprion) can significantly increase smoking cessation rates in smokers (irrespective of their history of depression; Benowitz, 1997). Support for negative reinforcement in mood-smoking relationships might be inferred from this evidence, although the underlying mechanism of action is not known.

1.4.4 Current standing and limitations of research to date

In review, Kassel et al. (2003) conclude that, although smokers and non-smokers differ in their baseline mood levels (e.g., Adan & Sanchez-Turet, 2000), it remains unclear as to what mood conditions might trigger smoking and whether smoking has any positive effects on affective state. Evidence suggests that the affective response elicited by smoking may be dependent on the situation within which smoking occurs (Gilbert, 1995). The ambiguity of findings to date has been largely attributed to methodological problems (Kalman, 2002). Studies have often failed to separate deprivation-reversal from genuine mood enhancement (West, 1993), resulting in a paucity of research examining normal mood-smoking relationships. Also, despite the evident influence of expectation to smoke on smoking-related responses (Dols et al., 2002), many laboratory-based studies have measured affective responses to smoking cues when subjects were not permitted to smoke. Evidence suggests that withdrawal and cigarette availability may profoundly affect outcomes - and resultant theoretical implications. For example, negative reinforcement may only operate when smokers are in a deprived state (Parrott & Garnham, 1998) and/or smoking is obstructed (Tiffany, 1995); studies only sampling these conditions could over-estimate the role of negative mood motivation. In the few studies that have controlled deprivation and allowed participants to smoke, effects of cue exposure and consumption have generally been confounded (Glautier & Remington, 1995). Such an approach undermines theory-testing, because discrimination of different motivational theories necessitates separation of anticipatory and consummatory processes (Rohsenow et al., 1990-91, Zinser et al., 1999).
The major motivational theories that were compared in the present research - as they relate to mood regulation by smoking – are considered in the following subsection. The application of these constructs will help to direct assessment of potential mechanisms in an area of psychological theory that is highly contentious.

1.4.5 Three models of mood regulation as a function of smoking

Three major theoretical models of drug motivation have emerged in the addiction literature, yielding distinct predictions regarding the effects of drug cues and consumption on affective state, these are: (1) the *associative-withdrawal* model, (2) the *appetitive-incentive* model, and (3) the *incentive-sensitisation* model (cf. Zinser *et al.*, 1999). Applied to the relationship between mood and smoking, these models facilitate specific predictions about mood change from baseline to presmoking, and from pre- to post-smoking state. These models and their predictions are described below. Figure 1.2 illustrates the distinct smoking-related predictions of the three models. Figure 1.2

Predicted mood-smoking patterns by model



Associative-Withdrawal Model

Associative-withdrawal models (e.g., Wikler, 1980) posit that cues to smoke should elicit a conditioned mood response representative of nicotine withdrawal increasing negative affectivity. Theoretically, the act of smoking will attenuate the negative mood produced by withdrawal/temporary deprivation. Thus, positive mood is expected to exhibit a U-shaped pattern of change: pre-smoking mood should decrease from baseline, and post-smoking mood should return to parity with baseline.

Appetitive-Incentive Model

Priming models (e.g., Wise, 1988) posit that both smoking and exposure to smoking cues should produce or prime a central motivational condition that generates positive affect. Thus, positive mood is expected to exhibit a linear increase: pre-smoking mood should be greater than baseline and post-smoking mood should be additionally greater than pre-smoking mood.

Incentive-Sensitisation Model

The incentive-sensitisation model (Robinson & Berridge, 1993) posits that anticipatory smoking cues should output positive affect (as in the appetitiveincentive model), but that consumption itself will not activate approach systems – iterative drug use produces habituation to direct reward. Thus, positive mood is expected to exhibit an inverted-U pattern of change: pre-smoking mood should increase from baseline and post-smoking mood should show no additional increase/ a slight decrease from the pre-smoking state.

The models described above all incorporate the notion of smoking as having a reinforcing quality (primarily rewarding). This provided the motivation for using Gray's, (1994) conceptualisation of normal personality based on the behavioural inhibition and behavioural approach systems (BIS/BAS) to explore relevant moderation effects (discussed later in the chapter).

1.4.6 Other state correlates of smoking

It is important to acknowledge that mood-smoking relationships may interact in complex ways with other situational cues as part of broader associative mechanisms. Smokers are particularly susceptible to smoking when in the presence of stimuli related to previous smoking episodes (Carter & Tiffany, 1999; Wikler, 1965; Stewart, deWit & Eikelboom, 1984). Thus smoking is, in Pavlovian terms, the unconditioned stimulus, i.e., the food that makes the dog salivate. Like food, the behaviour/substance has another aspect independent of its direct reinforcing effects; it is transferred to other previously neutral stimuli to give them conditioned reinforcement properties, i.e., the bell associated with the food that causes the Pavlovian dog to salivate. Affective processes may index reactivity to these cues, or mediate their effects on smoking and related motivation; it is further possible that some state-dependent smoking associations do not involve affective interactions (or, at least, do not involve consciously experienced affect/arousal assessable via self-report methods). The focus of the present research was thus broadened to investigate the role of these other correlates as they relate to smoking and mood regulation. This has not been done in other research to date.

Smoking may become associated with specific smoking-related cues (such as the visual perception of a lighter, or the smell of cigarette smoke; Piper *et al.*, 2004), and these cues can increase desire to smoke and smoking rate (Payne *et al.*, 1991). As smoking behaviour is repeatedly paired with different external stimuli (people, locations, and activities), these stimuli (non-specific to smoking) may also become powerful cues for craving and consumption (Childress *et al.*, 1999), and it is apparent that such cues might be very specific to the individual (Shadel *et al.*, 2001) – although general categories of potent triggers (such as social situations) that apply across individuals have been identified.

Smoking may become associated with the use of other substances such that consumption of (or exposure to substance-specific cues for) other substances may actually prompt smoking (Henningfield *et al.*, 1990). For example, administrations of heroin and amphetamine in the laboratory have been shown to increase participants' smoking rate (Mello *et al.*, 1980; Henningfield & Griffith, 1981). There is a well documented relationship between smoking and alcohol use (Miller & Gold, 1998). In the laboratory setting, drinking has been shown to increase the rate and amount of smoking among smokers (Mintz *et al.*, 1985), and exposure to drink cues increases urge to smoke among smoking-deprived alcoholics (Monti *et al.*,

1995). Those who smoke are more likely to progress to other drug dependencies than non-smokers (Henningfield *et al.*, 1990), and they have more severe substance abuse symptoms and other psychosocial problems (Roll *et al.*, 1996). Clearly poly-substance users may have a greater range of potential triggers to their smoking behaviour and craving, and dependencies may combine synergistically – understanding of cross-substance potentiation may have important treatment implications. The present research assessed alcohol consumption in relation to smoking so as to gain some insight into cross-substance associations.

Craving

One of the most prominent states common to ongoing smokers, smokers attempting cessation, and former smokers, is that of craving/desire to smoke (Tiffany *et al.*, 2000). The DSM IV (APA, 1995) describes craving as a "strong subjective drive" to use a substance, and it is this *subjectivity* of craving that makes definition of the phenomenon problematic (Halikas, 1997). Craving has been conceptualised as a metacognitive awareness of underlying states and cognitivebehavioural processes related to dependence behaviour (Tiffany, 1997). As such, reports of craving/desire to smoke may partly reflect higher order cognitive responses to affective and other state correlates of smoking (Toneatto, 1999a). It is anticipated that craving will be closely tied to mood: some researchers have even defined cravings as affective states (Baker *et al.*, 1987).

Craving may only show substantial relation to actual smoking behaviour when automatised action schemata (learned habits that become cognitively effortless – as could be implicated in mood-regulatory smoking) are impeded (Tiffany, 1995). Processes involved in consumption might operate independently of craving unless they require cognitively effortful support (e.g., when there are environmental obstacles to smoking) or are being blocked by a conscious attempt to abstain (attempts that demand conscious intervention between strong cues to smoke and

actual consumption). As might be expected of a metacognitive construct that potentially draws on various underlying processes, there are evident individual differences in the craving experience – including the perceived intensity of desire and of various affective components of craving (Merkle, 1999; Kozlowski *et al.*, 1989; Gossop *et al.*, 1990). Craving is thought to be particularly related to negative mood (Tiffany, 1992) – especially when cigarette availability is restricted (Sayette & Hufford, 1995). Whilst withdrawal symptomatology may inform craving - most clearly during periods of abstinence - it should be noted that clinical research indicates craving can be clearly demarcated from aspects of withdrawal. Ratings of drug craving form a separate construct from withdrawal (Mezinskis *et al.*, 1995) and NRT has been shown to produce minimal reductions in craving whilst almost completely attenuating withdrawal (e.g. Abelin *et al.*, 1989).

The potential involvement of craving and non-affective situational cues/correlates (occurring concurrently with smoking episodes or less proximally – perhaps through temporally lagged/cumulative relationships) provided the rationale for secondary measures incorporated in the present research. These were to include assessments of smoking episode context (time, location, activity, company, and acute craving intensity) and more generalised daily experiences (alcohol intake, exposure to passive smoke, distal craving levels, and salient positive/negative events). An initial questionnaire study will be carried out to assess contexts associated with smoking, and derived data will be used to design assessments for subsequent diary studies.

1.5 Personality and Smoking

1.5.1 Research to date

Individual differences in innate sensitivity to the effects of nicotine, personality, and psychopathology are all associated with affective experiences, and may pre-dispose

smoking and tendencies towards particular smoking-related experiences or behaviours (Kassel *et al.*, 2003).

Findings suggest that variability in emotional reactivity to nicotine and ancillary effects of smoking is an important factor in the early development of - and subsequent variability in - smoking behaviour (Pomerleau, Pomerleau, & Namenek, 1998). This variability may be systematically related to core affective dimensions of personality. For example, more extraverted individuals have been shown to experience greater elevation of positive affectivity and arousal from nicotine relative to their more introverted counterparts (Gilbert *et al.*, 1994). Individuals may also vary in their typically experienced affective context of smoking, and this might translate into susceptibility to different affective cues for abstinence lapses (Shiffman *et al.*, 1996).

Trait variability is related to smoker status such that there is evidence of identifiable personality differences between smokers and non-smokers. Adult smokers tended to be higher in psychoticism, (Patton, Barnes, & Murray, 1993). Similarly, users of tobacco have been found to have higher extraversion and neuroticism scores than non-users (Foreyt *et al.*, 1993). Longitudinal findings suggest that high neuroticism and psychoticism at an early age may predispose smoker status and greater severity of dependence (Canals, Blade, & Domenech, 1997): psychoticism was the best predictor in this regard. In terms of personality traits associated with smoking, there is particularly strong support for the role of characteristics associated with behavioural disinhibition: sensation-seeking and impulsivity (Acton, 2003).

Further evidence for a link between personality and smoking comes from the comorbidity of smoking and clinically diagnosed personality disorder. Glassman *et al.* (1990), analysing survey data from 3213 respondents, found that incidence of

major depression disorder in smokers was twice that found in non-smokers, and smokers with a history of depression are half as likely to succeed in guit attempts. Although depression is linked to smoking, it may not be associated with physiological dependence. Severity of depression has been found to be independent of smoking frequency and withdrawal intensity at abstinence (Hall et al., 1993): relationships between depression and smoking instead suggest that individuals with depressive symptomatology are more sensitive to smoking-related mood enhancement (Kinnunen et al., 1996) such that they might be more motivated to smoke as a means of regulating their dysphoric condition (motivational differences may exist where differences in dependence level do not). Childhood anxiety disorders predict relatively late onset of smoking (Costello et al., 1999), but may accelerate development of dependence after initiation. This relationship might be considered a reminder that individual disposition can influence smoking behaviour through lifestyle choices as well as smoking response/development. High anxiety in childhood may impede involvement with peer groups of smokers (a typical precursor of individual smoking onset) until later in life, only after initiation would any link between trait-anxiety and tendencies towards mood-regulatory dependence become evident. Smoking may also be linked with attenuation of inattention in ADHD (Flory & Lynham, 2003).

Some research has indicated that gender may moderate dependence severity in smoking: finding that men tend to be heavier smokers than women (Giovino *et al.* 1994), with greater dependence on the direct effects of nicotine reinforcement (Perkins *et al.* 1999). It has further been suggested that there may exist a gender difference in smoking motivation such that affect regulation might be a more important function for women than men (Pomerleau *et al.*, 1994). However recent research reports that smoking-related motivational processes are similar across genders (Etter, Prokhorov, & Perneger, 2002). Nonetheless gender will be assessed

in the present research so as to examine its potential moderating influence on smoking motivation, and interaction with personality traits.

1.5.2 Current standing and limitations of research to date with reference to personality

In a systematic review of research since 1970, Gilbert (1995) found that the major affective dimensions of personality demonstrated inconsistent relationships with smoking behaviour. Approximately 49% of studies measuring neuroticism and 65% of studies measuring extraversion found smokers scored higher than non-smokers on assessments pertaining to these traits. Earlier research (reviewed by Smith, 1970) had suggested a more consistent relationship between extraversion and smoker status (supported in approximately 88% of studies), although a similar degree of inconsistency was found with regard to neuroticism (48%). Despite inconsistent relations between smoking and psychoticism – a trait that may share variance with extraversion in the moderation of impulsivity/sensation seeking (e.g., Eysenck & Eysenck, 1985; Gray, 1987).

The difficulty of establishing consistent relationships between personality and smoking-related behaviours/experiences is compounded by issues surrounding choice of conceptualisation and appropriate assessment (reviewed in Schinka, Haley, & Greene, 1997). Personality may moderate smoking behaviour in a complex manner mediated by situation and momentary processes (Gilbert & Gilbert, 1998), but much research to date has looked for links between personality and summary markers of dependence that may reflect underlying processes in a somewhat indirect and insensitive way. Limitations may lie in the level of analysis as much as the dependent variable of choice: the hierarchical nature of relationships between personality and behaviour/experience may be obscured by

statistical methods that examine such relationships at a single level (necessitating aggregation or disaggregation of variability). The interplay of stable dispositions and transient processes in smoking behaviour might best be revealed through the analysis of personality in relation to multiple real-time measures of experience: Shiffman *et al.* (1997a) showed that individual differences related to smoking behaviour were not apparent in static baseline measures of smoking behaviour/typology, but were revealed in relation to temporal smoking patterns.

The present research sought to apply conceptualisations (and relevant contemporary measures) of personality that have rarely been utilised in relation to smoking behaviour and mood-smoking patterns (despite clear theoretical links with these phenomena). Two of the dominant constructs in modern personality research are (1) five-dimension trait models (Goldberg, 1990) and (2) the biologically-based dual-affect systems of behavioural inhibition/activation (Gray, 1994). There is a paucity of research explicitly addressing smoking behaviour and mood in relation to these constructs. The methodological and analytical techniques operationalised in the present research were chosen so as to capture the potentially hierarchical and temporal nature of personality-based moderation of mood and smoking.

1.5.3 Applied conceptualisations of personality

BIS/BAS

It has been suggested that affective responses/motivational states are manifestations of two underlying brain-behavioural systems (Gray, 1990, 1994; Carver & White, 1994). The behavioural inhibition system (BIS) is sensitive to stimuli associated with punishment, and activation of this system generates affective responses that motivate avoidance behaviours (Gray, 1972, 1987). The behavioural approach system (BAS) is sensitive to stimuli associated with reward, and activation of this system generates affective responses that motivate pursuit behaviours (Gray, 1972, 1987). If individual differences in affective response/motivational state reflect individual differences in BIS and BAS sensitivity, it is reasonable to expect that variability in smoking-related affect/motivation might be moderated by the same basic personality systems. However, what is the likely moderating influence of BIS/BAS on this relationship?

In theory, the BAS regulates reinforcement sensitivity (Gray, 1981), and it follows that the BAS would be expected to play a similar moderating role across models of smoking-related mood change (all three models are reinforcement based). More specifically, greater BAS sensitivity should dispose an individual to greater reinforcement sensitivity (Pickering & Gray, 2001) such that individuals with the highest levels of the BAS-related trait should manifest responses indicative of the strongest learning. For example, if the associative-withdrawal model is evident, higher-BAS individuals should show greater mood-detriment from baseline to presmoking, and greater mood-enhancement from pre- to post-smoking, as compared with lower-BAS individuals. Because the BIS and BAS are theorised to be distinct constructs in competition for exclusive control over behaviour - such that activation of one system inhibits the other (Pickering, 1997) - BIS sensitivity should not be related to mood-smoking associations.

That the BAS alone is implicated in the three (reinforcement-based) models of mood-smoking makes it possible to more precisely predict the specific dimensions of mood that the potential models might apply to. Carver's (2001) review of the relationship between specific dimensions of mood and BIS/BAS concluded that the BAS is primarily linked to bipolar dimensions of affect equivalent to hedonic tone and energetic arousal (Carver & Scheier, 1998). If this is the case, it is reasonable to expect that hedonic tone and energetic arousal will emerge as the key components of mood in the mood-smoking relationship – such that systematic patterns of smoking-related mood change, if evident, should be specifically indexed

by variability in hedonic tone and energetic arousal. It should be noted that the present research focuses on a conceptualisation of BIS/BAS that predates the recent revision by Gray and McNaughton (2000). This is because the scales used in the present research were developed on the basis of earlier theoretical specifications (Carver & White, 1994).

Big Five

Research on personality has historically seen a lack of consensus in characterising the broad trait dimensions that capture individual differences and describe the potential structure of personality. More recently, however, results from convergent factorial analyses have suggested that five factors may be sufficient to represent variability in general personality (Digman, 1996; Goldberg, 1990). In the context of this, it is perhaps surprising that researchers have generally failed to apply five factor models and measurements in research on personality and smoking. The emergent factors are collectively known as the Big Five and include: Surgency (S; high scores equate to being extraverted and vigorous), Agreeableness (A; high scores equate to being sympathetic and cooperative), Conscientiousness (C; high scores equate to being methodical and responsible), Emotional Stability (ES; high scores equate to being composed and low in neuroticism), Intellect (I; high scores equate to being imaginative and meditative). The Big Five (as conceptualised by Goldberg; Goldberg & Saucier, 1996) is based upon the lexical hypothesis: this hypothesis contends that the individual differences that are most salient and socially relevant will come to be encoded as terms in the natural language; ties to causal mechanisms are not considered to be of particular importance (Goldberg, 1993), although some researchers have attempted to ground related five factor models in biosocial theories (McCrae & Costa, 1996).

Factors of Emotional Stability and Surgency (resembling neuroticism and extraversion respectively) may represent particularly relevant factors for the study

of mood and mood regulation (Watson & Clark, 1992; Watson, Clark, & Tellegen, 1988). These factors should also contribute to the measurement of BIS/BAS sensitivity (Corr, 2004). The remaining factors are not related directly to emotional responding, and no specific predictions are made about their links with smoking and mood. However, Agreeableness and Conscientiousness may interact to reflect psychoticism (Eysenck, 1991) - a trait with consistent links to smoking, as described earlier - and Intellect has been show to relate inversely to nicotine dependence in one of the few studies to consider the five factor taxonomies in relation to smoking (Shadel *et al.*, 2000). These factors are included for exploratory purposes, as they might reflect cognitive-behavioural dispositions to certain smoking-related experiences, and may be indirectly related to situational affective responses.

It has been demonstrated that Agreeableness, Intellect and Conscientiousness all reflect affectivity to some extent: content analysis indicated that these dimensions (when assessed by the presently employed adjective descriptors; Goldberg, 1992) contained approximately 34%, 10%, and 9% affective variance respectively (Zillig *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, traits such as Intellect may modulate the role of affective disposition/generation, or predict observed smoking variance that may not be related to affective motivations. Where observed outcomes show little affective content or moderation, these traits may aid interpretation – pointing to the likely function of uncovered processes.

1.6 The Present Research

1.6.1 Methodological Rationale

A diary study design was considered most apt for implementation in the present research. Retrospective recall is highly prone to error and bias, yet clinical

practitioners and researchers rely almost exclusively on self-reported recall of past events. Evidence suggests that objective facts are better recalled than subjective states (Brewer, 1988); it follows that methods relying on recall in self-report might be useful for assessing, say, personal smoking history/behaviours (i.e., number of cigarettes smoked, brand smoked, etc), but they are less likely to accurately capture changes in mood and craving state associated with behaviour. Shiffman et al (1997b) tested the accuracy of recall from retrograde accounts of smoking lapse episodes in a group of recently-quit former smokers; participants' recall at 12 weeks post-monitoring was compared to their logged accounts of lapses and temptations, which were recorded in near-real time using an electronic diary. Lapse recall was poor, with average kappa agreement between the computer records and recall accounts ranging from .18-.27, and it was evident that retrospective accounts were biased by current smoking status. Retrospective reports might be better employed as a first-step in the development of targeted monitoring protocols: identifying key areas of concern for further assessment using diary methods. Retrospective reports were partly used in this way for the present research. The utilisation of diary designs has greater ecological validity for inferring causality without manipulation (time-series modelling) and for capturing temporal and individual variability which may be compromised in single-occasion/aggregationbased techniques (Chatfield, 1996). Collection and analysis of event-contingent temporal data might help to elucidate the mood-smoking relationship, which has proved difficult to determine, and give insight to the relative influence of negative/withdrawal versus positive/pleasurable symptoms and associations in craving and relapse.

Multilevel modelling will be used in the analysis of repeated-measures and timeseries data collected for the research so as to separate the influence of internal and external cues, which have previously been confounded. Most data captured in psychological research can be conceptualised hierarchically; data is often clustered,

with "units" nested within "levels" - in longitudinal research, for example, a number of distinct observations are grouped within individuals. Hierarchical data can be problematic; people existing within hierarchies tend to be more alike than people randomly sampled from the population as a whole. Because individuals sampled from the same organisational structure share certain characteristics, observations based on these individuals cannot be fully independent. This violates the assumption of independence of observations that is common to most analytic techniques, and increases the probability that a spuriously significant result will be found. Traditional techniques further assume that all data is collected at the same level - prompting arguments between researchers over the 'correct' level of analysis for various data structures (Osborne, 2000). Hierarchical linear Modelling (HLM) is a particular regression technique that is designed to take into account the hierarchical structure of data (Bryk & Raudenbush, 1992). Advances in statistical theory and computing enabled researchers to explicitly model multilevel data structures, and computer software for such analytical applications is now widely accessible (Goldstein, 2003).

The methodology to be applied in the research is a key consideration; systematic examination of the associative mechanisms in nicotine craving has proven difficult, and the utilisation of the rigorous data gathering and analytical techniques proposed here is considered to be the way forward for gaining an understanding of the processes inherent in dependence. Before studies amenable to time-series and HLM techniques could be cultivated and implemented, however, exploratory data gathering and piloting was required to gain a preliminary understanding of associative patterns in the population of interest, elaborate possible design issues, and better specify the materials and procedural set-up required to adequately sample experiences. To this end, a self-report survey methodology is implemented in the initial study of the research.

1.6.2 Key issues in the research

Hierarchical model of mood-smoking regulation

The primary aim of the present research is to test potential models of smokingrelated changes in mood and how these are moderated by personality (particularly the dual affect systems of BAS and BIS). Evidence suggests that this model will be better characterised if contextual associations are considered (Gilbert, 1997), so the present research will be extended to examine the role of everyday situations in the basic model. Moreover the present research will sample craving in relation to smoking-associated experiences: subjective craving experiences may relate to moods and context in complex ways. Examination of craving in everyday situations might aid comprehension of a motivationally-important construct that has eluded definition.

Distal/periodic motivation

The reinforcement models investigated in the present research pertain to motivational actions that occur contiguously to the smoking event. However, focus on experiences within such a narrow temporal window may neglect motivational processes that act more slowly/are suspended over time (Wheeler & Reis, 1991). Moreover, a purely episodic focus on smoking limits interpretation to momentary responses – essentially disregarding the possible influence of more distal factors that would be easier to predict and develop interventions for (Shiffman *et al.*, 1997a). As a response to these considerations, the present research will apply methods that capture variability at different levels of temporality (i.e., fixed-interval further to episodic assessments).

Relation to natural appetitive behaviour

Evidence suggests that smoking applies reinforcing influences through appetitive mechanisms for natural rewards, such as food and sex (Di Chiara *et al.* 1993;

Schultz 2000; Spanagel and Weiss 1999). Understanding of smoking reinforcement might be elaborated by comparisons to natural appetitive behaviours. Are smoking motivations distinct from natural reinforcement? If they are, these differences could be informative about maladaptive shifts in motivational mechanisms that are specifically associated with dependence. However, if they do not, then theories of a basic motivational equivalence across consumption behaviours are supported (Hunt & Matarazzo, 1970; Bozarth, 1990); with implications that undermine concepts of addiction as a "disease" (Heyman, 1996). Similarly, comparison of trait moderation across smoking and natural appetitive behaviours would reveal whether individual differences dispose general tendencies in consumption/motivation (or are more behaviour-specific in their influence). Given the broader context of reinforcement common to appetitive behaviours (Koob & Le Moal, 1997; Berridge & Robinson, 2001), comparative study of smoking in relation to natural rewards is encouraged (Grunberg & Cousino Klein, 1998).

The present research will examine eating behaviour in parallel to smoking behaviour, for comparative purposes. Table 1.1 compares these behaviours, indicating their suitability for comparison of this kind. Smoking episodes and eating episodes differ in length (smoking episodes are shorter) and heterogeneity of content (e.g., choice of food versus tobacco). However, the occurrence of both is clearly defined (centring on an oral consumption event). Importantly, there is evidence for similar learning processes and patterns of use between behaviours; indeed, research suggests that these behaviours may be somewhat interchangeable as motivational stimuli. Of central relevance to the present research, subjective experiences related to eating episodes may include mood modification and craving – and personality may influence disordered consumption behaviours in the same direction. It has been suggested that similar processes underlie eating regulation, dependence, and craving (Grunberg & Baum, 1985).

Table 1.1

Behavioural feature	Evidence for comparability across behaviours
Behavioural substitution	 Food consumption tends to increase following smoking cessation (Williamson <i>et al.</i>, 1991). Smoking inversely related to body weight and food consumption (Grunberg, 1990) Theorised that eating and smoking are substitutable rewards (Ogden, 1994)
Consumption event	 Clearly defined episodes for both smoking and eating Eating events longer than smoking events, but both have reinforcing actions early in episodes (Benowitz, 1990; Rogers, 1995) Basic topographical similarity of hand-to-mouth behaviours (Bickel & Vuchinich, 2000) Eating behaviours more heterogenous in content of consumption
Mood effects	 Pleasant effects of smoking rated as same magnitude of eating palatable food (Lower rating of derived pleasure than for alcohol, sex, and marijuana) (Warburton, 1988)
Conditioning	 Same cue-induction procedure used effectively for both smoking and palatable food in animals (Schroeder, Binzak & Kelley, 2001) Similar learning processes (Wise, 1997; Robinson & Berridge, 1993)
Patterns of use	 Similar behavioural phases seen for eating as smoking: Attempted restraint, relapse, bingeing (Kaye, 1999)
Craving	 83% of 1138 survey participants report food cravings (Weingarten & Elston, 1991) Food cravings apply to most foods, but are most likely to be based on physiological appetite in normal population (Gibson & Desmond, 1999)
Personality	 Suggestion of common predisposition to eating disorders and severe substance dependence (Koob & Le Moal, 1997; Kaye, 1999)

Comparability of eating and smoking behaviours

Changes during deprivation

An important part of understanding smoking motivation involves knowledge of motivation during abstinence – with implications for preventing relapse in cessation attempts. Do the motivations that prompt normal smoking prompt lapses in the same manner? Or do opponent processes come to cue smoking during abstinence (e.g., Ternes, 1977), turning positive reinforcement during continued use into negative reinforcement whilst deprived? Deprivation may be especially motivationally complex (Carver, Meyer, & Antoni, 2000). Mood could be negatively affected by acute withdrawal effects and restricted reward availability; yet smoking (lapsing) may also be perceived as a threat (failure) during attempted abstinence, such that approach and avoidance are conflicted.

The present research will extend its methodological approach to sample experiences during deprivation/lapse episodes.

1.6.3 Research programme

To examine the key issues considered in the previous section, and apply the methodological approach set out previously, three intensive diary studies will be implemented. Their specific design will be informed by findings of the initial survey study (see Chapter 3). The diaries will be designed to provide complimentary information such that data gathered from these studies can be variously combined to address the key issues of the research.

Smoking diary

This study will utilise a self-report diary method to investigate patterns of smoking behaviour within and between individuals. The self-report diary consists of repeated episodic (event-contingent) and fixed-interval assessments, designed to elucidate the internal and external context of smoking behaviours, and identify relationships between mood, craving, contextual cue exposure, and smoking behaviour. Hierarchical analysis of the self-report data will facilitate further examination of how differences between persons can mediate these relationships within persons. The event-contingent component of the diary method represents an approach to sampling the smoking experience that minimises retrospective recall error and assesses behaviour and relevant associations situated in natural context.

Eating diary

The major purpose of this study was to provide comparative consumption data against which to contrast previously captured smoking data. To this end, most assessment components were minimally adapted from those applied in the smoking diary, such that only the behaviour being assessed was meaningfully different. Comparison of results from the two studies facilitated discrimination of patterns of consumption that are moderated at the person-level from those that are behaviourspecific.

Quasi-interventional diary

This study utilised a self-report diary method to investigate patterns of smoking behaviour within and between individuals under two temporal conditions: a period recording normal behaviour (wherein the participant is encouraged not to alter their usual smoking patterns), and a period over which the participant is encouraged to abstain from smoking. The self-report diary tapped largely the same variability as the original smoking diary. The quasi-interventional within-subject condition, under which participants are encouraged to refrain from smoking, enabled examination of how experiences related to smoking behaviour in normal context might change during abstinence, giving insight to counteractive effects reported in cases of acute withdrawal and craving experiences (e.g., Wikler, 1986). Furthermore, betweenpersons analyses of behaviour under this condition permitted better understanding of person-level moderation of readiness to abstain (a concept that includes willingness to abstain and ability to abstain; Gilbert, 1995).

1.6.4 Chapter progression

The following three chapters detail the methods of the research. Chapter 2 presents the design and methodological rationale, and introduces participant samples. Chapter 3 describes the measures of stable variability (including validated

instruments) that were utilised in studies of the research. Chapter 4 reports the initial questionnaire study of the research and its implications for the development of subsequent diary designs; this chapter goes on to present the final diary designs and related procedures.

Results chapters (5-9) address the key issues discussed previously; combining data from different studies as appropriate. Table 1.2 sets out the sequence of chapters, their foci, and the sources of data used in relation to these foci.

		Diary studies		
Chapter	Key Issue	Smoking	Eating	Quasi- intervention
5	Models of mood-smoking and episodic correlates	✓		4
6	Moderating role of personality	✓		✓
7	Comparative consumption behaviour	1	v	
8	Periodic variability in craving and consumption	v	✓	•
9	Changes associated with abstinence			4

Table 1.2

Results chapters and the studies that they draw upon

1.6.5 Summary: Aims

Clearly, there are gaps and inconsistencies in the literature regarding smoking motivation and affective regulation. The present research takes a novel approach to examination of this issue: assessing relevant relationships between mood, context, and personality. Further, it is the first to test the major theoretical models of motivation as they apply to naturalistic smoking behaviour (again, taking into account state and trait influences on proposed basic mechanisms). The scope of the research also extends to comparative analyses of smoking and natural consumption. Previous research has not directly attempted to test whether motivational processes generalise across different appetitive behaviours.

To recap, the main aim of the thesis is to examine the role of affectivity in smoking behaviour – and do so as part of an approach that appreciates influences of
contextual and individual variability. Chief among the questions that this thesis looks to address are the following.

 Are everyday smoking episodes associated with mood alteration, and is this relationship influenced by situation and/or personality?

Sub-questions include: Which theoretical model of reward-seeking provides the best fit for episodic patterns of mood-smoking? Do individuals tend towards different models according to their personality?

2) Are there more distal/gradual processes (over the course of a day) that influence smoking rate and/or the desire to smoke?

Sub-questions include: Are cravings and smoking rate reliably associated over a fixed period of time? Potentially, cravings may mediate relationships between mood

and smoking, so questions relating to this experience are pertinent to the main aim of the thesis.

- 3) Do processes identified for smoking behaviour generalise to natural appetitive behaviour?
- 4) How do processes identified for normal smoking behaviour change during deprivation/abstinence?

Specific hypotheses pertaining to each of the central issues are presented in the appropriate chapters.

Chapter 2. Design & Participants

This chapter focuses on the research methodology: design, rationale, and participant selection. For the purposes of the present research, methods centred on the collection of naturalistic diary data. The current chapter considers the types of diary protocol used and the justification for their use. It further discusses the statistical approach to analysing the data from the diary designs. The following section presents a basic design statement and rationale for the use of this design in the present research. The design is elaborated in subsequent chapters that detail the specific variables used in each diary study. Similarly, the methodological rationale is developed further: beginning in the present chapter with more thorough discussion of the usefulness of diary methods and associated analytical techniques. The final section of this chapter introduces the research participants; detailing recruitment procedures and the relevant characteristics of each sample.

2.1 Methodological Approach

2.1.1 Design

The present approach to sampling smoking (and comparative natural consumption) experiences used a self-report diary methodology. The diaries consisted of repeated event-contingent assessments designed to elucidate situational contexts and subjective states associated with consumption (smoking/eating) episodes – obtaining reports of mood and craving immediately prior to, and after, each event. Studies further employed fixed-interval assessments to record experiences that were not contiguous to consumption events and examine their relationships with consumption frequency and craving over time (both within the same interval and lagged from one interval to the next). Diaries were completed over 48 hours except the quasi-intervention study (completed over 72 hours). The quasiintervention study also differed from others in that it introduced a quasiexperimental condition: A 24-hour period of encouraged abstinence. The specific variables measured in both event-contingent and fixed-interval components of the diaries are discussed in Chapter 4. As part of a hierarchical approach to investigating appetitive behaviour and affective regulation, stable variability was also measured (for submission to multilevel modelling techniques). Chapter 3 describes the personality measures and baseline/screening assessments that were administered to this end, and the rationale for their use. These instruments were presented at intake in the diary studies that constituted the programme of research.

2.1.2 Rationale

To understand individual differences in levels of dependence, patterns of smoking, craving, and ability to abstain, it is important to refine the measurement of motivations involved in onset, maintenance, and relapse to smoking (Schmitz, Schneider, & Jarvik, 1997). Laboratory studies have uncovered important associations, but the artificiality of such environments, and indeed, of static sampling of temporally dynamic phenomena, can make modelling of the significant relationships difficult (e.g., Neisser, 1976). For example, it has proved difficult to characterise the affective impact of exposure to smoking cues (Halikas, 1997) and the direct effects of smoking (Meliska & Gilbert, 1991; Parrott, 1999). Despite the emergence of distinct theories positing the valence of cue-elicited mood and subsequent moderation by smoking (Wikler, 1980; Wise, 1988; Robinson & Berridge, 1993), research to date has produced equivocal results such that the pattern of smoking-related affect cannot be determined (Zinser et al., 1999). Previous studies have mostly been carried out in laboratory settings where participants are exposed to artificial cues and are not permitted to smoke manipulating their expectations in a way that may not fully reflect motivational

processes as they occur in everyday situations (Dols *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, in instances where participants have been allowed to smoke, the effects of cue exposure/anticipation and actual ingestion have been confounded, with no separation of affect elicited by cued versus pharmacologic states (Glautier & Remington, 1995).

In their extensive review of the literature on mood and smoking, Kassel *et al* (2003) recommend a shift in methodological perspective, suggesting that withinand between-persons questions regarding smoking-mood associations could be answered on a real-time basis in the smoker's real world – through the application of event- and interval-contingent diary strategies. Similar recommendations have been made by other researchers who have looked at personality and mood as they relate to smoking behaviour (Shiffman *et al.*, 2001; Delfino *et al.*, 2001), and recent research in alcohol consumption has applied event- and interval-contingent assessment strategies to look at the relationship between daily experiences and drinking as moderated by trait dispositions (Mohr *et al.*, 2001). The present research programme investigated smoking behaviour in relation to personality and mood by using a combination of diary strategies (episodic and fixed-interval) and global assessment instruments (administered at intake to capture more stable trait characteristics).

Table 2.1 provides an overview of the designs for the diary studies of the present research. Rows 2 to 4 correspond to the three separate diary studies (smoking, eating, and quasi-intervention). Columns 2 to 5 correspond to different features of the diary design. Thus, entries in the "diary period" column simply state the length of monitoring in each study; remaining columns pertain to the three assessment components of the diary design. Measures in the initial assessment were administered to participants at intake/before diary monitoring. Measures in the

episodic assessment were completed by participants at the time of each smoking event (this component is also referred to as event-contingent assessment). Measures in the fixed-interval assessment were completed at allotted times over the course of monitoring (this component is also referred to as interval-contingent assessment). Chapters 3 and 4 discuss these measures in detail.

Table 2.1

	Diary period	Initial assessment	Episodic	Fixed-interval
			assessment	assessment
Smoking	48 hours.	Battery of	Measures of	5 assessments.
diary		personality	mood and	Recall of experiences
		instruments and	craving	since previous
		baseline	immediately	interval: cravings,
		measures	before and after	affective perceptions,
		completed before	each smoking	passive exposure,
		diary period.	episode.	caffeine and alcohol
			Situation and	consumption.
			consumption also	
			noted.	
Eating diary	48 hours.	As above, but	As above, but	As above but
		behaviour-	applied to eating	adapted to eating
		specific measures	episodes.	behaviour where
		adapted to		appropriate.
		eating.		
Quasi-	72 hours:	As in the smoking	As in the	As in the smoking
intervention	2 blocks of	diary.	smoking diary.	diary but 7
diary	normal			assessments.
	smoking (24			Additionally, current
	hours each)			mood and craving
	separated by			measured at each
	a 24 hour			assessment interval.
	abstinence			
	period.			

Diary Designs Implemented in the Present Research

Diary designs offer numerous advantages in terms of ecological validity and sampling within-person processes over time (Stone & Shiffman, 1994; Chatfield, 1996). These advantages are tempered somewhat by the challenges of adopting diary methods; the difficulty of ensuring that participants do not adapt their normal behaviour for more convenient monitoring, and of ascertaining the accuracy of compliance information (Stone *et al.*, 2002), compounded by the questionable adequacy of self-report as an index of state (Tiffany, 1990).

2.2 Diary Methodology

Researchers in psychology have historically identified a need for approaches to capturing life experiences with greater realism than might be afforded by laboratory-based assessments, observer ratings, or single-time questionnaires (Scollon, Kim-Prieto, & Diener, 2003). In 1942, Gordon Allport stressed the importance of assessing "life as it is lived", suggesting that psychological knowledge begins with documentation of the "particulars of life" (Allport, 1942, p.56). Contemporary approaches to capturing life as it is lived draw on diary methodologies: ongoing experiences are examined by instruments that are used to elicit/document repeated self-reports (Reis & Gable, 2000). Diaries facilitate investigation of psychological processes within everyday situations, addressing the importance of understanding situational influences on behaviour (Funder, 2001).

For the present research programme, two types of diary design were employed: event-contingent (episodic) and fixed-interval (Wheeler & Reis, 1991; refer to Table 2.1). Event-contingent designs require the participant to provide reports at every instance of a pre-defined experience. In the present research, this design was implemented to record smoking (or eating) episodes as and when they occurred. This design was appropriate for its intended use (Bolger *et al.*, 2003): there was minimal ambiguity about triggering events (as these were specific classes of

behaviour) and event-based responses were not used to sample common experiences in such a way that over-generalisation might occur – rather, research questions centred on experiences directly related to sampled events (and compared these with baseline experiences). For example, smoking-contingent mood scores were used to examine mood changes in relation to smoking episodes (i.e., at atypical times) rather than to generate conclusions about average or typical mood levels.

Fixed-interval designs require the participant to provide reports at specific times each day, as part of a schedule of assessments. In the present research, this design was implemented to sample more generalised periodic experiences (potentially giving insight to motivational mechanisms that might be more distal from acute smoking-event variability). This design was deemed useful to capture slower-acting processes in accordance with recommendations that diary designs vary the specificity/periodicity of assessment (Wheeler & Reis, 1991). For example, relationships between salient events, urge to smoke, perceived stress, and smoking behaviour might be lagged or cumulative (Halikas, 1997), and the time series data generated by fixed-interval measures facilitates exploration of such relationships that would not be possible with static sampling techniques.

2.2.1 Advantages of diary methods

Some of the major advantages of diary methodologies are outlined below, and discussed in relation to the present research aims and diary protocols. Five important merits are considered: (1) contingency identification; (2) ecological validity; (3) examination of ideographic processes; (4) attenuation of memory biases; and (5) the convergence of multiple research methods.

Contingency identification

Diary methods permit examination of complex questions relating to behavioural contingencies (Scollon *et al.*, 2003). Covariation in stimulus conditions (external and internal states) and behavioural/psychological responses can be ably assessed by repeated direct-sampling of experiences across contexts.

In the present research, the application of event-contingent assessments allowed potential mood-smoking-mood contingencies to be investigated across numerous self-selected situations and (non-induced) fluctuations in internal state, potentially providing a stronger representation of relationships between moods and smoking than might be obtained from single-time/situation assessments. The implementation of separate pre- and post-smoking assessments further facilitated an understanding of the direction of mood-smoking relationships that might not be accessible from global reports. Again, these contingencies were assessed repeatedly across voluntary circumstances (in response to naturally occurring motivations to smoke) in a way that would be difficult to achieve in other designs capable of separating pre- and post-smoking recording. Diary items recording other contextual variables at the time of smoking (such as location and activity) had the potential to provide a more comprehensive specification of state contingencies and to identify contextual modifiers of mood-smoking patterns. Further, by considering these within-person associations as being related to stable individual differences, the present application of diary methods permits characterisation of personality in terms of behavioural signatures (Mischel & Schoda, 1995) - predictable patterns of responding to state contingencies.

Ecological validity

Diary methods can be utilised to validate theoretical concepts and empirical findings in everyday real-world settings (Stone & Shiffman, 1994). Experimental psychology has been criticised as being unrepresentative of settings outside of the laboratory,

such that conclusions based on experimental data may not be applicable to real-life phenomena (Neisser, 1976). However, the rationale for experimentation – testing of causal hypotheses – does not require demonstration that events actually arise in a given population (Mook, 1983): the artificiality of an experimental study (nonresemblance of phenomena of interest) may be of little importance if the processes that occur under experimentation have psychological realism (Aronson, Wilson, and Brewer, 1998) and the *theoretical* conclusions drawn have ecological validity (relate to a theory proposed to explain everyday occurrences; Chow, 1987).

The need for ecological validity should not be overstated then, but, in the present study, the application of diary methods permitted examination of existing theories of mood regulatory smoking within natural social contexts – reducing artefacts attributable to controlled settings and research processes (Stone & Shiffman, 1994). Particular issues relating to laboratory investigations of the present research questions may arise from artificial mood induction/cueing, restricted expectation to smoke, and/or perceived demands on smoking behaviour (Tiffany, 1992). Applied diary methods further facilitated exploration of actual patterns of smoking behaviour and related experiences, a descriptive exercise yielding information with potential to form a basis for theory development and model specification (Hinde, 1995). Research questions relating to personality processes in smoking behaviours might best be understood when situated in time and place: some researchers have emphasised the need for personality research to be contextualised (McAdams, 1995), and the present research applied online methods to reveal latent moderation of everyday mood-smoking patterns.

Examination of within-person processes

Questions concerning within-person processes are among the most challenging that are amenable to diary methods (Bolger, Davis, & Rafaeli, 2003). Diary methods do not limit the researcher to between-person investigations, and this is an important

advantage when covariation across conditions or occasions is of interest, and within-person correlations (with independence from between-person processes/dispositional effects) are most apt (Reis & Gable, 2000). An illustration of the independence of within-person and between-person levels of explanation in the covariation of mood was reported by Zelenski and Larsen (2000). They found that like-valenced emotions showed little tendency to occur together at a given moment (weak within-person correlations), but were highly related at trait level (strong between-person correlations of aggregated momentary data). For example, participants were rarely sad and afraid concurrently, but those who were sad a lot tended to be afraid a lot too. An important advantage of diary methods then is their sensitivity to variability in within-person processes over time and sampled situations; these within-person associations can also be analysed in relation to between-person variables (Scollon *et al.*, 2003).

Within the present research, diary methods were applied to look at within-person smoking-state processes, and multilevel modelling techniques (discussed below) were implemented to investigate the moderating effects of personality on these processes (examining variability at both within-person and between-person levels). The utilised methods permitted exploratory investigation of individual tendencies in coded mood-smoking experiences; such ideographic processes are often neglected, but can complement traditional nomothetic investigations (Lamiell, 1997). Finally, the temporal nature of behavioural processes can best be assessed using diary designs that record the sequencing of events and control for third variables by using participants as their own controls (Affleck *et al.*, 1999): the present research examined acute smoking-related processes (as change scores) and also modelled interval-contingent data over time (in terms of lagged relationships).

Attenuation of memory biases

Retrospective recall is highly prone to error and bias, and may undermine typical self-report protocols (Schwarz, Groves, & Schuman, 1998). Recall might be skewed towards events that have occurred more recently (Baddeley & Hitch, 1993), or that have greater salience (Wagenaar, 1986), and events may be reinterpreted to reflect general (perhaps implicit) beliefs (Ross, 1989) - such that actual patterns and fluctuations are masked in report. The issue of memory bias forms a major part of the rationale for applying diary methods in research (Stone, Shiffman, & DeVries, 1999). Diary methods, as a technique based on self report, may still be affected by distortions inherent in participant-as-observer protocols (Schwarz, 1999), but many biases of global recollections are minimised (Reis & Gable, 2000)

Evidence suggests that objective facts are better recalled than subjective states (Brewer, 1988); it follows that methods relying on recall in self-report might be useful for assessing, for example, personal smoking history/acts (i.e. number of cigarettes smoked), but they are less likely to accurately capture changes in mood or craving state associated with behaviour. Retrospections of affect are also particularly prone to state/availability biases, such that recall/summary reports of mood tend to mirror current mood (Stone *et al.*, 1993). Shiffman *et al.* (1997b) tested the accuracy of recall from retrograde accounts of smoking lapse episodes in a group of recently-quit former smokers; participants' recall at 12 weeks postmonitoring was compared to their logged accounts of lapses and temptations, which were recorded in near-real time using an electronic diary. Lapse recall was poor, with average kappa agreement between the computer records and recall accounts ranging from .18-.27, and it was evident that retrospective accounts were biased by current smoking status.

Multiple methods research approach

Diary methods answer a call for methodological triangulation - an investigatory convergence of diverse research strategies (Reis & Gable, 2000) - and can provide information complementary to more traditional research designs (Reis, 1994). Accurate descriptive diary-data may be used to identify core phenomena and develop theory (Kelley, 1997), but diary methods also have direct theoretical applications: in the identification of moderators/contingencies for basic processes, verification of mechanisms, and determination of the real-life applicability of competing theoretical predictions (Reis & Stiller, 1992). Causal inferences require experimental manipulations and random assignment – rarely achievable in naturalistic contexts – but diary methods afford investigation of phenomena under voluntary, self-determined conditions when other factors - that may not be expected, based on previous experimental research/theoretical predictions – might be influential (Brewer, 2000).

2.2.2 Disadvantages of diary methods

Despite the apparent benefits of diary-based methodologies, it is important to be aware of known issues and limitations. These are discussed below along with attempts to minimise such problems in the present research, where possible. Three potential disadvantages are considered: (1) protocol demands; (2) reactance and learning; and (3) personality biases - as effecting diary participation (volunteering, responding, and compliance).

Protocol demands

Difficulties may arise from the complexity/intensity of diary methods. Detailed training sessions are required to develop participants' understanding of the protocol. As appropriate, all participants in the present research received individual instruction on diary-use during their first meeting with the researcher. Another potential problem is that the high level of commitment demanded/burden of repeated reporting could overwhelm participants (inviting inattentiveness or non-compliance; Stone *et al.*, 1991). In the present research, the latter concern was mitigated somewhat by restricting the length of assessments (<2 minutes for event-contingent assessments and <5 minutes for fixed-interval assessments in piloting, n = 15). This necessitated a compromise in the depth of reporting, but multiple-items are not required for establishing reliability of diary-based assessments - this can be estimated from the aggregate of single items over time (Csikszentmihalyi & Larson, 1987).

Reactance and learning

The effects of diary-keeping on participant experiences have yet to be determined, but potential effects include reactance, habituation, elaboration of understanding, and entrainment (Bolger *et al.*, 2003). Reactance – changes in phenomena under study as a result of measurement – has been considered an inherent property of monitoring protocols, such that diary methods have been used as a tool for behavioural modification (Wheeler & Reis, 1991). Litt *et al.* (1998), in research with treated alcoholics, reported that, although most participants indicated greater awareness of monitored drinking behaviour, they did not exhibit behavioural reactivity as compared with a control group; however, Shapiro *et al.* (2002), in a diary study examining smoking-events, reported that smoking frequencies during diary-monitoring were lower than reported norms – suggesting that the intensive protocol may have had an inhibitory effect on smoking behaviour. Evidence for this potential threat to validity, and the more general problem of response decay (Reis
& Gable, 2000), provided the rationale for limiting the monitoring period to just 48 hours (72 hours in the abstinence study): shorter monitoring periods should limit the development of extensive behavioural adaptations and/or participatory fatigue. Encouragingly for the present research (with its focus on naturalistic mood-smoking patterns), there is evidence to suggest that the process of diary-keeping does not alter participants' affective experiences (Cerin *et al.*, 2001)

Participants' understanding of monitored constructs may change with repeated exposure to a diary questionnaire (Bolger et al., 2003). Elaboration of understanding may develop – increased awareness of the sampled domain through self-monitoring and introspection – and this may facilitate encoding/retrieval of domain-relevant information. There is indirect evidence against this effect in the present domain: Shiffman et al. (1997b) found that retrospective recall of monitored smoking-related experiences was poor, despite diary-keeping procedures, and Thomas and Diener (1990) found that intensive momentary mood reporting (several times daily) did not have a greater effect on retrospective accuracy than end-of-day reporting. Although participants may not develop a more complex understanding of the studied domain, they may come to see their experiences in terms of the constructs measured in the diary through a process of entrainment. For example, measures in the present research may influence participants to be more cognisant of mood in relation to smoking, and to be less perceptive of other factors. To date, there is little evidence of this effect or other potential effects of diary-keeping: the present research follows recommendations to limit the frequency and depth/duration of diary assessments until research better characterises the relationship between diary methods and phenomena under investigation (Scollon et al., 2003).

Personality biases

Finally, not enough is known about the effects of personality (or state) on response compliance/style (Bolger *et al.*, 2003; Reis & Gable, 2000). Indeed, the potentially burdensome and intrusive nature of diary methods might lead certain types of individuals to be over- or underrepresented at intake: the type of person who volunteers for the study, and remains motivated through to completion, may not be particularly representative of the population from which they are drawn (Scollon *et al.*, 2003). Because of this, caution is exercised in the generalisation of findings from the present research. Also, to attract participants with less intrinsic motivation to volunteer, and encourage completion, monetary incentives were offered (Lynn, 2001).

2.3 Statistical Methodology

The unique nature of data acquired from diary-based sampling should be addressed in the statistical methods applied (Reis & Gable, 2000). There are various key issues in this regard (Bolger *et al.*, 2003):

- Within-person data points may violate assumptions of independence (common to most analytical techniques).
- Interval-contingent observations may show serial dependence, such that more contiguous reports are more similar.
- 3) Traditional repeated-measure analyses are rendered inappropriate by the often large number of data points and person-to-person variability in data production (for example, more frequent smokers provided more eventcontingent reports in the present research).
- The potential presence of temporal patterns/cyclicity (particularly in intervalcontingent data) suggests a need to consider more flexible modelling techniques.

There is a growing consensus among diary researchers that multilevel models, adapted to suit repeated-measures data, are apposite for the analysis of diary data (Bolger *et al.*, 2003; Reis & Gable, 2000).

A major advantage of multilevel models is that they allow concurrent estimation of within- and between-persons effects (Maas & Snijders, 2003); facilitating accurate examination of questions pertaining to potential moderating effects of personality on smoking-state relationships, and exploration of other between-within associations. In multilevel models, cross-level data can be represented in a way that addresses problems associated with techniques that assume data to be collected at a single level (requiring preliminary disaggregation or aggregation of scores; Osbourne, 2000). By separating variability hierarchically, multilevel models account for dependence of observations in nested data (such as repeated measures within individuals; Bryk & Raudenbush, 1992), and avoid inflated type one error probabilities associated with independence violations in standard statistical techniques (Hox, 1995). Similarly, autocorrelations in within-person error terms (serial dependencies) can be modelled, and associated biases corrected (Hox, 2002). Multilevel models can also handle large repeated-measure data-sets with an unbalanced number of data points per person, including missing data (Goldstein, 2003; Maas & Snijders, 2003). To study lagged effects as a means of addressing potentially bidirectional processes in fixed-interval measures, such as periodic stress and craving in the present research, analyses of temporal patterns is required. Lagged variables can be constructed at the within-persons level of analysis (time-series correlations) for each person and averaged to arrive at a between-person average, but multilevel modelling of this data would be more appropriate (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002): individual variability is not lost (as it would be in aggregated coefficients) so between-person differences in average temporal patterns may be examined.

Reis and Gable (2000) suggest that multilevel modelling should become the "gold standard" for analysis of diary data (Reis & Gable, 2000, p.213), because of the advantages offered in information retrieval from large hierarchical data sets. In the present research Hierarchical Linear Modelling (HLM) was implemented for the multilevel analysis of collected diary-data. HLM is a particular regression technique that is designed to take into account the hierarchical structure of data (Bryk & Raudenbush, 1992; Hox, 1995; Bryk, Raudenbush, & Congdon, 1996).

2.4 Participants (diary-studies)

For all diary studies, participants were recruited from a student population through pan-media advertisements. The following sub-sections describe specific selection criteria and sample characteristics for each diary study in turn. Effective sample size in multilevel modelling is the number of level 2 units multiplied by observations at level 1 (Snijders & Bosker, 1999): presently, this equates to the number of participants multiplied by the number of reported smoking episodes/fixed-interval assessments. For example, a group of 40 participants completing 5 fixed assessments produces a total sample size of 200. In terms of guidelines for sample size in multilevel modelling, testing suggests that the number of units at level 2 is more important than the number at level 1 (Mok, 1995) and a general recommendation is that 30 or more units at level 2 should be sampled (Kreft, 1996).

Smoking diary

The sample consisted of 40 participants taken from a university population (mean age = 22, SD = 2.33, 41.9% male). Criteria for inclusion were reported smoking rate of at least five cigarettes a day and three months at the current rate, and not actively trying to quit smoking. These criteria aimed to ensure that there would be

multiple observations (at level 1) for each participant (level 2). Participants were paid £10 for participation.

The average age at which participants started to smoke was 15.6, and this appears to be consistent with national trends (ONS, 2002). Daily cigarette consumption during participants' heaviest smoking period was, on average, 17.9 cigarettes, but the majority of participants (58.5%) reported smoking less than 10 cigarettes a day at their current rate (which had a mean stability of 29.4 months). Mean dependence score on the Revised Tolerance Questionnaire (RTQ; Tate & Schmidt, 1993) was in the mid-range (2.9 on a scale from 1 to 5), indicating that nicotine dependence was not severe in the smoking diary sample. This was further reflected in participants' mean self-appraisal of the extent to which they are addicted to smoking, which was 6.1 on a scale ranging from 1 to 10. The mean smoking frequency observed during diary-monitoring in the present sample was 7.8 cigarettes per day, and this was lower than rates reported by participants during recruitment. Debriefing feedback suggests that this disparity was related to the inhibitory prospect of filling out event diaries on desire to smoke (an evident trend in such studies; Shapiro et al., 2002), rather than a tendency to under-report actual smoking occurrences.

Eating diary

The sample consisted of 40 participants taken from a university population (mean age = 20, SD = 2.43, 17.5% male). The criteria for inclusion were non-smoker status, and not actively trying to diet. Non-smokers were selected so that smoker versus non-smoker comparisons could be made. Also, evidence for behavioural substitution between smoking and eating (see Table 1.1) suggested that consumption in a non-smoking group would provide a better comparison point (more likely to reflect natural patterns). Participants were paid £10 for participation.

The average Body Mass Index score was 20.9 (SD=2.37) and 72.5% of participants were in the normal range for their sex (20.7-26.4 for males, and 19.1-25.8 for females; Calle *et al.*, 1999). One male and one female were classed as marginally overweight, two males and five females were classed as underweight, and two females were classed as anorexic concerns. All participants received contact numbers for a local health centre and organisations promoting awareness of eating disorders. However, participants were informed that individual feedback/advice could not be given (as data was processed anonymously).

Quasi-intervention diary

The sample consisted of 30 participants taken from a university population (mean age = 23, SD = 2.57, 26.7% male). Criteria for inclusion were reported smoking rate of at least five cigarettes a day and three months at the current rate. Prospective participants were excluded if they had participated in the original smoking diary. Participants were recruited by pan-media advertisements, and were paid £15 for participation.

The average age at which participants started to smoke was 15.2, and this appears to be consistent with national trends (ONS, 2002). Daily cigarette consumption during participants' heaviest smoking period was, on average, 18.4 cigarettes, but the majority of participants (60.3%) reported smoking less than 10 cigarettes a day at their current rate (which had a mean stability of 32.1 months). Mean RTQ score (Tate & Schmidt, 1993) was in the mid-range (3.1 on a scale from 1 to 5), indicating that nicotine dependence was not severe in the present sample. This was further reflected in participants' mean self-appraisal of the extent to which they are addicted to smoking, which was 6.7 on a scale ranging from 1 to 10. The mean smoking frequency observed in the present sample (during diary-monitoring outside of the abstinence period) was 8.6 cigarettes per day, and this was lower than rates reported by participants during recruitment. Just over half of participants

(53.3%) managed to abstain completely during the abstinence period, and all but one smoked less during this period than in the pre-abstinence period. Only one participant continued full-abstinence after the encouraged period, but most (60%) smoked less than they had during pre-abstinence. The sample in the original smoking diary did not show a drop-off in smoking rate over the course of the monitoring period, so the reduced post-abstinence smoking-rate in the present sample might not be explained by response-fatigue. Debriefing reports suggested that some participants were keen not to return to their pre-abstinence smoking rate.

2.5 Next Chapter

Chapter 3 introduces the validated instruments selected for use in the initial assessments of the diary studies. These assessments provided the measures of stable individual variability that were examined as potential moderators of consumption-related experiences (data derived from diary responses). Validated mood and craving instruments were further used to establish baseline states, against which consumption-contiguous states could be compared. The initial measures are discussed in terms of their relevance for the present research and their relative merit over other measures that might have been implemented. Subsequently, Chapter 4 details the development of the episodic and interval-contingent diaries, and presents the diaries and study procedures as they were administered to participants.

Chapter 3. Initial assessment

This chapter discusses the measures selected for use in the initial-assessment component of the diary studies. Within the design of the diary studies, measures that constituted the initial assessment were given to participant to take away and complete before they began diary-based monitoring of their behaviour.

Initial assessments were administered to gauge stable individual variability, such that trait-based moderation of within-person experiences (smoking/eating motivation) could be modelled. Central measures in this regard were indices of the BIS/BAS since they were regarded as being particularly relevant to appetitive motivation. Secondary measures were the big five trait dimensions: it was considered useful to apply multiple personality assessments since the adopted BIS/BAS instrument (Carver & White, 1994) may not be the most sensitive measure of the theoretical constructs (BIS and BAS) under investigation (e.g., Acton, 2003). Where it is not clear what the best self-report instrument might be, use of multiple measures is encouraged (Corr, 2001). This multi-instrument approach was maintained across diaries (to maintain parity).

Other potential moderators examined were demographics and behaviour-specific tendencies (such as smoking dependence or attitudes to eating). These measures were mainly applied for descriptive purposes – to aid interpretation of motivation. For example, identifying whether a smoking-related mood change is moderated by dependence level would be informative about whether that experience is symptomatic of behavioural severity or common to all levels of use. Behaviour-specific measures would also serve a validatory purpose: it should be found, for example, that consumption frequency (in fixed-interval periods) is moderated by dependence. Validated mood and craving instruments were further used to tap baseline states, against which episodic states (pre- and post-consumption) could be

compared. These measures were completed twice before diary-monitoring commenced: once in the morning and once in the evening.

Examination of central questions in the present research draws on findings from three separate diary studies: the original smoker diary (Appendix A), an adaptation of the diary assessing eating as a comparative consumption-behaviour (Appendix B), and a quasi-interventional variant of the smoker diary designed to tap process changes over a period of encouraged abstinence (Appendix C). Following sections detail the applied measures in the initial assessments of these diary studies. The initial assessments for the smoking diary and quasi-interventional diary were the same in every respect. Therefore, measures for these diaries are considered together in the next section (smoking diaries). In the subsequent section, initial measures that were unique to the eating diary are discussed; these were substitute assessments for the smoking-specific measures in other diaries. Discussion of measures that were common across smoking and eating diaries (see Table 3.1) was not repeated in this section. Table 3.1 shows the validated measures applied in each diary protocol and internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of measures in each sample to which the measure was administered. These were generally satisfactory - although BAS Drive and reward responsiveness subscales were below the commonly applied cut-off point of .70 (Nunally, 1978) in the eating-diary sample.

		Reliability (a)			
		Smoking Diary	Eating Diary	Quasi-	
				intervention Diary	
BIS-BAS	BIS	.74	.76	.77	
	BAS-RR	.73	.63	.72	
	BAS-DRV	.76	.55	.70	
	BAS-FS	.66	.72	.74	
B5	S	.83	.89	.85	
	Α	.64	.82	.80	
	С	.77	.80	.82	
	ES	.84	.86	.83	
	I	.80	.78	.80	
UMACL	EA	.83	.73	.80	
	НТ	.89	.72	.84	
	ТА	.75	.80	.77	
	AF	.80	.88	.79	
RTQ		.86		.79	
QSU-Brief	(General score)	.92		.90	
	Positive craving	.93		.91	
	Negative craving	.85		.89	
TFEQ	CR		.75		
	UE		.73		
	EE		.87		
HQ			.89		
QEU-Brief	(General score)		.92		
	Positive craving		.93		
	Negative craving		.80		

Table 3.1

Validated instruments applied in diary studies and associated reliabilities

Legend

BIS = Behavioural Inhibition System; BAS = Behavioural Approach System:

RR = Reward Responsiveness, DRV = Drive, FS = Fun-Seeking

B5 = Big Five personality dimensions:

S = Surgency, A = Agreeableness, C = Conscientiousness, ES = Emotional Stability, I = Intellect

UMACL = UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist:

TA=Tense Arousal, HT=Hedonic Tone, EA=Energetic Arousal, AF=Anger/Frustration RTQ = Revised Tolerance Questionnaire. QSU-Brief = Questionnaire on Smoking Urges TFEQ = Three Factor Eating Questionnaire:

CR = Cognitive Restraint, UE = Uncontrolled Eating, EE = Emotional Eating HQ = Hunger Questionnaire. QEU-Brief = Questionnaire on Eating Urges (adapted from QSU)

3.1 Smoking diaries

3.1.1 Socio-demographics

Age and gender were assessed.

3.1.2 Smoking-related history

Participants were asked to report the age at which they first smoked a cigarette, the length of time that they had been smoking at their current rate, the number of cigarettes that they consumed daily during their heaviest period of smoking, their current tobacco brand of choice, and the total number of serious attempts to quit smoking that they had made to date. These questions were derived from standard clinical assessments of smoking background/history (Rustin, 1991; Rustin & Tate, 1993).

3.1.3 Readiness to change

Three questions assessed participants' readiness to quit smoking. Participants indicated the extent of their desire to quit smoking, confidence in their ability to quit smoking, and perceived addiction to smoking on separate scales anchored at 1 = None and 10 = Very strong. Ratings of desire to quit and self efficacy (incorporating perceived dependence and self-confidence) have consistently been shown to be associated with readiness to change/predict future cessation attempts (Boudreaux *et al.*, 2005; Sanders *et al.*, 1993; Richmond, Kehoe, & Webster, 1993). The number of previous cessation attempts (grouped with the history measures above) is also an important measure in this regard (Marsh & Matheson, 1983).

3.1.4 Behavioural Inhibition/Behavioural Activation System scales

Dispositional motivational sensitivities were assessed using the Behavioural Inhibition/Behavioural Activation System Scales (BIS-BAS; Carver & White, 1994). The BIS-BAS is a 24-item self-report measure. The BAS scale assesses the tendency to experience strong positive affect or behavioural approach when cues of incentive are present. Three subscales constitute the BAS measurement: Fun Seeking, Reward Responsiveness, and Drive. The Fun-Seeking scale (BASFS) reflects both a desire for new rewards and a willingness to approach a potentially rewarding event impulsively. The Reward Responsiveness scale (BASRR) focuses on positive affective responses to the occurrence or anticipation of reward. Items of the Drive scale (BASDRV) pertain to the persistent pursuit of goals, regardless of whether these goals are inherently rewarding. In contrast to the BAS scale, the BIS scale is a unidimensional measure that assesses the tendency to experience strong negative affect or behavioural inhibition when cues of threat are present. The BIS/BAS was specifically developed to tap the basic BIS and BAS systems proposed by Gray (Carver & White, 1994). Personality instruments developed for other purposes could be applied to BIS/BAS assessment; for example, researchers could utilise EPQ Extraversion (Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975) as a measure of BAS, and the Manifest Anxiety Scale (MAS; Taylor, 1953) as a measure of BIS. However, the conceptual basis of the EPQ is fundamentally different from that of Gray's BAS, and the MAS assesses typical experiences rather than BIS/anxiety sensitivity – it is important to distinguish vulnerability from actual experiences, as individuals may learn to avoid situations that they are sensitive towards (Carver & White, 1994). The development and implementation of bespoke measures of motivational sensitivities (such as the BIS-BAS scales) has been recommended above adaptiveapplications of existing trait conceptualisations (Corr, 1999). Across samples in the present research, the sub-scales of the BIS-BAS had guite reasonable internal consistency: BIS (a = .74), BASRR (a = .73), BASDRV (a = .76), BASFS (a = .66).

3.1.5 IPIP "Big Five"

Personality was assessed using the International Personality Item Pool (IPIP) "Big Five": an online version of Goldberg's (1999) 50-item inventory measuring the domain constructs of the Five Factor Model. The current dominant model in theory and research on trait-personality proposes that personality is best described in terms of a hierarchical model with five main domains (e.g. Goldberg, 1990). Participants rated the descriptive accuracy of statements about themselves, yielding scores for dimensions of: Surgency (S; high scores equate to being extraverted and vigorous), Agreeableness (A; high scores equate to being sympathetic and cooperative), Conscientiousness (C; high scores equate to being methodical and responsible), Emotional Stability (ES; high scores equate to being composed and relaxed), Intellect (I; high scores equate to being imaginative and meditative). The Big Five scales have shown acceptable reliability, and there have been (on the basis of correlations with self-reports of relevant behaviours) encouraging indications of validity (Buchanan, Goldberg and Johnson, 1999). The short length of the 50-item IPIP modification adapted for use in the present study makes it appropriate for use in future studies which may require more intensive self-reporting; lengthy one-off assessments might deter potential participants already concerned about the burden of completing multiple repeated measures over time.

3.1.6 UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist

Mood state at the time of participation was assessed with the UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist (UMACL; Matthews, Jones & Chamberlain, 1990). The UMACL comprises three main bipolar scales – Hedonic Tone (HT: scored such that high scores equal high happiness), Energetic Arousal (EA: scored such that high scores equal high alertness), and Tense Arousal (TA: scored such that high scores equal high stress) – plus an additional monopolar Anger/Frustration scale (AF: scored such that high scores equal high irritation). Participants rated 29 words descriptive of people's moods/feelings according to how indicative each word was of their own mood state at the time they were completing the measure. Ratings were made on a scale from 1 (Definitely descriptive of current mood state) to 4 (Definitely Not descriptive of current mood state) for each word. The UMACL has satisfactory predictive and discriminative validity (Matthews et al., 1990); its scales are distinct from demographic variables and personality traits, but moderate trait-state correlations are evident (as appropriate, theoretically). Schimmack and Grob (2000) compared two- and three-dimensional models of affect and concluded that affect could not be reduced to two orthogonal dimensions without the loss of important information. They suggest that measures such as the UMACL be adopted over the two-dimensional measures that are dominant in the literature. The UMACL had advantages for application in the present domain: it captures distinct components of affectivity and arousal that have been confused in previous moodsmoking research (Kassel et al., 2003), and the bipolar structure of its central dimensions may offer a more valid representation of BIS/BAS-moderated affectivity (Carver, 2001).

3.1.7 QSU-Brief

The QSU-brief (Cox, Tiffany, & Christen, 2001), a 10-item version of the 32-item Questionnaire of Smoking Urges (QSU; Tiffany & Drobes, 1991), was used to assess urge and craving to smoke. Items were rated on a scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*). Consistent with the QSU, the QSU-brief yields a two-factor item structure for cigarette craving. Factor 1 items reflect a strong wish and intention to smoke, with smoking perceived as rewarding. Factor 2 items represent an urgent desire to smoke, with anticipation of relief from negative affect. The QSU-brief is highly reliable as a measure of global craving across laboratory and clinical settings (Cronbach's $\alpha = .93$; Cox *et al.*, 2001), and QSU-

brief scores are highly correlated with scores obtained using the longer QSU (Taylor et al., 2000). The QSU-brief provides a rapid assessment of craving, yet, like the 32-item QSU, it captures multidimensional features of craving, and generates a general craving score with excellent reliability over conventional single-item craving-ratings. The length of the original QSU makes it impractical for potential application in times-series research designs.

3.1.8 Revised Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire

Severity of nicotine dependence was assessed using the 10-item self-report Revised Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire (FTQ; Tate & Schmidt, 1993) – a revision of the Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence (FTND; Heatherton *et al.*, 1991) implemented in the previous study of the research. Items of the RTQ encompass number of cigarettes smoked, smoking topography, smoking to relieve nicotine withdrawal and difficulty in refraining from smoking. All items are scored on a 5point scale from 1 to 5, an adaptation that yields more variance than items of the FTND. The RTQ has been found to have greater internal consistency (a = .83) than was previously reported for the FTND. Test-retest reliability was high for all items of the RTQ, although findings suggest that the total RTQ score is more stable over time than any single specific item (Tate & Schmidt, 1993). A single common factor was identified in factor analytic procedures, indicating that the RTQ measures a unidimensional underlying construct. Reported relationships between expired air carbon monoxide (CO) and RTQ scores demonstrate preliminary construct validity for the revised instrument.

3.2 Eating diary

The eating diary was designed to parallel the smoking diary; to this end, measures administered in the initial assessment replicated previously discussed measures

where possible (see Table 3.1, previously). Socio-demographics were gauged as before, and other smoking-specific measures were adapted or replaced with similar assessments. Of the applied instruments, the BIS/BAS, big five, and UMACL were constant measures, applied in the eating diary as they were in the smoking diaries.

3.2.1 Weight history

Participants were asked to report their current height and weight, lowest adult weight, highest weight, perceived ideal weight, and the total number of serious attempts to diet that they had made to date.

These measures were used to calculate Body Mass Index (BMI). The BMI is a widely used weight-for-height index (i.e., it gives a value of weight adjusted for height; Kuczmarski & Flegal, 2000). Although it cannot differentiate body composition (i.e., muscle from fat), it is a convenient and generally accepted indicator of weight control issues (Vague, 1991). The administered (adult) weight measures allowed calculation of current BMI, lowest BMI, highest BMI, and disparity between current and perceived ideal BMI. These indices of weight control history were examined as potential moderators of eating-related processes.

3.2.2 Readiness for dietary change

Three questions assessed participants' readiness for dietary change. Participants indicated the extent of their desire to diet, confidence in their ability to diet, and perceived addiction to snacking on separate scales anchored at 1 = None and 10 = Very strong. These measures provided parity with assessments of readiness to change as applied to smoking. Assessment of readiness to change has been shown to be a common process across habitual behaviours (Shaffer, 1997).

3.2.3 Three Factor Eating Questionnaire

The Three Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ; Stunkard & Messick, 1985) was implemented in the diary study of food consumption to assess cognitive and behavioural components of eating behaviour. The TFEQ served as a domain-specific measure of individual variability with parallels to the RTQ in smoking. The TFEQ was developed for application in populations of obese dieters (Stunkard & Messick, 1985) but has mainly been used among persons of average weight (Stunkard & Wadden, 1990; Pirke & Laessle, 1993). The present study utilised the revised 18item instrument (Karlsson et al., 2000). This revision draws on the most efficient items from the original instrument, yielding a different factor structure that reportedly results in improved convergent and discriminant validity; its use is especially recommended in burdensome protocols such as the presently discussed. Item response formats in the revised TFEQ were converted from the original dichotomous categories to four-point scales – such an adaptation is likely to produce improved performance (Jenkinson et al., 1999). The revised TFEQ encompasses three subscales, representative of the derived factor structure. Cognitive Restraint (CR) assesses intent and ability to restrict dietary intake and scores on this scale have been associated with differences in food intake (e.g., Westerterp et al., 1998). Uncontrolled Eating (UE) assesses the tendency to experience overwhelming hunger and episodic binging, often in response to external cues. Emotional Eating (EE) assesses the tendency to eat in response to negative affect.

3.2.4 Hunger Questionnaire

The Hunger Questionnaire (HQ) consisted of four items probing hunger-state that have been used together repeatedly in previous research (Friedman, Ulrich & Mattes, 1999; Mattes & Friedman, 1993). The HQ was applied as a validated measure of hunger parallel to the QSU measure of urge to smoke (although without an equivalent two-factor structure). Items were scored such that high scores reflected high desire to eat. All items have been shown to load onto a single factor with high internal consistency (Lowe *et al.*, 2000).

3.2.5 Questionnaire on Eating Urges

To further gain parity between smoking- and eating-related measures, an attempt was made to adapt the QSU to tap hunger/desire to eat in the present sample. This is because there is no existing measure of hunger that parallels the two-factor structure of urge state in the QSU. Original items were minimally altered to address food-related urges, and participant scores on these items were submitted to cluster analysis¹. The aim of this analysis was to see whether items replicated the two factor groupings obtained in the original QSU and QSU-brief derivations (Tiffany & Drobes, 1990; Cox *et al.*, 2001). Replication of the original item groupings would produce one cluster of items 1, 3, 6, 7, and 10 (Factor 1, positive craving) and a second of items 2, 4, 5, 8, and 9 for (Factor 2, negative craving).

Hierarchical cluster analysis, using Euclidean distance and complete linkage (Aldenderfer & Blashfield, 1984), produced two clusters of five items. Table 3.2 shows cluster membership for each item. Items 1, 3, 6, 7, and 10 emerged within the first cluster, supporting the hypothesised structure derived from the QSU Factor 1. Items 2, 4, 5, 8, and 9 emerged within the second cluster, supporting the hypothesised structure derived from the QSU Factor 2. The QEU Factors 1 and 2 yielded strong internal consistency coefficients (a=.93, .80 respectively). When the 10 items were used as a single global measure of urge to eat, the QEU adaptation showed very good reliability (a =.92). To the extent that the two derived factors reflect dimensions in the original QSU: Factor 1 items reflect a strong wish and

¹ Cluster analysis results are reported here due to the sample size being sub-optimum for factor analysis. However, the same structure was found using (unreported) factor analysis.

intention to eat, with food perceived as rewarding, and Factor 2 items represent an urgent desire to eat, with anticipation of relief from negative affect.

Table 3.2

Item		Cluster
1	I have a desire to eat right now	1
2	Nothing would be better than eating something right now	2
3	If it were possible, I probably would eat now	1
4	I could control things better right now if I could eat	2
5	All I want right now is something to eat	2
6	I have an urge for something to eat	1
7	Eating would be enjoyable right now	1
8	I would do almost anything for some food right now	2
9	Eating would make me less depressed	2
10	I am going to eat as soon as possible	1

Cluster-structure of QEU-Brief adaptation in the eating diary

3.3 Next chapter

Chapter 4 describes the initial questionnaire study and its implications for the development of the episodic and interval-contingent diaries. The chapter subsequently presents the diaries and related procedures as they were administered to participants. The chapter concludes by considering the issue of diary compliance and attempts to address this issue within the developed diary designs.

Chapter 4. Survey and diary development

Before diary studies amenable to HLM techniques could be developed and implemented, exploratory data gathering and piloting was required to gain a preliminary understanding of associative patterns in the population of interest, elaborate possible design issues, and better specify the materials and procedural set-up required to adequately sample experiences.

The present chapter details the development of the diary materials. It begins by reporting the initial survey study of the research. The results of this study were used to finalise designs for the event-contingent and fixed-interval smoking diaries. Section 2.2 presents and describes the finished design; this section also considers how the original design was adapted for the quasi-intervention and eating diaries. The final section in this chapter discusses compliance to the diary protocols that were administered. Compliance is a major issue in the use of diary designs (Stone *et al.*, 1991), and this section considers how the diaries developed in the present research attempted to control for this potential problem.

4.1 Questionnaire study

The initial study of the research took the form of an exploratory examination of smoking, contributing towards the identification of sensitive measures of internal state and common contextual correlates of smoking behaviour. Findings from the initial study were to be used to develop and refine materials for planned studies utilising self-report diary measures. To this end, measures of mood and craving were administered in the initial study to determine the most sensitive items for assessing relevant constructs in the present population; derived items were to be implemented as multi-recording, monitoring instruments in the developed diary assessments. By collecting qualitative data about the range of typical contexts

surrounding smoking behaviour and desire to smoke, the initial study crucially facilitated the design of a concise experiential diary that would lend itself readily to quantitative analysis in future applications. Qualitative research enables access to information not amenable to quantitative research, and it is considered by some researchers to be a prerequisite of good quantitative research (Pope & Mays, 1995), especially in the investigation of experiences as ill-defined as smokingrelated experiences. Descriptive analysis of the initial survey data was further considered a useful introduction to the student-smoker sub-population (particularly their smoker characteristics), serving as a primer for the application of more rigorous measures and techniques in the diary studies to follow, and uncovering trends and tendencies that might warrant further investigation.

In summary, the main objective of the initial study was to develop appropriate and concise diary materials based on participants' responses to the questions and measures presented. Principal outcomes in this regard were situations, moods, and cognitions that respondents associated with their smoking behaviour. These associations could represent conditioned cues for smoking/craving, but participants are not asked to articulate such a connection (associative cueing may be outside of conscious awareness). Rather, participants were simply prompted to recall states surrounding smoking; the principal aim being to reflect common responses in the item-specification of developed diary materials.

Hypotheses

Though the present questionnaire used open questions to probe smoking-related experiences (as befitting its exploratory purpose) some general hypotheses may be generated. In terms of situations (locations, activities, and social contexts) associated with smoking, previous research guided expectations. Situations reported in connection with smoking are likely to include social contexts, alcohol, coffee, and after eating (Schmitz *et al.*, 1997). It was also expected that sensory

smoking associations – for example, the smell of tobacco smoke – would emerge in participant reports. It has been demonstrated that enjoyment of smoking is reduced when concomitant sensory phenomena are blocked (e.g., Baldinger *et al.*, 1995). An additional prediction - relating to temporal context - was that smoking would not be reported as an activity occurring early in the day. This expectation followed from the observation at intake that participants had a low-level of dependence (on average): morning smoking is a symptom of severe dependence (Fagerstrom, 1978).

In terms of moods that respondents would associate with smoking, it was expected that all the measured mood dimensions would be represented in recall: the literature shows that smokers have variously cited extremes of hedonic tone, tense arousal, energetic arousal, and anger as states that can motivate smoking (Gilbert, 1995). Indications are that tense arousal (stress) would be the most frequently cited motivation in retrospective reporting (Spielberger, 1986; Pomerleau & Pomerleau, 1991) – perhaps in part due to the salience of negative experiences in recall (e.g., Kensinger & Corkin, 2003). However, it is reiterated that recalled motivations should not be assumed to be accurate markers of actual experiences. One-off measures of affective smoking motivation have indicated trends that did not manifest in follow-up studies using prospective-longitudinal and diary-monitoring designs (Shiffman & Prange, 1988; Tate & Stanton, 1990). In terms of smoking-related cognitions, it was anticipated that smoking thoughts would relate to positive desires more than urgent needs; positive craving is more typical, especially in low-dependence smokers (Tiffany & Drobes, 1991).

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Participants

The sample consisted of 139 participants taken from the population of the University of Nottingham (mean age = 24, 35% male). Participants could be either current or former smokers, and 27% of participants were former smokers. Nearly a third of participants classed themselves as social/occasional smokers (n = 44); 40.5% of former smokers, and 28.4% of current smokers. 43.9% of the sample consume, or used to consume, more than 10 cigarettes per day, and this consumption rate is notably lower than the national average (71%; ONS, 2000). Participants were volunteers, and selection was not based on any other inclusion/exclusion criteria.

4.2.2 Procedure

Participants consenting to take part in the study provided a few details of their history as smokers before answering a series of exploratory open questions about the internal and external stimuli and states that they associate with smoking. Participants then completed a series of tests designed to assess their level of nicotine dependence, mood, and current craving level. After completion of these measures participants were given the opportunity to ask any further questions about the purpose and design of the study. They were also given the opportunity to withdraw their responses from further analysis if they so wished. All participants received a Quit-line sheet providing contact numbers for organisations offering advice on smoking cessation.

4.2.3 Measures

Copies of all the measures administered, as presented to participants, can be found in Appendix D.

Socio-demographics

Age and gender were assessed.

Smoking-related history

Participants were asked how old they were when they first smoked a cigarette, how long they had been smoking at their current rate (current smokers only), how many cigarettes they consumed daily during their heaviest period of smoking, and how long it had been since they had smoked a cigarette.

Smoking associations

Potential triggers associated with smoking behaviour and desire to smoke were assessed with seven open-ended questions: (1) "Who are/were you usually with when smoking?" (2) "Where do/did you usually smoke?" (3) "When do/did you usually smoke?" (4) "What do/did you usually do while smoking?" (5) "What other things (e.g. specific sights, smells, and tastes) or events do/did you associate with smoking?" (6) "What are/were your thoughts just before smoking?" (7) "What are/were your feelings just before smoking? (Can you think of specific feelings that you associate with a desire to smoke?)". The final two questions were designed to identify internal triggers to smoking and the rest prompted structured recall of external triggers to smoking. Further to the open questions, a checklist of trigger situations (based upon findings in the literature and diagnostic materials; Rustin, 1991) was presented to aid and elaborate trigger recall; participants ticked boxes to indicate the situations in which they would usually smoke.

UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist

In the present sample, the UMACL (used to assess current mood at the time of questionnaire completion) demonstrated quite good internal validity: HT (a = .85), EA (a = .80), TA (a = .77), AF (a = .72). See Chapter 3 for further description of this measure.

QSU-Brief

Internal consistency of the QSU and sub-factors (used to assess current craving at the time of questionnaire completion) was good in the present sample: QSU Total (a= .94), QSU Factor 1 (a= .93), QSU Factor 2 (a= .89). See Chapter 3 for further description of this measure.

Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence

Severity of tobacco dependence was assessed using the 6-item self-report Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence (FTND; Heatherton *et al.*, 1991) - a revision of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire (FTQ; Fagerstrom, 1978). The original 8-item FTQ was popular for years, gaining widespread use in clinical and research applications. Fagerstrom & Schneider (1989) reviewed research on the FTQ and concluded that the scale consistently predicted physical dependence, severity of withdrawal symptoms, and relapse. The revised FTND has greater homogeneity than the earlier version, improved reliability ($\alpha = .61$), and evident validity (Heatherton *et al.*, 1991) – whilst retaining the predictive utility and popularity of the FTQ. Higher scores on the FTND are indicative of more intense physical dependence on nicotine and predictive of more severe withdrawal symptoms post-cessation. The FTND demonstrated better than previously established reliability in the present survey study ($\alpha = .79$).

4.2.4 Data analyses

Content analysis

Responses to the exploratory open questions were categorised and analysed to ascertain the most frequent external situations associated with smoking, with the aim of developing appropriate categorised alternatives for context specification in the episodic smoking diary. Responses to open questions regarding internal triggers were also categorised and analysed, so as to facilitate statistical examination of different trends in mood-regulation smoking and in dimensional cognitive craving. Towards the specification of external trigger situations, it was pre-decided that responses be organised into categories representing company, location and activity; the structure of the open questions was such that responses to questions 1, 2, and 4 mapped directly into these respective categories. Frequencies of novel semantic responses in each category were counted; responses which were synonyms and close conceptual relations of more typical lexical items/concepts were subsumed accordingly for the purposes of the frequency count. An independent judge checked that responses had been grouped appropriately, and agreement between the researcher and judge was 100 percent for response groupings in all three categories. Response frequencies in the category of activity were only counted for novel items not included in the trigger checklist, frequencies for activities listed in the trigger checklist were determined from dichotomous responses to the checklist as it was felt that lexical response productivity for common activities might be low (as compared with actual occurrences). Some common activities might have become habitual, and, consequently, have reduced salience in memory (e.g. Wagenaar, 1986) - affecting the representational quality of open recall (but not cued recall as elicited by the checklist).

Responses to question 7 (probing common "feelings" before smoking episodes), and other responses which implicated smoking behaviour in the regulation of

affective states, were coded independently by two trained raters. Four descriptive content domains were derived for the category of feelings and raw responses were coded according to their fit to the following content areas.

- (1) Tense Arousal: Smoking might be associated with regulation of stressrelaxation. Tense arousal descriptors were coded if they referenced a mood state on the bipolar dimension of tense arousal.
- (2) Energetic Arousal: Smoking might be associated with regulation of activity-passivity. Energetic arousal descriptors were coded if they referenced a mood state on the bipolar dimension of energetic arousal.
- (3) Hedonic Tone: Smoking might be associated with regulation of happiness-sadness. Hedonic tone descriptors were coded if they referenced a mood state on the bipolar dimension of hedonic tone.
- (4) Anger/Frustration: Smoking might be associated with regulation of anger. Anger/frustration descriptors were coded if they referenced a mood state on the dimension of anger/frustration.

All affective content domains were based upon the validated factor structure of the UMACL (Matthew *et al.*, 1990), and this allowed the raters to refer to high-loading UMACL items as a guide to apt content within each domain. Usefully, this approach provided an indication of whether smoking-related affects could be reliably subsumed into the UMACL factors, and thus an indication of whether these factors would be aptly applied in repeated diary assessments. It also permitted examination of the perceived relative prominence of these dimensions in (retrospectively recalled) smoking. Inter-rater agreement was substantial (kappa coefficient=0.96) for identifying and categorising feeling descriptors, and disagreements were discussed until agreement on inclusion and classification of content was 100 percent. To control for differences in lexical productivity, mood referencing within each domain was expressed as a percentage of total mood referencing for the purposes of further analyses.

Responses to question 6 (probing specific "thoughts" experienced prior to smoking episodes) were also coded by two independent raters. Raters coded responses into content domains analogous to the two-factor structure of craving cognition – as empirically derived by Tiffany and Drobes (1991).

- (1) Positive craving. The content of thoughts associated with smoking might reflect a desire and intention to smoke with smoking anticipated as pleasurable (e.g. Wise, 1988). Positive craving cognition was coded if thought content referenced an urge to smoke or expectancy of positive outcomes of smoking.
- (2) Negative craving. The content of thoughts associated with smoking might reflect an anticipation of relief from negative affect and withdrawal (e.g. Shiffman & Jarvik, 1976). Negative craving cognition was coded if thought content referenced a more urgent state of desire or expectancy that smoking would alleviate a negative state.

Inter-rater agreement on categorising cognitive content was good (kappa=0.92) and disagreements were discussed until agreement was 100%. Some of the cognitive content did not fall into either valence domain, and this was reflected in the selective categorisation of the raters. For the purposes of analysis, negative craving was coded as -1, positive craving was coded as 1, and thoughts which did not fall into either category were coded as 0. Cognitive responses were summarised for each individual, so that overall scores reflected a cognitive tendency; participants who gave an equal number of responses in each of the polar categories would thus score 0.

4.3 Results

Smoking Characteristics

Smoking characteristics of the sample are shown in Table 4.1. The average age at which participants started to smoke was 15.2, and this appears to be consistent

with national trends (ONS, 1999). Daily cigarette consumption during participants' heaviest smoking period was, on average, 17.2 cigarettes, but the majority of participants (56.1%) reported smoking less than 10 cigarettes a day at their current rate (or, in the case of former smokers, their regular smoking rate before cessation). This suggests that smokers' consumption rates can fluctuate, and that, even if they do not abstain fully, they are able to reduce their smoking rate from its peak intensity. Current smokers did, however, demonstrate temporal stability in their current smoking behaviours; on average they had been smoking at their current rate for just over four years. Former smokers had been abstinent for little more than two years, on average, and this might reflect the mean age of the sample. Smokers aged 25-44 are most likely to take action to quit in the near future, whereas smokers aged 16-24 are more likely to want to quit without possessing any immediate plans to do so (ONS, 2001); smokers in the present sample tended to be on the borderline of these age groups – and those who had quit smoking are likely to have acted on their desire to do so quite recently, as their desires matured into pertinent behavioural intentions.

Descriptive statistics for FTND score, percentage who smoked in the previous 10 minutes, percentage who smoke in the first hour after waking and percentage who smoke 10 or fewer cigarettes per day suggest that the sample is generally represented by light smokers with little physical dependence on nicotine. For example, Fagerstrom scores less than 4 equate to minimal dependence on nicotine (Heatherton *et al.*, 1991), and the mean score in the present sample is 2. Also, as a national average, 62% of smokers smoke their first cigarette in the first hour after waking (ONS, 2001), compared with 38.1% in the present sample. Descriptive statistics for the QSU factor scores and cognitive craving content derived from participants' qualitative responses indicate that factor 1/positive craving is more evident in the current sample than factor 2/negative craving. This suggests that, in the present sample, smoking is generally perceived as rewarding,

and that participants are more likely to process an appetitive desire to smoke, rather than an urgent need, in their craving-related cognition. In terms of mood regulation, smoking was associated with all four of the pre-determined, moodspecific categories applied in the coding of participants' qualitative responses. Smoking was most associated with the management of tense arousal and least associated with feelings of anger and frustration.

Characteristics	M (<i>n</i> = 139)	SD
Age at first smoke	15.2	2.7
Heaviest daily smoking consumption	17.3	12.0
Months smoking at current rate (current smokers; $n = 101$)	49.6	74.7
Months abstinent (former smokers; $n = 35$)	25.7	41.4
FTND score	2.0	2.4
QSU score	2.3	1.4
QSU Factor 1	2.9	1.9
QSU Factor 2	1.7	1.0
Mood regulation		
%ТА	67.4	28.4
%НТ	22.4	24.7
%EA	11.9	21.2
%AF	3.4	10.8

Table 4.1

Smoking characteristics of the sample

Percentage (n = 139)

% who smoked in the past 10 minutes	26.6
% who smoke in the first hour after waking	38.1
% who smoke 10 or fewer cigarettes per day	56.1
Cognitive craving content	
% positive	41.7
% neutral	38.8
% negative	19.4

FTND = Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence. QSU = Questionnaire on Smoking Urges TA=Tense Arousal, HT=Hedonic Tone, EA=Energetic Arousal, AF=Anger/Frustration

External Triggers

Table 4.2 presents the text and frequency counts of the most frequent external triggers participants generated for each pre-determined domain. The obtained triggers are arranged in descending order of their respective frequencies. Frequency cut-off points were set at 5 for both location and activity. There was no cut-off point specified for company because of the minimal range of novel semantic responses.

Table 4.2

Triggers generated within each content domain

Company	Frequency	Location	Frequency	Activity	Frequency
Friend	100	Home	70	Drink alcohol	134
Alone	56	Pubs/bars	56	Rest/relax	116
Partner	21	Outside	37	After meal	97
Family	10	Clubs	26	Pass time/wait	83
Work	7	Other's house	19	Drink tea/coffee	75
colleagues					
Flatmates	7	Around campus	15	Walking	64
Coursemates	2	Café/Restaurant	7	Watch TV	64
		Car	7	Talking/socialising	53
(Strangers)		Work	7	After sex	50
		Bus/Train stop	5	Study	49
				Telephoning	43
				Drive	35
				Listen to music	17
				Work	10
				Dance	8

Participants endorsed a diverse range of potential trigger activities that they associate with smoking; the cut-off criterion excluded 32 activities – although eighteen of these had a frequency of just one reference. The range of locations produced was distinct, with only six locations (all with frequency scores of one) excluded from the concise situational trigger list. The specified alternatives within the category of company were few, facilitating that the full range of possibilities produced by participants be represented in the concise trigger list. A number of responses in this category were non-specific however (e.g. "whoever's around"), suggesting, deductively, that the addition of a response alternative for "Stranger(s)" in the final trigger list would be necessary to descriptively capture smoking episodes so as to accurately reflect variation in public versus private behaviour. In more than half of responses produced, participants specified whether their usual companions were smokers or non-smokers, indicating that the smoker/non-smoker status of company kept might be an important association to record. The final situational trigger list specifies fifteen activities, ten locations, and eight alternative companion groups.

Responses to question 3, which asked participants to specify *when* they usually smoked, suggested that smokers sampled from the student population tended to smoke more in the evenings; their responses rarely referenced morning smoking – consumption behaviour symptomatic of heavier dependence on smoking and evidently prevalent in the national smoker population. 48.2% of participants specifically referred to evening smoking compared with 5.8% who referred to morning smoking. Responses to question 5, designed to elicit recall of external associations not listed by participants in answers to preceding questions, generally elaborated on triggers captured in other response categories. One frequent, and otherwise uncategorised, trigger - more specific to smokers and tobacco dependence – was identified from analysis of novel responses to question 5. 30.2% of participants referenced sensory cues related to tobacco products and smoking

paraphernalia as being associatively connected to their smoking behaviour; principally they cited the smell of smoke, but they also specified the sight of cigarettes/people smoking and the feel of a lighter or cigarette pack in their hands or pocket as potential triggers.

4.4 Discussion

The design of the smoker diary (and subsequent variants) was partly informed by the findings from the initial study, and there follows a summary of the contributory role of the survey results in the development of the diary. The materials for the smoker diary can be found in Appendix A, and the design and rationale for the smoker diary and subsequent variants are outlined in subsequent sections.

The episodic smoking-diary utilised categorised lists of prevalent contextual correlates of smoking, identified from the qualitative responses to the initial study, to facilitate fast and convenient specification of the situational make-up of each smoking episode (grouped by company, activity, and location). Measures of mood and craving administered in the survey were submitted to factor-analyses to derive the most reliable measures of underlying constructs for the student-smoker population from which subsequent diary-study samples were to be drawn. In the developed episodic smoking-diary, a single-item assessment of craving measured desire to smoke before and after each episode; this item was based on the QSU item which was most highly related to overall QSU in reliability analyses (Item 1; item-total correlation =.96) for the initial study sample. Similarly, the shortened adjective checklist is composed of items that were most reliably related to TA (relaxed, anxious; .67, -.82), EA (active, sluggish; .84, -.79), HT (happy, depressed; .84, -.80) and AF (annoyed; .91). For the purposes of the eventcontingent diary, it was reasoned that a valid single-item measurement of desire to smoke would be sufficient: the motivational content of smoking episodes was

tapped by the inclusion of UMACL-derived measures of affectivity, and considerations of assessment-length were prioritised.

The main purpose of fixed-interval assessments in the developed diary-designs was to sample more generalised periodic experiences, in an effort to capture smokingrelated processes that might not be evident in episodic data. The developed fixedinterval assessment-sheet partly reflects evidence from responses in the initial study for associations between smoking and the consumption of alcohol and caffeinated drinks (both are among the five most frequently reported smokingrelated activities), by recording this consumption across specific time periods. These components of assessment also reflect empirical evidence for associations between smoking and alcohol/caffeine consumption (Miller & Gold, 1998; Lane, 1996). The episodic diary captures co-occurrence of these consumptions with smoking, but their measurement in interval-contingent reports facilitates exploration of slower-acting processes. The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS; Cohen & Williamson, 1988) was embedded as a repeated measure of temporal (rather than event-contingent) fluctuations in negative affectivity, following from findings in the initial study for the particularly strong association between stress/tense arousal and smoking, and theoretical questions about the potentially bidirectional nature of this association (Parrott, 1999). Results suggesting a potential sensory-cueing effect of other people smoking - bolstered by previous findings in the literature (Payne et al., 1991; Perkins et al., 2003) - contributed to the development of interval-contingent measures of passive smoke exposure (frequency, intensity, and duration).

For future studies, it was further decided that the FTND be adapted to yield more variance in measuring physiological dependency – following from Tate and Schmidt (1993). The 10-item Revised Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire (RTQ) scores all items on a 5-point scale, and it was expected that the measure might be more sensitive to degrees of dependence discrepancy between smokers from the student

sub-population – who were found to be clustered around the minimally dependent lower boundary of the overall FTND score. The RTQ has been shown to have greater internal consistency than previously reported for the FTQ and FTND (a = .83).

4.5 Developed diary methods

The initial survey study, compounded with related theoretical and empirical literature, led to the development of a smoker diary (see Appendix A) containing both event-contingent and fixed-interval components. Its chief contribution in this regard was in determining the likely situational make-up of smoking episodes in the present population of student-smokers – facilitating the specification of a concise set of response options in event-contingent assessment (as part of efforts to minimise participant burden).

4.5.1 Episodic smoking diary

The developed form of the episodic smoking diary is shown in Figure 4.1. This diary was presented as shown in both the smoking diary and quasi-interventional diary. Adaptations made for the eating diary are detailed in the next sub-section.
Figure 4.1

							_
Date Time (Time	AFTER smoking						
Place at home, around campus, bu restaurant, other's house, ou	us/train stop, car, b utdoors off-campus,	ar, club, , elsewhere	Time now:	(Time	finished smo	king:)	
Activity studying, working	Company alone,		How much o	f the cigarette	did you sr	noke?	
telephoning socialising/talking resting, watching TV waiting/passing time listening to music	friends, partner family strangers	flatmates					
after meal, after sex drinking alcohol drinking tea/coffee other	smokers		<u>Did you inha</u> no – partiy – r	<u>le?</u> mostly – fully			
Have also a la visita di alta dan a al	and the sladest a such		How strong	s vour desire	for a cigar	ette right now	2
(no desire) 0 1 2 3 4 5	Garette right now	<u>د</u>	(no desire)	0 1 2 3	4 5 6	(very strong)	-
Mood Definitely Sligh	tly Slightly	Definitely Not	Mood	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly Not	C
happy 1 2	3	4	happy	1	2	3	heres
active 1 2	3	4	active	1	2	3	
relaxed 1 2	3	4	relaxed	1	2	3	
sluggish 1 2	3	4	sluggish	1	2	3	
depressed 1 2	3	4	depressed	1	2	3	
annoyed 1 2	3	4	annoyed	1	2	3	viena
focused 1 2	3	4	focused	1	2	3	
anxious 1 2	3	4	anxious	1	2	3	

The episodic smoking diary

Pre-smoking assessment

Post-smoking assessment

Pre-Smoking

Initial items prompted participants to specify the date, time of pre-smoking report, and time actually smoked. Three categorised lists presented options for situational definition. Participants underlined or circled appropriate options in each category: place, activity, and company. Response options were derived from the initial survey study; participants were asked to write down places, activities or companions that did not fit with the presented response options (novel responses represented 3% of the total across categories). A single-scale assessment of current desire to smoke was presented, anchored at 0 = "no desire" and 6 = "very strong" desire. This item was derived from survey results for the QSU. Average reliability (true to total variance of measure, calculated automatically by HLM - see Bryk and Raudenbush, 1992 pp. 39-40) and validity (relationship between original QSU and shortened measure of the same construct, calculated as the square root of the percent of shared variance) was adequate for the abbreviated desire assessment (.82, .69). The final pre-smoking assessment was a short mood-form. Participants rated seven adjectives descriptive of people's moods/feelings according to how indicative each word was of their current mood state; ratings were anchored at 1 = "Definitely"

descriptive of current mood state and 4 = "Definitely Not" descriptive of current mood state. The mood form was derived from high-loading UMACL items (see previous section) such that items tapped the same underlying scales: HT (scored such that high scores equal high happiness), EA (scored such that high scores equal high alertness), TA (scored such that high scores equal high stress) and AF (scored such that high scores equal high irritation). Average reliability and validity was adequate for the abbreviated mood assessments: HT (.85, .78), EA (.56, .66), TA (.84, .34), and AF (.81, .46).

Post-Smoking

Initial items prompted participants to specify the time of post-smoking report and time finished smoking. Two subsequent items were included to gauge episode-specific consumption information. Participants were asked to place a mark on a pictorial visual-analogue scale (VAS) - depicting a cigarette - to indicate how much of the cigarette rod they had consumed. A related four-point scale measured the extent to which participants had inhaled smoke; anchored at 1 = "Not at all" and 4 = "Deeply". Final measures were post-smoking re-tests of desire and mood; these measures were as described for the pre-smoking component of event-contingent assessment.

4.5.2 Event-contingent diary adapted for eating behaviour

This sub-section describes the changes made to the original diary design that facilitated its application to natural consumption events. Where possible, it was intended that the eating diary should have equivalence with the smoking diary.

Pre-Consumption

Initial items prompted participants to specify the date, time of pre-consumption report, and time at which consumption actually commenced. Three categorised lists presented options for situational definition. Response options were minimally adapted from those utilised in the smoking diary (the "after meal" activity option was deleted due to redundancy); participants were asked to write down places, activities or companions that did not fit with the presented response options (novel responses represented 6% of the total across categories). A single-scale assessment of current desire to eat was presented, anchored at 0 = "no desire" and 6 = "very strong" desire. This item was adapted from the QSU-derived measure in the smoking diary, and has the same wording as item 3 of the Hunger Questionnaire administered at baseline. Average reliability and validity (relationship between original HQ and shortened measure of the same construct) was good for the abbreviated desire assessment (.80, .81). The final pre-consumption assessment was a short mood-form, described for the smoking diary. Average reliability and validity was adequate for the abbreviated mood assessments in the present sample: HT (.83, .77), EA (.66, .66), TA (.84, .34), and AF (.81, .46).

Post-Consumption

Initial items prompted participants to specify the time of post-consumption report and time finished eating. Two subsequent items were included to gauge episodespecific consumption information. Participants were asked to list the items they had prepared to eat and record fat/calorific content where known. They were instructed to provide enough information for each episode to be categorised in terms of foodtypes consumed. A related four-point scale measured the extent to which participants had consumed the food that they had prepared/intended to consume; anchored at 1 = "Very little" and <math>4 = "All (none left over)". Final measures were post-consumption re-tests of desire and mood; these measures were as described for the pre-consumption component of event-contingent assessment.

4.5.3 Fixed-interval smoking diary

The developed form of the fixed-interval smoking diary is shown in Figure 4.2. This diary was presented as shown in both the smoking diary and quasi-interventional diary. The quasi-interventional study administered one additional assessment: measures of current state (mood and desire to smoke) at each response-interval. This sub-section describes the assessment components of the fixed-interval diary. Adaptations made for the eating diary are detailed in the next sub-section.

Figure 4.2

The fixed-interval smoking diary

Rate how truthfully each statement below reflects your experiences from the time of your previous assessment to the time of the current assessment.

Ratings should be made as a scaled score ranging from 0 to 10 and entered into the appropriate box. A rating of 0 indicates that the statement is completely false (does not reflect your experiences at all), a rating of 10 indicates that the statement is very true of your experiences.

- 1. "I've felt unable to control the important things in my life"
- 2. "I've felt confident about my ability to handle personal problems"
- 3. "I've felt things were going my way"
- 4. "I've felt difficulties were piling up so high that I could not overcome them"
- 5. "I've frequently felt an urge or desire to smoke"
- 6. "The urges, or desires, to smoke that I've experienced have been weak"
- 7. "The urges to smoke that I've experienced have been lasting a long time"
- 8. "I've found it difficult to concentrate on what I've been doing"
- 9. "I have found it easy to ignore potential distractions"
- 10. "I've frequently been exposed to passive smoke"
- 11. "Other people's smoke has been very noticeable"
- 12. "I've not spent any time in smoky environments"

Think back over the experiences you have had since the time of your previous assessment; over this time period:

What was the most pleasurable experience you had?

Rate the pleasantness of this experience out of 10 What was the least pleasurable experience you had?

Rate the unpleasantness of this experience out of 10

Think back over your behaviour since the time of your previous assessment; over this time period: How many units of alcohol have you consumed?* How many cups of tea/coffee have you consumed?

Figure 4.2 presents the items assessed in the fixed-interval component of the smoking diary. Responses to these items were obtained at each assessment interval, providing repeated measures time-series data.

Statement Ratings

Participants were instructed to rate the truthfulness of twelve statements as

reflecting their experiences over the preceding fixed-period/since the time of their

previous assessment interval; ratings were anchored at 0 = "completely false (does

not reflect your experiences at all)" and 10 = "very true of your experiences".

Four of the twelve statements (statements 1-4 in Figure 4.2) constituted an embedded form of the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS; Cohen, Karmarck, & Mermelstein, 1983), gauging appraisals of stress experienced between assessment-intervals. Internal consistency of the PSS is good (a = .72), although the 4-item scale is less reliable than the 10-item (a = .85). Test-retest reliability is adequate: .55 over a two-month interval. An overall PSS score was derived from the four items and scored such that high scores equal high stress over the preceding period. Average internal consistency across present studies was adequate (a = .72)

Urges to smoke experienced over the preceding fixed-period were gauged at each assessment-interval by three items (statements 5-7): separate statements described frequency, intensity, and duration of periodic craving. Statement ratings were scored such that high scores equal high frequency, intensity, and duration as appropriate (to this end, the intensity item was reverse-scored). Recording of craving experiences across three dimensions follows the recommendations of Halikas (1997) and may help to aid period-recall by providing a demarcated structure for retrieval (Eysenck, 1979). Two related statements measured distractibility over the preceding period (statements 8 and 9); smoking may improve concentration (Zhang & Sulzer, 2004), and a regulatory relationship could develop such that impaired concentration motivates smoking behaviour (Heishman, 2001). Statement ratings were scored such that high scores equal high difficulty concentrating, and a total distractibility score was derived from the two pre-scored items.

Passive-smoke exposure over the preceding fixed-period was gauged at each assessment-interval by three items (statements 10-12): separate statements described frequency, intensity, and duration of exposure to others' smoking. Statement ratings were scored such that high scores equal high frequency, intensity, and duration as appropriate (to this end, the duration item was reverse-

scored). Assessment of exposure to others' smoking was incorporated on the basis of evidence for cueing of smoking/craving by smoking-related stimuli (Drobes & Tiffany, 1997; Niaura *et al.*, 1992; Payne *et al.*, 1991) – such as the sight or smell of people smoking.

Salient experiences

Participants were asked to provide a brief description of their most pleasurable experience over the preceding fixed-period/since the time of their previous assessment interval, and to accord a rating of pleasantness to this experience; ratings ranged from 0 to 10, where 10 is equal to a very pleasant experience. Participants were further asked to provide a brief description of their least pleasurable experience over the preceding period, and to accord a rating of unpleasantness to this experience; ratings ranged from 0 to 10, where 10 is equal to a very unpleasant experience. Experience descriptions were elicited to aid recall (encouraging focus on a specific elaborated event; Schacter, 2001), thus facilitating more accurate ratings of salient valenced events. Experience descriptions were not coded for the purpose of further analyses

Consumption

Participants were instructed to record consumption of alcohol and caffeinated drinks over the preceding fixed-period/since the time of their previous assessment interval. Alcohol consumption was recorded in units (where 1 unit = 10ml Ethanol), and participants were provided/trained with a unit-calculation table to assist in this process. The number of caffeinated drinks consumed was recorded. Smoking behaviour is associated with consumption of alcohol and caffeine (Istvan & Matarazzo, 1984; Miller & Gold, 1998; Lane, 1996) and this relationship may not be limited to an episodic/smoking-concurrent association. More complex periodic relationships might arise as consumption of one substance (nicotine/caffeine/alcohol) could temporarily sate desire for another, and/or

periodic abstinence from one substance might later culminate in greater consumption of another (Henningfield, Clayton & Pollin, 1990; Willner, Hardman & Eaton, 1995; Taylor *et al.*, 2000).

Current mood and craving (quasi-intervention only)

The utilised state measures of current state in the quasi-intervention diary were the UMACL-derived mood-form and QSU-derived desire scale that were administered in event-contingent assessments (pre- and post-event) across all samples. These measures facilitated analysis of state-changes over the abstinence period that, in cases where the participant managed to abstain fully (zero smoking events), would not be captured by event-contingent assessments. Assessment of mood and desire at numerous intervals was further considered to potentially present a more reliable means of deriving baseline (i.e. not smoking-contingent) states than from a singletime assessment.

4.5.4 Fixed-interval diary adapted for eating behaviour

This sub-section describes changes made to the fixed-interval diary design that facilitated its application to natural consumption events. Where possible, it was intended that the eating diary should have equivalence with the original smoking diary.

Statement Ratings

As in the original design, four of the twelve statements constituted an embedded form of the PSS. Internal consistency of the PSS was adequate in the present sample (a = .74).

Urges to eat experienced over the preceding fixed-period were gauged at each assessment-interval by three items: separate statements described frequency,

intensity, and duration of periodic hunger. Two related statements measured distractibility over the preceding period. Items were designed to be equivalent to items pertaining to urges to smoke in the fixed-interval smoking diary, and were scored accordingly.

Exposure to other people eating (over the preceding fixed-period) was gauged at each assessment-interval by three items: separate statements described frequency, intensity, and duration of exposure to others' consumption of food. Again, items were designed to be equivalent to items pertaining to passive-smoke exposure in the fixed-interval smoking diary, and were scored accordingly.

Components assessing *Salient experiences* and *Consumption* (of alcohol and tea/coffee) were unchanged from the smoking diary. Note that the eating study did not include measures of current state that were added to the quasi-interventional version of the smoking diary.

4.6 Diary procedures

This section presents the procedures for each of the three diary studies that were developed: the smoking diary, eating diary, and quasi-interventional diary.

4.6.1 Smoking diary

Participants consenting to take part in the study (by completing the Participant Consent Form) provided responses to a one-off initial assessment (administered at the point of intake) and agreed with the researcher a start date for commencing their 48-hour monitoring period. At intake, participants received personal instruction in how to perform this monitoring, and had the opportunity to discuss the procedure with the researcher and clarify their understanding of the printed materials.

The initial (intake) assessment comprised a series of questionnaire items designed to explicate participants' history of smoking behaviour, smoker typology, and readiness to change. The initial assessment also included a number of validated tests intended to gauge motivational sensitivity/personality (BIS-BAS scales; IPIP Big 5), nicotine dependence (Revised Fagerström Tolerance Questionnaire), and baseline levels of mood (UWIST Adjective Checklist) and craving (QSU). Participants were asked to complete mood and craving measures twice: once before lunch and once in the evening. They were instructed to complete the mood and craving assessments at points between smoking episodes, and not immediately before or after. The initial assessment took no longer than 25 minutes to complete in piloting (n = 15) and was completed in the participant's everyday context prior to participation.

At 8pm on the agreed start date, participants completed the first of five fixedinterval assessments, and began to monitor smoking episodes as and when they occurred.

The fixed interval assessments required that participants recall and record their experiences and behaviours since the time of their previous fixed assessment. Each fixed assessment had three components. The first component measured the extent of participants' perceived experiences of stress (an embedded modification of the Perceived Stress Scale), exposure to sensory triggers (frequency, duration and intensity of passive smoke exposure), distractibility, and (frequency, duration, and intensity of) craving. Participants were instructed to score a series of statements (designed to tap the occurrence of these phenomena) according to how truthfully they reflected their personal experiences. The second component instructed

participants to think of the most pleasurable and least pleasurable events that had occurred since the previous fixed assessment, and accord a rating of pleasantness/unpleasantness to each as appropriate. The final component instructed participants to state their caffeine and alcohol consumption (a table was provided to assist with the calculation of unit alcohol consumption), and to indicate the amount of money that they had spent on tobacco products. Each fixed-interval assessment took no longer than five minutes to complete in piloting.

The event-contingent assessments required participants to record their state immediately prior to, and immediately after, each smoking episode. For each cigarette they smoked, participants used a separate Cigarette-diary sheet to specify the context (location, activity, company) in which they were about to smoke selecting from a number of listed options. They also reported the strength of their urge to smoke (on a 7-point Likert scale), and their pre-smoking mood (a piloted derivation of the UWIST Adjective Checklist). After smoking, participants used the second side of the cigarette-diary sheet to indicate how much of the cigarette they smoked - on a pictorial VAS of a cigarette rod. They also indicated to what extent they inhaled the smoke, and performed post-smoking re-tests of their urge to smoke and mood-state. The Cigarette-diary sheets were compact enough to be kept with/in a cigarette packet, and completion of each episodic assessment (pre and post) took no longer than two minutes in piloting.

Forty eight hours after the agreed start time, participants completed their fifth and final fixed-interval assessment and ceased event-contingent monitoring of their smoking episodes. After handing the completed materials back to the researcher, participants were verbally debriefed and given the opportunity to ask any further questions they had about the purpose or design of the study. They were also afforded the opportunity to withdraw their responses from further analyses if they so wished.

On completion/withdrawal of participation, participants received a Quit-line sheet providing contact numbers for organisations offering advice on smoking cessation.

4.6.2 Eating diary

The procedure for the eating diary replicated that of the smoking diary. It differed only in some aspects of content assessment (detailed in the preceding section and Chapter 3).

4.6.3 Quasi-intervention diary

The procedure for the quasi-interventional diary differed in some resects to that of the smoking diary; differences in protocol are described in this sub-section.

Participants consenting to take part in the study (by completing the Participant Consent Form) provided responses to a one-off initial assessment (administered at the point of intake) and agreed with the researcher a start date for commencing their 72-hour monitoring period. At intake, participants received personal instruction in how to perform the monitoring, and had opportunity to discuss the procedure with the researcher and clarify their understanding of the printed materials.

The initial (intake) assessment was the same as that administered to participants in the original Smoker Diary.

At 8pm on the agreed start date, participants completed the first of seven fixedinterval assessments, and began to monitor smoking episodes as and when they occurred. The fixed interval assessments were composed of components administered in the original Smoker Diary, plus an additional component: participants were instructed to complete a short assessment of their affective state and desire to smoke as experienced at the time that they were giving their responses. The extended fixed-interval assessment took no longer than seven minutes to complete in piloting (n = 5).

The event-contingent assessments were the same as those administered in the original Smoker Diary.

Twenty four hours after the agreed start time, participants entered a period of encouraged abstinence. For the duration of this 24-hour period, participants continued to complete fixed assessments and monitor smoking events (lapses) if and when they occurred, but they were aware that they have been asked to attempt abstinence from smoking for this phase of their participation.

Seventy two hours after the agreed start time, participants completed their seventh and final fixed-interval assessment and cease event-contingent monitoring of their smoking episodes. After handing the completed materials back to the researcher, participants had a further opportunity to ask questions about the purpose and design of the study. They were also given the opportunity to withdraw their responses from further analyses.

4.7 Diary compliance

4.7.1 Event-contingent

Participants were instructed to specify the time that they actually smoked/ate separately from the time at which they completed the pre- and post-event assessments. Participants were informed that responses for episodes that had not

been assessed promptly would be acceptable for further analysis, providing that all times were recorded accurately. They were further informed that the influence of response latencies could be meaningfully modelled, and that honesty about compliance was more important than compliance per se. The provision of such information was intended to give the impression that the study demanded precise reporting over prompt reporting – so as to maximise compliance.

In practice, noncompliant episodes were not utilised in analyses pertaining to the central hypotheses of the study. Episodes were classed as noncompliant if there was a discrepancy between the times at which participants reported initiating and terminating smoking and the reported times at which they completed pre- and post-smoking assessments respectively; across all studies, 286 episodes were classed as noncompliant, representing 15.9% of the total reported. Analyses of episodes categorised as noncompliant indicated that there were no differences between pre- and post-event mood scores, suggesting that attempts to reconstruct mood in retrospective recall of episodes produced data that did not show any systematic trends (in contrast to findings relating to data reported as being fully compliant). The finding that data from noncompliant episodes showed random variation that was not evident in episodes categorised as compliant suggests that participant-reported compliancy may be accurate - reflecting a real difference between contiguous and delayed responding.

Further support for the accuracy of compliance reporting may be inferred from the general tendency in the studies of smoking for smoking episodes to be reported at a lower frequency than would be expected from participants' initial estimates of their typical smoking rates. Inconvenience of monitoring may alter behaviour, and this has not been disguised in the present studies, suggesting that participants did not perceive a demand to fabricate responding. This suggestion was bolstered by feedback in debriefing. Reports implied that participants found the monitoring to be

inopportune in certain situations, but that they did not feel that they had to conceal this in their responding. If they were late to respond, they reported relevant times accurately as instructed. Feedback in the eating study suggested that this monitoring was more convenient: eating episodes were generally less frequent and tended to occur in situations suited to making diary entries (e.g., when sat at a dining table).

Although instructions were designed to minimise compliancy demands, and there is evidence to suggest that participants were accurate in reporting compliance, the nature of the present self-report protocol is such that the actual compliance rate may have differed from the indicated rate - a problem inherent in paper-based diaries (Stone *et al.*, 2002; 2003). However, due to the event-contingent nature of the monitoring, it is unlikely that the use of standard electronic diaries would have afforded more accurate compliance information. Assessments of this kind have to be initiated by the participant, and could not be signalled externally without innovative implementation of sophisticated sensor technology. The present approach to implementing event-contingent assessments of mood is not without precedence in the literature (e.g., Peeters *et al.*, 2003).

4.7.2 Fixed-interval

The signalling/time-stamping properties of electronic diary instruments would have been useful in encouraging and assessing compliance in the fixed-interval component of applied diary-designs. Internal clocks can be tampered with and scheduled signalling may be disruptive or inconvenient in certain contexts (Scollon *et al.*, 2003), but, in view of the findings of Stone and colleagues (2002, 2003), electronic diary instruments would have been preferred (for interval-contingent measurement) if the requisite resources were available. However, the present research followed all recommendations for maximising compliance in paper-based

diary protocols (Bolger *et al.*, 2003; Scollon *et al.*, 2003): diary sheets folded down to pocket-size and were easily portable, dates and times were pre-printed onto diary sheets to reduce participant error, allowances were made for participants to specify the time at which assessments were actually completed (in a way that recognised that they wouldn't always be on time), ongoing contact was maintained and responses were checked daily (when completed event-contingent sheets were collected), diary forms were pilot-tested within the intended population of study, participants were given thorough training on the procedures (practicing completion of each component), and appropriate monetary incentives were offered.

4.8 Next chapter

Chapter 5 is the first of the results-based chapters examining key issues of the research. As such, this chapter considers the primary issue of the research: testing potential models of mood-smoking reinforcement as they apply in everyday smoking episodes. Chapter 5 further extends its focus on mood-smoking relationships to examine covariance with contemporary context and craving.

Chapter 5. Models of mood and episodic correlates

The present chapter tested potential models of smoking-related mood change and how these interact with contextual cues present at the time of smoking.

The primary prediction was that that mood would change in relation to episodic smoking. The emergence of a systematic pattern of change would allow a test of the three theoretical models, as they are evinced over time in everyday smoking behaviour. It was difficult to predict which model would prove the best fit to data as the literature has been inconsistent in its support of one model over the others (Zinser *et al.*, 1999) - and studies have not examined models as they apply to naturalistic data (Kalman, 2002).

On balance, previous laboratory research has indicated that smoking ameliorates negative mood (Gilbert & Wesler, 1989; Payne *et al.*, 1991; Brandon., 1994). This is consistent with predictions of the associative-withdrawal model. Many influential researchers continue to support negative affective reinforcement (associativewithdrawal) as the primary motivation for episodic smoking (Baker *et al.*, 2004b; Koob, 2003; Eissenberg, 2004).

However, some recent studies suggest that – in conditions that more closely resemble normal smoking (no enforced deprivation prior to testing; perceived access to cigarettes) – smoking may be motivated by mood-enhancing expectations (Mucha *et al.*, 1999; Huston-Lyons & Kometsky, 1992; Shapiro *et al.*, 2002). As the present study examined smoking in its natural environment, this research was considered more indicative of likely outcomes: suggesting hypothesis in favour of incentive-based models (appetitive-incentive and incentive-sensitisation theories). In their meta-analysis of physiological responses (heart-rate and skin conductance) to drug cues, Carter and Tiffany (1999) concluded that incentive models

(appetitive-incentive and incentive-sensitisation theories) are better supported overall (consistent with earlier reviews by Niaura *et al.*, 1998; and Rohsenow *et al.*, 1990-91). Although testing conditions and measures used in reviewed studies differ from the present methodology, and summarise evidence from multiple substances of dependence, these findings further influence predictions against the associativewithdrawal model. It is notable that recent studies have specifically supported an incentive-sensitisation (rather than appetitive-incentive) model of smoking motivation, with convergence of several methodological approaches: looking at neurotransmission, functional imaging, and learning paradigms in humans and animals (Balfour, 2003; Zinser *et al.*, 1999; Donny *et al.*, 2003).

Given the conceptualisation of smoking as a rewarding behaviour, it was further predicted that BAS-related mood dimensions would be central to reinforcement motivation. Chiefly, hedonic tone and/or energetic arousal were expected to emerge as key indices (Carver & Scheier, 1998). Note however that tense arousal emerged as the most prominent smoking-associated mood in the general recall of participants in the initial study (chapter 4). Retrospective reports often claim that regulation of tense arousal is an important function of smoking, but such reports have proved difficult to substantiate (Kassel et al., 2003). A basic validatory expectation was that desire to smoke (craving) would demonstrate an inverted-U trend in relation to smoking. It was hypothesised that craving would show relationship with mood changes, although the likely heterogeneity of craving permitted little more than speculative reasoning in this regard. Available indications are that craving is especially tied to negative mood (Tiffany, 1992); but this relationship is most clearly seen when smoking is restricted (Sayette & Huffard, 1995; Tiffany, 1995), and may not be evinced in normal smoking. Following indications from clinical reports and conditioning research, it was expected that mood and craving would exhibit state dependencies/contextual sensitivity (Shapiro et al., 2002; Mackintosh, 1983; Baker et al., 2004a). Many

studies indicate that the subjective effects of smoking (and other drugs) depend on situation (Gilbert, 1997). For example, in the laboratory, mood effects have been shown to interact with concurrent activity (Kassel & Shiffman, 1997).

This chapter had the following aims:

- To test three potential models of mood-smoking, by identifying which model best describes mood change across two stages of smoking: (1) from baseline to pre-smoking, and (2) from pre- to post-smoking.
- To assess potential covariation of mood-smoking relationships at each of the two stages with contextual variability.
- To characterise craving change across stages and its relationship with mood and contextual variability.

5.1 Investigative approach

Data analysis proceeded in three stages, reflecting the main aims of the chapter. Firstly the three competing models were compared. This is followed by modelling of episodic covariation between identified mood changes and contextual variables. Finally, desire scores were examined for significant variability and submitted to modelling as a function of contextual and mood variables. Analyses in this chapter examined combined data-sets from the smoking diary and quasi-interventional diary (only episodes from the initial free-smoking period were used in this analysis). These data sets were combined as they both contained information relevant to the questions explored in this chapter, and were equivalent in terms of procedure and variables assessed. The merging of these data-sets yields more power for examining the central questions of this thesis: those concerning smoking in relation to mood (this chapter) and personality (chapter 6).

5.1.1 Comparing the three models

Initially, model-fit for each dimension of mood was examined using a series of hierarchical multivariate models: with mood in each of the three sampled conditions (baseline, pre-smoking, and post-smoking; level one) nested within persons (level two). For the purposes of this analysis, dummy variables were constructed to represent the three models under test. Variables were assigned three parameter values, reflecting predicted mood patterns across conditions. The following variables (with associated functions and dummy values) were produced in this manner: Appetitive Incentive (linear-increase function; 0, 1, 2), Associative Withdrawal (U-shaped function; 1, 0, 1), and Incentive Sensitisation (step-increase function; 0, 1, 1). A negative trend for positive mood and Associative Withdrawal would also support the incentive-sensitisation conceptualisation, specifically an incentive-sensitisation model wherein positive mood decreases post-consumption (inverted-U function; 0, 1, 0).

Relationships between mood and model representations were examined with the following within-person (level 1) model separately for each of the dimensions of mood:

$$y_{ij} = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j} (AI/AW/IS) + r_{ij}$$

In this model, y_{ij} is a measure of average mood (HT, EA, TA, or AF) for person j in condition i (baseline, pre-smoking, post-smoking), β_{0j} is a random coefficient representing the intercept of y for person j (mean mood across conditions), β_{1j} is a slope representing the within-person relationship between model (AI, AW, or IS) and mood for person j, and rij represents error.

To determine if model representations covaried with mood (i.e., whether model slopes were significantly different from 0 across the individuals in the study), the following person-level model was examined:

 $\beta_{0j} = \gamma_{00} + u_{0j}$ $\beta_{1j} = \gamma_{10} + u_{1j}$

The significance of γ_{10} indicated if, on average, the relationship between mood and model was different from zero. Such models are referred to as models of "slopes as outcomes" because slopes from a level 1 model are considered as outcomes (dependent variables) at level 2.

Responses pertaining to each of the dimensions of UMACL mood were subsequently submitted to a repeated measures Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) - to identify significant differences between baseline, mean pre- and mean postsmoking responses. Baseline scores constituted (the average of) summed item scores for representative UMACL adjectives used in the event contingent component of the study, such that scores at the three intervals were all derived from the same adjective-rating items. The MANOVA was conducted to examine general mood change across states and identify the primary affective/arousal components associated with smoking events. Only mood dimensions demonstrating a significant main effect of change (across the three testing intervals) in the MANOVA were submitted to further analyses. These further analyses again took the form of multilevel modelling.

5.1.2 Mood changes and episodic context

The within-person (level 1) changes in mood - from baseline to pre-smoking and pre- to post-smoking - represent theoretically distinct processes (Rohsenow *et al.*,

1990-91, Benowitz, 1992) and can be analysed separately and combined to imply overall model-fit for the sample. It is then possible to analyse covariation between mood change scores and context at each stage.

For each recorded smoking episode, average baseline scores (derived from the UMACL items that corresponded to items incorporated in the episodic cigarette diary) were deducted from pre-smoking item scores, and pre-smoking mood scores were deducted from corresponding post-smoking mood scores. The initial models in these analyses were unconditional. The basic level 1 (episodic or within-person) model was:

$$\mathbf{y}_{ij} = \beta_{0j} + \mathbf{r}_{ij}.$$

In this model, yij is an episodic measure of mood for person j at episode i, β_{0j} is a random coefficient representing the mean of y for person j (across the i episodes for which each person provided data), rij represents the error associated with each measure, and the variance of rij constitutes the episode level residual/error variance. To determine whether mood change scores were significantly different from 0 across the individuals in the study, the basic level 2 model was examined:

$$\beta_{0j} = \gamma_{00} + u_{0j}.$$

In this model, γ_{00} represents the grand mean of the person level means (β_{00} s) from the episode level model, u_{00} represents the error of β_{00} , and the variance of u_{00} constitutes the level 2 residual/error variance.

The secondary aim of this chapter was to identify covariation between mood changes and contextual variables. Such relationships were examined using the following episode level model separately for each mood change score:

 $y_{ij} = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j}$ (CONTEXTUAL VARIABLE)+ r_{ij} .

This model is similar to the model used to examine relationships between mood and model representations. The slopes now reflect within-person relationships between mood changes and episodic context. For the purposes of modelling, continuous variables were group-mean centred to eliminate the influences on parameter estimates of individual differences in a given contextual variable. Dichotomous variables were entered without centring. Thus, coefficients for each individual described relationship between deviations from their mean score on a contextual variable and deviations from their mean mood-change score.

Variables relating to context were examined across five categories: temporal, company, location, activity, and consumption. Location and activity variables were constructed by a process of category-generation and assignment applied to the original response options in the event-contingent diary. Two independent coders performed this procedure. Temporal variables were *episode length* (in minutes), *minutes since smoked* and *serial position* (nth episode of the day). Company variables were others not smoking (coded as 0 = alone at time of episode, 1 = with others, who were not smoking) and others smoking (0 = no-one else smoking at time of episode, 1 = others smoking). Location variables were *home, social venue*, and *outdoors*; all three were binary variables (coded as 0 = episode occurred elsewhere, 1 = episode occurred in this place-type). Activity indicator variables were *resting, working, active-engagement, drinking alcohol, drinking tea/coffee, post-eating*, and *post-sex*; all were binary variables reflecting non-

occurrence/occurrence in this state of activity. Consumption variables were *cigarette rod remaining* (in mm scaled), and *extent inhaled* (4-point scale).

To determine the contextual covariates that had a unique relationship with mood change, significant predictors in the above model – where one contextual variable is analysed at a time – were analysed further. Firstly, predictive contextual variables were examined as a function of each other to identify covariation between predictors. Finally, covarying predictors were entered together into a model with mood change again as the dependent variable. Contextual variables that showed significant covariation with mood change in this final stage of analysis were reported as variables demonstrating direct (extra-mediated) relationships with mood change.

5.1.3 Craving and its relation to mood and context

Final analyses in this chapter pertained to desire to smoke and its covariation with mood and context. The programme of analyses applied was similar to that followed for investigation of mood changes.

Initially, desire ratings were submitted to a repeated measures Multivariate Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) - to identify significant differences between baseline, mean pre- and mean post-smoking responses. Baseline desire score was obtained from the QSU item used in the event contingent component of the study (Item 1: "How strong is your desire to smoke right now?"), such that scores at the three intervals were all derived from the same measure. Subsequent analyses examined significant change scores using multilevel modelling techniques. For each recorded smoking episode, baseline desire scores (averaged) were deducted from pre-smoking scores, and pre-smoking scores were deducted from corresponding post-smoking scores. Unconditional models were examined to replicate MANOVA findings with the

non-aggregated nested data-set, and level-1 slope models were constructed (in the manner previously described) to identify covariation with other episodic measures. The same sets of contextual variables that had been modelled in relation to mood changes were examined in relation to desire changes; but the first models at this stage of analysis tested covariation between changes in mood and changes in desire.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Comparing the three models: Relationships with Mood

To address the first main aim of the chapter - to compare three potential models of mood and smoking - a series of models were constructed to fit mean mood to estimated change functions representing the theories under test (Appetitive Incentive, Associative Withdrawal, and Incentive Sensitisation).

HT was positively related for function variables representing the Appetitive Incentive ($\gamma_{10} = .02, t = 4.23, p < .001$) and Incentive Sensitisation ($\gamma_{10} = .04, t = 4.63, p < .001$) models. Goodness of fit was slightly better for Appetitive Incentive (deviance = -450.5, estimated parameters = 4) than Incentive Sensitisation (-453.65, 4). EA was positively related for Appetitive Incentive ($\gamma_{10} = .03, t = 3.66, p$ < .001) and Incentive Sensitisation ($\gamma_{10} = .07, t = 4.66, p < .001$), and negatively related for Associative Withdrawal ($\gamma_{10} = .04, t = -2.67, p = .008$). Goodness of fit was slightly better for Associative Withdrawal (-307.51, 4) than Appetitive Incentive (-313.35, 4) and Incentive Sensitisation (-320.70, 4). The significant negative covariation between EA and Associative Withdrawal supports an incentive sensitisation model wherein alertness decreases following consumption. TA was negatively related for Associative Withdrawal ($\gamma_{10} = -.03, t = -2.13, p = .03$). Because TA is scored such that high scores indicate high stress, this relationship supports an associative-withdrawal pattern of tension regulation. AF was not related to any of the coded variables.

Analyses in this section suggest that both EA and HT are represented by models predicting elevation of positive mood from baseline to pre-smoking state. The compatibility of these mood dimensions with multiple models (both appetitiveincentive and incentive-sensitisation interpretations) suggests that changes from pre- to post-smoking may be less consistent. In contrast, TA was uniquely fitted to an associative-withdrawal function.

5.2.2 Comparing the three models: Changes in mean mood

A repeated measures MANOVA was performed on mean scores for the four dimensions of mood across the three testing intervals: baseline, episodic presmoking, and episodic post-smoking. The MANOVA served to identify the most changeable (motivationally salient) dimensions of mood, and better specify the direction of any effects for each component of change (baseline to pre-smoking and pre- to post-smoking). For all dimensions of mood, responses were log transformed to normalise error distribution prior to the MANOVA. Untransformed data was used to derive the episodic change scores applied in subsequent HLM analyses (these change scores had uniform residuals).

The MANOVA revealed significant main effects of hedonic tone [F(2,138)=11.46, p = .001] and energetic arousal [F(2,138)=11.97, p = .001], no main effects of other mood dimensions were observed. Figure 5.1 indicates that hedonic tone and energetic arousal demonstrate a similar pattern of change. Simple main effects analyses were carried out on the mean differences in hedonic tone and energetic arousal. Pre-smoking hedonic tone (HT-pre) was significantly greater than hedonic tone at baseline (HT base) [F(1,69)=9.98, p < .005]; post-smoking hedonic tone

(HT-post) was not significantly different from HT-pre. Pre-smoking energetic arousal (EA-pre) was significantly greater than energetic arousal at baseline (EAbase) [F(1,69)= 14.06, p < .001]; post-smoking energetic arousal (EA-post) was not significantly different from EA-pre. These findings support an incentivesensitisation account of motivation. MANOVA results are thus consistent with preceding model-fit analyses in the implication that, for hedonic and energetic dimensions, only positive mood changes from baseline to pre-smoking are consistent. Following from the MANOVA results, further analyses were limited to the examination of hedonic tone and energetic arousal responses, and specifically to scores reflecting changes from baseline to pre-smoking state.

Figure 5.1

Mean hedonic tone at baseline, pre-smoking, and post-smoking states



Mean energetic arousal at baseline, pre-smoking, and post-smoking states



Note. Error bars depict standard deviations

5.2.3 Mood changes and context: Episode-level models

The second main aim of this chapter was to explore if context variables covary with the best fitting mood-smoking model (the incentive-sensitisation account) identified above. The present analyses examined change from baseline to pre-smoking mood and relationships between the degree of mood change and episode-level situational variation. Mood changes from pre- to post-smoking were not significant and were not examined in relation to context, although it is acknowledged that there may be significant variability in change scores that were not analysed at this stage. Covariation with hedonic tone is examined first, followed by covariation with energetic arousal.

Baseline to pre-smoking hedonic covariation

The first model of hedonic tone change from baseline was an unconditional model, with the difference score (pre-smoking hedonic tone minus baseline hedonic tone; HT-pre - HT-base) entered at level 1. As suggested by previous aggregate-based analyses, HT-pre - HT-base was positive and significantly different from 0 (γ_{00} = .50, *t*= 3.73, *p* < .001): indicating elevated happiness in pre-smoking responses as compared to baseline.

Further analyses examined contextual relationships with this change. Six variabletypes were examined as potential covariates: temporal, location, company, activity, craving, and consumption. Only variables found to have unique influences on the dependent variable (controlling for the impact of covarying predictors) are reported here. For example, alcohol consumption covaried with social venue (more episodes of smoking whilst drinking occurred in bars, clubs, and restaurants) and serial position (cigarettes smoked later in the day were more likely to be consumed with alcohol), and all three of these variables were found to be related to HT-pre - HTbase. Given this covariation, further models were constructed wherein HT-pre - HT-

base was examined as a joint function of alcohol, social venue, and serial position. The context coefficients in this analysis remained significant (ps < .005) suggesting that all three variables had a unique influence. Similar models were constructed for all combinations of covarying predictors of HT-pre - HT-base; slopes for unique predictors are reported here as derived from single-function models. The results of these analyses are summarised in Table 5.1 below.

-

Table 5.1

Episodic relationships between significant mood changes and contextual variables

	γοο	Y10	t	P
HT-pre – HT-base	.50	<u></u>	3.73	<.001
Serial position		.06	3.48	.001
Others smoking		.41	2.89	<.001
Others not smoking		.30	3.65	<.001
Post-sex		1.24	7.14	<.001
Post-eating		.22	2.14	.032
Drinking alcohol		.65	4.89	<.001
Working		- .53	-3.50	.001
Social venue		.70	5.26	<.001
EA-pre – EA-base	.68		4.10	<.001
Resting		49	-4.39	<.001
At home		71	-6.60	<.001

HT1-base = Change in hedonic tone from baseline to post-smoking state. EA1-base = Change in energetic arousal from baseline to pre-smoking state.

Note. Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the columns labelled y00 and y10

In terms of temporal variability, elevation of hedonic tone (from baseline) tended to increase with each cigarette smoked in a daily cycle (from waking to sleeping). The mean slope between HT-pre – HT-base and serial position was positive and significantly different from 0 (γ_{10} = .06, *t*= 3.48, *p* = .001; shown in row 3 of Table 5.1; henceforth, the reader is referred to Table 5.1 to obtain statistics for slopes detailed in this section). In terms of location, elevation of happiness was greater in episodes where smoking occurred in social venues. Elevation of happiness was

greater in episodes where the smoker was accompanied; either by other smokers or by non-smokers. Elevation of happiness was greater when smoking after sex, after food consumption, and whilst drinking alcohol. Elevation was attenuated during work/study activity. Craving and consumption variables did not covary with HT-pre –HT-base.

Baseline to pre-smoking energetic covariation

The unconditional model was significant: indicating elevated alertness in presmoking responses as compared with baseline. Further analyses examined contextual covariation with this change (EA-pre - EA-base). Elevation of alertness was reduced when smoking episodes occurred whilst at home and when resting. No other contextual variables were uniquely predictive of EA-pre – EA-base, although HT-pre – HT-base appeared to mediate the effects of some contextual variables (alcohol, social venue); elevation of alertness tended to be greater when elevation of happiness was greater (γ_{10} = .67, *t*= 4.08, *p* < .001).

5.2.4 Craving and its relation to mood and context

The third main aim of this chapter was to characterise acute episodic changes in desire to smoke and their relationship with mood changes and contextual variability at the same level.

A repeated-measure MANOVA was performed on mean desire score across the three testing intervals: baseline, episodic pre-smoking, and episodic post-smoking (see Figure 5.2). A significant main effect was found [F(2,138)=15.46, p < .001]. Simple main effects analysis indicated that pre-smoking desire (D-pre) was significantly greater than desire at baseline (D-base) [F(1,69)=7.83, p < .001] and post-smoking desire (D-post) was significantly less than D-pre [F(1,69)=20.34, p < .001].

Figure 5.2

Mean desire at baseline, pre-smoking, and post-smoking states



Note. Error bars depict standard deviations

Subsequent multilevel analyses modelled desire-change scores unconditionally and as a function of other level-1 variables. Desire change from baseline to pre-smoking is examined first, followed by change from pre- to post-smoking. Table 5.2 shows significant desire-change coefficients (*yoo*) and relevant covariation with episodic context (*yo1*). These values are not restated in the main body of this section of results.

Table 5.2

Episodic relationships between significant urge changes and contextual variables

	Y00	Y10	t	P
D-pre – D-base	1.85		7.92	<.001
TA-pre – TA-base		.06	2.26	.02
AF-pre – AF-base		.10	2.32	.02
Post-meal		.40	5.00	<.001
Post-sex		.49	3.72	<.001
Social venue		.31	2.97	.003
D-post – D-pre	-3.02		-20.81	<.001
Social venue		.23	2.04	.04

D-pre – D-base = Change in desire from baseline to pre-smoking state. D-post – D-pre = Change in desire from pre- to post-consumption state.

TA-pre – TA-base = Variability in tense arousal from baseline to pre-smoking state. AF-pre – AF-base = Variability in anger/frustration from baseline to pre-smoking state

Note. Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the columns labelled y00 and y10.

Baseline to pre-smoking desire covariation

Craving was elevated in pre-smoking responses as compared with baseline. Succeeding analyses examined this change (D-pre - D-base) in relation to change scores for mood. Desire change was not related to either EA-pre - EA-base or HTpre – HT-base, but was significantly related to variability in anger and tense arousal between baseline and pre-smoking states (variability that did not reach significance in earlier analyses). Elevation of desire was greater in episodes where tense arousal and/or anger/frustration were greater (relative to baseline mood levels). Further analyses examined contextual covariation with D-pre - D-base. Elevation of urge was increased when smoking episodes occurred after eating, after sex, and whilst in a social venue. No other contextual variables were uniquely predictive of D-pre – D-base.

Pre- to Post-smoking desire covariation

The desire to smoke decreased significantly following consumption. Succeeding analyses examined this change (D-post – D-pre) in relation to change scores for mood, but no significant relationships were found. When the influence of D-pre – Dbase was examined, it was found that satiation was greater in episodes where presmoking craving had been greater ($\gamma_{10} = -.67$, t = -13.15, p < .001) relative to baseline.

Further analyses examined contextual covariation with D-post – D-pre. Cessation was reduced when smoking episodes occurred in a social venue. No other contextual variables were uniquely predictive of D-post – D-pre.

5.3 Discussion

As predicted, mood was altered in relation to smoking episodes. Of the three models tested, the Incentive-Sensitisation model was supported. Further, consonant with hypotheses, BAS-related mood dimensions (specifically, hedonic tone and energetic arousal) were most operative in this Incentive-Sensitisation pattern. Desire to smoke showed the expected pattern of change: increasing before smoking and decreasing immediately after. However, contrary to prediction, desire was not related to the operative mood dimensions (hedonic tone and energetic arousal). Finally, analyses identified some situational correlates of the smokingrelated changes in mood and craving. It was anticipated that such sensitivity to context would be apparent. However, precise predictions about covariation could

not be specified due to the paucity of previous research in this regard. Despite this, the nature of identified relationships appears to present a consistent picture – especially for mood-context relationships. Pre-smoking boosts in hedonic tone are greater in more pleasurable situations (for example. when socialising or drinking alcohol); pre-smoking boosts in energetic arousal are dampened in relaxed contexts (when resting/at home).

5.3.1 Mood-Smoking and Model-Fit

The general trend in mood change between states suggests that positive mood (specifically, as predicted, hedonic tone and energetic arousal) increases in the cued anticipatory state before smoking, but is not additionally elevated in the state immediately post-consumption. Such a pattern is emblematic of an incentivesensitisation conceptualisation of drug-related changes in mood (Robinson & Berridge, 2000): positive mood increases in association with the approach behaviour (preparation to smoke) but is unaffected by the direct effects of smoking.

Initial analyses of mood changes in relation to representative functions indicated that - for both energetic arousal and hedonic tone - models predicting an increase in positive mood from baseline to pre-smoking state were best-fitting. These analyses suggested that pre- to post-smoking changes for these mood dimensions were less consistent, however: functions representing both appetitive-incentive and incentive-sensitisation models could be fitted, with little difference in goodness of fit. Subsequent MANOVA and HLM analyses demonstrated that hedonic tone and energetic arousal did not change from pre- to post-smoking – only change from baseline to pre-smoking was significant.

What does the emergence of an incentive-sensitisation model of mood regulation by smoking suggest? Firstly, that smoking may not regulate mood/affect motivation
directly – as would be postulated within appetitive-incentive and associativewithdrawal frameworks of reinforcement (Markou *et al.*, 1993). The direct effects of smoking may be important in confirming consummating anticipation, however: it is likely that the positive effects of smoking expectancies/cues become inverted if smoking fails to occur (Schultz, 1998); this would lead to a negative change from pre- to post-smoking, but such a pattern was not evinced in the present research. If incentive value becomes sensitised (such that smoking cues acquire motivational salience), habituation to direct effects may not be sufficient to extinguish reinforcement or alter perceptions of mood-regulatory effects. The incentivesensitisation model posits that incentive effects may be partly implicit and of limited availability to subjective report (Berridge & Robinson, 1995), but the present findings support the notion of incentive effects on self-reported mood (elevation of positive hedonic and energetic states). Such effects could contribute to (explicit) beliefs about smoking as a mood-regulator in the absence of direct consummatory effects.

Could it be that direct effects were not evident in the present study because they manifest a little while after smoking (and elicited post-smoking reports)? Evidence suggests that this is unlikely (Benowitz, 1990; Warburton, 1992). In deprived smokers, mood effects have been found immediately after smoking, but minimally so 10 minutes later (Perkins *et al.*, 1992). Subjective reports during smoking behaviour suggest that the duration of associated sensations is short and may dissipate before the end of a smoking episode (Pomerleau & Pomerleau, 1992). Could it be that direct effects were not evident because they manifest early in consumption and have reduced to pre-smoking levels by the time an episode is finished? Perhaps, although (in unreported analyses) pre- to post-smoking mood changes were examined as a function of time taken to smoke, and no significant relationships were found (these change scores were not significant, but may show significant covariability with other measures). It is likely that consumption-related

mood changes would show sensitivity to episode length if the answer to this question is in the affirmative.

A second implication – following from the first - is that consumption substitutes (e.g., nicotine replacement therapies) may have limited efficacy. Such substitutes could aid coping with consequences of abstention from smoke consumption, such as nicotine withdrawal - although secondary effects of smoke consumption (e.g., sensory sensations of inhalation; Russell *et al.*, 1975) might be harder to compensate for. However, current findings suggest that consumption *per se* may have less motivational significance than cues to smoke – at least in terms of mood effects – with the implication that drug "wanting" in the presence of drug cues (Robinson & Berridge, 2001) may not be attenuated by consumption substitutes. An association between mood enhancement and the initiation of smoking (smokingspecific cues and expectations) implies that consumption substitutes target the lesser component of motivation. This argument is somewhat supported by data indicating that relapse can occur long after withdrawal subsides (Somoza *et al.*, 1995), and in spite of nicotine replacement (Rose, 1996).

5.3.2 Specificity of mood change

Figure 5.3 depicts smoking-related mood changes. Discussion in this section pertains to this basic model.

Figure 5.3

Model of episodic mood-change

Pre-Smoking



Figure 5.3 represents mood changes related to the onset and offset of smoking episodes. The shaded box represents the duration of smoking; time is loosely conceptualised as advancing from left to right in this figure. Thus, variables shown to the left of the box depict pre-smoking mood changes (from baseline). Episodes are preceded by increases in hedonic tone and energetic arousal. This is represented by the appropriate box-arrows; upward arrows are indicative of increased mood intensity in connection with smoking. Mood does not change from the pre- to post-smoking state.

The increase in positive hedonic tone associated with the cueing of smoking is partly consistent with prior research (e.g., Geier *et al.*, 2000). Some laboratory studies have found that positive hedonic tone *decreases* in response to presented smoking cues (Tiffany & Drobes, 1990; Drobes & Tiffany, 1997). But more recent research suggests that perceived drug availability (expectation to smoke) may moderate this effect: when signals for cigarette availability were present, cues elicited increases in positive hedonic tone (Carter & Tiffany, 2001). The latter design – and related results – may be a more appropriate reference for the current research. Present findings were derived from diary data reflecting everyday smoking patterns; participant reports were elicited in the environments where they usually smoke, and during periods of free-smoking without deprivation. Elevation of energetic arousal in association with the cueing of smoking is somewhat consonant with evidence that smoking has stimulant actions – enhancing

Post-Smoking

attention and arousal (Sherwood, 1993; Warburton, 1992) - but not with the notion that these are direct physiological effects. Evidence further suggests that sensitisation to these energetic activation effects may occur (Soria *et al.*, 1996) – such that preconditions are met for the development of reinforcement through the supported incentive-sensitisation model. The present findings suggest that cuedanticipatory effects of smoking may be more responsible for any elevation of active arousal than direct effects. In contrast to its prominence in retrospective reports (chapter 4), tense arousal did not emerge as a significantly operative component of mood-smoking variability. Smoking episodes that are perceived as being prompted by anxiety may be prominent in memory, but such experiences might not be representative of common motivations in everyday smoking.

For both hedonic and energetic dimensions, mood change from baseline to presmoking state showed sensitivity to episodic context.

5.3.3 Mood-Smoking and Contextual Variability

Figure 5.4 shows smoking-related mood-changes in relation to contextual covariates. Discussion in this section pertains to this model.

Figure 5.4



Model of episodic mood-change covariation

Figure 5.4 represents episodic mood changes in relation to contemporaneous situational conditions. Variables shown to the left of the smoking event depict pre-smoking slopes between mood changes and contextual variables. For example, smoking-related increases in hedonic tone were enhanced after sex, and this is depicted by the positive connection (denoted by link-adjacent valence symbol) between hedonic tone and the post-sex state. Directionality of these slopes could not be determined by present methods, and this is reflected in the use of bidirectional connective arrows. Further to post-sex enhancement, pre-smoking hedonic boosts (from baseline) are greater when drinking alcohol, in the company of others, in social venues, and after eating; hedonic incentive effects are attenuated in the context of work/study. Increases in energetic arousal are less pronounced when at home and whilst in a restful state.

It has been suggested that mood-regulatory effects of smoking may show dependence on situation (further to dependence on individual variability; Gilbert, 1997). Identified covariation between smoking-related mood changes and contextual variables supports this notion, indicating that the associative effects of smoking on mood are partly state-contingent (and so do not reflect anticipation alone). This is consonant with the supported incentive-sensitisation model (Berridge & Robinson, 1995): certain situational smoking cues appear to increase positive mood relative to normal levels in a way that may enhance the incentive value of smoking. Although there was overlap between situational cues (for example, alcohol consumption tended to occur in social venues towards the end of the day) the identified contextual variables demonstrated independent relationships with mood change. Furthermore, mood changes remained significant when modelled as joint functions of identified predictors, suggesting that smoking-related effects on mood are not completely situational. For example, most smoking episodes (62.1%) occurred in company (either smokers or non-smokers), but there remained significant variability in hedonic mood change from baseline when this change score was modelled as a function of company (others smoking and others not smoking). It may be that mood change associated with initiating smoking episodes also reflects episode-level effects of anticipation/expectation and/or other (unmeasured) contextual cues. The moderating influence of personality on this mood change is considered in Chapter 6. A better understanding of the specificity of relationships between contexts and mood-smoking associations (rather than simply contextmood associations) was obtained in the analysis of comparative consumption data from the diary of food consumption (see Chapter 7). These analyses indicated that hedonic elevation is not evident in eating; even when analysis is limited to eating episodes that occur in company, hedonic mood is not shown to change from baseline (i.e., smoking is the key element in smoking-company interactions with hedonic elevation).

Baseline to pre-smoking hedonic covariation

Positive hedonic elevation from baseline to pre-smoking showed sensitivity to various situational conditions. Being accompanied by others appears to have an agonistic effect on hedonic elevation, whether or not those present were also smoking. The presence of others smoking may have exposed respondents to strong smoking-specific sensory cues (Best & Hakstian, 1978) and social-participatory incentives to smoke (Conrad *et al.*, 1992). Such cues may have increased approach activity (indexed by positive hedonic effects), and thus encouraged smoking behaviour. The presence of others not smoking had similar effects, suggesting a general social effect on smoking-related mood enhancement. This may relate to

research indicating that smoking and socialising are strongly linked behaviours from the onset of smoking through to maintenance and attempted cessation (Wills & Vaughn, 1989; McKennell, 1970; Royce *et al.*, 1997): being with others enhances anticipatory smoking effects, and could develop into a trigger for smoking and relapse.

A related finding was that pre-smoking hedonic elevation was greater for episodes occurring in a social setting (bars, clubs, and restaurants). The literature indicates that smoking may be particularly associated with these locations (Marlatt *et al.*, 2002), and such environments emerged as salient smoking triggers in the initial study of the present research. These environments may have exposed respondents to sensory cues (smoky atmosphere) and may have particular hedonic value as places associated with leisure-oriented social encounters and other potentially rewarding behaviours (eating, drinking alcohol).

In evaluating the affective impact of smoking, Gilbert (1995) emphasised a need to investigate hedonic smoking-effects in relation to consumption of other substances (alcohol, coffee, food, etc.) and "times of special enjoyment" (p. 14) – such as after sex. The present findings suggest that these situations are associated with increased elevation of positive hedonic mood (from baseline) – smoking episodes occurring whilst consuming alcohol, post-sex, or post-eating were initiated in a happier state, relative to others. Within the context of the supported incentive-sensitisation model, this finding suggests that these activity states are particularly strong cues for incentive-based enhancement of mood. Conversely, work or study-based activity was associated with dampened hedonic elevation from baseline, and smoking in these situations may reflect different motivational processes.

The finding that pre-smoking happiness was greater (relative to baseline) in episodes that occurred later in the daily smoking sequence might best be

interpreted in one of two ways. Firstly, it may be that effects of smoking on mood are cumulative such that later episodes reflect a build-up of positive hedonic cueing. It has been found that nicotine levels (with a half-life of two hours) are typically built-up in this way over a day of smoking (Benowitz et al., 1982), but the present findings indicated that nicotine ingestion had no significant enhancing effects on mood. Pre-smoking mood levels at least seemed to persist to the end of smoking episodes (no significant negative changes were found), and may only gradually decline such that subsequent episodic boosts to hedonic mood produce a linear trend of improvement from baseline Perhaps nicotine is related to the maintenance of cued/anticipatory mood elevation between episodes? The duration of any effects of smoking-related cues or nicotine consumption on mood has received little investigation (Gilbert, 1995). Secondly, and perhaps more parsimoniously, it could be that this trend reflects natural diurnal mood change (Stone et al., 1996): pleasant mood tends to be higher in the evening (though there is individual and situational variability in this propensity). This interpretation is somewhat bolstered by the absence of relationship between smoking latency and hedonic mood change; if mood development over the course of daily smoking is represented by episodic peaks and gradual inter-episodic decline, a measure of time since last smoked should covary with affective measures. Consistent with opponent-process findings (Diener et al., 1991; Solomon, 1980), mood may actually demonstrate sharp reactivity to onset and offset of smoking cues. Positive hedonic elevation might be rapidly counteracted after smoking episodes back to normal levels for the current diurnal stage – in a way that could jointly explain the effect of serial position and non-effect of time since last smoked.

Baseline to pre-smoking energetic covariation

Positive energetic elevation from baseline to pre-smoking showed sensitivity to activity-state and location; this effect was attenuated by resting/passive behaviour and by being at home. These relationships might be expected for states that require minimal alertness and wherein there are likely to be fewer external arousing stimuli. It has been proposed that effects of smoking on hedonic and other affective dimensions might be mediated by its effects on energetic arousal and attention (Kassel, 1997; Gilbert & Gilbert, 1998). Being focused on current tasks, for example, may improve mood – partly, perhaps, by directing attention away from more distal worries and facilitating goal-obtainment in the present situation. However, this potential mechanism has been specifically attributed to the effects of nicotine (Kassel & Unrod, 2000). In light of present findings, this mediational relationship could only be implicated if arousing effects become associatively transferred to smoking cues and anticipation.

Yet modelling of current data suggested that most of the identified contextual cues were directly related to hedonic change, and only medially related to energetic change. That cueing of smoking in restful and secure contexts *is* directly associated with (reduced) energetic change is consonant with the argument that effects related to smoking are dependent on situation in a way that reflects an individual's goals in that situation (Gilbert, 1997). Cues to smoke in passive, disengaged states should demonstrate a reduced tendency to promote energetic arousal, as alertness may not be facilitative of desired experiences in these contexts - and is less likely to become associated with incentive to smoke in these contexts.

5.3.4 Craving and its relation to mood and context

Figure 5.5 shows episodic craving and observed covariation. Discussion in this section pertains to this model.

Figure 5.5

Model of episodic craving and covariation



Figure 5.5 represents episodic urge-changes and covariation. Craving changes significantly from baseline to pre-smoking and additionally from pre- to post-smoking. Box-arrows show increased urge before smoking (left of the smoking event) and decreased urge after smoking (right of the event). Links between these urge changes and other variables show observed contextual reactivity. For example, pre-smoking increases in craving were enhanced after sex, and this is depicted by the positive connection between urge and the post-sex state. Further to post-sex enhancement, pre-smoking urges (increases in desire to smoke from baseline) are greater when in social locations (clubs, bars, restaurants, and so forth) but attenuated following food consumption. In terms of covariation with mood, greater urge intensity is associated with elevated anger and tense arousal before smoking. The extent of post-smoking urge-relief shows dependence on preceding state: greater pre-smoking desire is followed by greater assuagement by smoking. Urge-relief can be modified by locale however: satiation is reduced when smoking occurs in a social venue (despite the fact that this context is also associated with stronger pre-smoking urge elevation).

An expected pattern of desire to smoke was observed: craving increased from baseline to pre-smoking state, and smoking had palliative effects on craving (Halikas, 1997). Smoking exhibited a dose-response effect on cessation, with greater reduction of desire by smoking in episodes where pre-smoking desire was greater. Interestingly, although desire and mood showed similar directions of change from baseline to pre-smoking (at a general level), elevation of desire was not related to elevation of positive hedonic or energetic affect.

Self-reports of urge have heterogenous origins (Tiffany, 1997; Toneatto, 1999b; Merikle, 1999), and may reflect various cognitive processes. Tiffany (1995) has argued that processes related to normal smoking may operate independently of craving unless these automated processes are impeded (by environmental obstacles, or conscious intervention between cues and consumption). If the identified cued/anticipatory mood changes index normal smoking patterns, a lack of relationship with desire could be explained within Tiffany's conceptualisation. The finding that desire change was positively related to change in anxiety and/or irritation further supports this rationale, and replicates mood-urge relationships reported in a diary study by Delfino *et al.* (2001). These mood dimensions (though not found to significantly change, as an overall trend, within present observations of everyday smoking without deprivation) may be more sensitive to obstructed smoking and frustrative non-reward, and so relate more to desire to smoke. Findings of the current research relating to abstinence in the quasi-interventional study (discussed in Chapter 8) appear to support this notion.

Overall, the inter-relation of mood and craving observed presently is most consonant with a recent study by Carter and Tiffany (2001). They reported an experiment wherein smoking cues simultaneously increased both positive affect and craving, but craving was only correlated with changes in negative affect. Clearly, this finding closely parallels the present finding: BAS-related (positive) mood and desire to smoke were elevated concurrently, but desire to smoke only covaried with (BIS-related) tense arousal and anger. The experiment by Carter and Tiffany (2001) differed from the majority of laboratory studies as participants were tested in a context where they could smoke and access cigarettes. The more naturalistic conditions surrounding this experiment (regarding expectation to smoke/substance

availability; Dols *et al.*, 2002) may help to explain its agreement with present findings.

Though desire to smoke did not relate to observed hedonic and energetic mood, craving was increased in some contextual states that were also associated with increases in the positive valence of these mood dimensions. Specifically, presmoking desire was greater after sex, after eating, and when in social venues (bars, clubs, or restaurants). This is consistent with findings indicating that different reward behaviours may have cross-over potentiating effects (e.g., Henningfield *et al.*, 1990; Taylor *et al.*, 2000), such that desire for/experience of one rewarding behaviour (sex, food consumption) may increase desire for another (smoking). Considering the metacognitive nature of craving (Tiffany, 1997), increased desire in social venues may reflect a complex combination of social coping, behavioural contingencies, and protection against anxiety (Shadel *et al.*, 2001).

5.4 Next chapter

Chapter 6 extends the findings in this chapter by examining the moderating influence of trait factors. The hierarchical models in the present chapter are made conditional at level 2 and re-analysed. In this way, Chapter 6 investigates the direct influence of personality on incentive mood changes, craving changes, and on the slopes between mood/craving and context. Moreover, individual differences in model-fit are examined: to uncover potential trait-based dispositions towards the development of one reinforcement model over another.

Chapter 6. Moderation of mood and episodic correlates

The main aim of the current chapter was to explore if personality (particularly, BIS/BAS dimensionality) moderated the best fitting mood-smoking model (the incentive-sensitisation account) identified in the previous chapter. As predictions about moderation of episodic smoking motivation were contingent on the nature of findings in the previous chapter, there is presently an opportunity to better specify original hierarchical hypotheses.

Findings in Chapter 5 permit a more confident prediction that BAS-related traits moderate mood-smoking experiences. Smoking-related mood changes were observed for hedonic tone and energetic arousal, and these mood dimensions are theorised to be regulated by the BAS (Carver & Scheier, 1998). Greater BAS should dispose greater sensitivity to reward and reinforcement learning (Pickering, Corr, & Gray, 1999; Zinbarg & Mohlman, 1998; Carver & White, 1994), so it was hypothesised that high-BAS individuals would have heightened incentive effects – relatively enhanced hedonic and/or energetic elevation before smoking. However, it was also noted that some researchers predict an opposite effect: low BAS individuals gain minimal pleasure from everyday situations (Loas, 1996), so they should experience stimulation from smoking most strongly (Cook *et al.*, 2004). Moderation of mood-context covariation (where present) was expected to be in line with direct moderating effects: again, BAS should dispose greater conditioning, resulting in stronger reactivity between contexts and mood change (such as drinking alcohol and hedonic elevation).

Although Chapter 5 indicated that the incentive-sensitisation model is the model that best describes mood effects for smokers as a whole, people may differ in the particular theoretical model that fits their experiences (according to their personality). Analyses of individual model-fit moderation were expected to bolster

other findings for moderation but also uncover different trait-based tendencies in an exploratory way – there may be systematic personality differences between individuals in the model that best describes their experience of smoking (for example, smokers low in emotional stability may tend more towards associativewithdrawal mood regulation). Analyses of individual differences in model-fit are, by necessity, exploratory in nature; there is a paucity of theory and empirical evidence to guide hypotheses in this regard (McMahon, 1999). It is reasonable, however, to suggest that a person's disposition may influence their behaviours and experiences over time such that they are more likely to encounter/develop certain types of reinforcement over others (Ten Berge & De Raad, 2002)

Although there is likely to be important systematic individual variability in craving experiences (Verheul, Brink, & Geerlings, 1999), and exploration of such variability has been encouraged (Cox *et al.*, 2001), few studies have considered craving moderation (Zilberman, Tavares, & el-Guebaly, 2003). The present research makes a novel exploratory contribution in this regard. One finding that may be applicable here in guiding prediction is that alcohol craving has been linked to the BAS Drive construct: with higher scorers reporting stronger desire to drink (Franken, 2002).

In summary, this chapter had the following aims:

- To assess potential individual differences in mood-smoking relationships, examining:
 - a. Moderation of episodic mood changes from baseline to pre-smoking, and pre- to post-smoking. It was predicted that high BAS individuals would experience greater elevation of hedonic tone/energetic arousal before smoking.
 - b. Situational dependencies of mood moderation. It was predicted that high BAS individuals would be more sensitive in their mood-context reactivity. For example, relative to those with low BAS sensitivity,

they should exhibit a stronger tendency to experience greater presmoking hedonic boosts when drinking alcohol.

- c. Moderation of individual fit to the three potential models of moodsmoking under test. For example, do high-BAS individuals show a greater tendency to experience an Incentive Sensitisation pattern of mood-smoking than their low-BAS counterparts? If so, do low-BAS individuals tend towards a different model of mood-smoking?
- To uncover latent moderation of episodic craving changes and of their relationship with mood and contextual variability. For example, do differences in BAS level dispose differences in satiation of urge to smoke?

6.1 Investigatory approach

Initial analyses looked at individual differences in the mood-smoking models – examined in the previous chapter; these proceeded in three stages. Firstly, episodic mood changes were modelled as a function of trait variables to identify moderators. Moderators identified at this stage were subsequently entered into slope models – to see if they influenced covariation between mood changes and episodic context. Thirdly, the model-fit analyses of the previous chapter – wherein mean mood scores (at baseline, pre-smoking, and post-smoking) were fitted to estimated change functions representing the theories under test – were also extended at level 2, so that trait moderation could be identified. Final analyses in this chapter examined desire changes and related episodic variability as a function of trait variables. In this way, the main aims of the present chapter were addressed sequentially.

Analyses in this chapter examined combined data-sets from the smoking diary and quasi-interventional diary (only episodes outside the intervention period were used in this analysis). These data sets were combined as they both contained

information relevant to the questions explored in this chapter, and were equivalent in terms of procedure and variables assessed. The merging of these data-sets yields more power for examining the central questions of this thesis: those concerning smoking in relation to mood (chapter 5) and personality (this chapter).

6.1.1 Moderation of episodic mood changes

Within-person mood changes identified in the previous chapter were analysed at this stage to determine variation as a function of trait-level individual differences (at level 2). For example, did changes in hedonic mood from baseline to presmoking vary as a function of people's trait BIS sensitivity? Such questions were examined with the following model:

 $\beta_{0j} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01} (TRAIT) + u_{0j}$

In this model, whether a specific trait moderated mood-change was tested by the significance of the Y01 coefficient. Parallel models were constructed for hedonic and energetic mood changes from baseline to pre-smoking. Analysis of direct mood moderation was limited to change scores identified in the previous chapter. The potential moderating effects of the following person-level variables were examined: the three subscales of BAS (reward responsiveness, fun-seeking, drive), BIS, B5 trait-scores (Surgency Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, Emotional Stability, Intelligence), dependence (as measured by the Revised Tolerance Questionnaire), readiness to change (perceived addiction, desire to change, ability to change), smoker history/typology (initiation, stability, heaviest frequency, quit attempts, social prevalence, social pressure), and demographics (age, gender). Table 6.1 presents all measures used and their subscales. These formed level 2 variables; level 1 remained the same (see Chapter 5).

As some person-level measures may be correlated, it is possible that level 2 variables identified as moderators in individual analyses may not moderate changes at level 1 independently. To check moderator independence, all significant moderators of level 1 outcome slopes were re-analysed (after establishing individual significance as moderator) with significantly correlated measures entered together into each model.

Table 6.1

BIS/BAS	Big	Dependence	Baseline	Readiness	Smoker	Demographics
	Five		Craving	to Change	History	
BASDRV	S	RTQ	QSU1	Perceived	Initiation	Age
				addiction		
BASRR	А	Observed	QSU2	Desire to	Stability	Gender
		rate		change		
BASFUN	С			Confidence	Heaviest	
				in ability	rate	
BIS	ES				Social	
					exposure	
	I				Quit	
					attempts	
					Social	
					pressure	

Administered trait measures (level 2 variables)

S = Surgency, A = Agreeableness, C = Conscientiousness, ES = Emotional Stability, I = Intelligence. BASDRV = Behavioural Approach System Drive, BASRR = BAS Reward Responsiveness, BASFUN = BAS Fun-

Seeking, BIS = Behavioural Inhibition System.

RTQ = Revised Tolerance Questionnaire score, QSU1 = Positive Craving (Factor 1) score, QSU2 = negative craving (factor 2) score.

Table 6.1 presents the level 2 variables that were examined in relation to variability at level 1 of smoking models. Variables are organised in seven columns, though they can be thought of as belonging to three broader categories: personality (columns 1 and 2), smoker-specific variables (columns 3-6) and demographics (column 7). The most important variables for the present research were the BIS/BAS markers in the first column, followed by the Big Five trait dimensions in the second column (i.e., personality variability). Other variables were largely used descriptively.

6.1.2 Moderation of mood-context covariation

Further to examination of direct moderation of mood change-scores, it is important to investigate the extent to which individual differences influence within-person relationships. Identified covariation between context and mood change may vary as a function of person level variability. Such complex interactions of between- and within-person variance are amenable to analysis in multilevel models.

To determine if episode-level relationships described in Chapter 5 were moderated by individual differences, slopes from level 1 models were analysed at level 2 using a model similar to person-level models described above. For example, to establish whether relationships between hedonic change from baseline and others smoking varied as a function of trait scores, the following model was analysed:

> $\beta_{0j} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01} (TRAIT) + u_{0j}$ $\beta_{1j} = \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11} (TRAIT) + u_{1j}$

In these models, whether a specific trait moderated the HT1-base-others smoking relationship was tested by the significance of the Y11 coefficient. Similar models were constructed for all identified combinations of covariation between mood changes and contextual variables. Individual differences in slopes that were not significantly different from 0 (on average) were not analysed (due to the multiplicity of potential combinations), although it is acknowledged that there may be significant variability in a slope even when mean slope did not significantly differ from 0. Only person-level variables identified as direct moderators of mood change (in the preceding analyses) were examined as potential moderators of slopes for mood change and context.

6.1.3 Individual differences in model-fit

Thusfar, models from the previous chapter have been extended at level 2 to investigate moderation of episodic mood change-scores and related context slopes. Further analyses were conducted to explore individual differences in model-fit; building on initial analyses of mood-model covariation from the previous chapter. These analyses were intended to gauge individual trends in model experiences. Although the incentive-sensitisation model has received support as a general representation of smoking-related mood-regulatory experiences, there may be individual differences in model-fit tendencies that are masked in examination of significant change-scores alone.

A series of models were constructed to examine moderation of individual relationships between mean mood and estimated change functions representing the theories under test (Appetitive Incentive, Associative Withdrawal, and Incentive Sensitisation). Only hedonic tone and energetic arousal were examined in these analyses. Moderation of model-fit slopes for these dimensions was examined for all person-level variables (refer to Table 6.1).

6.1.4 Moderation of craving and its relation to mood and context

Final analyses in this chapter pertained to moderation of desire to smoke and its covariation with mood and context. The programme of modelling applied was similar to that followed for investigation of mood-change moderation.

Initially desire-change scores (baseline to pre-smoking and pre- to post-smoking) were modelled as a direct function of level-2 variability (see Table 6.1; baseline craving was not entered into these analyses, as desire-change scores partially derive from these scores). Correlated moderators were re-analysed (in a saturated model) to check independence. Subsequent models analysed person-level moderation of relationships between desire-change and other episodic variability (mood changes and contextual variables). These relationships were identified in Chapter 5. Only person-level variables that were significant direct moderators of desire change were entered into models of slopes for desire-change.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Moderation of episodic mood changes

The present analyses examined relationships between the degree of mood change and person-level variation. Mood changes from pre- to post-smoking were not significant and were not examined in relation to person-level variation. Moderation of hedonic tone is examined first, followed by moderation of energetic arousal. The results of these analyses are summarised in Table 6.2.

Baseline to pre-smoking hedonic moderation

Hedonic change was negatively related to scores on the reward responsiveness subscale of BAS (BASRR; $\gamma_{01} = -.19$, t = -3.42, p = .001) and to surgency (S; $\gamma_{01} = -.04$, t = -5.12, p < .001). No other level 2 variables were found to moderate hedonic change. However, BASRR and S were correlated (.30), suggesting that the identified moderating relationships may not have been independent. When these variables were entered together, only BASRR remained significant. The influence of surgency may be mediated by reward responsiveness (as an index of behavioural approach sensitivity). Thus, contrary to predictions, people with lower reward sensitivity tend to experience greater elevation of hedonic tone.

When total UMACL baseline score for hedonic tone (HT; γ_{01} = -.23, *t*= -13.98, *p* = <.001) was entered concurrently with BASRR at level 2 of this model, both variables remained significant. This implies that the effect of reward responsiveness

on pre-smoking hedonic change is not fully dependent on the influence of baseline hedonic tone - despite correlation between reward responsiveness and hedonic tone at baseline. People high in BAS sensitivity exhibit attenuated hedonic elevation in response to episodic smoking cues/expectation, and these effects persist over and above change-retarding effects of trait-related baseline mood.

Baseline to pre-smoking energetic moderation

Energetic change was negatively related to emotional stability (ES; γ_{01} = -.05, *t*= - 3.21, *p* = .002). No other level 2 variables moderated this change. People with greater emotional stability tended to experience reduced elevation of energetic arousal.

When baseline energetic arousal (EA; $\gamma_{01} = -.23$, t = -13.98, p = <.001) was entered concurrently with emotional stability at level 2 of this model, only EA remained significant. This implies that the effect of emotional stability on presmoking arousal change is mediated by its influence on baseline arousal. People high in emotional stability generally experience more energetic arousal (as captured at baseline), such that their alertness is less responsive to the onset of smoking episodes.

Table 6.2

	Y01	t	p
HT1-base			
BAS Reward Responsiveness	19	-3.4	.001
Surgency	04	-5.1	<.001
EA1-base			
Emotional Stability	05	-3.2	.002

Person-level moderators of significant mood change

HT1-base = Change in hedonic tone from baseline to post-smoking state. EA1-base = Change in energetic arousal from baseline to pre-smoking state.

Note. Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the column labelled y01. Moderating relationships that remained significant after entry of baseline mood are in bold typeface, moderators with shared variance are in italics. Bold, non-italicised coefficients thus denote moderation of pre-smoking mood that is specific and independent.

6.2.2 Moderation of mood-context covariation

The second main aim of this chapter was to investigate the extent to which individual differences moderate covariation between context and mood change. The present analyses examined level-1 slopes (identified in the previous chapter) as a function of level-2 variables. Only level-2 variables identified as significant direct moderators of mood change in preceding models were examined in these analyses. Moderation of slopes for hedonic tone is examined first, followed by moderation of slopes for energetic arousal.

Baseline to pre-smoking hedonic covariation

The only within-person relationship that was moderated by a trait was the positive slope between others (not smoking) and hedonic change. The strength of the relationship between being in the company of others (not smoking) and hedonic elevation was negatively related to reward responsiveness scores (γ_{11} = -.08, t = -

2.11, p = .03). People high in reward sensitivity are less reactive to the presence of others in their hedonic change from baseline to pre-smoking state.

Baseline to pre-smoking energetic covariation

Within-person relationships involving energetic elevation (including covariation with hedonic change from baseline) were not moderated by level-2 variability.

6.2.3 Individual differences in model-fit

Analyses of mood change across states (baseline to pre-smoking and pre- to postsmoking) indicated an overall trend reflecting incentive-sensitisation mechanics of hedonic and energetic motivation. The present analyses examine individual differences in model-fit: assessing trait-based regulation of mood functions across the three states (whilst acknowledging the general pattern of incentive-sensitisation responding). Outcomes are level-1 slopes between model-functions and mood at each measurement point (for each episode). Moderation of slopes for hedonic tone is examined first, followed by moderation of slopes for energetic arousal.

Hedonic model-fit

The strength of appetitive incentive model-fit for HT was negatively related to BAS reward responsiveness (γ_{11} = -.01, t = -3.00, p = .003), emotional stability (γ_{11} = -.002, t = -2.11, p = .002), and negative craving (γ_{12} = -.02, t = -2.56, p = .01), and positively related to positive craving (γ_{11} = .01, t = 2.87, p = .005). People high in reward sensitivity and emotional stability are less likely to experience an appetitive incentive pattern of smoking-related mood than those low in sensitivity and stability. Those experiencing more positive craving and less negative craving at baseline tend towards experiencing the appetitive-incentive pattern. Neither craving measure is significant when entered alone; indicating that the shared variance of these constructs (general desire) is not related to the appetitive-incentive pattern.

Rather, the discriminatory components of these measures (negative versus positive craving) have predictive value. This interpretation is bolstered somewhat by the non-significance of the combination QSU score in these analyses of potential moderators.

Similar patterns of moderation were evident for incentive sensitisation model-fit. The strength of incentive sensitisation model-fit for HT was negatively related to BAS reward responsiveness ($\gamma_{11} = -.02$, t = -3.71, p < .001), emotional stability ($\gamma_{11} = -.004$, t = -3.87, p < .001), surgency ($\gamma_{11} = -.005$, t = -4.01, p < .001), and negative craving ($\gamma_{12} = -.04$, t = -3.22, p = .002), and positively related to positive craving ($\gamma_{11} = .03$, t = 3.36, p = .001). People high in reward sensitivity, extraversion, and emotional stability are less likely to experience an incentive sensitisation pattern of smoking-related mood than those low in sensitivity, surgency, and stability. Those experiencing more positive craving and less negative craving at baseline tend towards experiencing the incentive-sensitisation pattern. Again, neither craving measure is significant when entered alone. Observed moderators of fit to the incentive sensitisation model remained significant when correlated measures were entered together.

Energetic model-fit

The strength of associative-withdrawal model fit for EA was positively related to emotional stability (γ_{11} = .004, t= 2.44, p = .02). As the fit between EA and associative withdrawal was found to be negative in the previous chapter – indicating an actual trend towards inverted-U incentive sensitisation overall – this moderating relationship suggests that people high in emotional stability are more likely to experience the associative withdrawal pattern (hence, less likely to experience inverted-U incentive-sensitisation) than their neurotic counterparts. The strength of incentive sensitisation model-fit for energetic arousal was negatively related to emotional stability (γ_{11} = -.01, t= -5.69, p < .001), age (γ_{11} =

-.01, t = -2.85, p = .005), and heaviest rate of smoking ($\gamma_{11} = -.004$, t = -2.46, p = .01). People who are high in neuroticism, younger, and have a history of low-frequency smoking are more likely to experience an incentive sensitisation pattern of alertness, relative to those who are more stable, older and have a history of heavier smoking. These moderators were not inter-correlated, indicating independence.

Similarly, the strength of appetitive-incentive model-fit for EA was negatively related to emotional stability (γ_{11} = -.004, t = -4.69, p < .001), age (γ_{11} = -.01, t = -3.24, p = .002), and heaviest rate of smoking (γ_{11} = -.003, t = -2.36, p = .02). People who are high in neuroticism, younger, and have a history of low-frequency smoking are more likely to experience an appetitive incentive pattern of alertness, relative to those who are more stable, older and have a history of heavier smoking.

6.2.4 Moderation of craving and its relation to mood and context

The third main aim of this chapter was to examine person-level moderation of acute episodic changes in desire to smoke and of their relationship with mood changes and contextual variability at the same level. Moderation of desire change from baseline to pre-smoking is examined first, followed by moderation of change from pre- to post-smoking.

Baseline to pre-smoking desire covariation

Desire change (D-pre – D-base) was positively related to emotional stability (γ_{01} = .06, t= 2.59, p = .01), and negatively related to heaviest rate of smoking (γ_{01} = - .05, t= -2.37, p = .02) and RTQ dependence score (γ_{01} = -.07, t= -2.02, p = .04). No other level 2 variables were found to moderate desire change. However, heaviest rate and RTQ were correlated (.67), suggesting that the identified moderating relationships may not have been independent. Such a lack of

independence was confirmed when these variables were entered together: neither remained significant. This suggests that a latent construct reflected by the shared variance of these two measures was responsible for the individual relationships identified. Compared to people high in neuroticism, those with more emotional stability tend to experience greater smoking-contiguous elevation of desire from baseline. There is also evidence to suggest that high levels of an underlying dependence-related construct may dispose individuals towards more consistent levels of craving (attenuating change from baseline to pre-smoking).

When total baseline desire (QSU; γ_{01} = -1.06, *t*= -10.31, *p* = <.001) was entered concurrently with the identified potential moderators at level 2 of these models, only QSU remained significant. This implies that the effects of emotional stability and dependence history on pre-smoking desire change are mediated by their influence on baseline levels of craving. These traits influence craving as a general process - not simply in response to episodic cues/expectancy - such that acute changes preceding smoking reflect an individual's baseline desire. People high in neuroticism and dependence/history of heavy smoking may experience more generalised desire (as captured at baseline), such that their craving is less responsive to the onset of smoking episodes.

Further analyses examined moderation of contextual covariation with D-pre - Dbase. No significant relationships emerged in these analyses.

Pre- to post-smoking desire covariation

Desire change (D-post – D-pre) was positively related to the drive subscale of BAS (γ_{01} = .23, t= 3.33, p = .001), and negatively related to emotional stability (γ_{01} = - .03, t= -1.95, p = .05). No other level 2 variables were found to moderate satiation. People high in behavioural approach drive and neuroticism experience less satiation than those with lower drive and more emotional stability.

When preceding desire change (D-pre – D-base; slope analysed in Chapter 5) was entered at level 1 of these models (concurrently with the identified potential moderators at level 2), emotional stability was no longer significant. This implies that the effect of emotional stability on satiation is mediated by its influence on presmoking desire elevation. People high in neuroticism experience less pre-smoking elevation of craving from baseline, and consequently experience less satiation of desire from smoking. Taken with findings of mediated moderation for D-pre – Dbase, there is a suggestion that emotional instability may lead to a generalised state of high desire to smoke (compared to more stable individuals) such that craving levels are relatively insensitive to smoking cueing and consumption. In contrast, BAS sensitivity appears to moderate satiation responses directly, such that those with a high approach drive experience less attenuation of pre-smoking desire to smoke by consumption, as compared with their less driven counterparts.

Final analyses at this stage examined moderation of contextual covariation with Dpre - D-base. No significant relationships emerged in these analyses.

6.3 Discussion

With regard to the principal aims of the present chapter, the obtained results suggest:

- 1. In terms of individual variability in mood-smoking relationships:
 - a. The critical component of episodic mood change is partly moderated by BAS sensitivity – however, the direction of this moderation is the opposite of that which was predicted. Emotional stability also moderates smoking-incentive mood (through its influence on general mood levels).
 - Identified trait-based moderation is largely independent of situational contingencies. Where mood-context moderation by BAS is evident, the relationship again contradicts expectations.
 - c. Although an incentive-sensitisation model of mood-smoking emerges overall, there are individual differences in model-fit tendencies (implying a need for individualised assessment).
- Craving in normal smoking behaviour reflects a generalised process sensitive to emotional stability and dependence. Satiation experiences are specifically moderated by BAS sensitivity

6.3.1 Moderation of episodic mood changes

Figure 6.1 shows direct moderators of smoking-related mood changes. Discussion in this section pertains to this model.

Figure 6.1



Model of episodic mood-change moderation

Figure 6.1 represents episodic changes at Level 1 of the model and stable moderators at Level 2. At level 1, the shaded box represents the duration of smoking; time is loosely conceptualised as advancing from left to right in this figure. Thus, variables shown to the left of the box depict presmoking mood changes (from baseline). Episodes were preceded by increases in hedonic tone and energetic arousal. This is represented by the appropriate box-arrows; upward arrows are indicative of increased mood intensity in connection with smoking. The direction of moderating relationships is shown by the symbols adjacent to connections from level 2 to level 1 variables. For example, the increase in hedonic tone prior to smoking is attenuated for individuals who are higher in BAS reward sensitivity.

As originally predicted, mood change was specifically moderated by BAS score – and was not moderated by BIS score (Pickering, 1997). Higher levels of BAS sensitivity (indexed by the reward responsiveness subscale) were associated with dampened hedonic elevation in the pre-smoking state. Evident antagonistic moderation of hedonic change from baseline to pre-smoking is incongruent with theoretical predictions (and previous empirical findings that BAS sensitivity predicts positive affect in anticipation of rewards; Carver & White, 1994). However, individuals with greater BAS sensitivity (specifically, reward sensitivity) may be more hedonically responsive to everyday situations and stimuli, such that the anticipation of smoking does not elevate mood beyond baseline to the extent evident in those with lower BAS sensitivity (Cook et al., 2004). Reward responsiveness was positively correlated with hedonic tone at baseline (.26, p =.02), but its moderating influence on hedonic change remained significant when baseline hedonic tone was entered into the equation as a further moderator. This suggests BAS influence on smoking-contiguous mood changes that is not entirely mediated by baseline mood. Further, this finding shows the importance of separating measurement of average mood between persons from state changes within person (Zelenski & Larsen, 2000). Presently BAS predicts baseline hedonic tone in the expected way: high-BAS individuals tended to report more positive hedonic tone overall. However, contrary to expectations, low-BAS individuals reported greater increases in positive hedonic mood in pre-smoking states.

BAS sensitivity is strongly related to extraversion (Pickering, Corr, & Gray, 1999; Depue & Collins, 1999), and the present findings may be reflective of Eysenck's conceptualisation of extraverts acting to counter depressions of hedonic tone (Eysenck & Eysenck, 1985). Extraverted (high-BAS) individuals might experience relatively more smoking episodes cued in a hedonic state that is less positive than their baseline level, when compared with their less extraverted (low-BAS) counterparts². Indeed, recent research has indicated that high extraversion predicts drinking alcohol to cope with negative emotions (in addition to predicting drinking to enhance positive emotions; Cooper, Agocha, & Sheldon, 2000). Interpreted in terms of Eysenckian extraversion theory, observed BAS moderation may also reflect postulated heightened-reactivity to (low-intensity) stimuli in introverted

² This tendency was found in unreported idiographic analyses of episodes

(reward insensitive) individuals (Eysenck, 1967) – with smoking cues producing greater hedonic elevation in smokers of this personality-type.

The presence and selectivity of BAS moderation (evident in hedonic change, but not energetic arousal change) could imply individual differences in motivation to smoke. Low-BAS individuals may smoke more to experience hedonic elevation, and come to associate smoking with hedonic regulation more than high-BAS individuals (who experienced less hedonic change from baseline to pre-smoking in the present study). In contrast, anticipatory changes in energy and alertness might constitute a consistent incentive/trigger to smoke (stable across BAS-varying individuals) – although increases in arousal may have more motivational salience for high-BAS individuals, for whom they were not found to be attenuated in the way that concurrent hedonic changes were.

Although not moderated by BAS-related trait scores, a marker of individual differences in energetic change from baseline was identified in modelling of the Big Five personality dimensions. Those with higher levels of neuroticism tend to experience greater increases in energetic arousal before smoking. There is evidence to suggest that neurotic individuals might find smoking more arousing (McManus & Weeks, 1982; Gilbert, 1995), and these effects could condition to cues (Stewart *et al.*, 1984). Also of potential supportive relevance are studies of cue-reactivity in alcoholics and opiate users that have found neuroticism to be related to cue-elicited arousal (McCusker & Brown, 1991; Powell *et al.*, 1990). Present findings indicated that moderation of energetic arousal generalised across baseline and smoking-contiguous experiences. Pre-smoking elevation of alertness was predicted by baseline levels to the exclusion of emotional stability as a moderator. Greater emotional stability may dispose an individual towards greater vigilance across situations, such that pre-smoking processes produce less pronounced increases in arousal. Disposition of this kind could affect smoking-related mood changes in quite

an artifactual way. Alternatively (or perhaps additionally), smoking may have longterm effects on energetic arousal in more neurotic individuals, such that they tend towards a more sluggish state when not smoking. Smoking cues/anticipation could then elicit relatively stronger (compensatory) mood-change processes through an associative mechanism. In these potential interpretations, 'normal' levels of subjective arousal fully mediate individual differences in smoking-contiguous changes in arousal. Comparison consumption data from non-smokers may be facilitative in validating these (potentially mutually inclusive) interpretations (see Chapter 7).

Given that low emotional stability (high neuroticism) is theoretically reflective of combined BIS and BAS sensitivity (Pickering *et al.*, 1997), it is perhaps not surprising that this trait disposes reactivity to motivational stimuli (smoking cues). Previous research has shown that this trait can predict reactivity in both positive and negative affect (Murray, Allen, & Trinder, 2002) – consistent with the theoretical contribution of neuroticism to both BIS and BAS. Use of neuroticism measures is complimentary to assessment with the BIS-BAS scales of Carver & White (1994), as their purpose-built BAS scales do not reflect the theoretical contribution of neuroticism to BAS. Thus, observed moderation of energetic arousal by emotional stability (over and above the BAS traits) does not contradict the conceptual association of BAS with energetic arousal.

6.3.2 Moderation of mood-context covariation

Figure 6.2 shows moderators of smoking-related mood-change covariation. Discussion in this section pertains to this model.

Figure 6.2

Model of episodic mood-change covariation: extended to consider moderation



Level 2

Figure 6.2 represents episodic change-covariation at Level 1 of the model and stable moderators at Level 2. At level 1, variables shown to the left of the smoking event depict pre-smoking slopes between mood changes and contextual variables. For example, smoking-related increases in hedonic tone were enhanced after sex, and this is depicted by the positive connection between hedonic tone and the post-sex state. As in the previous figure, the direction of moderating relationships is shown by the symbols adjacent to connections from level 2 to level 1 variables. The only covariation that was moderated at level 2 was the tendency towards greater hedonic boost when in the company of others. Positive reactivity between being in company and experiencing stronger hedonic incentive effects is attenuated for individuals who are higher in BAS reward sensitivity.

Examination of cross-level interaction effects on mood changes indicated that most situational effects identified in the previous chapter were independent of personality moderator effects. Only covariation between pre-smoking hedonic change and being in the company of others (not smoking) was moderated at the person-level. Being with others when smoking tends to increase hedonic elevation from baseline, but this effect is attenuated for people high in BAS sensitivity (as indexed by reward responsiveness). The direct effect of BAS reward responsiveness remained significant in this model; taken together with the lack of other interaction effects, this suggests that identified moderating effects are not mediated by situation. Individual differences in mood regulation are unlikely to arise from individual differences in context selection alone.

6.3.3 Individual variability in fit to the three models

Hedonic model-fit

People high in BAS sensitivity (indexed by reward responsiveness) were less likely to experience a pattern of hedonic change consistent with positive incentive effects (incentive sensitisation and appetitive incentive functions). This moderating effect is consistent with modelling of episodic mood changes, suggesting that pre-smoking hedonic elevation is attenuated in more reward-reactive individuals. That BAS sensitivity had similar moderating effects on fit to models predicting different preto post-smoking outcomes (no change or positive change) reinforces the notion that pre-smoking change is the operative element in smoking-related affective processes.

Reduced hedonic model-fit for incentive-based accounts was also evident in individuals with greater emotional stability, higher levels of negative baseline craving, and lower levels of positive baseline craving. Additionally, incentivesensitisation model-fit was reduced in more extraverted individuals. In terms of moderation by Big Five trait dimensions, smokers high in neuroticism have a stronger tendency to experience positive-incentive hedonic responses and introverted smokers are specifically more likely to experience hedonic responses fitting the incentive-sensitisation model. The finding for extraversion is consonant

with episodic modelling and the Eysenckian notion of personality-associated hedonic regulation (Eysenck, 1967) discussed previously. The observed moderating effects of neuroticism warrant further discussion.

Individuals high in neuroticism have been found to be less responsive to nicotine in terms of subjective mood and biological correlates (even after controlling for habitual nicotine intake; Gilbert et al., 1994), and it might be expected that lower affective reactivity to the direct effects of nicotine when smoking would condition more modest mood responses to pre-smoking processes following the development of incentive motivations. Implicit in such an expectation, however, is the notion that initial direct effects of smoking may transfer associatively to cues/anticipation with similar magnitudes of effect (further to valence and specificity of effect). Whilst there is evidence that a variety of once-neutral stimuli can be conditioned to cue changes in smoking expectation, craving, and mood, there is presently little evidence to suggest that elicited effects are equivalent in size to any prehabituation effects of smoking (Lazev et al., 1999; Bushnell et al., 2000; Mogg et al., 2003). More generally, conditioned responses have little resemblance to initial unconditional responses (Corr, 2004). Given this, the observed model-fit moderation by neuroticism probably reflects consequences of generally experiencing lower levels of happiness (emotional stability correlated with UMACL hedonic tone; .48). Smoking-related incentive cues may have a positive hedonic value (or 'attractiveness'; Robinson & Berridge, 1993) that is more salient to individuals with a relatively depressed hedonic baseline, such that they report larger incentive effects (Lang, Davis, & Ohman, 2000). The non-emergence of emotional stability as a moderator of change in episodic modelling might indicate that emotionally unstable individuals are more variable in their motivations/mood changes from episode to episode. These individuals may, however, show particularly strong hedonic reactivity in any episodes that are incentive-motivated, such that their mean happiness scores at baseline and pre-smoking tend to
demonstrate good fit to incentive functions (again, this is consistent with their profile of high reactivity to both BIS and BAS related stimuli).

Finally, the nature of the relationship between incentive model-fit and baseline levels of craving has some interesting implications. The two factors of the QSU are distinct, and are designed to tap different motivations to smoke (Tiffany & Drobes, 1991): a desire to smoke with anticipation of pleasurable effects (positive craving), and an urgent need to smoke to alleviate discomfort (negative craving). The former factor might be expected to reflect incentive-related smoking experiences, and the latter to reflect withdrawal-related smoking experiences. The present findings support such hypotheses; positive and negative craving at baseline predict individual fit to incentive models of mood-smoking in expected directions. However, these relationships were only evident when shared variance of the two factors (reflecting general desire to smoke) was partialled out of the analyses. Only residual variability (reflecting valence of motivation) was related to changefunctions of approach mood-smoking, and this is consistent with the independence of desire changes and hedonic/energetic changes established in Chapter 5. Episodic craving was measured using the item that was found to be most indicative of overall QSU score (total baseline desire), but given the present findings - and other research demonstrating weak relationship between general craving measures and positive affective-components of motivation (Mogg et al., 2003) - it is unsurprising that this singular measure was insensitive to captured incentive processes. General measures of desire to smoke are likely to be biased in sensitivity towards negative mood (e.g., Payne et al., 1991) – consistent with conceptualisation of craving as an interruption of habitual motivational processes elicited by drug unavailability/obstacles to use (Tiffany, 1990) - and this might account for episodic covariation with anxiety and anger identified in the previous chapter. Examination of desire during abstinence supported this notion (see Chapter 9).

Energetic model-fit

People high in neuroticism were more likely to experience a pattern of arousalchange that fits models with positive incentive effects (incentive sensitisation – both inverted-U and step functions – and appetitive incentive). Fit to these models was greater for those low in emotional stability irrespective of the direction (or absence) of pre- to post-smoking changes. The implication is that the key component of smoking-related arousal change is from baseline to pre-smoking, and that this change is more pronounced for the relatively emotionally-unstable. This finding is consistent with indication from episodic modelling that pre-smoking elevation of alertness is greater in individuals with more neurotic tendencies. Taken with similar moderating findings for hedonic model-fit, there is a general suggestion that emotional instability pre-disposes greater reactivity to the identified smokingrelated affective processes –mood-regulatory functions of smoking may be less effective, and perhaps less motivating, in more emotionally stable individuals.

It can further be inferred that – in spite of difficulty demarcating pre- to postsmoking energetic change tendencies – emotional stability may be a trait particularly associated with depressed arousal following smoking. Only emotional stability was related to inverted-U incentive-sensitisation fit. Age and heaviest smoking rate moderated model-fit in similar ways to emotional stability, but neither was associated with the inverted-U model of energetic arousal – the model indicated to be the best-fitting (in terms of deviance statistics) in the previous chapter.

The neuroticism-independent moderating effects of age and heaviest rate of smoking indicated that positive incentive models (step-function incentive sensitisation and appetitive incentive only) were a better fit to energetic responses of younger smokers and those with a history of lower-frequency smoking. Elicitation of energetic arousal associated with smoking-expectancy may diminish with age

and after heavy exposure to smoking. Perhaps these relationships tap variance associated with the effects of chronic smoking: a trend of tolerance to anticipatory arousal after prolonged or intense smoking exposure. Though, if this interpretation is correct, it might be expected that other measures of dependence and smoker history (age when first smoked, stability of smoking) would emerge as moderators. Moreover, such an interpretation would seem to contradict the basic tenet of sensitisation to incentive effects. However, Berridge and Robinson (2003) describe the additional influence of 'cognitive incentives' (cognitive representations of actoutcome; Dickinson & Balleine, 2002); these reasoned expectations might temper mechanisms involving basic associative/affective/motivational interactions (Dayan & Balleine, 2002). It follows that awareness of smoking effects - or lack thereof might attenuate any conditioned incentive salience effects. Awareness could perhaps develop following periods of heavy smoking, or be particularly likely to develop in emotionally stable individuals - who may be more rational in their appraisal of smoking effects (e.g., Bartz & Olson, 2002).

6.3.4 Moderation of craving and its relation to mood and context

Figure 6.3 shows moderators of episodic craving covariation. Discussion in this section pertains to this model.

Figure 6.3

Model of episodic craving covariation: extended to consider moderation



Figure 6.3 represents episodic urge-change covariation at Level 1 of the model and stable moderators at Level 2. At level 1, variables shown to the left of the smoking event depict presmoking slopes between urge changes and contextual variables. For example, smoking-related increases in craving were enhanced after sex, and this is depicted by the positive connection between urge and the post-sex state. As in previous figures, the direction of moderating relationships is shown by the symbols adjacent to connections from level 2 to level 1 variables. Presmoking urge-change was directly moderated by baseline urge score: urge increases are smaller/less reactive for those with greater generalised craving. Pre-smoking urge was also indirectly moderated (via baseline urge) by emotional stability and shared variance reflecting heavy dependent smoking. Individuals low in emotional stability and those with a history of heavier smoking behaviour experience more generalised craving; consequently, their urge state is less responsive (relatively attenuated increase) to imminent smoking. Post-smoking urge-change was directly moderated by BAS Drive: urge satiation is reduced for those with greater BAS impetus. Urge covariation with other level-1 variables (such as tense arousal and being in a social venue) was not moderated at level 2. Although there is likely to be important systematic individual variability in craving experiences (Verheul, Brink, & Geerlings, 1999), and exploration of such variability has been encouraged (Cox et al., 2001), there is to date a paucity of studies relating to craving moderation (Zilberman, Tavares, & el-Guebaly, 2003). Analyses suggested that emotional stability moderated the craving process (including smoking-contiguous changes) through its influence on baseline levels of desire. This suggests that the extent to which desire to smoke generalises from acute eventrelated shifts to typical state may be related to neuroticism. The craving of more stable individuals tends to be elevated prior to smoking and satiated immediately after smoking. In contrast, the craving of those with neurotic tendencies is characterised by dampened responding to smoking onset/offset cues: indicative of a more chronic and insensitive desire to smoke. Given the likely stronger relationship between desire to smoke and negative affectivity (e.g., Tiffany, 1992; Sayette & Hufford, 1995; see Chapter 5), the observed trend in emotionally unstable smokers may partly reflect the generality of negative affect across behaviour that is a feature of neuroticism (Gomez, Cooper, & Gomez, 2000). It appears that neuroticism disposes smoking-distal engagement of craving (potentially related to BIS reactivity) further to arousal engagement by (imminent) smoking (BAS reactivity). It can be seen that these influences are somewhat dysfunctional: craving levels are persistently high and smoking is found to be particularly arousing against a background of low energetic arousal.

In this chapter's analyses of individual differences in mood-smoking relationships (and associated level 1 variability), outcomes have proven insensitive to measures of dependence. Affective-motivational processes at the episodic level of analysis appear to be independent of analysed indicators of dependence severity. Desire, however, did show some relation to variance reflecting current dependence and history of heavy smoking. Again, moderating effects were mediated by baseline craving, suggesting that smokers with more dependence-experience may perceive

a persistent desire to smoke that is less reactive to pre-smoking cognitions. Interestingly, dependence severity was not related to experiences of satiation; despite generally elevated levels of craving, and insensitivity to pre-smoking processes, more dependent individuals experience similar desire-relief from smoking to that experienced by their less dependent counterparts (though perhaps their relief is qualitatively different, in terms of cognition underlying "desire").

Satiation was moderated by BAS (as indexed by the drive subscale), in a relationship specific to the pre- to post-smoking component of desire change. Individuals with a stronger approach drive are less responsive to smoking consummation in terms of their craving. This likely reflects theorised persistent-approach in the drive construct (Acton, 2003; Carver & White, 1994; Heponiemi *et al.*, 2004). Such BAS drive-related experiences could be associated with binge patterns of behaviour (Kane *et al.*, 2004) or sensitising effects for other behaviours that might normally be inhibited (Paine *et al.*, 2003).

6.4 Next chapter

Chapter 7 compares findings relating to episodic smoking motivation (chapter 5 and the present chapter) with parallel hierarchical modelling of natural consumption behaviour. To this end, investigatory approaches introduced for smoking thusfar were applied to eating behaviour. Subsequently derived models could then be compared with those considered for smoking. Chapter 7 further combined smoking and natural consumption data-sets to facilitate direct comparisons of mood changes, cravings, and contexts associated with smoking versus eating behaviours.

Chapter 7. Eating as a comparative consumption behaviour

Preceding chapters (5 and 6) identified an episodic model of smoking motivation (changes in mood and desire) and extended this to consider moderating influences at the level of the individual. The present chapter identified a parallel hierarchical model of episodic eating motivation – so as to provide a point of comparison. Smoking has been conceptualised in the broader context of reward behaviour and natural appetitive motivation (Berridge & Robinson, 1998; Di Chiara, 1995; Koob & Le Moal, 1997), and the introduction to this thesis specifically considered parallels between smoking and food consumption (e.g., Wise, 1997; Grunberg & Baum, 1985). Furthermore, a research plan was established within which food consumption would be sampled in parallel to sampling of smoking behaviour; the present chapter is the first to consider this data as it reflects on findings for smoking. It is important to gain an understanding of whether smoking-related findings generalise across consumption behaviours or are more particular to smoking (and possibly other maladaptive consumption behaviour; e.g., Kaye, 1999).

What might be the likely outcome of present analyses, given what has been found for smoking behaviour? Little research has attempted to investigate multiple appetitive behaviours using equivalent methods, or to directly compare smoking with natural consumption behaviours such as eating – despite advocacy of such an approach (Grunberg & Cousino Klein, 1998; Gilbert, 1995). However, there is some evidence to suggest that smoking and eating should be similar in rewarding effects (Jaffe, 1990; Warburton, 1990) – and, by extension, motivation. For example, Warburton (1988) found that the positive mood effects of smoking were rated as being equal in magnitude to those of palatable food. There is also evidence that

food reward may operate by the same reinforcement model as smoking: Spring and colleagues (2003) found that palatable foods gained increased reward value (greater allocated obtainment effort, relative to monetary incentives, and independently of increases in hunger or perceived palatability) for nicotine-deprived smokers. This is consistent with the theoretical notion that eating and smoking may be substitutable rewards within a common mechanism (Niaura *et al.*, 1992; Ogden, 1994). Preceding chapters support an incentive-sensitisation model of smoking motivation, and this model is highly compatible with the notion of eating to compensate for absent smoking reward (Robinson & Berridge (2001). The theory suggests that the motivational significance of eating may become cross-sensitised when smoking is blocked – accessible rewards gain incentive value.

The implications of this for the present chapter might then be that eating-related mood effects should be similar to those identified for smoking (incentive-based boosts in hedonic tone and energetic arousal) – since both behaviours are appetitive rewards with potential for motivational transference. However, it is also conceivable that food may only acquire the motivational effects of smoking for deprived smokers (Epping-Jordan et al., 1998; i.e., cross-sensitisation changes the nature of eating effects to match smoking effects, rather than simply enhancing effects that are naturally the same for both behaviours). Participants in the present eating study were non-smokers, and it may be that natural eating motivation differs from motivation that develops for smoking. Any differences between smoking and eating models in the present study may thus be informative about how a common reward system can be set askew by maladaptive substance-use (Wolf, 1998). Nonetheless, some similarity in mood effects was expected based upon the classification of both smoking and eating as appetitive behaviours (Carroll et al., 1991). It was considered that snacking episodes and episodes involving consumption of sweet/fatty foods might resemble smoking episodes most closely (short duration, potentially more impulsive/less overtly functional) - and thus be

more likely to involve hedonic motivation. All episodes were coded in terms of food type(s) and episode type (snack/meal) to capture this variability.

The nature of motivationally relevant covariation and moderation was difficult to predict without foreknowledge of mood-eating relationships – since episodic mood changes were the central outcomes examined in relation to momentary context and personality. However, it has been shown that cue-induced conditioning can be induced using similar methods for both eating and smoking (Schroeder *et al.*, 2001). This suggests that contextual dependencies could be similar; although situational restrictions – being able to eat in settings where smoking is forbidden, for example – may produce different patterns of conditioning. In terms of craving, it has been suggested that urges for food and drug use are similar phenomena (Wise, 1997; Gibson and Desmond, 1999); though, again, specific cues may differ between behaviours – and eating urges may activate a wider range of possible responses (in terms of food choice).

Though comparative interpretation of moderating relationships may be difficult unless smoking and eating are similar in variability at level 1, analyses in the present chapter could be informative about whether the role of BAS uncovered for smoking holds for natural reward behaviours. One interpretation considered in the previous chapter is that smoking may be particularly rewarding for low-BAS individuals (contrary to original hypotheses) because they are less responsive to natural rewards. If this explanation is correct, BAS moderation of the kind evinced in smoking may not be evident for eating. Another reason moderating relationships might be expected to differ between behaviours is that measured personality in non-smokers may be incomparable with the same measures in smokers due to a fundamental disparity between these groups: however, available evidence suggests that there is no such disparity that would invalidate (continuum-based) trait comparisons (Kassel *et al.*, 2003).

Differences - between smokers and non-smokers and between smoking and eating episodes – did however form the focus of the final set of analyses in the present chapter, wherein eating and smoking data-sets were combined. In research comparing smokers and non-smokers, personality differences have not been shown consistently (Smith, 1970; Arai *et al.*, 1997; Shadel *et al.*, 2000). Based on reviews to date (Gilbert, 1995; Acton, 2003) it was predicted that smokers would tend to be higher in BAS-related traits and psychoticism (low conscientiousness and/or agreeableness in the big five). Direct comparative modelling of eating and smoking episodes would partly serve to clarify and validate any apparent contrasts between the (separately-specified) smoking and eating models. It would also highlight contexts within which smoking (versus natural consumption) is more likely to occur – contexts that may be important in interventions, since they are associated with smoking more than other appetitive behaviour.

In summary, central aims of this chapter were:

- 1. To identify episodic variability in eating behaviour such that results could be compared with findings from Chapter 5. To this end, specific goals were:
 - Examine the three reward models in relation to mood-eating behaviour. Does the Incentive-Sensitisation model describe mood in relation to eating episodes as it does for smoking?
 - b. Assess contextual contingencies of identified components of mood change. For example, is eating-related mood sensitive to the presence of others, as in smoking?
 - c. Characterise urge change across stages and its relationship with mood and contextual variability. Does desire to eat mirror desire to smoke in its sensitivity to consumption and contemporaneous conditions?

- 2. To assess potential moderation of identified episodic variability in order to gauge consistency of moderation across consumption behaviours. For example, do those with low-BAS sensitivity show greater appetitive mood responses before eating?
- 3. To directly compare consumption behaviours by modelling combined episodic data as a function of behaviour-type, and exploring regression models of trait variability that can predict smoker versus non-smoker status. How do the subjective experiences and situations associated with smoking episodes differ from those in a natural consumption episode? Also, how do smokers differ from non-smokers in terms of their personality?

7.1 Data Analyses

7.1.1 Episodic variability

7.1.1.1 Comparing the three models

As in analysis of smoking data (chapter 5), a repeated measures MANOVA was conducted to examine general mood change across states. Only mood dimensions demonstrating a significant main effect of change (across the three testing intervals) in the MANOVA were submitted to further analyses.

7.1.1.2 Mood changes and episodic context

Multilevel modelling of episodic data replicated analyses reported in Chapter 5. For each recorded eating event, baseline scores were deducted from pre-eating item scores, and pre-eating mood scores were deducted from corresponding post-eating mood scores. These change scores were first examined in unconditional models and as a function of contextual variability.

Variables relating to context were examined across five categories: temporal, company, location, activity, and consumption. Temporal variables were episode *length* (in minutes), *minutes since ate* and *serial position* (nth episode of the day). Company variables were others not eating (coded as 0 = alone at time of episode, 1 = with others, who were not eating) and others eating (0 = no-one else eating at time of episode, 1 = others eating). Location variables were home, social venue, and outdoors; all three were binary variables (coded as 0 = episode occurred elsewhere, 1 = episode occurred in this place-type). Activity indicator variables were resting, working, active-engagement, drinking alcohol, drinking tea/coffee, and post-sex; all were binary variables reflecting non-occurrence/occurrence in this state of activity. Consumption variables were *snack/meal* (0 = snack, 1 = meal), amount consumed (4-point Likert scale), and food group. This latter variable was represented by six binary variables reflecting the absence/presence of different food types in each consumption episode: (1) fats, oils, and sugars; (2) grains; (3) fruits; (4) milk products; (5) vegetables; and (6) meat and protein (poultry, fish, dry beans, eggs, and nuts). This coding scheme for food and nutrients is widely applied and based on extensive dietary research (Welsh, Davis, & Shaw, 1993; USDA, 2000). The scheme shows validity in application; for example coding of food intake across the six groups is predictive of mortality (Kant, Graubard, & Schatzkin, 2004).

7.1.1.3 Craving and its relation to mood and context

This stage of analysis pertained to desire to eat and its covariation with mood and context. The programme of analyses applied emulated analyses of episodic desire to smoke (chapter 5).

7.1.2 Moderating role of individual variability

At this stage of analysis, episodic variability was examined as a function of personlevel measures (Table 7.1 shows the measures used). Preceding models were extended at level 2 to identify moderators of mood change scores, mood-context slopes, desire change scores, and desire-context slopes. Only significant change scores and slopes were examined as a function of person-level measures in these models. Subsequently, only measures found to moderate change scores directly were examined as potential moderators of relevant slopes. In all models at this stage of analysis, correlated moderators were checked for independence.

. .

Table 7.1

BIS/BAS	Big	TFEQ	Baseline	Readiness	Eater	Demographics
	Five		Craving	to Change	History	
BASDRV	S	Emotional	QEU1	Perceived	Lowest	Age
		eating		addiction	weight	
BASRR	Α	Dietary	QEU2	Desire to	Highest	Gender
		restraint		change	weight	
BASFUN	с			Confidence	Ideal	BMI
				in ability	weight	
BIS	ES				Diet	
					attempts	
	I				Social	
					pressure	

Trait measures examined as potential moderators

S = Surgency, A = Agreeableness, C = Conscientiousness, ES = Emotional Stability, I = Intelligence. BASDRV = Behavioural Approach System Drive, BASRR = BAS Reward Responsiveness, BASFUN = BAS Fun-Seeking, BIS = Behavioural Inhibition System. BMI = Body Mass Index TFEQ = Three Factor Eating Questionnaire, QEU1 = positive craving (factor 1) score, QEU2 = negative craving (factor 2) score.

Table 7.1 presents the level 2 variables that were examined in relation to variability at level 1 of eating models. Variables are organised in seven categories (columns). The most important of these for the present research were the BIS/BAS markers in the first column, followed by the Big Five trait dimensions in the second column. Other variables were largely included for descriptive purposes - and to provide equivalence for smoking-specific variables examined at level 2 of smoker models.

7.1.3 Direct comparisons

Smoking and eating episodes

In these analyses, episodic data-sets from the eating diary and initial smoking diary were combined. The intervention-diary data was not used, as its inclusion would imbalance the number of participants in each group (smokers versus non-smokers) for planned between-persons analyses (logistic regression). Firstly, mood and desire change scores at level 1 were examined as a function of diary-type at level 2. Diary type was a binary variable coded as 0 = eating diary, 1 = smoking diary. In this way, these analyses identified significant differences in the magnitude of mood and desire changes related to smoking versus eating events. Further analyses examined appropriate contextual variables as level-1 outcomes, with diary type at level 2. In this way, these analyses identified significant differences in the situational correlates of smoking versus eating events.

Contextual measures were designed to have some degree of equivalence across diaries. Variables in location and activity categories were the same in both studies. Temporal and company variability was assessed with parallel measures, such that they require only a descriptive re-definition. Temporal variables were *episode length* (in minutes), *minutes since consumed* and *serial position* (nth episode of the day). Company variables were *others not consuming* (coded as 0 = alone at time of episode, 1 = with others, who were not smoking/eating as appropriate) and *others consuming* (0 = no-one else consuming at time of episode, 1 = others smoking/eating). Consumption variables were judged not to possess the requisite cross-diary compatibility for these analyses.

Analyses of binary outcomes applied Hierarchical Generalised Linear Modelling (HGLM) to account for statistical issues with non-linear dependent variables (see Raudenbush *et al.*, 2000). Predicted values are thus transformed using a logit-link

function to lie between the constrained values of 0 and 1, and reported coefficients represent the log-odds of outcome = 1.

Personality and smoker status

In these analyses, person-level data-sets from the eating study and initial smoking study were amalgamated. A binary variable was dummy-coded to represent the sample from which each individual case was derived. Individuals who participated in the initial smoking study were assigned the value of 0, and individuals who participated in the eating study were assigned the value of 1. As all subjects participating in the latter study were non-smokers, the dichotomous variable representing sampled behaviour-type also represents (non-)smoker status where 0 = smoker, and 1 = non-smoker. There were 42 smokers and 42 non-smokers in the combined data set.

Regression analyses were conducted to predict smoker status as a function of variability in personality – specifically, BIS-BAS and Big Five dimensionality. As the linear probability model is heteroskedastic, and may predict probabilities beyond the (0, 1) range, the logistic regression model was used to estimate the factors that influence smoker status. Exploratory logistic regression analyses were carried out using a forward (likelihood ratio) selection method, with subscales of the BIS-BAS and Big Five entered in two separate blocks/models.

7.2 Results

7.2.1 Episodic variability

7.2.1.1 Comparing the three models (eating only)

The MANOVA revealed a significant main effect of energetic arousal [F(2,82)= 11.50, p < .001), no main effects of other mood dimensions were observed. Figure

7.1 indicates that energetic arousal increases in the anticipatory pre-consumption state, and increases further following consumption. Such a pattern fits the appetitive-incentive model of associative mood mechanisms, with positive arousal response to cued intention to eat (pre-consumption state), and additional elevation of arousal from the direct effects of ingestion (post-consumption state). Simple main effects analyses were carried out on the mean state differences in energetic arousal, revealing that pre-consumption energetic arousal (EA-pre) was significantly greater than energetic arousal at baseline (EA base)[F(1,41) = 9.20, p = .005], and post-consumption energetic arousal (EA-post) was significantly greater than EA-Pre [F(1,41) = 3.93, p = .05]. These findings support an appetitiveincentive account of motivation, with a significant increase in positive mood valence at the cued pre-consumption state, and an additional significant increase at the post-consumption state. Energetic arousal of mood associated with consumption cues was, on average, more positive than at baseline, as was energetic arousal of mood associated with actual consumption. Subsequent analyses focused on the identified components of energetic mood change.

Figure 7.1

Mean energetic arousal at baseline, pre-eating, and post-eating states



Note. Error bars depict standard deviations.

7.2.1.2 Mood changes and episodic context

Table 7.2 shows all significant mood changes (yoo) and relevant covariation with episodic context (yo1). Subsequent sub-sections detail the results, grouped by mood change: beginning with arousal change from baseline to pre-consumption and proceeding to arousal change from pre- to post-consumption. Modelling in this section parallels analyses carried out in Chapter 5. The reader is referred to Table 7.2 for coefficients and associated values pertaining to slopes and intercepts in this section.

Table 7.2

Episodic relationships between significant mood changes and contextual variables

	Y 00	Y10	t	P
EA-pre – EA-base	.60		2.83	.008
Social venue		1.09	4.01	<.001
Outdoors		.75	2.65	.01
Drinking alcohol		1.68	5.94	<.001
Resting		82	-3.75	.001
EA-post – EA-pre	.27		2.34	.03
Serial position		15	-2.82	.005
Others eating		65	-6.02	<.001
Others, not eating		47	-2.40	.01
Drinking alcohol*		.48	3.18	.004

EA-pre – EA-base = Change in energetic arousal from baseline to pre-consumption state. EA-post – EA-pre = Change in energetic arousal from pre- to post-consumption state. *Partial result from modelling with EA-pre – EA-base as y20 *Note.* Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the columns labelled y00 and y10.

Baseline to pre-consumption energetic covariation

As suggested by previous aggregate-based analyses, the mean EA-pre - EA-base slope was positive and significantly different from 0 (γ_{00} = .60, *t*= 2.83, *p* = .008). Arousal changes from a general state to a state between preparation-to-eat and actual consumption tended to be positive, with elevated alertness in preconsumption responses as compared to baseline.

Further analyses examined contextual relationships with this change. In terms of location, elevation of arousal was greater in episodes that occurred in social venues

and when outdoors. In terms of activity, arousal elevation was greater in episodes that occurred whilst drinking alcohol, and was attenuated in episodes that occurred whilst resting. No other contextual variables were uniquely predictive of EA-pre – EA-base.

Pre- to post-consumption energetic covariation

Mood change from pre- to post-consumption state tended to be positive, with increased energetic arousal reported after eating – this supported aggregate-based analyses in the previous section. When the influence of EA-pre - EA-base was examined, it was found that elevation of arousal from pre- to post-eating was attenuated in episodes where elevation from baseline to pre-eating had been greater.

Further analyses examined contextual relationships with this change. Elevation of arousal was attenuated when an episode occurred whilst in company; whether others present were eating or not. In terms of temporal variability, elevation of arousal was attenuated in episodes that occurred later in the day. In terms of activity, elevation of arousal was attenuated in episodes that occurred whilst drinking alcohol (γ_{10} = -.35, *t*= -2.86, *p* = .008). However this relationship interacted with prior energetic change: when EA-pre – EA-base was entered into this model, the relationship between drinking alcohol and EA-post – EA-pre remained significantly different from 0, but became positive (this is the relationship presented in Table 7.2). When variance associated with pre-eating energetic change is partialled out of covariation between post-eating change and alcohol consumption, drinking appears to enhance elevated alertness after eating, No other contextual variables were uniquely predictive of EA-pre – EA-base.

7.2.1.3 Craving and its relation to mood and context

This stage of analysis characterised acute episodic changes in desire to eat and their relationship with mood changes and contextual variability at the same level. Modelling is as in Chapter 5.

Changes in desire to eat

A significant main effect was found [F(2,82)=62.23, p < .001]. Pre-eating desire (D-pre) was significantly greater than desire at baseline (D-base) [F(1,41)=38.94, p < .001] and post-eating desire (D-post) was significantly lower than D-pre [F(1,41)=490.62, p < .001] – see Figure 5.2. Subsequent multilevel analyses modelled desire-change scores unconditionally and as a function of other level-1 variables. Desire change from baseline to pre-consumption is examined first, followed by change from pre- to post-consumption. Table 7.3 shows significant desire-change coefficients (γoo) and relevant covariation with episodic context (γo_1). These values are not restated in the main body of this section of results.

Table 7.3

	Y00	Y10	t	p
D-pre – D-base	1.32		5.08	<.001
Meat, protein, fish, etc.		.75	5.54	<.001
Grains		.70	5.02	<.001
Vegetables		.64	6.36	<.001
D-post – D-pre	-2.84		-24.50	<.001
Others eating		50	2.23	.03

Episodic relationships between significant urge changes and contextual variables

D-pre – *D*-base = Change in desire from baseline to pre-consumption state. *D*-post – *D*-pre = Change in desire from pre- to post-consumption state.

Note. Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the columns labelled y00 and y10.

Baseline to pre-consumption desire covariation

Desire to eat was elevated in pre-eating responses as compared with baseline. Succeeding analyses examined this change (D-pre – D-base) in relation to change scores for mood; no significant relationships emerged.

Further analyses examined contextual covariation with D-pre - D-base. Elevation of hunger was increased before consumption of three food-types: meat, protein, fish, dried beans and nuts; grains; and vegetables. No other contextual variables were uniquely predictive of D-pre – D-base. The covarying food-types may be more commonly selected in balanced meals; indeed urge elevation did show a positive relationship with meal (versus snack) events, but this slope did not remain significant when the specific food-types were entered into modelling. This shared variance bolsters the notion that the identified covariates are markers of meal content – suggesting reactivity between urge to eat and preparation of substantial foods.

Pre- to Post-consumption desire covariation

The desire to eat decreased significantly following consumption. Succeeding analyses examined this change (D-post - D-pre) in relation to change scores for mood, but no significant relationships were found. When the influence of D-pre – Dbase was examined, it was found that satiation was greater in episodes where preconsumption urge had been greater ($\gamma_{10} = -.79$, t = -10.34, p < .001) relative to baseline.

Further analyses examined contextual covariation with D-post – D-pre. Satiation of hunger was reduced when eating in the company of others who were concurrently eating. No other contextual variables were uniquely predictive of D-post – D-pre.

7.2.2 Moderating role of individual variability

This stage of analyses extended previous models at level 2 to uncover moderating influences on episodic outcomes.

Baseline to pre-consumption energetic moderation

Energetic change (EA-pre - EA-base) was negatively related to trait surgency (γ_{01} = -.05, t= -2.6, p = .05). People with lower surgency scores were more likely to experience greater elevation of arousal compared to their more extraverted counterparts.

When baseline energetic arousal (EA; $\gamma_{01} = -.23$, t = -13.98, p = <.001) was entered concurrently with surgency at level 2 of this model, only EA remained significant. The effect of surgency on pre-smoking arousal change may be mediated by its influence on baseline arousal. People high in surgency generally experience more energetic arousal (as captured at baseline), such that their alertness is less responsive to the onset of eating episodes.

As moderating effects of surgency were dependent on baseline energetic arousal, slopes pertaining to EA-pre - EA-base were not examined as a function of personlevel variables (no direct moderators were identified).

Pre- to post-consumption energetic moderation

Energetic change (EA-post – EA-pre) was positively related to perceived addiction to snacking (RC Addiction; γ_{01} = -.05, *t*= -2.6, *p* = .05). People who report greater dependence on consumption behaviour were more likely to experience greater elevation of arousal compared to those who report low 'addiction'.

This relationship was not contingent on EA-pre – EA-base, and did not moderate any of the identified slopes for EA-post – EA-pre.

Baseline to pre-consumption desire moderation

Desire change (D-pre – D-base) was only related to baseline desire (QEU; γ_{01} = -1.06, *t* = -10.31, *p* = <.001). This implies that the effects of emotional stability and dependence history on pre-smoking desire change are mediated by their influence on baseline levels of craving. The hunger process appears to be independent of trait-variability as measured in the present research

Further analyses examined moderation of contextual covariation with D-pre - Dbase. All slopes were moderated by baseline craving in the same direction: meat, protein, fish, dried beans and nuts ($\gamma_{11} = -.58$, t = -5.08, p < .001); grains ($\gamma_{11} = -.46$, t = -3.36, p = .002); and vegetables ($\gamma_{11} = -.26$, t = -3.30, p = .003).

Individuals with greater desire to eat at baseline experienced smaller pre-eating changes in desire, and this trend diminished identified slopes for food-types.

Pre- to post-consumption desire moderation

Desire change (D-post – D-pre) was positively related to gender (γ_{01} = .57, *t*= 2.91, *p* = .007). No other level 2 variables were found to moderate satiation. Males tend to experience less satiation of hunger from eating than females. When preceding desire change (D-pre – D-base) was entered at level 1 of this model, gender remained significant. This implies that the effect of gender on desire to eat is specific to assuagement following consumption.

Final analysis at this stage examined moderation of contextual covariation with Dpost – D-pre. No significant relationship emerged in this analysis.

7.2.3 Direct comparisons

Table 7.4 shows episodic experiences that were significantly associated with smoking behaviour, relative to eating behaviour. All level 1 variables were examined as an outcome of event-type at level 2. As event-type was a binary variable (0, 1; where 1 = smoking), positive coefficients indicated that variables had higher values in smoking versus eating episodes. Coefficients and associated statistics are not restated in the main body of results.

Table 7.4

Experiences associated with smoking (versus natural consumption) episodes

	Y01	t	p
Mood changes			
HT-pre – HT-base	.49	2.00	.05
EA-post – EA-pre	32	-2.22	03
Temporal variability			
Episode length	-9.14	-12.43	<.001
Time since previous episode	-88.29	-4.66	<.001
Activities			
Drinking alcohol	1.84	5.21	<.001
Resting	71	-4.55	<.001
Active tasks	2.81	5.87	<.001
Working	64	-3.17	<.001
Locations			
At home	90	-3.40	.001
Social venue	1.93	6.57	<.001

HT-pre – HT-base = Change in hedonic tone from baseline to pre-consumption state. EA-post – EA-pre = Change in energetic arousal from pre- to post-consumption state.

Note. Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the column labelled y01

Changes in mood and desire to consume

Elevated pre-event happiness was greater for smoking events, and elevated alertness post-event was greater for eating events. No other mood changes were significantly different between behaviours (in terms of association). These analyses supported findings from separate modelling of eating- and smoking-related mood changes. Event-related changes in desire were not significantly (quantitatively) different between behaviours.

Context of consumption

Eating episodes tended to last longer, and to be separated by longer inter-event periods, as compared with smoking episodes. In terms of odds ratios pertaining to event-concurrent activity state, smoke events (relative to eating events) were 6.3 times more likely to occur whilst drinking and 16.6 times more likely to occur whilst performing active tasks (such as driving); but they were 2 times less likely to occur whilst in a restful state, and 1.9 times less likely to occur whilst working/studying. In terms of relative odds pertaining to event location, smoke events were 6.9 times more likely to occur in social settings, and eating events were 2.5 times more likely to occur at home.

Personality and smoker status

Logistic regression results are presented in Table 7.5. Two models are presented; the dependent variable in each is smoker status. Each model includes different blocks of independent variables (scored continuously). Model 1 includes only the BIS/BAS subscales. The results from Model 1 indicate a bidirectional trend in BAS differences. The coefficient on the BAS fun-seeking variable is negative and has a Wald statistic equal to 10.09 [df=1], p = .001. People high in BAS fun-seeking are more likely to be smokers. The coefficient on the BAS drive variable is positive and has a Wald statistic equal to 4.08 [df=1], p = .04. People high in BAS drive are more likely to be non-smokers. No other subscales of BIS/BAS emerged as significant in this model. The overall model is significant at the .0001 level according to the Model chi-square statistic (40.9). The model predicts 64% of the responses correctly. The Cox & Snell R² statistic is .14. In Model 2, scores on trait dimensions of the Big 5 were entered. According to the block chi-square statistic, Model 2 is superior to Model 1 in terms of overall model fit. The block chi-square statistic (11.32, df=1) was significant, p = .001. The percentage of correct predictions increased by 8.1% to 72.1%, and the Cox & Snell R² statistic increased by 56% to .25. The coefficient on conscientiousness is positive and has a Wald statistic equal to 9.69 [df=1], p = .002. People high in conscientiousness are more likely to be non-smokers.

From the two models/blocks, the trait variables that emerge as being significantly related to smoker status are BAS reward responsiveness and Conscientiousness. Conscientiousness is the most powerful predictor.

Table 7.5

	Model	1	Model 2		
Variable	Coefficient	Wald	Coefficient	Wald	
Constant	2.02	1.55	-2,92	1.57	
BAS Fun-Seeking	40*	10.09	28*	4.16	
BAS Drive	.27*	4.08	.18	1.65	
Conscientiousness			.13*	9.69	
Model Chi-Square [df] Block Chi-Square [df]	12.9[2]		24.2[3] 11.32[1]		
% Correct Predictions	64.0		72.1		
Cox & Snell-R ²	.14		.25		

Logistic regression results with dependent variable = Smoker status

Note: The Wald statistics are distributed chi-square with 1 degree of freedom * Indicates that the coefficient is statistically significant at, at least, the .05 level

7.3 Discussion

With regards to the principal aims of the present chapter:

1.

a. At the episodic level, smoking behaviour and eating behaviour have

distinct affective correlates - supporting different models of mood-

motivation. In contrast to smoking episodes, eating does not alter hedonic experience, and energetic elevation shows an Appetitive-Incentive (versus Incentive-Sensitisation) pattern.

- b. Where comparable, the situational contingencies of consumptionrelated mood changes show some commonality between behaviours.
 For example, energetic arousal is dampened when resting in both smoking and eating episodes.
- c. Desire processes demonstrate similarity across consumption behaviours, although desire to eat showed lower dependence on contextual and affective variability than desire to smoke.
- 2. Moderating relationships between behaviours were discrete, with more systematic individual variability in smoking versus eating episodes.
- Analyses of combined data confirmed that, relative to eating events, smoking events were associated with different mood changes and situations.
 BAS fun-seeking and conscientiousness emerged as predictors of smoker status.

As a reflection of the primary purpose of this chapter, subsequent sections discuss findings for eating behaviour in relation to previous findings for smoking.

7.3.1 Three models of consumption

In terms of the models of reinforcement under investigation, food consumption is associated with an appetitive-incentive pattern of mood change (e.g., Wise & Bozarth, 1987). Positive mood (specifically, energetic arousal) increases in the cued anticipatory state before eating, and is additionally elevated in the state immediately post-consumption. This overall trend is clearly different from that observed in smoking behaviour: elevation of both energetic and hedonic mood responses, but only in relation to the pre-smoking incentive state. It has been

theorised that natural rewards have positive effects through both priming and consumption stages but that other substances may fractionate reward such that incentive effects become relatively intensified in a way that encourages compulsive behaviour (Kelley & Berridge, 2002; Hyman & Malenka, 2001). The present findings offer some support for this notion, demarcating smoking and food consumption in terms of associated mood changes. It is important to stress that findings for food consumption were obtained with a sample of individuals who are within a healthy BMI range and report normal attitudes towards eating. Findings for individuals with compulsive - or otherwise disordered - eating behaviours might resemble smokingrelated trends more closely (Di Chiara, 2002; Drobes *et al.*, 2001).

7.3.2 Consumption, covariation, and moderation

Figure 7.2 shows two models: one of eating-related mood-change (with relevant covariates and moderators), and the other a reproduction of the equivalent model for smoking (developed over preceding chapters). These models are presented together in this figure for convenience of comparison. Discussion in this section pertains to the former model, but particularly considers its similarity (or otherwise) to the latter.

Figure 7.2



Figure 7.2 presents two episodic models, both representing mood change-covariation at Level 1 and stable moderators at Level 2. The first model pertains to eating episodes (drawing on data in the present chapter); the second is a repeat presentation of the parallel smoking model (from the previous chapter) – shown here to facilitate comparison across consumption behaviours. The novel (food consumption) model conforms to the format of previous smoking models. Box-arrows show increased energetic arousal before eating (left of the event) and an additional increase in energetic arousal after eating (right of the event). Links between these arousal changes and other variables show observed contextual reactivity. For example, pre-consumption increases in energetic arousal were enhanced in social venues, and this is depicted by the positive connection between hedonic tone and the social venue setting. As in smoking figures, the direction of moderating relationships is shown by the symbols adjacent to connections from level 2 to level 1 variables. For example, pre-eating arousal elevation was relatively attenuated for more surgent individuals, though this effect was dependent on their experiencing a higher level of baseline arousal.

Models of episodic mood changes and contiguous correlates suggest that incentivestage activation of energetic arousal may show consistency across behaviours. This supports research indicating that effects of food on contiguous mood may largely derive from anticipatory associative cues (Bulik et al., 1996; Rozin & Fallon, 1987) in a way that resembles potential cueing effects in mood-smoking relationships (e.g., Eissenberg, 2004). Attentional engagement (e.g., Salomone, 1994; Robinson & Berridge, 2000) is indicative of incentive salience (focussing on reward-associated stimuli), and the increased alertness evident before smoking and eating may reflect this. This component of change was identified in unconditional models of both datasets, and was not found to differ in magnitude between behaviours when modelled as a function of event-type (in the combined data set). This change was shown to be partly contingent on situation in both behaviours, and there was a degree of similarity in identified contextual covariation. Across behaviours, pre-event elevation of alertness was reduced in restful versus other activity states. Similarly, for both behaviours, energetic elevation was enhanced when drinking alcohol or situated in social venues (although these effects appeared to be dependent on concurrent hedonic change in smoking events). In terms of trait-based moderation

of this change, the behaviours differed somewhat: pre-eating arousal was related to surgency whereas pre-smoking arousal was related to emotional stability. However, for both behaviours, moderation was dependent on total baseline score for energetic arousal. Finally, slopes between contextual variables and pre-event arousal were not moderated at the person-level in either behaviour – in both cases situational modifiers of energetic change demonstrate independence of stable individual factors. It is possible that pre-event increases in alertness reflect attentional focus on/preparatory engagement in the primed behaviour. Such a process might represent associative reward mechanics: appetitive-incentive effects (acting as kindling for further direct effects) in natural reward, and incentivesensitisation effects in smoking. It might instead represent a general correlate of volitional activity, associated with selecting and being ready to perform a given behaviour (regardless of its associated value/valence).

Elevation of alertness following consumption was only observed in data from the eating diary. Food intake produces elevation of energetic arousal, and incentive effects are thus superseded by direct effects (as a general episodic trend) in a way that was not observed for smoking behaviour. These effects are unlikely to reflect nutrient actions: such changes should occur during or after digestion at a temporal range from 30 to 180 minutes after eating (Macht, Gerer, & Elldring, 2003). Episodes in the present data-set had a mean length of 17.9 minutes, observed mood changes were not related to episode-length, and food-type (reflective of energy content) was not related to consummatory change. Thus observed changes are likely to represent psychological effects of food consumption (Rogers, 1995) such as direct mechanisms of taste reward (cf. Berkowitz, 2000).

Desire to consume

Figure 7.3 shows two models: one of eating-related urge-change (with covariates and moderators), and the other a reproduction of the parallel smoking-related

model (finalised in the previous chapter). These models are presented together in this figure for convenience of comparison. Discussion in this section pertains to the former model, but particularly considers its similarity (or otherwise) to the latter.

-

Figure 7.3

Episodic model of urge in relation to food consumption Level 2



Episodic model of urge in relation to smoking



Figure 7.3 presents two episodic models, both representing desire change-covariation at Level 1 and stable moderators at Level 2. The first model pertains to eating episodes (drawing on data in the present chapter); the second is a repeat presentation of the parallel smoking model (from the previous chapter) – shown here to facilitate comparison across consumption behaviours. The novel (food consumption) model conforms to the format of previous smoking models. Box-arrows show increased urge before eating (left of the event) and reduced urge after eating (right of the event). Links between these urge changes and other variables show observed contextual reactivity. For example, pre-consumption increases in craving were enhanced in conjunction with preparation of grain-based foods, and this is depicted by the positive connection between urge and the grain food-type. Moderating relationships are shown by valenced connections from level 2 to level 1 variables.

Desire changes (pre-consumption elevation, and post-consumption attenuation) demonstrated the same pattern for eating and smoking behaviours. This finding supports the notion that these processes are consistent across natural and nonnatural reinforcers, possibly representing a common underlying pathway (Schuster, 1990; Glautier, 2004). However, examination of episodic covariation with desire changes is indicative of differences in the sensitivity of desire to smoke versus desire to eat. Increases in hunger before consumption showed no relationship with mood state, whereas pre-smoking desire change was associated with stress and anger. Pre-consumption changes also differed in their contextual reactivity. Desire to smoke was responsive to prior events/rewards (increased following sex and food consumption) and external state (elevated in social venues). In contrast, desire to eat was only related to preparation of different food-types: stronger hunger was associated with selection of more substantial meal-constituents such as highprotein foods, vegetables, and grains.

Though the assessed consumption behaviours exhibit similar patterns of episodic desire, they differ in regard to their affective and situational correlates; it s reasonable to suggest that differences in the development and typical contextual conditions of smoking versus eating might lead to acquisition of different cues and state expectancies (e.g., Niaura, 2000). Comparing covariation with post-
consumption desire-change for eating and smoking, satiation of hunger was reduced when eating with others who were also eating, whereas satiation of desire to smoke was reduced when in social venues. These relationships may have a plausible common interpretation, perhaps reflecting general persistence of desire in particular disinhibitory contexts with sustained sensory cues (Tiffany, 1992) - such as eating when others are also indulging/presenting food-related stimuli, and smoking in environments that may be smoky and conducive to lower restraint/acts of gratification.

In both smoking and eating behaviours, desire appears to be a unitary process such that changes at any stage are largely contingent on preceding desire levels. Apart from relationships with baseline hunger, desire to eat was only moderated by gender, and was specifically moderated at the stage of satiation (males tend to experience lower satisfaction of their desire than females). Smoking-related satiation was also moderated directly, but by BAS drive rather than gender; desire to smoke was also related to neuroticism, and partly reflected dependence experience. These moderating relationships indicate that craving to smoke is more sensitive to individual variability; hunger processes, by contrast, appear to be quite stable across individuals of the same gender. Overall, individual differences appear more pronounced in smoking as opposed to eating related experiences.

7.3.3 Direct comparisons

Figure 7.4 shows the model derived from direct comparative analyses of the combined smoking-eating data-set. Variables discriminating smoking and natural consumption at level 1were derived from hierarchical modelling, with episodic experiences examined as a function of diary-type at level 2. Trait predictors of smoker/non-smoker status were identified in logistic regression analyses.

chiefly mood, but also contextual conditions – that differentiate smoking from natural consumption, and finally elaborates potential trait markers of smoker status.

Figure 7.4

Direct comparison: Episodic model of smoking- (versus eating-) related experiences



Figure 7.4 depicts variability at levels 1 and 2 that is particularly associated with smoking (versus natural consumption in non-smokers). Thus, variables shown at level 1 are episodic experiences that differentiate smoking from natural consumption behaviour. Variables shown at level 2 are traits that differentiate smokers and non-smokers (based on logistic regression analyses). The model shows that hedonic incentive elevation is an affective experience particular to smoking versus eating. Relative to natural consumption events, smoking is more likely to occur when drinking alcohol, being active, and whilst in social settings (denoted by positive connections) - but less likely to occur when working, resting, and whilst at home (negative connections). Unsurprisingly, smoking episodes are also shown to be shorter in duration than eating episodes. Note that urge changes did not demarcate smoking from eating behaviour. Smokers tend to be higher in BAS (indexed by funseeking scale) and lower in conscientiousness, as compared with non-smokers. Smokers also tend towards neuroticism, although the predictive value of this trait is dependent on (low) conscientiousness.

Changes in mood and desire to consume

In the combined data-set, moderation of event-related mood changes by behaviour-type bolstered findings derived from the separate data-sets. Preparatory energetic elevation did not differ between behaviours, but hedonic change at the same stage was specifically associated with smoking, and only food consumption showed potential direct effects on mood (specifically, elevation of energetic arousal). Research has indicated that food-tasting can have a positive hedonic impact (Berridge, 2000; Steiner *et al.*, 2001), but smoking and eating events did not differ in terms of consummatory hedonic change. However, research has shown that hedonic ratings for foods eaten to satiation decrease considerably (Hetherington & Rolls, 1996) and there may be reflective internal shifts in hedonic state at the end of an eating episode. Perhaps a difference in hedonic change from pre- to post-consumption would emerge if data collection focused only on sweet foods and sampling of immediate responses to initial taste (rather than postconsumption reports).

Similarly, parallel findings for desire-change derived from separate eating and smoking diary data-sets were bolstered by analysis of combined data: desire changes were not moderated by behaviour-type.

Context of consumption

Shapiro *et al.* (2002) are the only other researchers to have examined the situational specificity of smoking behaviour using event-sampling methods. They compared context of smoking episodes with context at randomly signalled non-smoking occasions. The present research compared context of different consumption behaviours (and smokers versus non-smokers), but found some similar trends. Relative to eating episodes, the present research found that smoking episodes were more likely to occur whilst drinking and less likely to occur whilst working or studying. Shapiro and colleagues found the same trend in comparing

smoking and non-smoking occasions. Relative to smoking episodes, the present research found that eating events were more likely to occur whilst resting and when at home, and less likely to occur during active tasks and whilst in social venues. Shapiro and colleagues found no differences between smoking and non-smoking occasions for resting, being at home, or active tasks, and they did not distinguish episodes that may have occurred in social venues such as bars, clubs, and restaurants. It is reasonable to suggest that discrepancies between present findings and those of Shapiro *et al.* (2002) are likely to reflect the comparisons applied. The present research specifically contrasted smoking with a control consumption-behaviour, whereas Shapiro and colleagues compared smoking with a random selection of all other behaviours. Furthermore, potential individual differences in context selection between smokers and non-smokers might be reflected in the present findings.

Personality and smoker status

A great deal of research has investigated potential trait differences between smokers and non-smokers, but few consistent relationships have emerged (Smith, 1970; Arai *et al.*, 1997; Shadel *et al.*, 2000). In reviews of the evidence to date, the most reliable trait-marker of smoking status to emerge is psychoticism and related constructs (potentially, lower-order facets; Costa & McCrae, 1992) of impulsivity and sensation-seeking (Gilbert, 1995; Acton, 2003). The present findings derive from personality measures that have rarely been used in this context (despite contemporary support for these instruments; Shadel *et al.*, 2000; Corr, 2001), but show some uniformity with the trend in studies to date. However, non-prospective study of personality differences makes it difficult to determine whether predictors of smoker status pre-dispose smoking vulnerability, or are changes in personality that developed as a result of smoking. BAS fun-seeking emerged as a trait positively predictive of smoker status. This measure specifically reflects impulsive approach tendencies towards novel stimuli (without reflecting the sociability component of extraversion - in a way that could make interpretation more difficult; Carver & White, 1994) and is supportive of previous research reporting greater impulsivity in smokers versus non-smokers (e.g., Foreyt et al., 1993). The finding that conscientiousness delineates smoker status may also be interpreted as supportive of research indicating that sensationseeking and conceptually related Eysenckian psychoticism (Eysenck & Eysenck, 1985) are associated with/dispose towards smoker status. In terms of Big Five trait dimensions, psychoticism reflects low conscientiousness and agreeableness (Eysenck, 1992; Goldberg & Rosolack, 1994); furthermore, psychoticism has been defined and implemented as a measure of impulsivity (Acton, 2003). Taken together, there is a suggestion that conscientiousness may link BAS sensitivity and psychoticism, and thus reconcile the two trait-markers of smoker status emergent in the present research. BAS fun-seeking and conscientiousness were negatively correlated in the present studies (-.32), and this relationship might be consistent with recent reformulations of BAS trait-space (Pickering & Gray, 1997).

Considered in the context of previous research that has specifically measured conscientiousness, the present findings show congruency (though see Shadel *et al.*, 2000). Low conscientiousness has been linked with health risk behaviours (Vollrath & Torgersen, 2002), and low conscientiousness in childhood was found to predict smoking in adulthood in a recently reported 24-year prospective study (Kubicka *et al.*, 2001). In one of the few studies to examine smoking in relation to five-factor personality models, and the largest survey to date, Terracciano & Costa (2004) found that conscientiousness differentiated smokers, former smokers and non-smokers: current smokers had the lowest scores, long-term abstainers had intermediate scores, and non-smokers had the highest scores.

7.4 Next chapter

Chapter 8 considers smoking motivations that may be lagged or cumulative over the course of the day, rather than event-contiguous. To this end, Chapter 8 draws upon the fixed-interval component of implemented diary studies. In relevant analyses, consumption frequency and urges (that do not necessarily lead to consumption) can be modelled as outcomes of slower-acting temporal processes. Neither of these outcomes was amenable to testing in episodic modelling. Chapter 8 considers periodic motivation in both smoking and eating behaviours; continuing the comparative approach of the present chapter.

Chapter 8. Periodic variability - craving, consumption, and related experiences

In this chapter, examination of smoking motivation was extended beyond the episodic analyses of previous chapters to look at associations at a more general level of temporality. Recall that the three diary studies of the research were designed to acquire both episodic and interval-contingent data; the present chapter focuses on this latter source of information. Why look at motivation using different measures and intervals of measurement? One reason is that important processes may be difficult to capture using a single approach to temporal sampling (Wheeler & Reis, 1991). Limiting investigation to episodic sampling only allows recording of immediate antecedents and consequences of smoking. An episodic approach does not, for example, permit analysis of smoking frequency – yet understanding of this outcome (and associated experiences/predictors) could have practical implications for smoking reduction and cessation. Adopting a single approach to temporal sampling may artificially restrict derived models of motivation. For example, if the sole focus of investigation is on the brief temporal window within which smoking events occur, an implicit assumption is made: that smoking behaviour is best understood as a series of momentary responses to immediate contextual changes (Shiffman, 1989). An episodic approach inherently limits the predictability of smoking, since more gradual processes and distal motivational cues are discounted. It's possible that smoking intentions build-up over time (Baker, Morse, & Sherman, 1987), or situational constraints mean that smoking responses to motivational cues must be suspended over time (Tiffany, 1995) - for example, a strong urge may occur in a no-smoking area, and only elicit a smoking response later in the day (when the smoker is no longer in a restricted area). Returning to the outcome of smoking frequency, it would be beneficial to look at this variable over specific periods of time (for example, each day in a week) and see whether variability in

smoking rate is related to variability in other measures over the same period of time. Better still, investigation of periodic data allows cross-lagged analyses to be performed: if stress in period 1 predicts smoking in period 2, and smoking in period 1 does not predict stress in period 2, a causal sequence is implied (lagged from stress to smoking).

Chapters 5 and 6 considered episodic smoking motivation and its moderation by personality respectively. Chapter 7 compared the derived hierarchical model of smoking motivation with parallel data from the food consumption diary. The present chapter combines conceptual and analytical approaches from the three preceding chapters and applies them to periodic diary data. Thus, the general sequence of investigation in this chapter begins with examination of periodic smoking motivation (within-persons analysis), proceeds through characterisation of relevant trait moderation, and concludes with comparison of models for smoking versus eating.

Definition of periods

Days were divided into two periods by a fixed-interval assessment design: at each assessment point, participants were asked to recall experiences over the preceding period (since the last assessment point). They also provided reports of their current feelings (at assessment point) in one variation of this design (the quasiinterventional study). Period selection was based on indications from piloting as to what intervals would be most convenient for - and sensitive to the schedules of the sampled student population. Fifteen students recorded their timetable for a day (reporting activities hour by hour from waking to sleeping), so that convenient assessment points could be identified. As a result of this piloting, assessment points were programmed for 12pm and 8pm of each day, producing periods from 8pm to 12pm (of the next day) and 12pm to 8pm. This programme allowed for the high variability in sleeping and activity patterns evident in this sub-population, such that

day and evening measures would not be too early/late for the assessment schedule to be met.

Outcomes of interest at the periodic level

Episodic analyses were intrinsically tied to smoking events, but periodic analyses require the specification of smoking-related outcomes. Two main outcomes were examined to this end: smoking frequency and craving experiences (frequency, intensity, and duration). Smoking frequency represented the number of cigarettes smoked in a given period, facilitating examination of experiences that motivate increased or decreased smoking behaviour. Craving was measured because experiences may motivate a person towards smoking – increasing the frequency, intensity and duration of urges to smoke - without necessarily leading to smoking behaviour (Tiffany, 1990; Toneatto, 1999a). Smokers may not respond to every urge (for example, situational restraints could defer the act): in these situations, smoking frequency (or indeed, episodic measures of consumption) would not be sensitive to motivations. Cues that elicit the desire to smoke, but do not consistently trigger the act of smoking, could be over-looked. Although periodic smoking frequency and craving were examined as separate outcomes, the interrelationship of these variables was an important consideration. How reliably do craving experiences relate to actual smoking behaviour? Craving is cited as a prominent experience in dependence, but there is evidence to suggest that it is poorly predictive of actual behaviour. As has been discussed, craving is likely to be influenced by affective motivation, and it is possible that craving may partially mediate any mood regulation by smoking. Craving and the urge-smoking relationship are thus important outcomes for the present research, relevant to its focus on mood and affective personality in smoking.

Measures of periodic motivation

Measures of motivation at the periodic level were intended to compliment episodic measures, and reflected findings in the initial survey study regarding affective and behavioural associations with smoking. Participants rated the hedonic value of the most salient pleasant and unpleasant events that they experienced in each period. This provided measures of the hedonic tone of periodic experiences, tying recall to specific events (a useful mnemonic aid). Participants also recorded their perceived stress over the preceding period (as an indicator of tense arousal) and their ability to focus/concentrate (as an indicator of energetic arousal). In this way, periodic measures were adapted to tap variability that is conceptually related to the three main dimensions of affect examined in the present research.

Alcohol consumption, tea/coffee consumption, and the influence of passive exposure are other theoretically relevant smoking-related variables (Gilbert, 1995; Cooney *et al.*, 1998; Shadel *et al.*, 2001; Olsen, 1991) that were identified as potential cues in the initial survey study and measured in episodic analyses. These variables were also measured in the periodic analyses, to better contextualise smoking behaviour and its relationship with mood/affective personality. Representation of variability at both periodic and episodic levels of temporality was not considered to be redundant. For example, episodic measures of consumptive company (being with others who are smoking simultaneously) allow insight into an acute coincidence, but periodic measures of exposure to others smoking might reveal associations outside of the episodic timeframe – perhaps even lagged over an entire day.

Predictions

Based on episodic modelling in the preceding chapters, it may be hypothesised that positive hedonic experiences (high-salience pleasant events and low-salience unpleasant events) should relate to smoking frequency. Episodic models indicated

that hedonic mood can be regulated by smoking; it follows that periods when people smoke more may be periods when pleasant events will seem more pleasant and unpleasant events less unpleasant. A further implication of hedonic regulation here is that a lagged relationship could arise: periods characterised by less pleasant experiences may lead to greater smoking in the next period, as a compensatory action. According to incentive-based theories, the reverse relationship (periods of greater smoking leading to periods of less pleasant experience) should not be present as increased smoking should further sensitise receptivity to positive hedonic experiences (Robinson & Berridge, 1993; Koob, 1999; Ternes, 1977). A related prediction is that positive hedonic tone will be greater following periods of increased smoking (in the quasi-interventional study). This prediction is predicated on findings that hedonic tone was elevated from baseline by smoking (an incentivesensitisation effect), and that the extent of this elevation increased with consecutive smoking episodes.

It is possible that periodic alertness and fixed-interval measures of energetic arousal (quasi-interventional study) will demonstrate relationships with smoking frequency that are similar to those hypothesised for hedonic experiences. This possibility is based on the identified role of energetic arousal in incentivesensitisation of episodic smoking. However, analyses of natural consumption data indicated that energetic arousal may be more generally elevated by approach behaviours; also, energetic elevation did not sensitise over consecutive smoking events. It may then be less likely that specific periodic associations between smoking and ability to concentrate or energetic arousal are evident. For example, other energy arousing activities (say, working or eating) may increase during times when smoking frequency is decreased (such as when in no-smoking workplaces/restaurants); this would mask any periodic relationship between smoking and ability to focus.

It is not clear how episodic incentive-sensitisation findings impact on predictions regarding periodic cravings. Hedonic tone and energetic arousal did not show any relation with desire to smoke, at the episodic level. The episodic slope between tense arousal and desire to smoke may however suggest that craving will be greater in periods when perceived stress is greater. Interval tense arousal and anger (in the quasi-interventional study) may be related to preceding or subsequent periodic craving, but it is difficult to extrapolate further. An important prediction is that craving should be related to smoking in the same period. A close relationship between desire to smoke and behaviour would make craving (and related cues) a practical target for intervention, in a predictable behavioural process. Desire to smoke was strongly reactive to smoking in episodic analyses (pre-smoking elevation, post-smoking satiation), but it remains to be seen whether urges lead to smoking – episodic models can only be informative about the events that do occur (and not desires that are resisted).

Comparisons of smoking and eating showed that alcohol is specifically associated with smoking behaviour. It was thus predicted that smoking would be more frequent in periods when greater quantities of alcohol were consumed. There was no evidence in episodic analyses that tea/coffee consumption relates to smoking or craving. However, it was anticipated that passive smoke exposure may increase smoking frequency and/or craving in the same period. Previous analyses have shown that smoking behaviour and urge are associated with being in a social venue; this relationship may partly reflect the effects of smoke exposure. However, being around others who are smoking was not shown to increase urge in these prior analyses – this may have been a more direct measure of the influence of passive smoke

Due to the hierarchical nature of modelling, predictions of personality effects were difficult to specify. Moderating influences were only examined for significant slopes

at the periodic level, so much depended on the outcomes of covariation models. Taking smoking frequency and craving as direct outcomes of personality, hypotheses generation remained problematic. Comparisons of smokers and nonsmokers in the preceding chapter indicated that high BAS (fun-seeking) and low conscientiousness disposed smoking behaviour between persons. These traits may similarly predict the severity of smoking – high BAS and highly conscientious individuals may smoke more and/or experience more pronounced craving - but this does not necessarily follow from episodic findings, or the wider literature (Gilbert, 1995; Kassel *et al.*, 2003; Gilbert & Warburton, 2003; Dierker *et al.*, 2001). Vulnerability factors for smoking acquisition may not influence the severity of dependence as though along a spectrum from non-smoking to heavy smoking (Heath *et al.*, 1995). In line with the position that smoking is a rewarding/approach behaviour, it was generally predicted that trait moderation – where evident – would involve the BAS and related dimensions of the big five.

Finally, in terms of comparisons between smoking and eating behaviours at the periodic level, previous findings suggested that derived models would have very different mechanisms/sensitivities. Eating behaviour is likely to show less reactivity to the behavioural and motivational variables assessed, and relatively minimal moderation at the trait level: producing a less complex model. Commonalities were expected in the inter-relation of craving experiences and actual consumption, however.

In summary, central aims of this chapter were:

- 1. To examine periodic smoking frequency and craving as principal outcomes.
 - a. How do these outcomes relate to each other? Does craving reliably predict smoking? If so, does craving mediate other smoking cues such as affective experiences?

- b. How do these outcomes relate to affective experiences (hedonic events, perceived stress, and distractibility) in the context of other potential cues (such as alcohol consumption and passive smoke exposure)?
- c. Are the relationships in (a.) and (b.) lagged over time? Cross-lagged analyses were performed to uncover temporal antecedents and consequences of increases in smoking frequency or craving.
- 2. To examine effects of periodic smoking and craving on ensuing mood and relate them (and other observed periodic effects) to episodic mood-smoking relationships. Is hedonic elevation by smoking evident over periods of time beyond the episodic timeframe?
- 3. To compare resultant models with those observed for eating behaviour. Are smoking and eating behaviours sensitive to different motivations (as evinced in episodic analyses)?

8.1 Investigatory Approach

8.1.1 Periodic craving and smoking frequency

Models at this stage of analysis were based upon fixed-interval data from the initial smoking-diary study only.

Concurrent relationships

These analyses were structurally similar to previous models of level-1 covariation without conditions at level 2, such as the analyses of mood-context relationships in Chapter 5. Slopes for smoking frequency and craving were the main outcomes of interest in these analyses. Craving scores represented the sum of sub-scores for the frequency, intensity, and duration of periodic craving experiences. Craving measures were found to be highly inter-correlated (> .6), so relevant scores were combined to give a general craving score ($\alpha = .79$) - with higher values reflecting

greater periodic craving. Smoking frequency and craving scores were systematically examined as a function of all other periodic variables (separate models were constructed for each potential covariate). Variables were group-mean centred, and correlated measures were jointly re-entered into models so as to identify independent relationships. As smoking frequency was not recorded prior to the first reflective fixed assessment, data from only four of the five data-points was examined in the present analyses (a total of 168 level 1 units from 42 units at level 2) The complete set of periodic variables examined (including the primary outcomes) are shown in Table 8.1 As with craving scores, separate values for the frequency, intensity, and duration of exposure to others smoking (correlations > .5) were combined to give a general passive exposure score (a = .82) – with higher values reflecting greater periodic exposure.

Lagged relationships

Although the present research design was not applied to examine causal relationships explicitly, modelling of lagged associations can facilitate insight into mechanisms of causation (West & Hepworth, 1991). Variability in smoking-related outcomes might demonstrate sensitivity to more distal preceding experiences (further to period-concurrent and acute-episodic contingencies). If such lagged relationships are in operation, it is easier to test for their directionality (and make inferences about causality) than it would be for relationships only observed at the same temporal stage.

Accordingly, a series of models were constructed wherein smoking frequency was systematically examined as a joint function of smoking frequency in period i-1 and one other variable in period i-1 (separate models were constructed for all potential lagged covariates). In parallel, a series of models were constructed with craving as the main outcome. Finally, analyses were conducted in which significant lagged predictors identified from the preceding models were examined as a function of

smoking frequency-1 or craving-1 as appropriate. For example, to determine whether alcohol-unit consumption led to or was followed by changes in smoking frequency, the following two models were analysed:

SFREQ (period i) $ij = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j}$ (SFREQ period i-1) + β_{2j} (ALC period i-1) + r_{ij} .

ALC (period i) $i_j = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j}$ (SFREQ period i-1) + β_{2j} (ALC period i-1) + r_{ij} .

The critical coefficients in these models are the lagged coefficients β_{23} (ALC period i-1) in the first equation and β_{13} (SFREQ period i-1) in the second. A causal sequence from alcohol consumption to smoking frequency is suggested if the (ALC period i-1) coefficient is significant and (in subsequent analysis) the β_{13} (SFREQ period i-1) coefficient in the second equation is not significant. For the analyses of lagged relationships, two consecutive complete data points were required, necessitating that these models were based on one less data point than preceding analyses of concurrent relationships (126 level 1 units).

Moderation of craving, smoking frequency and related slopes

At this stage of analysis previous models were made conditional at level 2, to identify person-level moderators of periodic craving and smoking frequency, and of their relationships with other periodic variability (concurrent and lagged). Trait variables examined were those applied in previous analyses relating to smoking behaviour (see Table 6.1). Correlated moderators were jointly re-entered into models so as to identify independent relationships.

Table 8.1

Smoking	Food Consumption
Smoking frequency	Eating frequency
Urge to smoke	Urge to eat
(composite of frequency, duration and intensity)	(composite of frequency, duration and intensity)
Passive exposure	Passive exposure
(composite of frequency, duration and intensity)	(composite of frequency, duration and intensity)
Perceived Stress Scale	Perceived Stress Scale
Pleasantness of experience	Pleasantness of experience
Unpleasantness of experience	Unpleasantness of experience
Ability to focus	Ability to focus
Alcohol unit consumption	Alcohol unit consumption
Tea/coffee consumption	Tea/coffee consumption

Periodic measures: Smoking and food consumption

8.1.2 Periodic variability in food consumption

The programme of analyses applied to fixed-interval smoking-diary data was subsequently applied to equivalent data from the diary of eating behaviour. Analyses examined concurrent and lagged slopes for craving (urge to eat) and eating frequency, and moderation of all relevant outcomes by person-level variability. Trait variables examined were those applied in previous analyses relating to eating behaviour (Table 8.1). Correlated moderators were jointly reentered into models so as to identify independent relationships. The number of units at level 1 and 2 replicated preceding analyses of smoking-related patterns: beginning at 168 and 42 for analyses of concurrent periodic slopes (four data points).

8.1.3 Current mood in relation to periodic craving and smoking frequency

A final set of analyses utilised fixed-interval data from the quasi-interventional diary to examine how current mood (at response interval) might relate to preceding and subsequent periodic variability in craving and smoking. Data on current mood at fixed-interval was only collected in the quasi-interventional diary. These models looked at relationships between current mood (EA, HT, TA, and AF) and craving/smoking frequency: testing whether mood reported at interval was predicted by preceding craving/smoking and/or predictive of craving/smoking in the subsequent period. Logically, the former of these relationships was examined with mood dimensions as main outcomes in relation to craving and smoking frequency. Derived t-ratios are the same whichever variable is made the main outcome in covariant analyses, but current mood might better be conceptualised as an outcome of preceding smoking/craving (rather than the reverse) so as to reflect temporal sequence. By the same reasoning, lagged relationships were examined with smoking frequency and craving as main outcomes in relation to mood-1: recalled smoking and craving experiences were subsequent to mood reports in these analyses. Furthermore, due to the temporal process inherent in these analyses, a directional process might be inferred if covariation in concurrent relationships is not replicated in lagged relationships.

Theses models were subsequently extended at level 2 to examine person-level moderation of significant covariation as before. For each subject, only data from five of the seven recorded periods (160 level-1 units) could be analysed to examine relationships between current mood (at time of reporting) and preceding craving. This is because reports at the end of two periods would reflect experiences during the encouraged-abstinence period (see Chapter 9). Usable data for analysis of relationships between current mood and preceding smoking frequency was further

limited - to four periods, or 128 level-1 units - as smoking frequency was not recorded prior to the first fixed assessment. Finally, for analyses pertaining to lagged relationships, the requirement for data from consecutive periods in addition to the aforementioned constraints meant that three periods were analysed for craving-1 (96 level-1 units) and two periods for smoking frequency-1 (64 level-1 units).

8.2 Results

8.2.1 Periodic craving and smoking frequency

Concurrent relationships

Craving to smoke tended to be greater during periods when more alcohol was consumed (γ_{10} = .42, *t* = 3.22, *p* = .003). Craving was not related to other measures of periodic variability. Smoking frequency tended to greater during periods when more alcohol was consumed (γ_{10} = .21, t = 3.72, p = .001) and during periods when unpleasant experiences were less intense ($\gamma_{10} = -.21$, t = -2.21, p =.03). Frequency of smoking was not related to other measures of periodic variability. Positive relationships between the central outcomes and alcohol consumption were anticipated (urge was not related to alcohol consumption at the episodic level, but drinking was shown to be strongly associated with smoking episodes). However, though craving and smoking frequency showed similar relationships with alcohol use, they did not covary with each other. The lack of association between cravings and smoking (though foreseeable) was not predicted, and undermines the usefulness of craving as a behavioural predictor. On the other hand, the relationship between the negative salience of unpleasant events and smoking frequency does show congruence with predictions. Episodic findings demonstrated the usefulness of smoking as a regulator of hedonic experience – the

present relationship may reflect a mood congruency effect, with unpleasant events perceived as less negative during times when smoking has been more frequent.

Lagged relationships

These analyses found that reduced pleasure in one period (period i-1) predicted frequency of smoking in the next period (period i) (γ_{10} = -.40, *t*= -3.46, *p* = .002), above and beyond the relationship between smoking frequency in period i-1 and period i. In contrast, smoking frequency in one period was not significantly related to pleasure in the next period. This pattern suggests that a lack of salient pleasure experiences leads to increases in smoking frequency but not the reverse. Such a relationship is consistent with predictions based on previous episodic analyses: smoking can be used to regulate hedonic experiences, and it follows that smokers may use the behaviour to attain greater pleasure following a relatively unstimulating period. No other lagged relationships were evident for smoking frequency or craving.

Moderating effects: direct relationships with craving and smoking frequency Periodic craving was found to be positively related to baseline craving (γ_{01} = .41, t= 2.79, p = .008), heaviest rate of smoking (γ_{01} = .19, t= 2.18, p = .04), and Fagerström dependence score (γ_{01} = .25, t= 2.04, p = .05). Individuals who were more dependent, those who had a history of heavier smoking, and those who reported greater urge to smoke at baseline tended to experience more craving during sampled intervals. Dependence score and heaviest smoking rate were correlated, and neither measure remained significant when entered jointly into models of moderation. This suggests that shared variance of these measures (possibly reflecting the development of more intensive smoking) is responsible for observed individual moderating relationships. Smoking frequency was positively related to perceived addiction (γ_{01} = .33, *t*= 2.82, *p* = .008), heaviest rate of smoking (γ_{01} = .07, *t*= 2.16, *p* = .04), and Fagerström dependence score (γ_{01} = .11, *t*= 2.32, *p* = .03). Individuals who were more dependent, those who had a history of heavier smoking, and those who reported greater perceived addiction to smoking tended to smoke more during sampled intervals. These measures were all correlated, and none remained significant when entered jointly into models of moderation – suggesting the influence of shared variance underlying trait-like indicators of smoking severity.

Findings for direct moderation were somewhat uninformative – low-level traits that are specifically reflective of smoking behaviour predicted smoking outcomes, but stable universal traits were not implicated. BAS levels were not systematically related to smoking frequency or craving experiences; similarly, the big five trait dimensions did not consistently dispose individuals to greater smoking or craving.

Moderating effects: concurrent relationships

The strength of the positive within-period relationship between alcohol and craving was negatively related to perceived addiction ($\gamma_{11} = -.26$, t = -4.00, p < .001) and Fagerstrom dependence score ($\gamma_{11} = -.13$, t = -3.55, p = .001). When these correlated measures were entered jointly into modelling of alcohol-craving covariation, only perceived addiction remained significant. The observed cross-level interactions indicated that individuals reporting a stronger belief that they are addicted showed less reactivity between their alcohol consumption and craving. This might indicate that individuals with greater perceived dependence crave more consistently across situations - such that they are less sensitive to alcohol consumption in their urges to smoke. Another possible interpretation is that these individuals are less likely to drink in response to urges to smoke.

The strength of the positive relationship between alcohol and smoking frequency was negatively related to baseline QSU ($\gamma_{11} = -.14$, t = -2.70, p = .01), desire to quit ($\gamma_{11} = -.08$, t = -2.57, p = .01), BAS Drive ($\gamma_{11} = -.10$, t = -2.57, p = .01), and positively related to BAS Reward Responsiveness ($\gamma_{11} = .09$, t = 2.11, p = .04). These interactions suggested that individuals with higher baseline craving, those with a greater desire to quit, and those with greater approach impetus showed less reactivity between their alcohol consumption and smoking rate. In contrast, individuals with greater reward responsiveness in their approach sensitivity demonstrated more reactivity between period-concurrent drinking and smoking behaviours.

The strength of the negative relationship between unpleasantness of periodic experience and smoking frequency was positively related to conscientiousness (γ_{11} = .04, t= 2.61, p = .01). The observed interaction indicated that more conscientious individuals showed less reactivity between experienced unpleasantness and smoking reactivity. This might suggest that individuals with greater conscientiousness are less likely to be affected by recent smoking rate in their appraisal of the unpleasantness of recent experience, whereas less conscientious individuals might assess situations as less painful when they have smoked more. Another possible interpretation is that more conscientious individuals smoke more in response to more saliently unpleasant situations (perhaps indicating a tendency to limit smoking except during times marked by more intensely unpleasant experiences).

Moderating effects: lagged relationships

The strength of the negative lagged relationship between pleasure in one period and smoking frequency in the next was not related to variability at the person level.

8.2.2 Periodic variability in food consumption

Concurrent relationships

Urge to eat tended to be greater during periods when participants reported more exposure to others eating (γ_{10} = .15, *t*= 2.19, *p* = .04). Craving was not related to other measures of periodic variability. Eating frequency also tended to greater during periods when participants reported more exposure to others eating (γ_{10} = .03, *t*= 2.41, *p* = .02). Frequency of consumption was not related to other measures of periodic variability.

Lagged relationships

These analyses found that perceived stress in one period (period i-1) predicted food craving in the next period (period i), above and beyond the relationship between craving in period i-1 and period i. In contrast, craving in one period was not significantly related to perceived stress in the next period. This pattern suggests that greater perceived stress leads to decreases in desire to eat but not the reverse.

Furthermore, alcohol consumption in one period predicted food consumption in the next (γ_{10} = .08, *t*= 2.53, *p* = .02), above and beyond the lagged relationship for eating frequency from one period to the next. In contrast, food consumption in one period did not predict alcohol consumption in the next. This pattern suggests that alcohol consumption leads to increased food consumption but not the reverse.

Moderating effects: direct relationships with craving and consumption frequency Periodic food craving was found to be positively related to QEU Factor 2 (γ_{01} = 2.78, t= 2.60, p = .01) and BAS Drive (γ_{01} = 1.04, t= 2.70, p = .01). Individuals with greater approach impetus and those who reported greater negative urge to eat at baseline tended to experience more craving during sampled intervals. Eating frequency was positively related to Surgency (γ_{01} = .03, t= 3.15, p = .004), and negatively related to diet attempts (γ_{01} = -.07, t= -2.22, p = .03) and desire to diet (γ_{01} = .09, t= -2.50, p = .02). Individuals who were more introverted, those with a history of dieting, and those with a greater desire to change their eating behaviour tended to eat less during sampled intervals. Desire to diet and number of previous diet attempts were correlated, and neither remained significant when entered jointly into models of moderation – suggesting the influence of shared variance reflecting restricted eating.

Moderating effects: concurrent and lagged relationships

The only moderating effect found for periodic covariation pertaining to urge to eat and episodic frequency of eating was an influence on the lagged relationship between alcohol consumption and eating frequency. The strength of the positive relationship between alcohol consumption and eating frequency was positively related to Surgency (γ_{11} = .01, *t*= 2.02, *p* = .05). The observed interaction indicated that more extraverted individuals showed a greater tendency to increase their eating frequency after drinking alcohol.

8.2.3 Mood at interval in relation to periodic craving and smoking frequency

The only covariation identified between mood and periodic smoking outcomes was a positive relationship between current hedonic tone (at fixed-interval assessment point) and preceding smoking frequency (γ_{10} = .15, *t*= 2.28, *p* = .03). Taken with the finding that lagged mood did not predict smoking frequency, this suggests that periods of more repeated smoking lead to greater contentment: on average, consuming seven cigarettes in an interval increased subsequent reported happiness by one scale-unit. This relationship remained significant when previously identified

covariates of smoking frequency (alcohol and unpleasantness of experience; both predictive of interval-happiness in the current data) were entered jointly into modelling of hedonic tone as a function of preceding smoking frequency.

The strength of the positive relationship between periodic smoking and subsequent reported happiness was positively related to heaviest rate of smoking (γ_{11} = .04, t = 2.19, p = .04). The observed interaction indicated that individuals with a history of heavier consumption were happier following periods of more intensive smoking behaviour.

8.3 Discussion

With regards to the principal aims of the present chapter:

- Smoking frequency and craving were not directly related, although parallels were evident in their periodic relationship with alcohol consumption and direct moderation by individual variability.
- Emergent models of eating frequency and urge to eat did not resemble those surfacing in relation to smoking, although craving and consumption were again found to be unrelated.
- 3. Periodic smoking had a positive effect on ensuing happiness. Furthermore, modelling of concurrent and lagged periodic relationships suggested that smoking could serve to regulate the hedonic value of positive and experiences. Taken together, these findings supported mood-smoking associations observed in episodic modelling.

Figures 8.1 and 8.2 show derived hierarchical models of periodic variability in smoking frequency and craving (exclusive of associations with interval mood in the quasi-interventional data-set); figures 8.3 and 8.4 show comparison models

relating to food consumption. Chronological periods are distinguished (Period 1, Period 2) to depict relationships that are lagged over time. Note that connections between variables in different periods run in only one direction – reflecting the findings of cross-lagged analyses. Connections within the same period of time are depicted as bidirectional, as the precise temporal order of these within-period relationships could not be determined. Moderating relationships are shown as influencing level 1 relationships from level 2. The nature of all relationships is conveyed by valence symbols proximal to connections.

Model of periodic smoking frequency





Figure 8.1 represents periodic covariation with smoking frequency at Level 1 of the model (below the dividing line) and stable moderators of these relationships at Level 2 (above the dividing line). The model shows that periods of less pleasure lead to periods of more frequent smoking. Smoking frequency is also greater in periods where alcohol consumption is greater, and in periods when unpleasant experiences are less salient. Note that various L2 variables moderate Covariation between smoking frequency and alcohol use; in contrast, the shared variance of dependence, heaviest rate, and perceived addiction directly moderates smoking frequency as an outcome.

Level 2

Model of periodic urge to smoke

Level 2





Figure 8.2 represents periodic covariation with craving experiences (reflecting frequency, intensity, and duration of urge episodes) at Level 1 of the model and stable moderators of these relationships at Level 2. Relationships in this model are depicted using the format discussed for Figure 8.1, but with craving as the principal outcome. The simplicity of this model indicates that measured periodic variables showed little systematic covariation with craving. Craving is greater in periods when alcohol consumption is greater. Moderating connections show that craving-drinking reactivity is reduced in individuals who perceive they are more addicted to smoking, and that periodic craving experiences are more pronounced in those with a combination of high dependence, high baseline craving, and a history of heavy smoking.

Model of periodic eating frequency





Level 1

Figure 8.3 represents periodic covariation with eating frequency at Level 1 of the model and stable moderators of these relationships at Level 2. Relationships in this model are depicted using the format discussed for Figure 8.1, but with eating frequency (data drawn from the comparative consumption study) as the principal outcome. The presented model of eating frequency (periodic covariates and relevant moderators thereof) is less complex than the model derived for smoking frequency. Indications are that food consumption is associated with/driven by distinct mechanisms, in comparison with smoking (and this distinction may have implications for understanding differences between natural consumption behaviours and substance use). Eating frequency increases following periods of heavy drinking, and this trend is stronger for more surgent individuals. Within-period, increase in consumption frequency co-occur with increases in exposure to/awareness of others eating. In terms of direct moderation of consumption, more surgent individuals tend to eat with greater frequency, and those who have a stronger inclination towards dieting (individuals with both experience of dieting and current desire to diet) tend to eat less often.

Model of periodic urge to eat

Level 2



LEVELI

Figure 8.4 represents periodic covariation with food craving experiences (reflecting frequency, intensity, and duration of urges to eat) at Level 1 of the model and stable moderators of these relationships at Level 2. This model is parallel to the smoking-related model shown in Figure 8.2. Though identified relationships in these models are distinct, a notable commonality is the lack of association between craving and consumption behaviour in both smoking and eating. Food craving is greater in periods when exposure to others eating is greater, and is suppressed following periods of greater perceived stress. Moderating connections show that periodic craving experiences are more pronounced in those with high levels of BAS drive, and those who report more negative craving (urgent desire to eat and perception of food as an attenuator of negative mood) at baseline.

8.3.1 Parallels between periodic craving and smoking

The main outcomes examined in analyses of periodic smoking behaviour - smoking frequency and craving processes - do not appear to be directly related. This finding is consistent with previous research indicating that there is a weak link between craving and substance-seeking/consumption (Pickens & Johanson, 1992; Tiffany, 1995). This relationship might be stronger during periods of abstinence (Killen & Fortmann, 1997; Chapter 9), but appears epiphenomenal during everyday maintenance behaviour.

Though not associated with each other, craving and smoking frequency do both demonstrate positive association with period-concurrent alcohol consumption (the finding of a craving-alcohol link that was not evident in episodic analyses supports the notion that varying the temporality of process investigation can facilitate novel insights). It may be difficult to determine the directionality of reactivity in these contemporaneous relationships, but this finding shows consistency with evidence for the strong association between cigarette smoking and alcohol use (McClure *et al.*, 2002; Fertig & Allen., 1995). Recent research examining cross-sensitisation of alcohol and tobacco cravings found that alcohol cues elicited increased urge to smoke but not the reverse (Cooney *et al.*, 2003): this finding might offer some insight into the directionality of the presently observed alcohol-craving relationship, indicating that urges to smoke are more likely to emerge from alcohol consumption than the reverse. The lack of connection between smoking and craving means that this inference cannot be extended to the observed alcohol-smoking association.

Numerous studies have shown that alcohol consumption leads to acute increases in tobacco consumption, but little research has examined the reverse relationship (Drobes, 2001). Perkins *et al.* (2000) offered some indication that the reverse relationship may emerge, conditional on gender and an initial dose of alcohol: smoking increased responding to obtain alcohol after consumption of an alcohol "pre-load", but not before the pre-load and only in male smokers. The absence of gender moderation in the presently observed relationship, and the technical implication that alcohol consumption is more likely to drive smoking than the reverse in the initial stages of interaction, facilitates a tentative suggestion about directionality. The observed relationship is likely to emerge from drinking behaviour

in the first instance (as it is more likely to for craving) – although the consumption behaviours may well feedback to each other subsequently. Episodic analyses indicated that alcohol use enhances hedonic elevation when smoking. Alcohol consumption may drive smoking frequency by enhancing sensitivity to approachrelated mood (hedonic incentive salience). Through cross-sensitisation (Self, 1998), this kindling effect might be similar to reported effects of appetitive pre-dosing (e.g., Shaham *et al.*, 1997) – where a small pre-load of drug of choice primes repeated self-administration.

Smoking frequency and craving appear to be directly influenced by similar variability at the person-level. Variability reflecting dependence history and related perceptions was positively related to smoking frequency; variability reflecting dependence history and general craving was positively related to smoking urges. As smoking-specific traits are essentially summaries of high behavioural frequency and craving, these associations are perhaps not particularly insightful. However, relationships like this contribute to the validation of data collected - suggesting that the diary protocol did tap variability reflected in global reports with some accuracy. Furthermore, these findings reinforce the notion of consumption and craving processes having parallel influences despite a lack of inter-relationship. However, associations with alcohol consumption were moderated by different traits. Cravingalcohol reactivity was reduced in individuals who reported more perceived addiction. Smoking-alcohol reactivity showed sensitivity to numerous independent moderators: enhanced in individuals who were more reward responsive, but attenuated in those with greater approach drive, those with greater desire to stop smoking, and those with higher generalised craving.

The distinction in BAS-related moderation of this relationship is interesting, indicating that sensitivity to approach-related reward may encourage positive feedback between certain behaviours (i.e., experiencing one reward sensitises

another) whereas approach impetus might dispose a more general behavioural drive less reactive to contemporaneous influences. In the development of their BIS-BAS scales, Carver and White (1994) suggested that the specific nature and applicability of their four subscales would emerge over the course of future research. The present findings indicate that these subscales do have differential sensitivities that might be obscured (in measurement and interpretation) by the application of a summated BAS score. Notably, smoking frequency was not directly related to BAS. Low BAS individuals exhibited stronger incentive effects, but this did not apparently translate into more frequent behavioural activation However, without knowing the frequency of smoking preparations/incentive effects that did not lead to smoking, there is little reason to suggest that such an effect should be uncovered.

8.3.2 Contrasts with periodic food consumption

As in episodic comparisons, processes relating to eating and smoking appear quite distinct: both in terms of associations at the same temporal level and moderation by individual variability. One similarity is that urge and frequency of consumption did not covary with each other in either behaviour. Clearly there is not a complete correspondence between wanting and acting in either behaviour. This could reflect a U-function relationship with low and high frequency consumption positively related to craving. Some researchers have emphasised that urge is most pronounced when consumption is obstructed (Tiffany, 2000); yet it has also been shown that increased urge does accompany consumption when it occurs (episodic analyses). A further similarity is that (in both behaviours) urge and frequency were positively related to a third periodic variable despite their lack of inter-relationship: alcohol use in the case of smoking, and passive exposure in the case of food consumption.

Food consumption was not related to the salience of positive or negative hedonic experiences (concurrent or lagged), and this suggests that the sampled natural behaviour is less operative as a regulator of pleasure. Alcohol consumption - an activity associated with pleasant hedonic experiences (at least in current smoking data) - did predict eating frequency. However, the nature of this relationship wherein periods of more recurrent drinking were followed by periods of more recurrent eating - suggests that it may have more to do with physiological regulation than anything affective. The assessed divisions of periodicity make it unlikely that the alcohol-eating relationship reflects approach priming or general disinhibition of consumption behaviour by alcohol. Such a trend would be more likely to manifest as within-period covariation in the design that was implemented – as it did in periodic tests of an alcohol-smoking relationship. The predictability of consumption frequency by prior drinking is more likely reflective of attempts to counter a biological imbalance (replace nutrients, electrolytes, and water) caused by heavy drinking sessions.

8.3.3 Smoking and hedonic experience: periodic further to episodic regulation

Smoking may affect periodic hedonic experiences such that negative events are perceived as less unpleasant during periods when more smoking episodes occur. Furthermore, periods of high positive hedonic salience (when experiences are rated as most pleasant) are followed by less frequent smoking. This effect did not appear to result from inhibitory effects of over-consumption of cigarettes or alcohol in the preceding period: it emerged over and above the influence of prior smoking frequency and alcohol consumption. The observed lagged relationship suggests that smoking might be used to regulate hedonic experience over time, such that periods perceived as less intensely pleasurable might be counteracted subsequently by a period of heavier smoking. Framed another way, periods of intense pleasure might temporarily sate hedonic drive and motivate a reduction in subsequent smoking. Additionally, analyses of data from the quasi-interventional data indicated that periods of more frequent smoking were followed by ratings of greater happiness at the point of periodic recall.

Taken together, hedonic experiences in relation to smoking frequency appear somewhat consonant with effects observed in episodic analyses. These earlier analyses demonstrated that smoking cues/anticipation may be associated with increases in happiness, and that enhancement of hedonic tone may show a cumulative trend over the course of daily smoking. Present findings for periodic trends indicate reactivity between smoking behaviour and hedonic experiences that is supportive of an interpretation of episodic smoking in terms of mood regulation. Smoking behaviour tends to increase following periods of low hedonic value, and increased intake tends to enhance subsequent happiness (especially for those with a history of more severe smoking). Furthermore, smoking may help to limit the perceived anhedonic value of negative experiences occurring at temporal propinquity.

The relationship upon which the latter interpretation is based might also indicate that sampled smokers tended to smoke at times when their hedonic experiences were not markedly negative. Such behaviour might reflect an occasional pattern of smoking, wherein typical occasions are likely to be times of leisure (e.g., Shiffman *et al.*, 1994; Davies, Willner, & Morgan, 2000) when anhedonic experiences may be less pronounced. However, the fact that the relationship between smoking frequency and unpleasantness of experience was not moderated by dependence variability may undermine this interpretation. Indeed, conscientiousness – a marker of smoker status (see Chapter 7) – attenuated the observed relationship in a way that suggests this reactivity might serve partly to motivate smoking development/maintenance. Given the observed moderation, an interpretation in
terms of smoking to regulate hedonic value of concurrent negative experiences seems more probable – with less conscientious individuals more prone to using smoking as a modifier of experiential perceptions (such individuals may be less prepared for - and less direct/disciplined in their coping with - negative situations; Medvedova & Kovac, 2004).

8.4 Next chapter

Chapter 9 - the final results chapter – considers motivational differences between normal and abstinence smoking. Differences are investigated in both episodic and periodic experiences, so as to address important issues. For example, are lapses primed by the same hedonic elevation as normal smoking? Does current hedonic mood deteriorate after abstinence periods? These questions follow from models derived in preceding chapters, but it may be that different models operate during abstinence. Comparison of normal versus deprivation smoking in everyday situations has potential implications for better understanding relapse processes in cessation. Analyses in this chapter also facilitated understanding of trait factors that may moderate likelihood of lapsing and/or lapse frequency.

Chapter 9. Changes associated with abstinence

The preceding chapters (5, 6, and 8) have examined smoking-related experiences hierarchically in terms of both event-contingent and periodic processes. Analyses in these chapters derived from data collected during periods of everyday smoking - wherein participants were encouraged to behave as they would 'normally' (i.e., if they were not participating in a study). The present chapter examined data from the quasi-interventional diary study in order to compare processes identified in normal smoking with processes evident during abstinence.

Central findings from preceding chapters indicate that hedonic moderation is associated with everyday smoking behaviour - but not with desire to smoke - and that desire to smoke is not related to smoking frequency (although events are associated with acute changes in desire). These findings are somewhat incongruent with previous research (e.g., Parrott, 1998; although the literature is not consistent; Kassel *et al.*, 2003) and this disparity may reflect differences in methodological approach. An important divergence in this regard is that data in the present research came from ambulatory monitoring of normal smoking whereas previous studies have generally examined experiences in a state of deprivation (and typically in artificial environments)(Gilbert, 1995).

As the present chapter focuses on deprivation reports it might be expected that findings will be more reflective of research suggesting that smoking is related to stress, anger, and negative reinforcement. Similarly, desire to smoke may be more likely to demonstrate association with lapse episodes/frequency than with smoking during periods without obstruction/deprivation (Tiffany, 1995). Earlier findings indicated that these predictions might be mutually supportive, as desire – although not related to significant episodic changes in hedonic tone or energetic arousal – showed a positive association with tense arousal and anger/frustration. On the

other hand, current support for hedonic mechanics of motivation suggests that dimensional happiness-depression (and related pleasantness/unpleasantness of experience) is likely to be implicated in abstinence too. The finding in Chapter 8 that increased smoking frequency leads to increased interval happiness would suggest that encouraged abstinence periods (when smoking rate should be lower) will be marked by decreased happiness. It is less clear what the implications of hedonic smoking cueing (in normal behaviour) might be for smoking during encouraged abstinence: lapses might be more likely to occur when an individual is feeling happy, but they might also be cued by negative hedonic shifts – with smoking undertaken in an attempt to regain associated pleasure (e.g., Gilbert & Warburton, 2003). Again, other mood dimensions (such as tense arousal) might become operative too.

It is important to see whether episodic correlates of lapses are the same as those found in normal smoking, or whether certain factors become relatively more prominent in smoking during deprivation. If there are no differences between normal and abstinence episodes, findings for normal smoking cues and effects especially those that were shown to be more specific to smoking (not general consumption) - may be extrapolated to cessation and understanding of relapse. Such an extrapolation would suggest that smoking-specific associations/processes may become cues/motivations for reinstatement during abstinence. Similarly, periodic comparisons facilitate understanding of consistencies and differences between everyday experiences during smoking and everyday experiences during abstinence. Such an understanding has implications for coping strategies in relapse prevention. Furthermore, this chapter maintained the hierarchical approach to understanding behaviour that has characterised the present research - facilitating sophisticated sampling of abstinence experiences (Shiffman et al., 1997a). Available evidence indicates that the acute effects of abstinence should not vary greatly according to dependence level: inexperienced light smokers report the same

subjective effects of deprivation as heavier smokers (Riedel *et al.*, 2003). It may be that dependence-related individual differences in these effects emerge later in abstinence (after 1-2 weeks; Piasecki *et al.*, 1998).

9.1 Investigatory Perspectives

9.1.1 Periodic abstinence experiences and moderation

Mood and desire at interval

Modelling of fixed-interval data examined whether mood and desire (at interval) covaried with abstinence period (0 = present/preceding period of normal smoking, 1 = present/preceding period of encouraged abstinence). These relationships were initially analysed in a series of within-person (level 1) models, and subsequently extended at level 2 to examine person-level moderators as in previous chapters.

Other periodic experiences

Similar models were constructed to examine periodic changes during abstinence. The fixed-interval diary assessment was designed to record other experiences that have been implicated in motivation to smoke; these variables all reflect phenomena recalled over the duration of the preceding period/since the previous fixed assessment was completed. The following variables were entered into the level 1 abstinence model at this stage of analysis: Perceived Stress Scale score, craving (composite of frequency, intensity, and duration; a = .77), passive smoke exposure (separate scores for frequency, intensity, and duration), distractibility, pleasantness/unpleasantness of events, and caffeine/alcohol consumption. Significant relationships were subsequently tested for moderation by making the model conditional at level 2.

Smoking frequency ('lapses')

These analyses replicated the previous chapter's modelling of periodic covariation with smoking frequency (and relevant moderation), but utilising data from the abstinence periods only (64 level-1 units). In this way, these analyses sought to elucidate potential predictors/effects of 'lapsing' (the frequency of smoking during 24 hours of encouraged abstinence). Lapse frequency was modelled as a main effect of person level variability, and significant slopes for lapse frequency were also modelled as an outcome of person level variability.

9.1.2 Episodic 'lapse' experiences and moderation

Experiences associated with lapse versus normal smoking events

Modelling of episodic (level 1) variables examined covariation between episode status (0 = normal smoking, 1 = smoking during abstinence period) and other episodic variability. In this way they identified potentially telling differences between normal smoking and smoking during deprivation. These analyses were broken down into three conceptual components that might be considered to be in sequential order (possibly suggestive of serial causation): contextual cues, internal cues (pre-smoking mood and desire), and consumption-related lapse effects (intake variability and post-smoking mood and desire). Episodic variables investigated in these models were those examined in previous analyses of smoking events. All significant slopes were made conditional at level 2 to identify relevant moderation.

Direct moderators of lapse occurrence

A final stage of episodic modelling examined episode status as a main outcome of person-level variability. Analysis at this stage determined individual differences in the likelihood of lapsing relative to each individual's normal smoking rate. In this way these analyses gave an indication of trait markers of unreadiness to abstain that is not proportional to physical dependence/general smoking intensity. Thus, these analyses potentially tap information that may not be evident in preceding models of lapse frequency moderation.

9.2 Results

9.2.1 Periodic changes during abstinence and moderation

Mood and desire at interval

Table 9.1 shows all significant relationships between preceding period (0 = normal, 1 = abstinence) and current state (mood and desire at time of interval-contingent report). Person-level moderators are also shown in this table.

Table 9.1

Abstinence periods and subsequent internal state: Relationships and moderation

	Y10	Y11	t	p
Hedonic Tone	68		-3.72	.001
Tense Arousal	.85		4.67	<.001
Anger/Frustration	.47		3.06	.005
QSU Baseline Craving		.29	2.50	.02
Desire to smoke	1.10		5.11	<.001
BAS Drive		21	-2.05	.05

Note. Italicised variables are level-1 covariates with abstinence period (0 = normal moking, 1 = abstinence period). Moderators of level-1 covariation are shown indented without italics, immediately below relevant slopes. Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the columns labelled y10 and y11

Smokers tended to report greater tense arousal and anger at intervals following abstinence periods as compared with at intervals subsequent to normal smoking. Taking the relationship between tense arousal and period type as an example, the second row of Table 9.1 shows that the mean slope between tense arousal and abstinence was positive and significantly different from 0 (γ_{10} = .85, *t*= 4.67, *p* <.001). Smokers also reported decreased hedonic tone at intervals following abstinence versus normal smoking periods. Interval reports of energetic arousal did not differ between conditions. Participant records further indicated that - relative to experienced intensity at the end of normal smoking periods – urge to smoke was stronger after periods of encouraged abstinence.

In terms of moderation, smokers with higher levels of generalised craving had a stronger tendency to report frustration following abstinence versus normal periods. Also, BAS sensitivity attenuated desire reactivity: smokers with greater approach impetus were less likely to report elevated desire following periods of encouraged abstinence.

Other smoking-related periodic experiences

Table 9.2 shows all significant relationships between period type (0 = normal, 1 = abstinence) and concurrent experiences. Moderators of identified relationships are also presented in this table.

Та	Ы	e	9	•	2
----	---	---	---	---	---

	Y10	γ11	t	p
Craving	3.84		5.19	<.001
RTQ Dependence Score		3.03	2.69	.01
Passive Smoke Intensity	.94		2.35	.03

Abstinence periods and concurrent experiences: Relationships and moderation

Note. Italicised variables are level-1 covariates with abstinence period (0 = normal models models models normal models normal

Participant reports indicated that abstinence periods were marked by increased craving experiences (a reflection of the frequency, intensity, and duration of urges) relative to periods of normal smoking. It was also found that individuals tended to report a stronger awareness of other people's smoke over periods of encouraged abstinence.

In terms of moderation, craving reactivity to attempted abstinence was stronger for more physically dependent smokers. These individuals experienced greater craving during abstinence (relative to their normal experiences) than their less dependent counterparts.

Lapse frequency and related periodic experiences

Analyses of smoking frequency during abstinence periods indicated that lapse count did not covary with other periodic experiences except for subsequent happiness (γ_{10} =.25, t = 2.05, p =.05). Smoking more during abstinence periods tended to improve hedonic mood (as assessed at next interval). Cross-lagged analyses

indicated that happiness did not predict subsequent smoking frequency during abstinence.

Lapse frequency was moderated by dependence-related variability. Individuals with a history of heavier smoking tended to smoke more often during the abstinence period ($\gamma_{01} = .09$, t = 4.18, p < .001), as compared with those who had maintained a career of less-intensive smoking. Similarly, more 'lapses' were evident for those with greater physical dependence ($\gamma_{01} = .11$, t = 3.14, p = .004) and those who perceived themselves to be more addicted ($\gamma_{01} = .30$, t = 3.13, p = .004). However, these moderating effects were not independent of each other or of variability representing past high-frequency smoking – only heaviest smoking rate remained a significant moderator when any two of the three identified moderators were modelled together.

9.2.1 Episodic changes during abstinence and moderation

Internal state when smoking cued

Table 9.3 shows all significant relationships between lapse status (0 = normal episode, 1 = lapse episode) and pre-smoking changes in internal state (mood and desire). Moderators of identified relationships are also presented in this table.

Table 9.3

Lapse episodes and internal cues (changes from baseline to pre-smoking):

	Y10	Y11	t	p
Tense Arousal	.40		4.00	.001
Anger/Frustration	.51		3.89	.001
Agreeableness		.07	3.71	.001
Desire to smoke	.73		5.87	<.001
Heaviest Smoking Rate		.03	2.23	.04

Relationships and moderation

Note. Italicised variables are level-1 pre-smoking change-scores that covary with lapse status (0 = normal smoking episode, 1 = episode during abstinence period). Moderators of level-1 covariation are shown indented without italics, immediately below relevant slopes.

Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the columns labelled y10 and y11

Tense arousal and anger tended to be greater immediately before lapse episodes, as compared with mood cueing non-lapse episodes. Lapse status was not associated with pre-smoking hedonic tone or energetic arousal. With regard to craving, lapse episodes were cued in a stronger urge state: pre-smoking elevation of desire was reportedly greater during attempted abstinence than normal smoking.

In terms of moderation, more agreeable individuals demonstrated more marked differences in frustration between lapse and non-lapse episodes. These individuals may be less likely to experience anger under normal conditions, such that deprivation-prompted frustration is a particularly salient change for them. No other moderating relationships were uncovered for mood-lapse covariation. Smokers with a history of heavier consumption experienced stronger urge before lapse episodes (relative to normal episodes) than those who had smoked at a lower rate.

Activities and external context when smoking cued

Table 9.4 shows all significant relationships between lapse status and pre-smoking context. Moderators of identified relationships are also presented in this table.

Table 9.4

t р Y10 Y11 Post-Meal -2.90 .008 -.67 QSU Baseline Craving -3.83 .001 -.98 2.01 .003 Post-Sex 3.31 **QSU Baseline Craving** .65 6.09 <.001 Drinking Tea/Coffee .71 2.07 .05

Lapse episodes and situational context: Relationships and moderation

Note. Italicised variables are level-1 contextual variables that covary with lapse status (0 = normal smoking episode, 1 = episode during abstinence period). Moderators of level-1 covariation are shown indented without italics, immediately below relevant slopes.

Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the columns labelled $\gamma 10$ and $\gamma 11$

Compared with normal episodes, lapse episodes were less likely to occur after eating, and more likely to occur after sex and when drinking tea or coffee. No other activity states covaried with lapse events and lapse status was not associated with company or location variables.

In terms of moderation, smokers with higher levels of generalised craving had a stronger tendency to lapse after sex; these same individuals were less likely to lapse after food consumption.

Consumption-related lapse effects

Table 9.5 shows all significant relationships between lapse status and consummatory (pre- to post-smoking) effects. Moderators of identified relationships are also presented in this table.

Table 9.5

Lapse episodes and consumption effects (pre- to post-smoking changes/intake): Relationships and moderation

	Y10	Y11	t	p
Tense Arousal	65	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	-2.81	.009
Energetic Arousal	34		-3.09	.005
Smoke Inhalation	.21		2.81	.009
BAS Reward Responsiveness		.04	2.13	.04

Note. Italicised variables are level-1 consumption-related change-scores and intake measures that covary with lapse status (0 = normal smoking episode, 1 = episode during abstinence period). Moderators of level-1 covariation are shown indented without italics, immediately below relevant slopes. Mean unstandardised coefficients are in the columns labelled y10 and y11

Smokers experienced more stress reduction from smoking events during abstinence, as compared with normal smoking. However, they also experienced greater sluggishness following lapse episodes. No lapse relationships were found for other pre- to post-smoking mood changes or satiation of desire. A further finding was that smokers tended to inhale more deeply during lapse episodes, relative to their normal intake.

In terms of moderation, those who are more reward-responsive reported a stronger tendency to inhale deeply during lapse versus non-lapse episodes - suggesting that

they particularly savoured such (rewarding) events when their occurrence was limited. No other moderating relationships emerged.

Direct moderators of lapse occurrence

The only significant moderator of lapse occurrence was perceived addiction ($\gamma_{01} = .26, t = 2.71, p = .01$) - a marker of readiness to change. Individuals who saw themselves as dependent on smoking were more likely to smoke during the encouraged abstinence period, as compared with those who reported lower perceived dependence.

9.3 Discussion

With regard to the principal focus of this chapter, there were clear shifts in mood and other smoking-related experiences during deprivation (as compared with normal behaviour). Figure 9.1 shows the derived hierarchical model of periodic changes associated with abstinence. Figure 9.2 shows the derived hierarchical model of experiences particularly associated with lapse episodes as compared with normal smoking episodes. These models are discussed in detail in this section of the chapter, as they relate to findings in both the present research and previous literature. Sequentially, sub-sections consider deprivation-related changes in periodic experiences, deprivation-related changes in episodic experiences, and the predictability of lapsing.

Figure 9.1

Model of periodic changes during deprivation



Level 2

Figure 9.1 represents periodic changes at Level 1 of the model (below the dividing line) and stable moderators of these relationships at Level 2 (above the dividing line). Boxes with vertical arrows show changes during deprivation; the direction of these arrows indicates whether the specified variable increased or decreased during the abstinence period. For example, craving during abstinence periods was shown to increase, and current happiness (reported towards the end of abstinence periods) was shown to decrease. The exceptional variable in the model shown is lapse frequency: this was not examined as a change between normal and abstinence periods (i.e., as a covariate of period type). Relationships pertaining to this variable are derived from the abstinence data alone (smoking during normal periods was not defined as lapsing). The connection between lapse frequency and hedonic tone was shown to be temporally unidirectional in cross-lagged analyses, and this is represented graphically. The plus sign proximal to this connection shows that increases in lapse frequency are followed by increases in subsequent hedonic tone. Similarly, the direction of moderating relationships is shown by the symbols adjacent to connections from level 2 to level 1 variables. For example, the increase in anger during abstinence is greater for individuals who reported stronger craving at baseline.

Figure 9.2



Model of episodic changes during deprivation

Figure 9.2 represents episodic changes at Level 1 of the model and stable moderators at Level 2. At level 1, the shaded box represents the duration of lapse smoking; time is loosely conceptualised as advancing from left to right in this figure. Thus, variables shown to the left of the box depict presmoking contextual differences and variables to the right reflect post-smoking contextual differences. For example, lapse episodes were more likely to occur after sex (relative to normal episodes), and this is depicted by the positive variable-lapse connection. Similarly, lapse episodes were preceded by stronger urges (relative to normal episodes) and this is represented by the boxarrow attached to the graphical lapse representation – note the upward arrow indicative of increased urge in connection with lapse events. As in the previous figure, the direction of moderating relationships is shown by the symbols adjacent to connections from level 2 to level 1 variables. For example, the increase in inhalation during lapse smoking is attenuated for individuals who are higher in BAS reward sensitivity.

9.3.1 Periodic experiences during deprivation

Hedonic affectivity

Previous chapters have indicated that hedonic tone and (perhaps epiphenomenally) energetic arousal are the primary dimensions of mood associated with everyday smoking motivations. Hedonic tone *is* implicated in abstinence, and the relative depression of hedonic tone during periods of abstinence is consistent with theories suggesting that negative affect in withdrawal reflects the effects of a compensatory mechanism (Koob & LeMoal, 1997; Solomon & Corbit, 1974). Such a conceptualisation fits data indicating that withdrawal symptoms resemble the opposite of positive effects associated with smoking (Eissenberg, 2004a; 2004b). The nature of the presently uncovered relationship between period type and hedonic tone is further consonant with prior research (e.g., Wills & Shiffman, 1985; Breland *et al.*, 2004) in suggesting that mood is restored to normal levels after normal consumption is resumed. This is because modelling of relationships between period type and mood essentially tested the fit of an inverted-U function to mood at six fixed intervals.

Preceding chapters have found positive-incentive effects of smoking on hedonic mood. In light of this, the current results could be interpreted as indicative that smokers' general happiness may decline without the normal hedonic boosts associated with smoking episodes. In support of this, smoking more during abstinence periods (repeated lapses) led to relatively greater happiness at the next assessment interval, apparently protecting against the general dysphoria associated with abstinence. However, concomitant increases in general stress and anger support the notion that mood mechanisms involved in abstinence may also be somewhat independent of those implicated in maintenance (Kassel *et al.*, 2003) different dimensions could play a role in withdrawal/undermining acute attempts to abstain

Stress and annoyance

The difference in general anxiety between normal and abstinence periods provides the first evidence in the present research linking smoking to purported calming effects (Ikard *et al.*, 1969). Stress alleviation appears to emerge as an important smoking-motivational factor during abstinence attempts, and this is congruent with Parrott and Garnham's (1998) finding that smoking only had relaxing effects for deprived (versus non-deprived) smokers. Everyday smoking may become regulated such that withdrawal-related tension does not emerge as an episodic cue. Tense arousal is generally elevated during abstinence, suggesting that BIS-related affectivity responds to encouraged deprivation as a threat state (with smoking as an act of avoidance). Indeed, encouraged deprivation may present a situation where multiple competing goals are active (e.g., approaching smoking or avoiding 'withdrawal' versus avoiding perceived failure at the challenge of abstaining). The involvement of BIS-related affect in such goal-conflict scenarios is especially consistent with recent clarifications of RST (Gray & McNaughton, 2000; Corr, 2004).

Anger/frustration is more pronounced during deprivation and this could represent various mechanisms: anger is implicated in fight-flight responses to unconditioned withdrawal (Gray, 1994); as being closely related to anxiety and BIS sensitivity (Watson *et al.*, 1999); and as reflecting BAS sensitivity to frustrative nonreward (Harmon-Jones & Sigelman, 2001). The concept of frustrative nonreward may indeed represent complex interactions of the BIS and BAS (Carver, 2001). This experience was not moderated by individual variability, and appeared not to be specifically changed by lapse smoking – perhaps reflecting persistent frustration when rewards do not meet (deprivation-enhanced) expectations (Corr, 2002). In keeping with this argument, abstinence increases in anger were more pronounced for those who had greater baseline craving (an assessment of smoking

expectations). More generally, this finding bolsters support in the current research for association between frustrative mood and desire to smoke.

Considered together, the present mood-related results fully replicate findings from studies by Gilbert and colleagues (Gibert *et al.*, 1998; Gilbert *et al.*, 2002). These investigations found that anger, tension and depression increased significantly during abstinence. Interestingly, these investigations examined abstinence over 31 days, and found that initially observed mood disturbances did not resolve over this time. Applied to the present findings, this indicates that experiences captured in the encouraged abstinence period are valid representations of processes occurring in cessation – and that observed changes would be unlikely to return to preabstinence levels if normal smoking was not reinstated. Furthermore, previous findings for the temporal persistence of observed mood changes suggest that they are not simply manifestations of short-term physical withdrawal (Hughes *et al.*, 1990). Sustained mood disturbance points to the importance of smoking as a regulator of affective experiences.

Craving and smoking-related perceptions

As expected, desire/cravings to smoke appeared more pronounced during periods of attempted abstinence. The current results are consistent with theoretical suggestions that craving becomes a more conscious/non-automatic process when normal smoking patterns are disrupted (Tiffany, 1990). Such a shift would account for reported heightened perceptions of craving(s). The implications of these findings should not be over-emphasised however, as - within the current quasi-experimental paradigm – items relating to craving during abstinence may be particularly prone to the influence of perceived demand characteristics. The prediction that craving and smoking frequency might show greater association during deprivation was not supported in the present analyses. This at least is consistent with the majority of empirical research (Drummond, 2001), which has found that craving is not a

necessary pre-condition of relapse. It might be that the relationship between craving and smoking/lapsing is somewhat precipitous, such that periodic assessments are not well suited to capturing the association – episodic analyses in the present research show strong contemporaneous covariation. The relative elevation of current urge reports during abstinence was reduced for individuals with high BAS drive. This is consistent with other findings in the present research that suggest craving may be particularly context-insensitive and persistent in those with high levels of the BAS drive trait. BAS drive reflects the strength of approach impetus (Carver & White, 1994), and is largely independent of affective value and other potential modifiers of the approach goal value (Johnson et al., 2003). Given this, it seems reasonable that individuals who have high levels of the drive sub-trait are relatively constant in their urge to smoke: compared to low-drive individuals, their desire is not as reactive to deprivation - and this may partly reflect the theorised insensitivity to affective influences represented by the BAS drive trait (the clearest change between normal and deprivation states was an increase in negative mood). Since urge reports were not related to lapse frequency, it is not possible to conclude that individuals with high BAS drive are more able to resist lapsing during deprivation (by virtue of their relatively limited urge-increase in this condition). Indeed, to the extent that BAS drive moderates craving reactivity, those high in drive may be more susceptible in the longer-term: their desire to smoke might persist at the same levels long after cessation. In contrast, other people (lower in drive) may experience a sharp decline in desire after a short period of abstinence/withdrawal (just as they experienced a more pronounced response to its onset).

Reported perceptions of environmental smoke indicated a shift in sensory sensitivity between normal and reduced smoking states. As might be expected, the frequency and duration of exposure to others' smoke was not greater during periods of abstinence (indeed, it might have been predicted that subjects

attempting to abstain would avoid smoky environments/other smokers such that a negative association would emerge). Against this, the relationship between perceived intensity of passive smoke and abstinence suggests that smoking-related stimuli acquire greater saliency during deprivation, such that passive smoke (though encountered as often as during normal smoking, and over similar durations) becomes more noticeable.

9.3.2 Smoking episodes during deprivation

Internal cues associated with deprivation smoking

As in the analyses of fixed-intervals, anxiety and anger emerge as more important correlates of smoking motivation during abstinence. Here, these dimensions are directly implicated in the cueing of lapse episodes – further to findings for more general increases in stress and irritability during abstinence. However, hedonic tone and energetic arousal did not differ between lapse and normal smoking episodes, suggesting that pre-smoking happiness and alertness are consistently elevated, on average, across episodes. Lapses appear to be cued in incentive states similar to non-lapse smoking events - despite the background of impaired mood during deprivation (increased periodic and episodic anger/ tense arousal, decreased periodic hedonic tone). There is evidence therefore for the lapse-precipitating implications of earlier incentive-sensitisation findings: the prediction being that extreme experiences of happiness and/or energetic arousal could cue relapse to smoking, both short- and long-term. Periodic findings assist interpretation of episodic findings: anger and tense arousal are generally increased by deprivation (perhaps reflecting unconditioned withdrawal effects), but pre-lapse reports of hedonic tone and energetic arousal evince that incentive motivation remains an acute anticipatory cue for smoking. The hedonic component of pre-lapse mood is likely to be particularly strong, as it emerges against a background of depressed hedonic tone (at the periodic level). Incentive-prompted lapsing may be a clearer

trend after initial unconditioned withdrawal experiences have subsided (i.e., after the period assessed in this study).

Pre-smoking craving was greater in lapse episodes, relative to normal episodes. Taken together with pre-lapse anger and tension, this finding appears to support the indications of previous analyses (chapter 5) that urge to smoke is more closely related to certain negative affective experiences and that this cluster of phenomena (frustration-stress-desire) might be more pronounced during deprivation. Lapserelated urge was most elevated over normal smoking urge for those with a history of more severe smoking – consistent with evidence that symptom intensity correlates with an individual's habitual intake (Hatsukami, Hughes, & Pickens, 1985a; 1985b). Anger experiences were independently moderated by agreeableness in the current results. Trait agreeableness is not theorised to generate affectivity directly, but is likely to reflect a behavioural style that is marked by particular moods. Zillig and colleagues (2002) analysed the affective processes reflected by the Big 5 personality traits and found that the strongest affective component of agreeableness was the sub-trait of tender-mindedness. It can be inferred from this that more compliant individuals are less likely to get angry with situations generally, such that abstinence-related frustration is relatively more pronounced in these people.

Contextual cues associated with deprivation smoking

Lapse episodes recorded in the present study did not differ from other smoking episodes in terms of where the subject was, and whether they were alone or with others (smokers or non-smokers). Lapse episodes also occurred across a similar range of activities, but they were particularly associated with drinking tea or coffee, and being in a state subsequent to sexual activity. These conditions have been defined as rewarding and possessing positive hedonic value (Hoebel, 1988, Bozarth, 1994). Consequently, the observed relationships with lapse likelihood

might perhaps be interpreted as reflecting cross-reward sensitisation or priming (pleasure gained from these activity states could represent a strong cue for smoking since it has been established that hedonic elevation is associated with smoking). The related, mutually-complimentary behaviours (sex, smoking, drinking tea or coffee) may have developed specific behavioural contingencies such that doing one produces disinhibitory impulses to do another. These findings provide the first support in the present research for literature documenting behavioural associations between tea/coffee consumption and smoking (Marshall *et al.*, 1980; Rose, 1986).

Interestingly, another activity-state related to reward (e.g., Shinohara *et al.*, 2004) – being in a post-consumption state – demonstrated an independent opposite association with lapse likelihood. This might imply that eating could be experienced as a substitute activity for smoking - consistent with the notion that abstinencerelated negative affect and appetite increase are partly mediated by common mechanisms (Spring *et al.*, 1991; Gilbert, 1995) - such that the temptation to lapse is temporarily suspended following food consumption. Taken with evidence for the appetite-suppressing effects of nicotine (Arcavi *et al.*, 1994) and increased appetite during abstinence (Gilbert *et al.*, 2002), this could help to explain trends towards snacking and weight gain following smoking cessation (Williamson *et al.*, 1991). That the negative relationship between lapsing and being in a post-consumption state was stronger for individuals with higher generalised craving further suggests that desire to perform one behaviour might be sated by performing a substitute behaviour.

The identified potential lapse cues are further to those that did not differ between smoking events (lapse versus non-lapse), but do differ between smoking events and other consumption events (chapter 8). Situations that are particularly associated with smoking behaviour/being a smoker might also become triggers for

relapse - without being relatively more prominent in lapse events. For example, alcohol consumption accompanied 13% of lapse episodes and 10% of normal smoking episodes; alcohol consumption was not significantly more associated with either event-type, but rather was a prevalent cue for both. This conclusion was supported by comparisons with eating behaviour (as a control consumption experience), which found that normal smoking events (and by extension, lapse smoking events) were particularly associated with drinking alcohol – alcohol consumption only accompanied 1% of eating events. Given the proportional frequency that smoking occurs with drinking of alcohol, and that this proportion is carried over into lapsing, it is evident that these behaviours are linked and that alcohol could be a potent episodic trigger for smoking (although periodic alcohol consumption and lapse frequency were not found to be related).

Consumption effects of deprivation smoking

Relative to normal smoking, lapse events were shown to have greater direct (consumption-related) effects on mood. More specifically, the act of smoking attenuated anxiety and concurrently decreased alertness. The finding for stressrelieving effects of smoking is consonant with previous laboratory research (e.g., West, 1993; Pomerleau & Pomerleau, 1991), but only emerged during abstinence when pre-smoking stress was elevated. Studies using stress induction have demonstrated some of the biggest effects for anxiolytic smoking (Parrott, 1998). The finding that smoking during abstinence is associated with subsequent tiredness is not consistent with evidence in the literature that pre to post-smoking changes after deprivation should show particular elevation of alertness (Church, 1989; Perkins *et al.*, 1992). Some studies have found opposite effects – decreases in arousal (Newhouse *et al.*, 1990; Perkins *et al.*, 1993) – but these studies used large nicotine doses that may have pushed beyond the peak of the inverted-U curve for arousal (Parrott, 1992; Eysenck, 1973). Finally, the current finding that smoke intake was greater in lapse versus normal smoking episodes appears consistent with the urgency and reduced frequency of episodes during encouraged abstinence. The trend in lapse self-report towards deeper physical inhalation of smoke corroborates the notion that experiences in the quasi-intervention study reflect deprivation. Ahijeyth and colleagues (2004) have previously observed that smokers attempt to compensate for deprivation by increasing inhalation. Individuals with greater BAS reward sensitivity had a stronger tendency to inhale more deeply during lapse episodes. These individuals may be attempting to counteract the reduced frequency of smoking. It has already been observed that hedonic incentive effects are reduced in individuals with greater reward responsiveness: during deprivation, when hedonic tone is generally depressed, these individuals may be more sensitive to the limited hedonic effects they receive from smoking, and so try to compensate by modifying their physical intake (deeper inhalation in the few episodes that do occur).

9.3.3 Lapse predictability

Lapse Frequency

As expected, the frequency of lapsing during deprivation tends to be greater for those who demonstrate greater dependence (Killen *et al.*, 1992; Edwards, 1986). Taken with the lack of individual variability in other deprivation experiences, this would suggest that withdrawal/abstinence has a generalised effect (relatively insensitive to personality), and that dependence moderates response to this experience. That is, those who have more experience of withdrawal seem to become more intolerant to it (perhaps reflecting more learning that smoking is the best method of escaping; Baker et al., 2004a), such that they smoke more frequently in response. However, due to the voluntary (but not self-directed) nature of deprivation, it is difficult to tell how informative 'lapse' frequency might be

(whereas other experiences early in deprivation have been shown to have long-term implications; Gilbert et al., 1998; Killen & Fortmann, 1997).

Markedly, smoking frequency during abstinence was seemingly insensitive to other periodic variability - lapses might best be understood in terms of their episodic context and correlates, as momentary mechanisms (Brownell et al., 1986). However, an episodic focus on lapsing may implicitly construe such events as unpredictable reactions to immediate stimuli (Shiffman, 1989). By examining more general temporal processes and predictive moderation of responses by individual variability, the present approach at least allowed for understanding of behaviour beyond contemporaneous associations (a basic stimulus-response approach). Future research might apply this approach to long-term cessation attempts and find that lapses in this context (with motivated quitters rather than volunteer short-term abstainers) are systematically related to periodic experiences and higher-level dispositions that are not smoker-specific (and thus somewhat circular in their application). On the other hand, it might well be that lapses are best understood at the episodic level (e.g., Shiffman & Waters, 2004; Shiffman et al., 1996), as acute processes in reaction to contextual changes, such that findings in the present chapter are indicative of true withdrawal mechanisms and perhaps even longerterm relapse. The fact that lapses can occur long after cessation (Somoza et al., 1995) may support the notion that suddenly arising stimuli combinations can trigger smoking.

The present chapter has shown that, relative to normal smoking events, lapses are particularly associated with increased stress, anger, dysphoria, and specific activity states. The relative depression of hedonic mood captured in lapse episodes (as compared with normal smoking) could be a particularly significant experience, as the only recorded effect of lapse frequency was elevation of subsequent happiness. Hedonic motivation has potential as a common link between episodic and periodic

lapse experiences: although pre-smoking hedonic elevation is attenuated in lapse events, effects of smoking still seemed sufficient to boost subsequent mood (as assessed at interval).

Lapse events

The likelihood of lapsing over an acute period of encouraged abstinence was largely not predicted by the person-level variables under test. Tellingly, those who believed themselves to be most dependent on smoking were most likely to 'lapse'. This may represent a self-awareness of inability to withstand short-term withdrawal effects, but is also likely to reflect an attitudinal bias that would undermine any attempt to abstain for the purposes of this study. This latter notion is not completely supported however: lapse occurrence was not predicted by differences in desire to stop smoking or confidence in ability to stop smoking. These variables should have tapped into the kind of attitudinal bias under discussion (unwillingness to abstain, or lack of belief in readiness to abstain), but it could be that subjects with such a bias would be more likely to attribute their unwillingness to change to addiction (beyond their control) than to more self-implicating markers – and score associated scales accordingly. The lack of association between episodic lapse incidence and dependence score/heaviest rate points to different implications of episodic moderation as compared with periodic moderation of lapse frequency (discussed previously). Lapse status as an outcome reflects lapse frequency in relation to normal episodic frequency. Therefore, markers of dependence are unlikely to moderate this outcome: heavier smokers may smoke more during the abstinence period, but they also tend to smoke more during other periods. The observed moderation by perceived addiction thus represents a propensity to relapse that is out of proportion with normal smoking rate. These individuals may have been less able to endure acute withdrawal effects due to some unmeasured trait(s) reflected in their own perceived smoking compulsion. But Perceived addiction may rather reflect a lack of self-belief or willingness to attempt/test abstinence ability.

Chapter 10. General Discussion

The present thesis focused on the motivational relationship between mood and smoking. Uniquely, this relationship was investigated in an interactive framework examining: (1) its association with natural contextual variability; and (2) its moderation by theoretically relevant individual differences (principally BIS-BAS). Comparisons of everyday smoking behaviour with an appetitive behaviour facilitated preliminary understanding of how the motivational model for smoking contrasts with a parallel model for natural reward-consumption (eating behaviour). Similarly, assessment of experiences during restricted smoking behaviour identified important deprivation-conditional modification of motivational states.

This chapter discusses the main findings of the research and considers their implications for models of mood and personality, further to insights gained about smoking motivation.

10.1 Central questions answered

Discussion in this section is structured around the central questions posed in the first chapter:

- Are everyday smoking episodes associated with mood alteration, and is this relationship influenced by situation and/or personality?
- 2) Are there more distal/gradual processes (over the course of a day) that influence smoking rate and/or the desire to smoke?

- 3) Do processes identified for smoking behaviour generalise to natural appetitive behaviour?
- 4) How do processes identified for normal smoking behaviour change during deprivation/abstinence?

Question 1: Episodic smoking motivation

Smoking episodes are preceded by elevated hedonic tone and energetic arousal; mood is not additionally modified by smoking consumption. The implication is that the hedonic effects of smoking initially emerge in predictive/anticipatory processes rather than as a result of consumption. Importantly, this finding suggests that, for a theoretical model to be considered consistent with the experiences uncovered presently, hedonic incentive-sensitisation should be incorporated as a central motivation. Situational context (e.g., socialising) modifies the mood elevation associated with smoking episodes. However, the episodic experience of craving is independent of operative mood changes.

Episodic smoking experiences are shown to vary across persons according to their trait dispositions. Individuals low in approach-reward sensitivity experience greater incentive effects from smoking. These individuals also showed a tendency towards negative hedonic reinforcement in their normal smoking patterns. Although a general model of motivation was derived, an important finding of the present research is that individuals may tend towards different motivational experiences – and that this individual variability may be systematically reflected in trait measures (such as BAS sensitivity).

Question 2: Periodic smoking motivation

Analyses uncovered motivational sequences (over the course of a day) that show much congruence with episodic findings. The primary implication of episodic findings for more general experiences is that smoking should help to regulate hedonic experiences. Periodic analyses showed that times when experiences were less intensely pleasurable were followed by times of more frequent smoking, but the reverse was not true. Smokers might be motivated by a perceived lack of hedonic excitement to later seek stimulation through smoking. A related finding was that periods when participants smoked more were also periods when they perceived unpleasant events to be less salient. Furthermore, smoking frequency predicted subsequent mood: periods of more intensive smoking led to reports of elevated hedonic tone, but not the reverse. Considered in conjunction with episodic findings, the emergent impression is one of smoking as a hedonic regulator, but with a stronger inference that regulation can be driven by gradual motivation - and does not simply reflect responses to immediate external and internal state. Preceding experiences can be seen as motivation setters, modulating sensitivity to acute cues for smoking.

Notably, periodic craving experiences and consumption frequency were not related. This was not an unexpected finding, in light of previous research (Tiffany, 1997). It does, however, bolster conclusions drawn from episodic analyses. Observed episodic mood changes – appetitive increases in hedonic tone and energetic arousal – were not related to parallel craving changes. A possible interpretation of this finding is that it devalues the importance of pre-smoking mood changes as markers of smoking and related processes. Furthermore, if the patterns of mood change are truly reflective of incentive-sensitisation motivation, it might be expected that concurrent urge reports should be closely related manifestations of the proposed "wanting" process (Robinson & Berridge, 2001). However, the lack of relationship

between smoking frequency and craving over time suggests that measures of urge may not be critical indicators of behaviour - a notion consonant with the aforementioned literature. A U function might obscure relationships at the periodic level: high craving in periods of high consumption (multiple pre-smoking elevations) but also when obstructed/in periods of low consumption. In contrast, smoking frequency demonstrated sensitivity to various measures of hedonic experience. Clearly, variability with motivational implications may be independent of urge variability.

Question 3: Comparison with natural consumption

Comparisons with natural consumption behaviour indicated that motivations for natural appetitive rewards differ considerably from those for acquired addictive behaviour. Anticipatory elevation of hedonic tone was isolated as an experience particular to smoking. Furthermore, smoking episodes were associated with particular contexts (relative to natural consumption behaviour), and these were largely contexts that increased pre-smoking hedonic elevation. Similarly, comparisons across periodic data indicated that smoking frequency relates to the intensity of hedonic experience, but natural consumption does not. This may imply that hedonic regulation is an important motivation in substance use and dysfunctional consumption behaviour. Notably, indices of craving and consumption were not related in either behaviour.

Furthermore, the role of personality differed between behaviours. There were more individual differences in smoking- versus eating-related experiences. This was likely a consequence of the different models of episodic mood change. For example, the absence of hedonic reactivity in natural consumption may limit the potential influence of BAS sensitivity. However, the reinforcing nature of food stimuli and involvement of BAS-associated mood (energetic arousal) points to possible

influences of personality in more disparate groups (i.e., those with eating disorders) that may parallel observed moderation of smoking. The distinct interaction of personality and behaviour discerned between the compared behaviours may reflect differences between functional and addictive behaviour-types.

Question 4: Deprivation smoking motivation

The reviewed affective processes (episodic and periodic) were implicated (if not instrumental) in abstinence experiences/lapsing as in smoking. However, it was also found that relationships manifest in deprivation that are dormant in normal smoking. Although the quasi-interventional study only examined a period of acute abstinence, when physiological withdrawal may figure prominently, the affective experiences related to withdrawal have been found to persist beyond this (Gilbert *et al.*, 2002). Such findings suggest that presently identified abstinence experiences may be indicators of long-term cessation experiences/risk factors for relapse.

Abstinence was characterised by increased tense arousal and anger – suggestive of avoidance motivation (mediated by the BIS) and frustrative non-reward. However, smoking episodes during abstinence (lapses) were still preceded by hedonic elevation – a marked effect given that hedonic tone was depressed during deprivation (periodic analyses), suggesting that incentive effects may be especially salient in this state.

A recent study demonstrated that conditioned cues can even be more effective at reinstating smoking than a priming dose of nicotine itself (Caggiula *et al.*, 2001). Such a finding is consistent with the theory of incentive-sensitisation motivation, and serves as a reminder that models influencing the learning and maintenance of a behaviour are further implicated in attempts to discontinue behaviour.

Evidence suggests that craving is "the most salient, frequent, and disconcerting feature of cigarette abstinence" (Tiffany, Cox, & Elash, 2000). In line with this, desire was shown to be particularly elevated during abstinence periods, and this heightened urge state was also evident in episodic pre-smoking reports and recall of recent craving experiences (frequency, intensity, and duration). This finding supports the notion that craving is more perceptually engaging – and possibly, cognitively demanding – when smoking is obstructed (Tiffany, 1997).

Emergent implications

These answers to the central questions of the thesis raise a number of important theoretical implications for models of mood regulation in substance use, the distinction between natural and non-natural/substance consumption, and the role of personality. The following three sections discuss these implications in greater detail. Subsequently, the final two sections consider limitations and contributions of the research and summarise the conclusions of the thesis.

10.2 Implications for models of motivation

At the episodic level, smoking events were preceded by elevation of hedonic tone (above background levels). Hedonic tone was not further elevated after smoking, suggesting that there were no direct effects of consumption per se. With respect to potential models of motivational mood changes (Zinser *et al.*, 1999), this finding supported the incentive-sensitisation account.

Incentive-sensitisation theory (e.g., Lyvers, 1998; Robinson & Berridge, 1993; Stewart *et al.*, 1984) suggests that the reinforcing value of a rewarding behaviour is not related to its direct hedonic impact. For example, drug-taking behaviour can be maintained when subjective hedonic effects of consumption are absent (Fischman & Foltin, 1991). The present research supported this notion, finding that such consummatory effects were typically absent in smoking behaviour: hedonic reactions to unconditioned reward ('liking'; Berridge & Valenstein, 1991) are unlikely to drive consumption behaviour. The incentive sensitisation theory posits that behaviour is instead motivated by the incentive value of associated stimuli and/or expectation (Siegel, 1988). Such motivation is theoretically manipulated in activation of the behavioural approach system (Zinser *et al.*, 1999; Robinson & Berridge, 1993). The present research supported this notion too; finding that approach related affect (hedonic tone and energetic arousal) was elevated before smoking – and this was partly moderated by approach-trait variability.

Clearly, the present methods do not allow the notional processes underlying incentive-sensitisation theory to be tested. For example, prospective research is required to determine whether initial positive effects of smoking transfer associatively to predictive states and become sensitised whilst tolerance develops to direct (unconditioned) effects. Rather, it can be said that the present findings are more congruent with the incentive-sensitisation interpretation than available others. The implications of this congruency can then be extended according to evidence supporting the existence of an incentive-sensitisation mechanism – or indeed evidence that accurately attributes the appearance of an incentivesensitisation pattern to real underlying processes.

Compatibility with the Incentive-Sensitisation model?

Two possible issues with the theory remain (though they concern secondary tenets). Firstly, Robinson and Berridge's theory posits that incentive salience attribution should correspond with the extent to which a reward is "wanted" or craved. Results from this thesis show that the urge to smoke is not related to approach mood changes. Urge, energetic arousal and hedonic tone were all elevated before smoking, but the degree of urge elevation was independent of concurrent positive mood changes. This finding – support for the incentive sensitisation model of affective activation, but absence of relationship with craving - actually replicates that of Zinser and colleagues (1999). Pertinently, Carter and Tiffany (2001) also reported that although positive affect and urge increase before smoking, they do not do so in correlation (rather, urge is positively associated with increases in negative affect). Notably, these experimental studies differed from other laboratory work in that they attempted to approximate naturalistic smoking availability. Zinser et al. (1999) concluded that urge self-reports are an unreliable index of approach motivation, and that the importance of craving may be overemphasised in the model formulated by Berridge and Robinson (2001). This conclusion receives support from research that has demonstrated the weakness of urge-smoking predictability (e.g., Tiffany, 1990; Perkins et al., 1997) – a finding recurrent in the present research. Considering the heterogeneity of craving (e.g., Toneatto, 1999) it is perhaps not surprising that variability in this construct did not simply index other approach-related experiences.

The second issue is not an incongruency with the theory, but rather an acknowledgement that the self-report methodology applied in the present research is not considered by Robinson and Berridge to be the most appropriate approach to testing their theory (e.g., Robinson & Berridge, 1995). This is because the theory posits that incentive motivations can sometimes be implicit or unconscious (Berridge, 1999). Actually, this issue might have some bearing on the previously

discussed incongruity: self-reported urge might be an unreliable indicator of wanting, as some information might be lost in the translation from implicit activation to explicit interpretation (Le Doux, 1996; Berridge & Robinson, 1998). Though the theory allows for conscious access to processes that might normally be unconsciously automated, it warns that subjective feelings are secondary indicators of underlying shifts (Robinson & Berridge, 2000). The presently adopted diary design represents a self-report protocol that may have been more suited than most to assessing approach related motivations. Participants are not asked to consciously connect events to mood responses - as they might be in global reports - rather, current-state assessments are made at critical junctures and processes inferred from analysis of change scores; participants do not have to interpret their own motivations (Baker et al., 2004b). Assessments were intended to minimise any interruption of ongoing processes: sampling is brief, and participants are instructed to give their initial responses. Moreover, the diary design takes repeated snapshots of subjective state across various naturally occurring smoking situations. This should facilitate more reliable assessments of experience than one-off laboratory or recall-based questionnaire measures - and could compensate somewhat for the purported unreliability of self-report. Furthermore, the fact that feelings are assessed contiguously to smoking should ensure that that reports tap the theoretically relevant processes (Zinser et al., 1999).

Interpretation

It should be stressed that the present research does not constitute a definitive test of the main motivational models as they apply to smoking. It is likely that the models considered are not mutually exclusive, and may be relatively more or less evident in individuals according to their personality and stage of smoking development/change. This is a notion supported by modelling that found the tendency to experience particular patterns of mood-smoking (incentivesensitisation, appetitive-incentive, or associative-withdrawal) was moderated by

personality. However, the present findings do indicate an overall trend that fits the incentive-sensitisation model better than other models originally compared – and this is consonant with research applying a variety of different experimental methodologies (Balfour, 2003; Zinser *et al.*, 1999; Donny *et al.*, 2003).

A key condition of the association between smoking and pre-act hedonic boosts seems to be the expectation that smoking intentions will be implemented. Deprivation is another condition that may modify the extent to which this association is apparent: low deprivation permits examination of normal smokingrelated changes without withdrawal/obstruction related affectivity that may obscure positive hedonic motivation. The evidence for this partly comes from previous research: studies have typically investigated smoking during deprivation and/or without expectation to smoke (Dols et al., 2000; Gilbert, 1995); this research (though inconsistent - Kassel et al., 2003) tends to suggest that negative mood changes prime smoking (Dobbs et al., 1981; Payne et al., 1991); some recent studies demonstrate that, when smokers are able to smoke (and have not been restricted prior to testing), cueing of smoking is more likely to involve positive mood (Sayette et al., 2003; Carter & Tiffany, 1999; Shapiro et al., 2002). Further evidence for this conditional association derives from the present research: presmoking hedonic elevation was shown in everyday behaviour when participants were preparing to smoke (intention with subsequent implementation); pre-smoking hedonic elevation remained apparent when participants attempted to restrict their smoking (i.e., between intention and implementation of lapses); but deprivation, and the pre-lapse state, were also marked by greater negative affectivity (dimensional anger and tense arousal).

Taken together, it is clear that the current research builds on a body of work that has looked at smoking under more naturalistic conditions (in environments where smoking is permitted, and without interventional deprivation), and found that
smoking may be associated with hedonic expectations and pleasure-related contexts (Mucha *et al.*, 1999; Huston-Lyons & Kornetsky, 1992; Shapiro *et al.*, 2002; Zinser *et al.*, 1999). The present research (specifically, the quasiinterventional study) also demonstrated how different affective processes may emerge in the motivation of smoking after abstinence/when encouraged not to (e.g., Kassel *et al.*, 2003). These processes are more consistent with literature supporting negative reinforcement in episodic smoking (e.g., Hutchison, Niaura, & Swift, 1999) - with the implication that findings reflect methodological approach and are discussed in the next sub-section.

Reconciling reinforcement processes during normal versus deprivation smoking How might deprivation effects be integrated with incentive cueing of smoking? During normal smoking behaviour, anxiety does not appear to be a key component of motivation, but it emerges as being more prominent during deprivation: a pattern of negative reinforcement is suggested, with increased anxiety cueing smoking, and smoking ameliorating anxiety. How is this accounted for within the incentive-sensitisation account that has been supported thusfar (Robinson & Berridge, 1993)? It could be that anxiety emerges through unconditioned physiological withdrawal (e.g., Gold, Washton, & Dackis, 1985) - consistent with apparent direct attenuation by nicotine consumption (versus incentive effects). Unconditioned withdrawal would not be expected to be associatively reinforced. It might further be that anxiety is a secondary learning experience, a response to reduced reward sensitivity during deprivation experiences such that it becomes a conditioned cue of punishment avoidance – with smoking as the motivated avoidance behaviour. The co-occurrence of anxiety and hedonic elevation before lapse episodes is consistent with incentive-sensitisation theory (Piazza & Le Moal, 1998): tense arousal (as induced during abstinence) should increase the incentive salience of smoking cues.

An alternative view (Baker et al., 2004b) is that negative affect/anxiety is the prototypic setting occurrence for substance use and lapse events. In this view, withdrawal experiences occur from very early in smoking experimentation, such that each smoking episode after the first strengthens negative reinforcement of withdrawal anxiety – producing learning that smoking provides expeditious alleviation of aversive affect. This association is theorised to become preconsciously automated, with smoking events occurring before negative affect becomes prominent. The exception to this is when smoking is obstructed (as in a deprivation intervention): anxiety mounts, enters consciousness, and biases information processing towards drug-seeking. Baker and colleagues suggest (2004a) that smoking to avoid negative affect increases the positive incentive value of use. In this way, during normal smoking, behaviour may seem driven by approach affectivity. Thus, this theory also accommodates present observations of both positive incentive effects (normal smoking) and negative reinforcement (deprivation). In the future, carefully controlled research may be required to test this very recent redevelopment of negative reinforcement theory (proposing to account for positive incentive effects) against incentive-sensitisation theory. The different underlying processes are likely to only be observable very early in the acquisition of behaviour.

10.3 Implications of distinction from natural consumption

It may be inferred from comparison data that processes relating to smoking behaviour are distinct from those in natural consumption behaviour. Tables 10.1 and 10.2 present the main comparative findings for episodic and periodic motivation respectively. This section attempts to interpret these differences: why might models of motivation differ between the observed behaviours, and what are the ramifications of this divergence?

290

-

Table 10.1

Smoking Episodes	Eating Episodes
Anticipatory elevation of hedonic tone	
ا Anticipatory elevation of energetic arousal	
	Consummatory elevation of energetic
	arousal
Incentive-sensitisation pattern of mood	Appetitive-incentive pattern of mood
changes	changes
Relative tendency to occur in social	Relative tendency to occur at home; when
locations; whilst active; with alcohol	resting; whilst working/studying.
consumption.	
ا Inverted-U function of desire to consume/craving	
Anticipatory desire increases with tense	Anticipatory desire only relates to content
arousal and anger and in particular contexts	of consumption (i.e., selected food
(social locations, after sex).	groups).

Episodic processes between behaviours

Table 10.2

Periodic processes between behaviours

Smoking	Eating
Smoke more frequently within periods of	Eat more frequently after periods of
heavy drinking (reactive)	heavy drinking (restorative)
Smoke more frequently after periods of low-	Eating frequency unrelated to periodic
intensity pleasure. Unpleasant experiences	hedonic experiences (current or lagged).
less intense during periods of more smoking.	

Consumption frequency and craving experiences unrelated (though share some correlates).

Markers for addictive/dysfunctional behaviour

Experiential differences between smoking and natural appetitive behaviour could represent markers for problem behaviour/dependence. For example, comparisons indicated that smoking is motivated by pleasure motivations that are not present in the natural appetitive impetus towards food consumption. A tentative generalisation from this is that hedonic incentive effects may be particularly associated with behaviours like drug use and gambling as compared with more functional behaviours. It might also be that compulsive patterns of eating behaviour develop in individuals who experience hedonic priming of food consumption. Participants sampled in the present research were within the normal BMI range and seemed to have normal attitudes towards eating; it would be interesting to see how eating episodes differ in individuals with abnormal consumption attitudes and behaviours and specifically, to observe whether hedonic experiences play a greater role. Models of dysfunctional eating behaviour may resemble those identified for smoking more closely (Carter & Bulik, 1994; Staiger, Dawe, & McCarthy, 2000). This approach to interpreting differences between behaviours suggests that eating helps to regulate physiological arousal: expectations and taste effects relate to elevation of energetic arousal and consumption increases after periods of heavier alcohol use (suggesting functional use of eating to replenish and reenergise).

Do apparent motivational differences simply reflect situational differences? Smoking tended to occur when happiness was elevated, and happiness was elevated in particular situations: in social venues, with other people, when drinking alcohol and after performing other rewarding behaviours (sex and eating). Furthermore, smoking was particularly associated with three specific states (relative to eating episodes) and two of these states were contexts associated with enhanced pre-smoking happiness: (1) being in social venues and (2) drinking alcohol. Evidence suggests therefore that smoking is more likely to occur in situations that are associated with hedonic elevation. This is consistent with recent

research showing that smoking cues tend to be appetitive and rated as pleasant (Bushnell *et al.*, 2000; Mucha *et al.*, 1998; Mogg *et al.*, 2003). An inferential pathway that might follow from this is that smoking is triggered in particular contexts, these contexts are pleasurable (elevate hedonic tone), hence smoking appears to be associated with hedonic effects – but such effects are actually an epiphenomenon of smoking-context associations.

The key issue here is really about the generality of hedonic effects. Hedonic associations with smoking could develop through secondary conditioning (smoking to external context, external context to mood), but still become associated with smoking such that hedonic regulation emerges independently of specific situational contingencies (Gewirtz & Davis, 1998). Clearly, the development of a general mood-smoking link has greater implications than mood-smoking correlations that are simply reflective of particular contextual associations. For example, the latter interpretation would suggest that avoidance of identified situations (e.g., drinking alcohol) would do much to extinguish cueing, whereas the former interpretation suggests that smoking might be cued by mood changes in any situation (potential trigger feelings transcend situations identified for avoidance). Present data suggested that smoking episodes are elicited in pleasurable contexts, but hedonic incentive effects in smoking were not explained by any combination of such contexts (hedonic variance remained significant when identified pleasurable contexts were entered as covariates). A possible implication of this is that preparation to smoke has positive mood effects that are somewhat independent of situational cueing – this is consistent with evidence that expectancies/internal drives are more important than specific external cues per se (Dols et al., 2002; Juliano & Brandon, 1998). Thus smoking behaviour can enhance hedonic tone in pleasurable circumstances: preparation of smoking is a response to circumstances that stimulate hedonic tone. But anticipatory hedonic boosts are not contingent on these circumstances: smoking can be cued in other situations, where preparatory

processes produce similar mood elevation – allowing the smoker to emulate pleasant feelings that might not otherwise be associated with their current situation.

Do apparent differences reflect issues with comparability of behaviours? One potential problem with comparing eating and smoking so as to make conclusions about related affective processes is that the former behaviour may be more heterogenous than the latter. It is likely that there are different processes underlying consumption of meals versus snacks, or sweet foods versus vegetables – differences that might be obscured if eating episodes are treated as homogenous, and may give an aggregate impression that does not represent actually occurring processes (but rather, the best fit to numerous distinct mechanisms). For this reason, variability in food type and episode type (snack/meal) was factored into analyses of eating episodes. It was considered that snacking episodes would be most akin to smoking episodes (shorter duration, potentially more impulsive/less overtly functional), such that the hedonic motivations observed in smoking might be more evident in this particular type of consumption episode. However, analyses utilising only snacking data produced results that did not differ from those using the full eating data-set. Similarly, episodic mood did not covary with food type.

One common feature to smoking and eating behaviour is that consumption was not related to craving in a predictable way. A specific factor that may have obscured urge-behaviour correspondence in food consumption data is that frequency may not be the best indicator of urge response. The content of consumption should be considered, especially in eating events - where variability in portioning and choice of consumable is likely to be greater than for smoking. Episodic analyses demonstrated that this is an important consideration for natural consumption: urge to eat was greater in episodes when more substantial food types were selected (meal staples like proteins, grains, and vegetables). In principle, similar

considerations might be applied to smoking too. However, episodic assessments of consumption variability in smoking (rod left, extent inhaled) did not show any association with urge state. The implemented indices of consumption may not be sensitive or accurate enough to support a firm conclusion on this matter, but it appears that behavioural frequency may be a better measure of consumption in smoking as compared with eating.

10.4 Role of personality

Discussion in this section turns to interpretation of findings in relation to personality theory. The first sub-section considers the implications of BIS/BAS moderation in present findings for the reinforcement sensitivity theory (RST; Gray, 1987) from which central measures were derived. Are findings consistent with RST? Do they suggest re-interpretation of theory? Indeed, are they actually more congruent with alternative motivational theories – such as Eysenck's arousal theory (Eysenck, 1990)? Note that discussion of RST refers to the pre-reformulation conceptualisation (Gray & McNaughton, 2000), although coherent conclusions can be drawn with reference to reformulated theory.

The second section is concerned with implications for construct validity. How does the concordance of Big Five and BIS-BAS measures relate to theoretical trait space, and which model of personality is supported by their influence? It is beyond the scope of the present research to truly test different theoretical models of personality, but current findings do offer insight. Another pertinent question is whether the convergence of personality measures is informative about the nature of BAS: is it better conceptualised as impulsivity or extraversion (Gray, 1981; Depue & Collins, 1999)? The answer has implications for the future measurement of motivation.

10.4.1 The moderating influence of BIS-BAS

Of particular theoretical relevance to the present research is the notion that appetitive behaviours - and affective correlates of appetitive processes - are driven by an underlying behavioural approach system (Depue & Collins, 1999; Cloninger, 1987). To the extent that hedonic tone and energetic arousal are affective responses generated by BAS (Carver & Scheier, 1998), the reviewed episodic and periodic smoking data offers preliminary support for the notion of smoking as a BAS-related activity. The emergence of BIS-related tension and frustrative (nonreward) mood during deprivation is also consistent with recent clarification of theory (Corr, 2002) given that the abstinence situation introduces conflict between competing goals (approach and avoidance). Thus, emotional responses to smoking provide initial support for the BIS/BAS model of motivation. In terms of trait variability, BAS sensitivity (specifically, reward responsiveness) moderated the hedonic component of appetitive responses before smoking. At this point, findings deviate from the expected somewhat.

It was originally predicted – in line with the basic tenets of RST (Pickering *et al.*, 1999) and previous findings (e.g., Zinbarg & Mohlman, 1998; Heubeck *et al.*, 1998) – that BAS sensitivity would dispose greater learning and approach response. In practice, current findings suggest that low-BAS individuals are more reactive to incentive effects of smoking on hedonic mood. That is, their hedonic mood was more elevated than that of high-BAS individuals. Possible implications of this finding have been discussed previously. Cook and colleagues (2004) anticipated the observed direction of moderation. They proposed that individuals who are less responsive to reward may get greater hedonic stimulation from smoking and related expectancies (Cook *et al.*, 2004). Acceptance of this notion might be viewed as a challenge to Gray's theory. An interpretation that would be easier to accommodate is that the better reinforcement learning of individuals who are highly

reward responsive supports development of bidirectional hedonic cueing (positive and negative reinforcement), such that average pre-smoking elevation appears relatively low. This tendency has been shown in alcohol research (Franken, 2002). The observed moderating effects could be interpreted within the Eysenckian account of personality (Eysenck, 1991): more introverted (low-BAS) individuals tend to be more reactive to smoking cues and expectations (low-level stimulation). However, previous research indicates that the arousal effects predicted by Eysenck operate in reinforcement-neutral conditions (Corr, Pickering, & Gray, 1997). Given the reinforcing nature of smoking (Glautier, 2004), this interpretation may be less preferred than attempts to reconcile the finding with Gray's theory.

Is the direction of moderation truly at odds with Gray's theory? The theory posits that BAS governs reward sensitivity – in terms of both behavioural activation and generation of associated mood. High BAS individuals should be more responsive in their approach behaviour and mood change when exposed to cues of reward. Consequently, in relation to the incentive-sensitisation pattern of mood change demonstrated in present smoking data, these individuals would be expected to report particularly strong hedonic elevation in the cued anticipatory state (relative to low-BAS individuals). Clearly, this prediction was not supported by the present research. Reward responsive individuals are more likely to have generally elevated hedonic tone (Gable, Reis, and Elliot, 2000), such that smoking may be less salient as an expected reward and have less pronounced affective effects. However, Carver and White (1994) have previously demonstrated that reward responsiveness positively predicts happiness in anticipation of reward – and that this relationship holds when baseline rating is partialled out. It might be difficult to reconcile this finding with the present results without entering into speculative reasoning about the value of different rewards and laboratory-field influences.

Perhaps though, the effect reported by Carver and White (1994) is not fully comparable to present observations: although presented as a test of impending reward, their results may reflect post-reward state. In the design they implemented, the cue of impending reward was a message stating that the participant had gained extra research credits. This message was followed by an assessment of mood before the experimenter was called; the transfer of research credits was then formalised and the experiment terminated – despite previous information suggesting that this was the half-way stage of the experiment. Participants may have anticipated the formal credit-transfer and future creditgaining opportunities, but it could be argued that the intangible reward of credit (relative to the act of smoking) was also processed as 'received' from the moment that the participant was informed of their success (i.e. before mood assessment). The distinction between pre- and post-reward affect is potentially important. Credit awards were both novel and valuable - participants had yet to attain any research points despite course requirements that they do so - and would likely stimulate positive mood directly, in a way that repeat smoking may not (consistent with incentive-sensitisation learning).

Attenuated responses to smoking cues in those with greater reward sensitivity may be explained in terms of encoding of reward expectations and better learning in the context of reward. Corr (2001) stresses the (often neglected) importance of reward expectations as a determinant of the strength of reaction to a reinforcer. During development of smoking behaviour, mood effects may be less likely to exceed the higher expectations of reward responsive individuals. Expectation-modulated direct effects might be encoded in the process of incentive-sensitisation, such that high-BAS individuals acquire anticipatory effects of lower intensity (relative to their low-BAS counterparts). Similarly, if - as theory suggests - reward responsive individuals are better at learning in relation to reward, it may follow that they learn to modify their anticipatory response over time as a reaction to the absence of direct effects

in repeat smoking. These potential explanations for the observed BAS moderation are consistent with postulates of RST.

Finally, BAS sensitivity was also implicated in moderation of episodic craving. Specifically, those high in BAS drive found smoking to be less satiating. This is consonant with conceptualisation of this subscale as reflecting persistent approach activation that is relatively insensitive to intrinsic affective values (Carver & White, 1994; Johnson et al., 2003). It may be inferred from this that smokers strong in this trait demonstrate a chronic behaviour-facilitating impetus that may be somewhat unresponsive to 'off' cues afforded by signals of reward actualisation. Such a view of BAS drive is in agreement with other effects of this trait: stronger urge when smoking is obstructed, lower reactivity of smoking frequency to periodic alcohol use (suggesting less sensitivity to hedonic sensitisation of approach behaviours), and moderation of craving for other behaviours - BAS drive also influenced food craving (implying a more general role in desire control). BAS sensitivity was generally not affiliated with eating behaviour – as befitting the relative lack of approach affectivity implicated in food consumption (at least in terms of hedonic tone) - but the role of BAS drive seems more reasonable considering its limited role, conceptually, in hedonic (or indeed, affective) motivation. In situations/individuals for whom food is particularly rewarding (particularly, hedonically stimulating), stronger moderation by BAS might be expected (moderation should generalise across comparable reinforcement behaviours - at least for conditioned affective responses to these behaviours).

10.4.2 Implications for personality theory and assessment

Further to the BIS-BAS scales, a second measure of personality (the Big Five) was applied in the present research. It was intended that examination of big five variability would chiefly serve a descriptive purpose, characterising the role of

individual variability in a way that would compliment theoretically driven investigation in terms of BIS and BAS. The adopted measure of the big five was based on trait descriptions in the natural language, rather than a biotheoretical model (Goldberg, 1993). There is some debate as to what the best self-report measure of BIS and BAS might be, and it seemed reasonable to apply multiple measures that could tap relevant variability (Corr, 2001). A question emergent from the present application of two personality measures is: can the influence of the derived trait variables be integrated in a theoretically meaningful way?

Overall, findings for moderation by Big Five traits showed congruency with theoretical accounts of BIS and BAS. Although researchers have mapped both BIS/BAS and the Big Five in relation to Eysenckian trait space, it could not necessarily be assumed that a measure born of everyday language would be highly consistent with a measure that was designed to tap biologically-based BIS/BAS sensitivity directly (although related experiences should find expression in language). An example of consistency between measures, in relation to Gray's theory, was the overlapping influence of BAS reward responsiveness and Surgency. Moderation of pre-smoking hedonic elevation by Surgency suggested that elevation was attenuated in those with relatively more BAS than BIS sensitivity (theoretically, extraversion emerges from the interaction of these systems; Gray, 1981). However, the example moderation was better explained by BAS sensitivity alone: hence the influence of Surgency disappeared when modelled jointly with BAS score. Notably, of the other big five constructs, Emotional Stability emerged as a moderating influence over and above the assessed BIS/BAS traits. This is appropriate considering that the BAS scales (Carver & White, 1994) do not reflect the theorised contribution of Neuroticism (low ES) to BAS sensitivity (as well as BIS sensitivity; Gray, 1982). The measure of Emotional Stability thus compliments assessment of BIS/BAS influences in the present research.

What remains is the question of which conceptualisation of BAS is favoured: do data from the applied measures provide a better fit to Gray's hypothesis that extraversion and neuroticism derive from the interaction of BAS and BIS (impulsivity-anxiety; Gray, 1981), or to the proposal that agentic extraversion is the most apt measure of behavioural activation (Depue & Collins, 1999; also see Diaz & Pickering, 1993)? Current findings fit both perspectives. Carver and White's bespoke measure of BAS is highly related to extraversion (but not neuroticism) such that its superiority to Surgency in capturing moderation cannot be taken as evidence against the proposal of Depue and Collins (1999), despite the fact that the BAS scales were developed from Gray's original RST. Similarly, the moderating influence of neuroticism does not differentiate the two accounts: neuroticism is viewed as a constraint factor acting on BAS in Depue and Collins' model, and as a component of BAS in Gray's model. What can be stated (in line with theoretical discussion by Depue and Collins) is that BAS (as measured in the present research) appears to be a complex emotional system, perhaps involving heterogenous subtraits. For example, higher BAS reward responsiveness disposed greater reactivity between smoking and alcohol consumption but higher BAS drive attenuated this reactivity. These patterns of moderation show consistency with findings that reward responsiveness is implicated in cross-sensitisation of positively reinforcing behaviours (Powell et al., 2002), and that drive disposes greater general urge such that smoking may be less reactive to particular stimuli. Further, they support the multidimensional assessment of BAS when utilising the scale items of Carver and White (1994; Johnson et al., 2003), and may bolster Depue and Collins' (1999) argument for the assessment of BAS as reflecting various distinct processes (potentially reflecting different substrates).

What can be concluded about the measurement of motivational tendencies? It could be argued that the involvement of BAS/BIS is best assessed in terms of theoretically associated mood processes (e.g., hedonic tone for BAS, tense arousal

for BIS) where there is little agreement on trait measures of motivational sensitivity (Coan & Allen, 2003). Individual differences in mood intensity and reactivity could be useful indicators of underlying traits. Others have suggested that any comprehensive approach to personality assessment will converge on the same personality space (e.g., Church, 1994): putting the onus on interpretation of each scale in reconciling findings from different approaches. The two measurement approaches used presently appeared complimentary. The specifically-tailored BAS measure was better at capturing variance related to extraversion/impulsivity than the big five Surgency scale, but measurement of neuroticism/emotional stability augmented description of moderation in a way that is consistent with RST.

10.4 Limitations and Contributions

Limitations of the present research

As discussed in methodological chapters, the reliance of present research on selfreport diary protocols may have introduced various biases. For example, although the advantages of real-time assessments are considerable, the burden of diary completion may have partially interfered with normal patterns of smoking-related state-change and behaviour. Diary-based self-reports require that the participant is also the observer, and the conflict between these roles may have influenced responses. Moreover, the paper-based diary protocol is particularly open to issues of compliance (Stone *et al.*, 2002). Although this issue may be difficult to circumnavigate for event-contingent assessment, an electronic diary could have provided more accurate compliance data for periodic assessments (by timestamping reports). The present research followed proposed guidelines for maximising the compliancy of paper-based diary design (Bolger *et al.*, 2003; Scollon *et al.*, 2003). More generally, it is conceivable that some processes involved in behaviour are not available to self-report. In this way, self-reported affect measures may not index motivation accurately – although there is a convergence of evidence suggesting that it can (Baker *et al.*, 2004b).

Emotion might best be understood as a primitive action-moderator that is sensitive to stimuli of valence in the maintenance of homeostasis. Cognition may access and even modulate emotion, but in both respects it is secondary. Thus, the findings of the present thesis – based as they are on subjective reports of experiences at the cognitive level – would be bolstered by examination of implicit emotional processes and autonomic/endocrine responses as they relate to naturalistic smoking behaviour. Nonetheless, the results obtained in the present thesis from crosslagged analyses of temporal processes in subjective mood offer some insight into causal sequences (though it is not clear here whether subjective representations have a causal influence on subsequent behaviour so much as they reflect gradual changes in underlying processes). Further inferences can be made based on the temporal structure of smoking events, though it has been discussed (Chapter 1) that subjective reports of mood subjective reports of mood do not provide a complete picture of emotional response – and are open to other influences (occurring as they lag behind initial physiological responses to emotional stimuli)

A related issue is that the present approach to sampling temporality in smoking behaviour may not provide the optimal window for understanding key processes. For example, assessment of pre-smoking mood allows change from baseline to be calculated, but it does not allow insight into the meaning of this mood change: does it reflect a primary cueing state or an anticipatory mood response to imminent smoking (that may have been originally cued by other state changes)? It is difficult to see how this could be differentiated in naturalistic study of smoking. Smokers may not be consciously aware of any primary cue for their smoking behaviour (the present approach inferred motivational shifts by comparing current state reports made at different times relative to smoking). Urge-contingent reports may be

useful in this regard – that is, state recordings when a salient urge to smoke is experienced. However, this would introduce further unreliability into assessment as the perceived experience of an urge event (i.e., what state should prompt a report) may vary greatly across individuals in a way that concrete events (such as smoking) do not. It also seems likely that urge and behaviour are not related in predictable ways, such that findings for urge cueing may not be applicable to smoking events.

The present research is somewhat limited by its observational/quasi-experimental nature. On their own, present findings may be difficult to interpret in terms of potential mechanisms and causality (although cross-lagged analyses allow strong inferences to be made). However, the strength of the present research is in its convergence with other experimental, theoretical, and anecdotal reports. Thus, the current research tested the fit of observed relationships to different theoretical models and considered outcomes in relation to experimental evidence, where available. Similarly, participant selection in the reported studies may limit the extent to which current findings generalise, but applicability may be inferred where other studies have uncovered similar relationships in different populations. A particular concern in the present research is that sampled smokers tended to be low in dependence – smoking motivation may differ somewhat at different levels of behavioural severity. However, markers of dependence were examined as moderators, and these facilitated understanding of processes for which heavier smokers may tend towards different experiences.

Future research should elaborate on individual variability in smoking-related mood, and compare affective responses to smoking with affective responses to other types of substance use (for example, alcohol use) to establish whether the present results are specific to smoking or generalise across dependence behaviours. Such research would also determine the generality of trait-moderated patterns of mood change

across dependence behaviours. The present findings should encourage investigation of how mood-smoking relationships translate into mood-urge/relapse relationships during long-term abstinence, and how these patterns might vary systematically between persons. Furthermore, the findings have practical implications for the application of monitoring protocols in clinical assessment. Evidence for individual variability in everyday smoking situations and motivational responses suggest that personalised monitoring of the kind undertaken by participants in present diary studies may be useful. In the diagnostic stage, such monitoring would identify individual correlates of smoking that may require specific targeting in treatment. During abstinence, monitoring would help to identify changes (e.g., depressed mood) that may require individualised attention in relapse prevention. Also, recording of situations surrounding any lapse episodes may reveal 'triggers' that only emerge for an individual during deprivation. Coping strategies could then be developed accordingly.

10.5 Conclusions

Uniquely, the present thesis tested competing theoretical accounts of smoking motivation as they apply to everyday mood regulation. Findings converged with more recent, naturalistic experimental research in support of positive incentivebased motivation (during normal unrestricted smoking). Complimentary analyses of general (episode-removed) periodic experiences indicate that smoking frequency increases after periods of reduced pleasure: consistent with the notion of smoking to enhance positive mood intensity. The present thesis applied a novel hierarchical approach that went beyond the level of momentary processes: to consider the role of personality (and especially reward sensitivity) as moderating mood-smoking relationships. In doing so it uncovered evidence that BAS disposes less anticipatory pleasure (contrary to expectations) and less consummatory satiation from smoking. The former of these findings may cast new light on previous assumptions about the

nature of reward sensitivity: underlining the importance of distinguishing general mood tendencies from within-person reactivity to specific states.

Extending the scope of this hierarchical approach, present research has identified a parallel affective-motivational model for natural appetitive behaviour, and indicates that this model is distinct from smoking (non-natural reward). The thesis has further uncovered distinctions between everyday use and use under conditions of restricted availability – with the implication that motivational-interpretation is very sensitive to deprivation state. This may help to explain the equivocal nature of previous research. Specifically, negative mood cues and positive effects of consumption on mood are more pronounced during restricted versus everyday smoking.

In relation to established theoretical frameworks and experimental research, the present thesis makes a significant contribution to our understanding of hierarchical affective motivation as applied to smoking behaviour. Further, it offers insight from naturalistic data that may usefully inform future theoretical development and experimental paradigms.

References

- Abelin, T., Buehler, A., Muller, P., Vesanen, K., & Imhof, P. R. (1989). Controlled trial of transdermal nicotine patch in tobacco withdrawal. *Lancet*, 1(8628), 7-10.
- Acton, G. S. (2003). Measurement of impulsivity in a hierarchical model of personality traits: Implications for substance use. Substance Use & Misuse, 38, 67-83.
- Adan, A., & Sanchez-Turet, M. (2000). Effects of smoking on diurnal variations of subjective activation and mood. *Human Psychopharmacology*, 15, 287-293.
- Adinoff, B., O'Neill, H. K., & Ballenger, J. C. (1995). Alcohol withdrawal and limbic kindling: A hypothesis of relapse. *American Journal on Addictions*, 4, 5-17.

Affleck, G., Zautra, A., Tennen, H., & Armeli, S. (1999). Multilevel daily process designs for consulting and clinical psychology: a preface for the perplexed. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67, 746-754.

Aldenderfer, M. S., & Blashfield, R. K. (1984). *Cluster analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Allport, G. W. (1937). *Personality: A psychological interpretation.* New York: Social Science Research Council.
- Allport, G. W. (1942). *The use of personal documents in psychological science*. New York: Social Science Research Council.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1987). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed., revised). Washington: APA.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1995). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.). Washington: APA.
- Ames, S. C., & Roitzsch, J. C. (2000). The impact of minor stressful life events and social support on cravings. *Addictive Behaviors*, 25, 539-547.
- Anton, R. F. (2000). Obsessive-compulsive aspects of craving: development of the Obsessive Compulsive Drinking Scale. *Addiction*, *95*, S211-217.
- Arai, Y., Fukao, A., Izumi, Y., Hisamichi, S., & Hosokawa, T. (1997). Smoking behavior and personality: a population-based study in Japan. Addiction, 92, 1023-1033.
- Arcavi, L., Jacob, P., 3rd, Hellerstein, M., & Benowitz, N. L. (1994). Divergent tolerance to metabolic and cardiovascular effects of nicotine in smokers with low and high levels of cigarette consumption. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 56, 55-64.
- Aronson, E., Wilson, T. E., & Brewer, M. B. (1998). Experimentation in social psychology. In D. T. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske & G. Lindzey (Eds.), *The handbook* of social psychology (4th ed., Vol. 1, pp. 99-142). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Atrens, D. M. (2001). Nicotine as an addictive substance: a critical examination of the basic concepts and empirical evidence. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 31, 325-94.
- Baddeley, A. D., & Hitch, G. J. (1993). The recency effect: implicit learning with explicit retrieval? *Memory and Cognition*, 21, 146-155.
- Baker, T. B., Morse, E., & Sherman, J. E. (1987). The motivation to use drugs: A psychobiological analysis of urges. In C. Rivers (Ed.), *Nebraska Symposium* on Motivation (Vol. 34, pp. 257-323).
- Baker, T. B., Brandon, T. H., & Chassin, L. (2004a). Motivational influences on cigarette smoking. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55, 463-491.
- Baker, T. B., Piper, M. E., McCarthy, D. E., Majeskie, M. R., & Fiore, M. C. (2004b). Addiction motivation reformulated: an affective processing model of negative reinforcement. *Psychological Review*, 111, 33-51.
- Baldinger, B., Hasenfratz, M., & Banig, K. (1995). Switching to ultralow nicotine cigarettes: effects of different tar yields and blocking of olfactory cues.

Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior, 50, 233-239.

- Balfour, D. J. (1991). The influence of stress on psychopharmacological responses to nicotine. *British Journal of Addiction*, *86*, 489-493.
- Balfour, D. J., Wright, A. E., Benwell, M. E., & Birrell, C. E. (2000). The putative role of extra-synaptic mesolimbic dopamine in the neurobiology of nicotine dependence. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 113(1-2), 73-83.
- Balfour, D. J. K. (2003). The psychopharmacology of tobacco dependence. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry Monograph, 18, 12-21.
- Bartz, A. E., & Olson, E. A. (2002). Neuroticism and the Irrational Health Belief Scale. *Health Psychology*, 21, 100.
- Bender, K. J. (1995). Drug craving distinguished from withdrawal symptoms. *Psychiatric Times, 12,* 9-12.
- Benitez, J. B., Idle, J. R., & Krokan, H. E. (Eds.). (1996). Environmental tobacco smoke and lung cancer: An evaluation of the risk. Trondheim, Norway: European Working Group on Environmental Tobacco Smoke and Lung Cancer.

Benowitz, N. L., Kuyt, F., & Jacob, P., 3rd. (1982). Circadian blood nicotine concentrations during cigarette smoking. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 32*, 758-764.

- Benowitz, N. L. (1990). *Pharmacokinetic considerations in understanding nicotine* dependence (No. 152). Chichester: Ciba Foundation Report.
- Benowitz, N. L. (1992). The genetics of drug dependence: Tobacco addiction. *New England Journal of Medicine, 327*, 881-883.
- Benowitz, N. L. (1997). Treating tobacco addiction Nicotine or no nicotine? *The* New England Journal of Medicine, 337, 1230-1231.
- Berkowitz, V. J. (2000). A view on high-protein, low-carb diets. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 100,* 1302-1303.
- Berridge, K. C., & Valenstein, E. S. (1991). What psychological process mediates feeding evoked by electrical stimulation of the lateral hypothalamus? Behavioral Neuroscience, 105, 3-14.
- Berridge, K. C., & Robinson, T. E. (1995). The mind of an addicted brain: neural sensitization of wanting versus liking. *Current Directions in Psychololgical Science*, *4*, 71-76.
- Berridge, K. C., & Robinson, T. E. (1998). What is the role of dopamine in reward: hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? *Brain Research Reviews*, 28, 309-369.
- Berridge, K. C. (2003). Pleasures of the brain. Brain and Cognition, 52(1), 106-128.
- Berridge, K. C., & Robinson, T. E. (2003). Parsing reward. Trends in Neuroscience, 26, 507-513.
 Berridge, K. C., & Winkielman, P. (2003). What is an unconscious emotion: The
- Case for unconscious 'liking'. Cognition and Emotion, 17, 181-211.
- Best, J. A., & Hakstian, A. R. (1978). A situation-specific model for smoking behavior. *Addictive Behaviors*, *3*, 79-92.
- Bickel, W. K., & Vuchinich, R. E. (2000). *Reframing health behavior change with behavioral economics*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Bolger, N., Davis, A., & Rafaeli, E. (2003). Diary methods: Capturing life at is lived. Annual Review of Psychology, 54, 579-616.
- Bornstein, R. F. (1989). Exposure and affect: Overview and meta-analysis of research, 1968-1987. *Psychological Bulletin*, 106, 265-289.
- Boudreaux, E. D., Kim, S., Hohrmann, J. L., Clark, S., & Camargo, C. A., Jr. (2005). Interest in smoking cessation among emergency department patients. *Health Psychology*, 24, 220-224.
- Bozarth, M. A. (1990). Drug addiction as a psychobiological process. In D. M. Warburton (Ed.), *Addiction controversies*. London: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Bozarth, M. A. (1994). Opiate reinforcement processes: re-assembling multiple mechanisms. *Addiction*, *89*, 1425-1434.

- Bozarth, M. A., & Pudiak, C. M. (1996). Intravenous nicotine self-administration in laboratory animals: Chasing the enigma. Society for Neuroscience Abstracts, 22, 163.
- Brandon, T. H., Zelman, D. C., & Baker, T. B. (1987). Effects of maintenance sessions on smoking relapse: delaying the inevitable? *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 55, 780-782.
- Brandon, T. H. (1994). Negative affect as motivation to smoke. *Current Psychological Research Reviews, 3*, 33-37.
- Breland, A. B., Buchhalter, A. R., Evans, S. E., & Eissenberg, T. (2004). Evaluating acute effects of potential reduced exposure products for smokers: clinical laboratory methodology. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, *9*, S131-S140.
- Brewer, W. F. (1988). Memory for randomly sampled autobiographical events. In U. Neisser & E. Winograd (Eds.), *Remembering reconsidered* (pp. 21-90). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Brewer, J. (2000). Ethnography. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Bridgewood, A., Malbon, G., Lader, D., & Matheson, J. (1996). *Health in England* 1995. London: The Stationery Office.
- Brownell, K. D., Glynn, T. J., Glasgow, R., Lando, H., Rand, C., Gottlieb, A., et al. (1986). Interventions to prevent relapse. *Health Psychology*, 5, S53-68.
- Bryk, A. S., & Raudenbush, S. W. (1992). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Bryk, A. S., Raudenbush, S. W., & Congdon, R. (1996). *HLM: Hierarchical linear* and nonlinear modeling with the HLM/2L and HLM/3L programs. Chicago: Scientific Software International.
- Buchanan, T., Johnson, J. A., & Goldberg, L. R. (2005). Implementing a five-factor personality inventory for use on the internet. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment, 21*, 115-127.
- Bulik, C. M., Lawson, R. H., & Carter, F. A. (1996). Salivary reactivity in restrained and unrestrained eaters and women with bulimia nervosa. *Appetite*, 27, 15-24.
- Bushnell, P. J., Levin, E. D., Marrocco, R. T., Sarter, M. F., Strupp, B. J., & Warburton, D. M. (2000). Attention as a target of intoxication: insights and methods from studies of drug abuse. *Neurobehavioral Toxicology and Teratology*, 22, 487-502.
- Buss, D. M., & Craik, K. H. (1983). The act frequency approach to personality. *Psychological Review*, 90, 105-126.
- Cacioppo, J., & Gardner, W. (1999). Emotion. Annual Review of Psychology, 50, 191-214.
- Caggiula, A. R., Donny, E. C., White, A. R., Chaudhri, N., Booth, S., Gharib, M. A., et al. (2001). Cue dependency of nicotine self-administration and smoking. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior, 70*, 515-530.
- Calle, E. E., Thun, M. J., Petrelli, J. M., Rodriguez, C., & Heath, C. W. (1999). Body mass index and mortality in a prospective cohort of U.S. adults. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *341*, 1097-1105.
- Callum, C. (1998). The UK smoking epidemic: deaths in 1995. London: HEA.
- Canals, J., Blade, J., & Domenech, E. (1997). Smoking and personality predictors in young Spanish people. *Personality and Individual Differences, 23*, 905-908.
- Carroll, M. E., Carmona, G. G., & May, S. A. (1991). Modifying drug-reinforced behavior by altering the economic conditions of the drug and a nondrug reinforcer. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behaviour, 56*, 361-376.
- Carter, F. A., & Bulik, C. M. (1994). Exposure treatments for bulimia nervosa: Procedure, efficacy, and mechanisms. *Advances in Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 16, 77-129.
- Carter, B. L., & Tiffany, S. T. (1999). Meta-analysis of cue-reactivity in addiction research. *Addiction*, *94*, 327-340.
- Carter, B. L., & Tiffany, S. T. (1999). Meta-analysis of cue-reactivity in addiction research. *Addiction*, 94, 327-340.

- Carter, B. L., & Tiffany, S. T. (2001). The cue-availability paradigm: the effects of cigarette availability on cue reactivity in smokers. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 9, 183-190.
- Carver, C. S., & White, T. L. (1994). Behavioral inhibition, behavioral activation, and affective responses to impending reward and punishment: The BIS/BAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 319-333.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1998). *On the self-regulation of behaviour*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Carver, C. S., Meyer, B., & Antoni, M. H. (2000). Responsiveness to threats and incentives, expectancy of recurrence, and distress and disengagement: Moderator effects in early-stage breast cancer patients. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68, 965-975.
- Carver, C. S. (2001). Affect and the functional bases of behaviour: On the dimensional structure of affective experience. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *5*, 345-356.
- Cerin, E., Szabo, A., & Williams, C. (2001). Is the experience sampling method (ESM) appropriate for studying pre-competitive emotions? *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *2*, 27-45.
- Chatfield, C. (1996). *The analysis of time series: An introduction* (5th ed.). London: Chapman & Hall.
- Childress, A. R., Mozley, P. D., McElgin, W., Fitzgerald, J., Reivich, M., & O'Brien, C. P. (1999). Limbic activation during cue-induced cocaine craving. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156, 11-18.
- Chow, S. I. (1987). *Experimental psychology: Rationale, procedures and issues*. Calgary: Detselig.
- Church, R. E. (1989). Smoking and the human EEG. In T. Ney & A. Gale (Eds.), Smoking and Human Behaviour. Chichester: Wiley.
- Church, A. T. (1994). Relating the Tellegen and five-factor models of personality structure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 898-909.
- Claridge, G. (1983). Sedation threshold and personality differences. In W. Janke (Ed.), *Response variability to psychotropic drugs*. New York: Pergamon Press.
- Clark, M. S., & Fiske, S. T. (1982). Affect and Cognition. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cloninger, C. R. (1987). A systematic method for clinical description and classification of personality variants. A proposal. *The Archives of General Psychiatry*, 44, 573-588.
- Coan, J. A., & Allen, J. J. (2003). Frontal EEG asymmetry and the behavioral activation and inhibition systems. *Psychophysiology*, 40, 106-114.
- Cohen, S., & Williamson, G. M. (1988). Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In S. Spacapan & S. Oskamp (Eds.), *The social psychology of health* (pp. 31-67). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Colby, S. M., Tiffany, S. T., Shiffman, S., & Niaura, R. S. (2000). Are adolescent smokers dependent on nicotine? A review of the evidence. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 59*, S83-95.
- Conrad, K. M., Flay, B. R., & Hill, D. (1992). Why children start smoking cigarettes: Predictors of onset. *British Journal of Addiction*, *87*, 1711–1724.
- Cook, J. W., Spring, B., McChargue, D., & Hedeker, D. (2004). Hedonic capacity, cigarette craving, and diminished positive mood. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, 6, 39-47.
- Cooney, J., Stevens, T., & Cooney, N. (1998). Comorbidity of nicotine dependence with psychiatric and substance use disorder. In H. R. Kranzler & B. J. Rounsaville (Eds.), Dual diagnosis and treatment. Substance abuse and comorbid medical and psychiatric disorders (pp. 223-264). New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Cooney, J. L., Cooney, N. L., Pilkey, D. T., Kranzler, H. R., & Oncken, C. A. (2003). Effects of nicotine deprivation on urges to drink and smoke in alcoholic smokers. *Addiction*, *98*, 913-921.

- Cooper, M. L., Agocha, V. B., & Sheldon, M. S. (2000). A motivational perspective on risky behaviors: The role of personality and affect regulatory processes. *Journal of Personality*, 68, 1059-1088.
- Corr, P. J., Pickering, A. D., & Gray, J. A. (1997). Personality, punishment, and procedural learning: a test of J.A. Gray's anxiety theory. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *73*, 337-344.
- Corr, P. J. (1999). Does extraversion predict positive incentive motivation? Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 22, 3.
- Corr, P. J. (2001). Testing problems in J. A. Gray's personality theory: a commentary on Matthews and Gilliland (1999). *Personality and Individual Differences, 30*, 333-352.
- Corr, P. J. (2002). J. A. Gray's reinforcement sensitivity theory: Tests of the joint subsystems hypothesis of anxiety and impulsivity. *Personality and Individual Differences, 33*, 511-532.
- Corr, P. J. (2004). Reinforcement sensitivity theory and personality. *Neuroscience* and Biobehavioral Reviews, 28, 317-332.
- Corrigall, W. A., Coen, K. M., & Adamson, K. L. (1994). Self-administered nicotine activates the mesolimbic dopamine system through the ventral tegmental area. *Brain Research*, 653(1-2), 278-284.
- Costa, P. T., Jr., & McCrae, R. R. (1992). Revised NEO Personality Inventory (NEO-PI-R) and NEO Five-Factor Inventory (NEO-FFI) professional manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Costello, E. J., Erkanli, A., Federman, E., & Angold, A. (1999). Development of psychiatric comorbidity with substance abuse in adolescents: effects of timing and sex. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *28*, 298-311.
- Cox, L. S., Tiffany, S. T., & Christen, A. G. (2001). Evaluation of the brief questionnaire of smoking urges (QSU-brief) in laboratory and clinical settings. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, *3*, 7-16.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Larson, R. W. (1987). Validity and reliability of the experience sampling method. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 175*, 526-536.
- Dar, R., & Frenk, H. (2002). Nicotine self-administration in animals: a reevaluation. Addiction Research and Theory, 10, 545-579.
- Darwin, C. (1965). The expression of the emotions in man and animals. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Davidson, R. J. (1992). Anterior brain asymmetry and the nature of emotion. *Brain* and Cognition, 20, 125-151.
- Davidson, R. J., & Irwin, W. (1999). The functional neuroanatomy of emotion and affective style. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *3*, 11-21.
- Davies, G. M., Willner, P., & Morgan, M. J. (2000). Smoking-related cues elicit craving in tobacco "chippers": a replication and validation of the two-factor structure of the Questionnaire of Smoking Urges. *Psychopharmacology*, 152, 334-342.
- Dayan, P., & Balleine, B. W. (2002). Reward, motivation, and reinforcement learning. *Neuron*, *36*, 285-298.
- Delfino, R. J., Jamner, L. D., & Whalen, C. K. (2001). Temporal analysis of the relationship of smoking behaviour and urges to mood states in men versus women. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, *3*, 235-248.
- Depue, R. A., & Collins, P. F. (1999). Neurobiology of the structure of personality: dopamine, facilitation of incentivemotivation, and extraversion. *Behavioral* and Brain Sciences, 22, 491–517.
- Di Chiara, G., Acquas, E., Tanda, G., & Cadoni, C. (1993). Drugs of abuse: biochemical surrogates of specific aspects of natural reward. *Biochemical Society Symposia,* 59, 65-81.
- Di Chiara, G. (1995). The role of dopamine in drug abuse viewed from the perspective of its role in motivation. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 38*, 95-137.

Di Chiara, G. (2000). Role of dopamine in the behavioural actions of nicotine related to addiction. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 393, 295-314.

- Di Chiara, G. (2002). Nucleus accumbens shell and core dopamine: differential role in behavior and addiction. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 137(1-2), 75-114.
- Diaz, A., & Pickering, A. D. (1993). The relationship between Gray's and Eysenck's personality spaces. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 15, 297-305.
- Dickinson, A., & Balleine, B. W. (2002). The role of learning in the operation of motivational systems: Learning, motivation, and emotion. In H. Pashler & R. Gallistel (Eds.), Stevens' handbook of Experimental Psychology (Vol. 3, pp. 497-533). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Diener, E., Colvin, C. R., Pavot, W. G., & Allman, A. (1991). The psychic costs of intense positive affect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61, 492-503.
- Dierker, L. C., Avenevoli, S., Merikangas, K. R., Flaherty, B. P., & Stolar, M. (2001). Association between psychiatric disorders and the progression of tobacco use behaviors. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 40, 1159-1167.
- Digman, J. M. (1996). The curious history of the five factor model. In J. Wiggens (Ed.), *The Five Factor Model of personality*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Dobbs, S. D., Strickler, D. P., & Maxwell, W. A. (1981). The effects of stress and relaxation in the presence of stress on urinary pH and smoking behaviors. *Addictive Behaviors*, *6*, 345-353.
- Dols, M., Willems, B., van den Hout, M., & Bittoun, R. (2000). Smokers can learn to influence their urge to smoke. *Addictive Behaviors, 25*, 103-108.
- Dols, M., van den Hout, M., Kindt, M., & Willems, B. (2002). The urge to smoke depends on the expectation of smoking. *Addiction*, 97, 87-93.
- Domino, E. F., & Kishimoto, T. (1999). Tobacco smoking increases gating of irrelevant and enhances attention to relevant tones but at what price? *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, *1*, 276-277.
- Donny, E. C., Chaudhri, N., Caggiula, A. R., Evans-Martin, F. F., Booth, S., Gharib, M. A., et al. (2003). Operant responding for a visual reinforcer in rats is enhanced by noncontingent nicotine: implications for nicotine selfadministration and reinforcement. *Psychopharmacology*, 169, 68-76.

Drobes, D. J., & Tiffany, S. T. (1997). Induction of smoking urge through imaginal and in vivo procedures: physiological and self-report manifestations. *Journal* of Abnormal Psychology, 106, 15-25.

Drobes, D. J. (2001). Concurrent alcohol and tobacco dependence mechanisms and treatment. *Alcohol Research and Health*, 26, 136-142.

Drobes, D. J., Miller, E. J., Hillman, C. H., Bradley, M. M., Cuthbert, B. N., & Lang, P. J. (2001). Food deprivation and emotional reactions to food cues:

implications for eating disorders. *Biological Psychology*, *57*(1-3), 153-177. Drummond, D. C., Tiffany, S. T., Glautier, S., & Remington, B. (1995). *Addictive behaviour: Cue exposure theory and practice*. Chichester: Wiley.

Drummond, D. C. (2001). Theories of drug craving, ancient and modern. Addiction, 96, 33-46.

- Edwards, H. B. (1986). The multiple dangers of smoking. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 47, 218.
- Eissenberg, T. (2004). Measuring the emergence of tobacco dependence: the contribution of negative reinforcement models. *Addiction, 99*, S5-29.
- Ekman, P., & Davidson, R. J. (1994). *The nature of emotion: Fundamental questions*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ellis, R. D., & Newton, N. (2000). The interdependence of consciousness and emotion. *Consciousness and Emotion*. 1, 1-10.
- Elster, J. (1999). Emotion and addiction: Neurobiology, culture, and choice. In J. Elster (Ed.), *Addiction: Entries and exits.* (pp. 239-276). New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Endler, N. S. (1993). Personality: An interactional perspective. In P. J. Hettema & I.

J. Deary (Eds.), *Foundations of personality*. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

- Epping-Jordan, M. P., Watkins, S. S., Koob, G. F., & Markou, A. (1998). Dramatic decreases in brain reward function during nicotine withdrawal. *Nature*, 393, 76-79.
- Etter, J. F., Prokhorov, A. V., & Perneger, T. V. (2002). Gender differences in the psychological determinants of cigarette smoking. *Addiction*, *97*, 733-743.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1963). Experiments with drugs: Studies in the relation between personality, learning theory and drug action. Oxford: Pergamon Press.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1967). The biological basis of personality. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1973). Eysenck on Extraversion. New York: Wiley.
- Eysenck, H. J., & Eysenck, S. B. G. (1975). *Manual of the Eysenck Questionnaire*. San Diego, CA: EdITS.
- Eysenck, H. J., & Eysenck, M. W. (1985). *Personality and individual differences a natural science approach*. London: Plenum Press.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1990). Biological dimensions of personality. In L. A. Pervin (Ed.), Handbook of personality: Theory and research (pp. 244-276). New York: Guilford.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1991). Dimensions of personality: 16, 5, or 3? Criteria for a taxonomic paradigm. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 12, 773-790.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1992). The definition and measurement of Psychoticism. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 13, 757-785.
- Eysenck, M. W. (1979). Depth, elaboration, and distinctiveness. In L. S. Cermak & F. I. M. Craik (Eds.), *Levels of processing in human memory* (pp. 89-118). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Fagerstrom, K. O. (1978). Measuring degree of physical dependence to tobacco smoke with reference to individualization of treatment. *Addictive Behaviors*, *3*, 235-241.
- Fagerstrom, K. O., & Schneider, N. G. (1989). Measuring nicotine dependence: A review of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 12, 159-182.
- Fertig, J., & Allen, J. P. (1995). Alcohol and Tobacco: From Basic Science to Clinical Practice. NIAAA Research Monograph no. 95-3931
- Fischman, M. W., & Foltin, R. W. (1991). Utility of subjective-effects measurements in assessing abuse liability of drugs in humans. *British Journal of Addiction*, 86, 1563-1570.
- Flannery, B. A., Roberts, A. J., Cooney, N., Swift, R. M., Anton, R. F., & Rohsenow, D. J. (2001). The role of craving in alcohol use, dependence, and treatment. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 25, 299-308.
- Flory, K., & Lynam, D. H. (2003). The relationship between Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and substance abuse: What role does conduct disorder play? *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 6, 1-16.
- Foreyt, J. P., Jackson, A. S., Squires, W. G., Hartung, G. H., Murray, T. D., & Gotto, A. M. (1993). Psychological profile of college students who use smokeless tobacco. Addictive Behaviors, 18, 107-116.
- Franken, I. H. A. (2002). Behavioral approach system (BAS) sensitivity predicts alcohol craving. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *32*, 349-355.
- Friedman, M. I., Ulrich, P., & Mattes, R. D. (1999). A figurative measure of subjective hunger sensations. *Appetite*, *32*, 395-404.
- Funder, D. C. (2001). Personality. Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 197-221.
- Furnham, A., & Heaven, P. C. L. (1999). Social behaviour and personality. London: Arnold.
- Gable, S. L., Reis, H. T., & Elliot, A. J. (2000). Behavioral activation and inhibition in everyday life. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78, 1135-1149.
- Garrett, B. E., & Griffiths, R. R. (2001). Intravenous nicotine and caffeine:

subjective and physiological effects in cocaine abusers. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 296, 486-494.

- Geier, A., Mucha, R. F., & Pauli, P. (2000). Appetitive nature of drug cues confirmed with physiological measures in a model using pictures of smoking. *Psychopharmacology*, 150, 283-291.
- Gewirtz, J. C., & Davis, M. (1998). Application of Pavlovian higher-order conditioning to the analysis of the neural substrates of fear conditioning. *Neuropharmacology*, *37*, 453-459.
- Gibson, E. L., & Desmond, E. (1999). Chocolate craving and hunger state: implications for the acquisition and expression of appetite and food choice. *Appetite, 32*, 219-240.
- Gilbert, D. G., & Wesler, R. (1989). Emotion, anxiety and smoking. In T. Ney & A. Gale (Eds.), *Smoking and human behavior* (pp. 171-196). New York: Wiley.
- Gilbert, D. G. (1994). Why people smoke: Stress-reduction, coping enhancement, and nicotine. *Recent Advances in Tobacco Science*, 20, 106-161.
- Gilbert, D. G., Meliska, C. J., Welser, R., & Estes, S. L. (1994). Depression, personality, and gender influence EEG, cortisol, beta-endorphin, heart rate, and subjective responses to smoking multiple cigarettes. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 16, 247-264.
- Gilbert, D. G. (1995). Smoking: Individual differences, psychopathology, and emotion. Bristol, PA: Taylor and Francis.
- Gilbert, D. G., & Gilbert, B. O. (1995). Personality, psychopathology, and nicotine response as mediators of the genetics of smoking. *Behavior Genetics*, 25, 133-147.
- Gilbert, D. G., & Gilbert, B. O. (1996). The situation x trait adaptive response (STAR) model of the effects of nicotine on emotional states and information processing. In J. Snel & J. Lorist (Eds.), *Caffeine, social drinking and nicotine* - Separate and combined effects on cognition and the brain. London: Harwood Publishers.
- Gilbert, D. G. (1997). The situation x trait adaptive response (STAR) model of substance use and craving. *Human Psychopharmacology*, *12*, S89-S102.
- Gilbert, D. G. & Gilbert, B. O. (1998). The situation X trait adaptive response (STAR) model of the effects of nicotine on emotional states and information processing. In J. Snel & M. Lorist (Eds.), *Caffeine, social drinking, and nicotine—Separate and combined effects on cognition and the brain* (pp. 131–149). London: Harwood Publishers.
- Gilbert, D. G., McClernon, F. J., Rabinovich, N. E., Plath, L. C., Jensen, R. A., & Meliska, C. J. (1998). Effects of smoking abstinence on mood and craving in men: Influence of negative-affect-related personality traits, habitual nicotine intake and repeated measurements. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 25, 399-423.
- Gilbert, D. G., McClernon, F. J., Rabinovich, N. E., Plath, L. C., Masson, C. L., Anderson, A. E., et al. (2002). Mood disturbance fails to resolve across 31 days of cigarette abstinence in women. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 70, 142-152.
- Gilbert, H. M., & Warburton, D. M. (2003). Attribution and the effects of expectancy: how beliefs can influence the experiences of smoking cessation. *Addictive Behaviors, 28*, 1359-1369.
- Giovino, G. A., Schooley, M. W., Zhu, B. P., Chrismon, J. H., Tomar, S. L., Peddicord, J. P., et al. (1994). Surveillance for selected tobacco-use behaviors--United States, 1900-1994. *Morbidity and mortality weekly report*. *Surveillance summaries, 43*, 1-43.
- Glassman, A. H., Helzer, J. E., Covey, L. S., Cottler, L. B., Stetner, F., Tipp, J. E., et al. (1990). Smoking, smoking cessation, and major depression. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *264*, 1546-1549.
- Glautier, S. & Remington, B. (1995). The form of responses to drug cues. In D.C. Drummond, S.T. Tiffany, S. Glautier, & B. Remington (Eds.), *Addictive*

behaviour: Cue exposure theory and practice. New York: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

- Glautier, S. (2004). Measures and models of nicotine dependence: positive reinforcement. *Addiction*, *99*, S30-50.
- Gold, M. S., Washton, A. M., & Dackis, C. A. (1985). Cocaine abuse: neurochemistry, phenomenology, and treatment. *NIDA Research Monograph*, 61, 130-150.
- Goldberg, L. R. (1990). An alternative "Description of personality": The Big-Five factor structure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 59, 1216-1229.
- Goldberg, L. R. (1993). The structure of phenotypic personality traits. *American Psychologist, 48*, 26-34.
- Goldberg, L. R., & Rosolack, T. K. (1994). The Big-Five factor structure as an integrative framework: An empirical comparison with Eysenck's P-E-N model. In C. F. Halverson, Jr., G. A. Kohnstamm & R. P. Martin (Eds.), The developing structure of temperament and personality from infancy to adulthood (pp. 7-35). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Goldberg, L. R., & Saucier, G. (1996). Evidence for the big five in analyses of familiar personality adjectives. *European Journal of Personality*, 10, 61-77.
- Goldberg, L. R. (1999). International Personality Item Pool: A scientific collaboratory for the development of advanced measures of personality and other individual differences [Online]. Available: http://ipip.ori.org/ipip/
- Goldstein, H. (2003). *Multilevel statistical models* (2nd ed.). London: Edward Arnold.
- Gomez, R., Cooper, A., & Gomez, A. (2000). Susceptibility to positive and negative mood states: Test of Eysenck's, Gray's and Newman's models. *Personality and Individual Differences, 29*, 351-365.
- Gossop, M., Powell, J., Grey, S., & Hajek, P. (1990). What do opiate addicts and cigarette smokers mean by "craving"? A pilot study. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 26, 85-7.
- Gray, J. A. (1972). The psychophysiological basis of introversion-extraversion: a modification of Eysenck's theory. In V. D. Nebylitsyn & J. A. Gray (Eds.), *The biological basis of individual behavior*. New York: Academic.
- Gray, J. A. (1981). A critique of Eysenck's theory of personality. In H. J. Eysenck (Ed.), *A model for personality*. Springer-Verlag: Berlin.
- Gray, J. A. (1982). *The neuropsychology of anxiety*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gray, J. A. (1987). Perspectives on anxiety and impulsivity: A commentary. *Journal* of Research in Personality, 21, 493-509.
- Gray, J. A. (1990). Brain systems that mediate both emotion and cognition. Cognition and Emotion, 4, 269-288.
- Gray, J. A. (1994). Three fundamental emotion systems. In: P. Ekman & R. J. Davidson (Eds.), *The nature of emotion: Fundamental questions* (pp. 243-247). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gray, J. A., & McNaughton, N. (2000). The neuropsychology of anxiety: an enquiry into the functions of the septo-hippocampal system (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Grunberg, N. E., & Baum, A. (1985). Biological commonalities of stress and substance abuse. In S. Shiffman & T. A. Wills (Eds.), *Coping and substance use* (pp. 25-62). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

Grunberg, N. E. (1990). The inverse relationship between tobacco use and body weight. In L. T. Kozlowski, H. M. Annis, H. D. Cappel, F. B. Glaser, M. S. Goodstadt, Y. Israel, H. Kalunt, E. M. Selers & E. R. Vingilis (Eds.), *Research advances in alcohol and drug problems* (Vol. 10). New York: Plenum.

Grunberg, N. E., & Casino Klein, L. (1998). The relevance of stress and eating to the study of gender and drug use. In C. L. Weatherington & A. B. Roman (Eds.), *National Institute on Drug Abuse Report: Drug Addiction Research* and the Health of Women.

Halikas, J. A. (1997). Craving. In J. H. Lowinson, P. Ruiz, R. B. Millman & J. G. Langrod (Eds.), Substance abuse: A comprehensive textbook. Baltimore, ML: Williams & Wilkins.

- Hall, S. M., Munoz, R., & Reus, V. (1991). Smoking cessation, depression and dysphoria. *NIDA Research Monograph*, *105*, 312-313.
- Hall, S. M., Munoz, R. F., Reus, V. I., & Sees, K. L. (1993). Nicotine, negative affect, and depression. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 61, 761-767.

Hampson, S. (1988). The Construction of Personality (2nd ed.). London: Routledge.

- Harmon-Jones, E., & Siegelman, J. (2001). State anger and prefrontal brain activity: Evidence that insult-related relative left-prefrontal activation is associated with experienced anger and aggression. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 80, 797–803.
- Hatsukami, D. K., Hughes, J. R., & Pickens, R. W. (1985a). Blood nicotine, smoke exposure and tobacco withdrawal symptoms. *Addictive Behaviors*, 10, 413-417.
- Hatsukami, D. K., Hughes, J. R., & Pickens, R. W. (1985b). Characterization of tobacco withdrawal: physiological and subjective effects. *NIDA Research Monograph*, 53, 56-67.
- Heath, A. C., Madden, P. A., Slutske, W. S., & Martin, N. G. (1995). Personality and the inheritance of smoking behavior: a genetic perspective. *Behavior Genetics*, 25, 103-117.
- Heatherton, T., Kozlowski, L., Frecker, R., & Fagerstrom, K. O. (1991). The Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence. *British Journal of Addiction, 86*, 1119-1127.
- Heimer, L., Alheid, G. F., de Olmos, J. S., Groenewegen, H. J., Haber, S. N., Harlan, R. E., et al. (1997). The accumbens: beyond the core-shell dichotomy. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 9(3), 354-381.
- Heishman, S. J. (2001). Tobacco--the once and future addiction. Addiction, 96, 1389-1390.
- Henningfield, J. E., & Griffiths, R. R. (1981). Cigarette smoking and subjective response: effects of d-amphetamine. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, *30*, 497-505.
- Henningfield, J. E., Miyasato, K., & Jasinski, D. R. (1985). Abuse liability and pharmacodynamic characteristics of intravenous and inhaled nicotine. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 234, 1-11.
- Henningfield, J. E., Clayton, R., & Pollin, W. (1990). Involvement of tobacco in alcoholism and illicit drug use. *British Journal of Addiction*, 85, 279-291.
- Hepburn, L., & Eysenck, M. W. (1989). Personality, average mood and mood variability. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 10, 975-983.
- Heponiemi, T., Keltikangas-Jarvinen, L., Kettunen, J., Puttonen, S., & Ravaja, N. (2004). BIS-BAS sensitivity and cardiac autonomic stress profiles. *Psychophysiology*, 41, 37-45.
- Hetherington, M. M., & Rolls, B. J. (1996). Sensory-specific satiety: theoretical frameworks and central characteristics. In E. D. Capaldi (Ed.), *Why we eat what we eat: the psychology of eating* (pp. 267-290). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Heubeck, B. G., Wilkinson, R. B., & Cologon, J. (1998). A second look at Carver and White's (1994) BIS/BAS scales. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 25, 785–800.
- Heyman, G. M. (1996). Resolving the contradictions of addiction. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 19, 561-610.
- Hinde, R. A. (1995). A suggested structure for a science of relationships. *Personal Relationships*, 2, 1-16.
- Hoebel, B. G. (1988). Neuroscience and motivation: Pathways and peptides that define motivational systems. In R. C. Atkinson, R. J. Herrnstein, G. Lindzey

& R. D. Luce (Eds.), *Steven's handbook of experimental psychology* (pp. 547-625). New York: Wiley.

- Hox, J. J. (1995). Applied Multilevel Analysis. Amsterdam: TT-Publikaties.
- Hox, J. J. (2002). *Multilevel Analysis. Techniques and Applications*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Hughes, J. R., Higgins, S. T., & Hatsukami, D. (1990). Effects of abstinence from tobacco: A critical review. In L. T. Kowzlowski, H. M. Annis, H. D. Cappell, et al. (Eds.), Research advances in alcohol and drug problems, (Vol. 10, pp. 317–398). New York: Plenum.
- Hunt, W. A., & Matarazzo, J. D. (1970). Habit mechanisms in smoking. In W. A. Hunt (Ed.), *Learning mechanisms in smoking* (pp. 65-106). Chicago: Aldine.
- Huston-Lyons, D., & Kornetsky, C. (1992). Effects of nicotine on the threshold for rewarding brain stimulation in rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, *41*, 755-759.
- Hyman, S. E., & Malenka, R. C. (2001). Addiction and the brain: the neurobiology of compulsion and its persistence. *National Review of Neuroscience*, *2*, 695-703.
- Istvan, J., & Matarazzo, J. D. (1984). Tobacco, alcohol and caffeine use: a review of their interrelationships. *PsychologicaI Bulletin*, *95*, 310-326.
- Ikard, F. F., Green, D. E., & Horn, D. (1969). A scale to differentiate between different types of smoking as related to the management of affect. *International Journal of the Addictions*, *4*, 649-59.
- Izard, C. E. (1993). Four systems for emotion activation: cognitive and noncognitive processes. *Psychological Review*, *100*, 68-90.
- Jaffe, J. H. (1990). Tobacco smoking and nicotine dependence. In S. Wonnacott, M. A. Russell & I. P. Stolerman (Eds.), *Nicotine psychopharmacology* (pp. 1-37). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Jarvis, M. J. (1997). Patterns and predictions of smoking cessation in the general population. In C. T. Bolliger & K. O. Fagerstrom (Eds). The tobacco epidemic. *Progress in Respiratory Research, 28*, 151-164. Basel: Karger.
- Jenkinson, C., Stewart-Brown, S., Petersen, S., & Paice, C. (1999). Assessment of the SF-36 Version 2 in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Epidemiological Community Health*, 53, 46-50.
- Johnson, S. L., Turner, R. J., & Noboru, I. (2003). BIS/BAS levels and psychiatric disorder: An epidemiological study. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 25, 25-36.
- Juliano, L. M., & Brandon, T. H. (1998). Reactivity to instructed smoking availability and environmental cues: evidence with urge and reaction time. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *6*, 45-53.
- Julien, R. M. (1997). Drugs and pharmacology. Heidelberg: Spektrum Verlag.
- Kalman, D. (2002). The subjective effects of nicotine: Methodological issues, a review of experimental studies, and recommendations for future research. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, *4*, 25-70.
- Kane, T., Loxton, N. J., Staiger, P., & Dawe, S. (2004). Does the tendency to act impulsively underlie binge eating and alcohol use problems? An empirical investigation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 36, 83-94.
- Kant, A. K., Graubard, B. I., & Schatzkin, A. (2004). Dietary Patterns Predict Mortality in a National Cohort: The National Health Interview Surveys, 1987 and 1992. *Journal of Nutrition, 134*, 1793 - 1799.
- Kappas, A. (2002). The science of emotion as a multidisciplinary research paradigm. *Behavioural Processes, 60*, 85-98.
- Karlsson, J., Persson, L. O., Sjostrom, L., & Sullivan, M. (2000). Psychometric properties and factor structure of the Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ) in obese men and women. Results from the Swedish Obese Subjects (SOS) study. International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders, 24, 1715-1725.
- Kassel, J. D., & Shiffman, S. (1997). Attentional mediation of cigarette smoking's

effect on anxiety. Health Psychology, 16, 359-368.

- Kassel, J. D. (1997). Smoking and attention : a review and reformulation of the stimulus-filter hypothesis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *17*, 451-478.
- Kassel, J. D., & Unrod, M. (2000). Smoking, anxiety, and attention: support for the role of nicotine in attentionally mediated anxiolysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 109, 161-166.
- Kassel, J. D., Stroud, L. R., & Paronis, C. A. (2003). Smoking, stress, and negative affect: correlation, causation, and context across stages of smoking. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*, 270-304.
- Kaye, W. H. (1999). The new biology of anorexia and bulimia nervosa: implications for advances in treatment. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 7, 157-161.
- Kelley, H. H. (1997). Expanding the analysis of social orientations by reference to the sequential-temporal structure of situations. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 27, 373–404.
- Kelley, A. E., & Berridge, K. C. (2002). The neuroscience of natural rewards: relevance to addictive drugs. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22, 3306-3311.
- Kensinger, E. A., & Corkin, S. (2003). Memory enhancement for emotional words: Are emotional words more vividly remembered than neutral words? *Memory* and Cognition, 31, 1169-1180.
- Killen, J. D., Fortmann, S. P., Kraemer, H. C., Varady, A., & Newman, B. (1992). Who will relapse? Symptoms of nicotine dependence predict long-term relapse after smoking cessation. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 60, 797-801.
- Killen, J. D., & Fortmann, S. P. (1997). Craving is associated with smoking relapse: findings from three prospective studies. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *5*, 137-142.
- Kinnunen, T., Doherty, K., Militello, F. S., & Garvey, A. J. (1996). Depression and smoking cessation: characteristics of depressed smokers and effects of nicotine replacement. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64, 791-798.
- Koob, G. F., & Le Moal, M. (1997). Drug abuse: hedonic homeostatic dysregulation. *Science*, 278(5335), 52-58.
- Koob, G. F. (1999). The role of the striatopallidal and extended amygdala systems in drug addiction. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 877, 445-460.
- Koob, G. F. (2003). Neuroadaptive mechanisms of addiction: studies on the extended amygdala. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 13, 442-452.
- Kozlowski, L. T., Mann, R. E., Wilkinson, D. A., & Poulos, C. X. (1989). Cravings: are ambiguous: ask about urges or desires. *Addictive Behaviors*, 14, 443-445.
- Kreft, I. G. G. (1996). Are multilevel techniques necessary? An overview, including simulation studies. Los Angeles, CA: California State University.
- Kubicka, L., Matejcek, Z., Dytrych, Z., & Roth, Z. (2001). IQ and personality traits assessed in childhood as predictors of drinking and smoking behaviour in middle-aged adults: a 24-year follow-up study. *Addiction*, *96*, 1615-1628.
- Kuczmarski, R. J., & Flegal, K. M. (2000). Criteria for definition of overweight in transition: Background and recommendations for the United States. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72, 1067-1068.
- Kunst-Wilson, W. R., & Zajonc, R. B. (1980). Affective discrimination of stimuli that cannot be recognized. *Science*, 207(4430), 557-558.
- Lamiell, J. T. (1997). Individuals and the differences between them. In R. Hogan, J. A. Johnson & S. Briggs (Eds.), *Handbook of personality psychology* (pp. 117-141). New York: Academic Press.
- Lane, J. D. (1996). Association of coffee drinking with cigarette smoking in the natural environment. *Experimental Clinical Psychopharmacololgy*, 4, 409-412.
- Lang, P. J., Davis, M., & Ohman, A. (2000). Fear and anxiety: animal models and

human cognitive psychophysiology. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 61, 137-159.

- Lazev, A. B., Herzog, T. A., & Brandon, T. H. (1999). Classical conditions of environmental cues to cigarette smoking. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 7, 56-63.
- LeDoux, J. (1996). Emotional networks and motor control: a fearful view. *Progress* in Brain Research, 107, 437-446.
- LeDoux, J. (1998). Fear and the brain: where have we been, and where are we going? *Biological Psychiatry*, 44(12), 1229-1238.
- Levenson, R. W. (1992). Autonomic nervous system differences among emotions. *Psychological Science*, *3*, 23-27.
- Leventhal, H., & Cleary, P. D. (1980). The smoking problem: A review of the research and theory in behavioral risk modification. *Psychological Bulletin*, 88, 370-405.
- Litt, M. D., Cooney, N. L., & Morse, P. (1998). Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) with treated alcoholics: methodological problems and potential solutions. *Health Psychology*, *17*, 48-52.
- Loas, G. (1996). Vulnerability to depression: a model centered on anhedonia. Journal of Affective Disorders, 41, 39-53.
- Lowe, M. R., Friedman, M. I., Mattes, R., Kopyt, D., & Gayda, C. (2000). Comparison of verbal and pictorial measures of hunger during fasting in normal weight and obese subjects. *Obesity Research*, 8, 566-574.
- Ludwig, A. M., & Wikler, A. (1994). "Craving" and relapse to drink. In J. D. Levin & R. H. Weiss (Eds), *The dynamics and treatment of alcoholism: Essential papers* (pp. 389-406). Northvale NJ: Jason Aronson.
- Lynn, P. (2001). The impact of incentives on response rates to personal interview surveys: Role and perceptions of interviewers. *International Journal of Public Opinion Research*, 13, 326-336.
- Lyvers, M. (1998). Drug addiction as a physical disease: the role of physical dependence and other chronic drug-induced neurophysiological changes in compulsive drug self-administration. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *6*, 107-125.
- Maas, L. C., Lukas, S. E., Kaufman, M. J., Weiss, R. D., Daniels, S. L., Rogers, V. W., Kukes, T. J., & Renshaw, P. F. (1998). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of human brain activation during cue-induced craving. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 155, 124-126.
- Maas, C. J. M., & Snijders, T. A. B. (2003). The multilevel approach to repeated measures for complete and incomplete data. *Quality and Quantity*, *37*, 71-89.
- Macht, M., Gerer, J., & Ellgring, H. (2003). Emotions in overweight and normalweight women immediately after eating foods differing in energy. *Physiology and Behavior*, 80, 367-374.
- Mackintosh, N. J. (1983). Conditioning and associative learning. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Mandler, G. (1984). Mind and body. New York: Norton.
- Markou, A., Weiss, F., Gold, L. H., Caine, S. B., Schulteis, G., & Koob, G. F. (1993). Animal models of drug craving. *Psychopharmacology*, *112*, 163-182.
- Marlatt, G. A. (2002). Do animal models provide a valid analogue for human drug lapse and relapse? Comment on Leri and Stewart (2002). *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 10, 359-360; discussion 364-356.
- Marsh, A., & Mathieson, J. (1983). *Smoking attitudes and behaviour*. London: HMSO.
- Marshall, W. R., Epstein, L. H., & Green, S. B. (1980). Coffee drinking and cigarette smoking: I. Coffee, caffeine and cigarette smoking behavior. Addictive Behaviors, 5, 389-394.
- Mathieu-Kia, A. M., Kellogg, S. H., Butelman, E. R., & Kreek, M. J. (2002). Nicotine addiction: insights from recent animal studies. *Psychopharmacology*, 162(2),

102-118.

Mattes, R. D., & Friedman, M. I. (1993). Hunger. Digestive Diseases, 11, 65-77.

- Matthews, G., Jones, D. M., & Chamberlain, A. G. (1990). Refining the measurement of mood: The UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist. British Journal of Psychology, 81, 17-42.
- Matthews, G., & Deary, I. J. (1998). *Personality traits*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Matthews, G., Deary, I., & Whiteman, M. (2003). *Personality Traits* (2nd ed.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- McAdams, D. P. (1995). What do we know when we know a person? Journal of Personality, 63, 365-396.

McClure, J. B., Wetter, D. W., de Moor, C., Cinciripini, P. M., Gritz, E. R. (2002). The relation between alcohol consumption and smoking abstinence: results from the Working Well Trial. *Addictive Behaviors*, *27*, 367-379.

McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T., Jr. (1996). Toward a new generation of personality theories: Theoretical contexts for the five-factor model. In J. S. Wiggins (Ed.), The five-factor model of personality: Theoretical perspectives (pp. 51-87). New York: Guilford.

McCusker, C. G., & Brown, K. (1991). The cue-responsivity phenomenon in dependent drinkers: personality and anxiety as intervening variables. *British Journal of Addiction, 86*, 905-912.

McKennell, A. C. (1970). Smoking motivation factos. *British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 9, 8-22.

McMahon, B. (1999). Child and Adolescent Psychopathology as Risk Factors for Subsequent Tobacco Use. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, 1, 45-50.

McManus, I. C., & Weeks, S. J. (1982). Smoking, personality and reasons for smoking. *Medicine*, 12, 347-356.

Medvedova, L., & Kovac, T. (2004). Research on coping with stress in the Research Institute for Child Psychology and Pathopsychology in Bratislava. *Psychology Science*, 46, S113-112.

Meliska, C. J., & Gilbert, D. G. (1991). Hormonal and subjective effects of smoking the first five cigarettes of the day: a comparison in males and females. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior, 40*, 229-235.

Mello, N. K., Mendelson, J. H., Sellers, M. L., & Kuehnle, J. C. (1980). Effect of alcohol and marijuana on tobacco smoking. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 27, 202-209.

Merikle, E. P. (1999). The subjective experience of craving: An exploratory analysis. *Substance Use and Misuse, 34*, 1101-1115.

Mezinskis, J., Somoza, E. C., & Dyrenforth, S. R. (1995). *Drug craving versus* withdrawal symptoms: Are they different? Presented at the 148th Annual American Psychiatric Association Meeting; Miami Beach, Florida.

Miller, N. S., & Gold, M. S. (1994). Dissociation of "conscious desire" (craving) from and relapse in alcohol and cocaine dependence. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, 6, 99–106.

- Miller, N. S., & Gold, M. S. (1998). Comorbid cigarette and alcohol addiction: epidemiology and treatment. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, *17*, 55-66.
- Mintz, J., Boyd, G., Rose, J. E., Charuvastra, V. C., Jarvik, M. E. (1985). Alcohol increases cigarette smoking: a laboratory demonstration. *Addictive Behaviors*, 10, 203-207.

Mischel, W., & Schoda, Y. (1995). A cognitive-affective system theory of personality: Reconceptualizing situations, dispositions, dynamics, and invariance in personality structure. *Psychological Review*, 102, 246-268.

Mogg, K., Bradley, B. P., Field, M., & De Houwer, J. (2003). Eye movements to smoking-related pictures in smokers: relationship between attentional biases and implicit and explicit measures of stimulus valence. Addiction, 98, 825-836.

Mohr, C. D., Armeli, S., Tennen, H., Carney, M. A., Affleck, G., & Hromi, A. (2001).

Daily interpersonal experiences, context, and alcohol consumption: Crying in your beer and toasting good times? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *80*, 489-500.

- Mok, M. (1995). Sample size requirements for 2-level designs in educational research. London: University of London.
- Monahan, J. L., Murphy, S. T., & Zajonc, R. B. (2000). Subliminal mere exposure: specific, general, and diffuse effects. *Psychological Science*, 11(6), 462-466.
- Monti, P. M., Rohsenow, D. J., Colby, S. M., & Abrams, D. B. (1995). Smoking among alcoholics during and after treatment: implications for models, treatment strategies, and policy. In J. B. Fertig & J. P. Allen (Eds.), Alcohol and tobacco: from basic science to clinical practice (pp. 17-33). Bethesda MD: National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism.
- Mook, D. G. (1983). In defense of external invalidity. *American Psychologist, 38*, 379-387.
- Mucha, R. F., Pauli, P., & Angrilli, A. (1998). Conditioned responses elicited by experimentally produced cues for smoking. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, *76*, 259-268.
- Mucha, R. F., Geier, A., & Pauli, P. (1999). Modulation of craving by cues having differential overlap with pharmacological effect: evidence for cue approach in smokers and social drinkers. *Psychopharmacology*, *147*, 306-313.
- Murphy, S. T., & Zajonc, R. B. (1993). Affect, cognition, and awareness: affective priming with optimal and suboptimal stimulus exposures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *64*(5), 723-739.
- Murray, G., Allen, N. B., & Trinder, J. (2002). Longitudinal investigation of mood variability and the FFM: Neuroticism predicts variability in extended states of positive and negative affect. *Personality and Individual Differences, 33*, 1217-1228.
- Neisser, U. (1976). Cognition and reality. San Francisco: Freeman.
- Nestler, E. J., & Aghajanian, G. K. (1997). Molecular and cellular basis of addiction. Science, 278(5335), 58-63.
- Newhouse, P. A., Sunderland, T., Narang, P. K., Mellow, A. M., Fertig, J. B., Lawlor, B. A., et al. (1990). Neuroendocrine, physiologic, and behavioral responses following intravenous nicotine in nonsmoking healthy volunteers and in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 15(5-6), 471-484.
- Niaura, R., Abrams, D. B., Pedraza, M., Monti, P. M., & Rohsenow, D. J. (1992). Smokers' reactions to interpersonal interaction and presentation of smoking cues. Addictive Behaviors, 17, 557-566.
- Niaura, R., Abrams, D. B., Shadel, W. G., Rohsenow, D. J., Monti, P. M., & Sirota, A. D. (1999). Cue exposure treatments for smoking relapse prevention: A controlled clinical trial. *Addiction*, 94, 685-695.
- Niaura, R. (2000). Cognitive social learning and related perspectives on drug craving. *Addiction, 95*, S155-163.
- Niedenthal, P. M., Halberstadt, J. B., & Innes-Ker, A. H. (1999). Emotional response categorization. *Psychological Review*, 106, 337-361.
- Nunally, J. C. (1978). Psychometric Theory. New York: McGraw Hill.
- O'Conner, K., & Langlois, R. (1998). Changes in confidence and craving during smoking reduction. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, *5*, 145-154.
- Office for National Statistics. (2000). Statistics on smoking, 1978 onwards. London: Stationery office.
- Office for National Statistics. (2001). Smoking related behaviour and attitudes, 2000. London: Stationery office.
- Office for National Statistics, Social Survey Division. (2002). Living in Britain: Results from the 2001 General Household Survey. London: The Stationery Office.
- Ogden, J. (1994). Effects of smoking cessation, restrained eating, and motivational states on food intake in the laboratory. *Health Psychology*, 13, 114-121.

Olsen, J. (1991). Cigarette smoking, tea and coffee drinking, and subfecundity. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 133, 734-739.

Osborne, J. W. (2000). Advantages of hierarchical linear modelling. *Practical* Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 7, 1-6.

Owen, N., Wakefield, M., Roberts, L., & Esterman, A. (1992). Stages of readiness to quit smoking: population prevalence and correlates. *Health Psychology*, 11, 413-417.

Paine, T. A., Dringenberg, H. C., & Olmstead, M. C. (2003). Effects of chronic cocaine on impulsivity: relation to cortical serotonin mechanisms. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 147(1-2), 135-147.

Parrott, A. C. (1992). Smoking and smoking cessation: effects upon human performance. *Journal of Smoking-Related Disorders*, *3*, 43-53.

Parrott, A. C., Garnham, N. J., & Mesnes, K. (1996). Cigarette smoking and abstinence: comparative effects upon cognitive task performance and mood state over 24 hours. *Human Psychopharmacology*, 11, 391-400.

Parrott, A. C. (1998). Nesbitt's Paradox resolved? Stress and arousal modulation during cigarette smoking. *Addiction*, *93*, 27-39.

Parrott, A. C., & Garnham, N. J. (1998). Comparative mood states and cognitive skills of cigarette smokers, deprived smokers and nonsmokers. *Human Psychopharmacology*, 13, 367–376.

Parrott, S., Godfrey, C., Raw, M., West, R., & McNeill, A. (1998). Guidance for commissioners on the cost-effectiveness of smoking cessation interventions. *Thorax, 53*, S1-38.

Parrott, A. C. (1999). Does cigarette smoking cause stress? *American Psychologist*, 54, 817-820.

Patton, D., Barnes, G. E., & Murray, R. P. (1997). A personality typology of smokers. *Addictive Behaviors*, 22, 269-273.

Payne, T. J., Schare, M. L., Levis, D. J., & Colletti, G. (1991). Exposure to smokingrelevant cues: Effects on desire to smoke and topographical components of smoking behaviour. Addictive Behaviours, 16, 467-479.

Payne, T. J., Smith, P. O., Sturges, L. V., & Holleran, S. A. (1996). Reactivity to smoking cues: mediating roles of nicotine dependence and duration of deprivation. *Addictive Behaviors*, 21, 139-154.

Peeters, F., Nicolson, N. A., Berkhof, J., Delespaul, P., & deVries, M. (2003). Effects of daily events on mood states in major depressive disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 112, 203-211.

Perkins, K. A., Grobe, J. E., Fonte, C. F., & Breus, M. (1992). "Paradoxical" effects of smoking on subjective stress versus cardiovascular arousal in males and females. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behaviour, 42*, 301-311.

Perkins, K. A., Grobe, J. E., Epstein, L. H., Caggiula, A., Stiller, R. L., & Jacob, R. G. (1993). Chronic and acute tolerance to subjective effects of nicotine. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior, 45*, 375-381.

Perkins, K. A. (1996). Sex differences in nicotine versus non-nicotine reinforcement as determinants of tobacco smoking. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 4, 166-177.

Perkins, K. A., Donny, E., & Caggiula, A. R. (1996). Sex differences in nicotine effects and self-administration: review of human and animal evidence. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, *1*, 301-315.

Perkins, K. A., Grobe, J., & Fonte, C. (1997). Influence of acute smoking exposure on the subsequent reinforcing value of smoking. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 5, 277-285.

Perkins, K. A., Donny, E., & Caggiula, A. R. (1999). Sex differences in nicotine effects and self-administration: review of human and animal evidence. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, *1*, 301-315.

Perkins, K. A., Fonte, C., & Grobe, J. E. (2000). Sex differences in the acute effects of cigarette smoking on the reinforcing value of alcohol. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, *11*, 63-70.

Perkins, K., Sayette, M., Conklin, C., & Caggiula, A. (2003). Placebo effects of tobacco smoking and other nicotine intake. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, 5, 695-709.

Piasecki, T. M., Fiore, M. C., & Baker, T. B. (1998). Profiles in discouragement: two studies of variability in the time course of smoking withdrawal symptoms. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 107, 238-251.

Piazza, P. V., & Le Moal, M. (1998). The role of stress in drug self-administration. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 19, 67-74.

Pickens, R. W., & Johanson, C. E. (1992). Craving: consensus of status and agenda for future research. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *30*, 127-131.

Pickering, A. D. (1997). The conceptual nervous system and personality: From Pavlov to neural networks. *European Psychologist*, *2*, 139-163.

Pickering, A. D., Corr, P. J., Powell, J. H., Kumari, V., Thornton, J. C., & Gray, J. A. (1997). Individual differences in reactions to reinforcing stimuli are neither black nor white: To what extent are they Gray? In H. Nybrog (Ed.), *The scientific study of human nature: Tribute to Hans J. Eysenck at eighty* (pp. 36-67). London: Elsevier Sciences.

Pickering, A. D., & Gray, J. A. (1999). The neuroscience of personality. In L. A. Pervin (Ed.), *Handbook of personality: Theory and research*. New York: Guilford Press.

Pickering, A. D., Corr, P. J., & Gray, J. A. (1999). Interactions and reinforcement sensitivity theory: a theoretical analysis of Rusting and Larsen (1997). *Personality and Individual Differences*, 26, 357-365.

Pickering, A. D., & Gray, J. A. (2001). Dopamine, appetitive reinforcement, and the neuropsychology of human learning: An individual differences approach. In
 A. Eliasz, & A. Angleitner (Eds.), Advances in individual differences research (pp. 113-149). Lengerich, Germany: PABST Science Publishers.

Piper, M. E., Piasecki, T. M., Federman, E. B., Bolt, D. M., Smith, S. S., Fiore, M. C., et al. (2004). A multiple motives approach to tobacco dependence: the Wisconsin Inventory of Smoking Dependence Motives (WISDM-68). Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology, 72, 139-154.

Pirke, K. M., & Laessle, R. G. (1993). Restrained eating. In A. J. Stunkard (Ed.), Obesity. Theory and Therapy (pp. 151-162). New York: Raven Press.

Pomerleau, O. F., & Pomerleau, C. S. (1984). Neuroregulators and the reinforcement of smoking: Towards a biobehavioral explanation. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 8*, 503-513.

Pomerleau, O. F., & Pomerleau, C. S. (1991). Research on stress and smoking: Progress and problems. *British Journal of Addiction*, *86*, 599-603.

Pomerleau, C. S., & Pomerleau, O. F. (1992). Euphoriant effects of nicotine in smokers. *Psychopharmacology*, 108, 460-465.

Pomerleau, C. S., Tate, J. C., Lumley, M. A., & Pomerleau, O. F. (1994). Gender differences in prospectively versus retrospectively assessed smoking withdrawal symptoms. *Journal of Substance Abuse*, 6, 433-440.

Pomerleau, O. F., Pomerleau, C. S., & Namenek, R. J. (1998). Early experiences with tobacco among women smokers, ex-smokers, and never-smokers. *Addiction, 93*, 595-599.

Pope, C., & Mays, N. (1995). Reaching the parts other methods cannot reach: an introduction to qualitative methods in health and health services research. *British Medical Journal, 311*, 42-45.

Powell, J., Gray, J. A., Bradley, B. P., Kasvikis, Y., Strang, J., Barratt, L., et al. (1990). The effects of exposure to drug-related cues in detoxified addicts: a theoretical review and some new data. *Addictive Behaviors*, *15*, 339-354.

Quinn, D. I., Wodak, A., & Day, R. O. (1997). Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic principles of illicit drug use and treatment of illicit drug users. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 33(5), 344-400.

Quirk, S. W. (2001). Emotion concepts in models of substance abuse. Drug and Alcohol Review, 20, 99-108.
- Raudenbush, S. W., Bryk, A. S., Cheong, Y. F., & Congdon, R. (2000). *HLM5: Hierarchical linear and nonlinear modelling*. Chicago: Scientific Software International.
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical Linear Models: Applications* and data analysis methods (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Reis, H. T., & Stiller, J. (1992). Publication trend in JPSP: A three-decade review. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 18*, 465-472.
- Reis, H. T. (1994). Domains of experience: investigating relationship processes from three perspectives. In R. Erber & R. Gilmore (Eds.), *Theoretical frameworks in personal relationships* (pp. 87-110). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Reis, H. T., & Gable, S. L. (2000). Event-sampling and other methods for studying everyday experience. In T. H. Reis & M. C. Judd (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods in social and personality psychology* (pp. 190-222). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Reuter, M., & Netter, P. (2001). The influence of personality on nicotine craving: a hierarchical multivariate statistical prediction model. *Neuropsychobiology*, 44, 47-53.
- Richmond, R. L., Kehoe, L. A., & Webster, I. W. (1993). Multivariate models for predicting abstention following intervention to stop smoking by general practitioners. *Addiction*, 88, 1127–1135.
- Riedel, B. W., Robinson, L. A., Klesges, R. C., & McLain-Allen, B. (2003). Ethnic differences in smoking withdrawal effects among adolescents. *Addictive Behaviors*, 28, 129-140.
- Robinson, T. E., & Berridge, K. C. (1993). The neural basis of drug craving: an incentive-sensitization theory of addiction. *Brain Research Review*, 18, 247-291.
- Robinson, T. E., & Berridge, K. C. (2000). The psychology and neurobiology of addiction: an incentive-sensitization view. *Addiction*, *95*, S91-117.
- Robinson, T. E., & Berridge, K. C. (2001). Incentive-sensitization and addiction. Addiction, 96, 103-114.
- Rogers, P. J. (1995). Food, mood and appetite. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, *8*, 243-269.
- Rogers, P. J. (1995). Food, mood and appetite. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, *8*, 243-269.
- Rohsenow, D. J., Niaura, R. S., Childress, A. R., Abrams, D. B., & Monti, P. M. (1990-1991). Cue reactivity in addictive behaviors: theoretical and treatment implications. *International Journal of Addiction*, 25(7A-8A), 957-993.
- Roll, J. M., Higgins, S. T., Budney, A. J., Bickel, W. B., & Badger, G. J. (1996). A comparison of cocaine-dependent cigarette smokers and non-smokers on demographic, drug use and characteristics. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 40, 195-201.
- Rolls, E. T. (1999). The brain and emotion. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Rose, J. E. (1986). Cigarette smoking blocks caffeine-induced arousal. Alcohol and Drug Research, 7, 49-55.
- Rose, J. E. (1996). Nicotine addiction and treatment. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 47, 493-507.
- Ross, M. (1989). Relation of implicit theories to the construction of personal histories. *Psychological Review*, *96*, 341-357.
- Royce, J. M., Corbett, K., Sorensen, G., & Ockene, J. (1997). Gender, social pressure, and smoking cessations: the Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation (COMMIT) at baseline. Social Science and Medicine, 44, 359-370.
- Rozin, P., & Fallon, A. E. (1987). A perspective on disgust. *Psychological Review*, 94, 23-41.

- Russell, M. A., Peto, J. & Patel, U. A. (1974). The classification of smoking by a factorial structure of motives. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*, *137*, 313–346.
- Russell, M. A., Wilson, C., Patel, U. A., Feyerabend, C., & Cole, P. V. (1975). Plasma nicotine levels after smoking cigarettes with high, medium, and low nicotine yields. *British Medical Journal*, 2(5968), 414-416.
- Rustin, T. A. (1991). *Quit and Stay Quit: A personal program to stop smoking*. Center City, MN: Hazelden Educational Materials.
- Rustin, T. A., & Tate, J. C. (1993). Measuring the stages of change in cigarette smokers. *Journal of Substance Abuse and Treatment, 10*, 209-220.
- Salomone, J. D. 1994. The involvement of nucleus accumbens dopamine in appetitive and aversive motivation. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 61, 117–133.
- Sanders, D., Peveler, R., Mant, D., & Fowler, G. (1993). Predictors of successful smoking cessation following advice from nurses in general practice. *Addiction, 88*, 1699-1705.
- Sayette, M., & Hufford, M. (1995). Urge and affect: a facial coding analysis of smokers. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *3*, 417-423.
- Sayette, M. A., Martin, C. S., Hull, J. G., Wertz, J. M., & Perrott, M. A. (2003). Effects of nicotine deprivation on craving response covariation in smokers. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 112, 110-118.
- Schacter, D. L. (2001). The seven sins of memory. New York: Houghton Mifflin.
- Schilit, R., & Gomberg, E. S. L. (1991). *Drugs and human behaviour: A sourcebook* for the helping professions. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Schimmack, U., & Grob, A. (2000). Dimensional models of core affect: A quantitative comparison by means of structural equation modeling. *European Journal of Personality*, 14, 325-345.
- Schimmack, U. (2001). Pleasure, displeasure, and mixed feelings: Are semantic opposites mutually exclusive? *Cognition and Emotion*, *15*, 81-97.
- Schinka, J. A., Haley, J. L., & Greene, R. L. (1997). *Emerging issues and methods in personality assessment*. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Schmitz, J. M., Schneider, N. G., & Jarvik, M. E. (1997). Nicotine. In J. H. Lowinson, P. Ruiz, R. B. Millman & J. G. Langrod (Eds.), *Substance abuse: A comprehensive textbook.* (pp. 276-294). Baltimore, ML: Williams & Wilkins.
- Schroeder, B. E., Binzak, J. M., & Kelley, A. E. (2001). A common profile of prefrontal cortical activation following exposure to nicotine or chocolateassociated contextual cues. *Neuroscience*, 105, 535-545.
- Schultz, W. (1998). Predictive reward signal of dopamine neurons. J Neurophysiology, 80, 1-27.
- Schultz, W. (2000). Multiple reward signals in the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 1, 199-207.
- Schuster, C. R. (1990). The National Institute on Drug Abuse in the decade of the brain. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *3*(5-6), 315-318.
- Schwarz, N., Groves, R., & Schuman, H. (1998). Survey methods. In D. Gilbert, S. Fiske & G. Lindzey (Eds.), *Handbook of social psychology* (4th ed., Vol. 1, pp. 143-179). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Schwarz, N. (1999). Self reports: How the questions shape the answers. American *Psychologist*, 54, 93-105.
- Scollon, C. N., Kim-Prieto, C., & Diener, E. (2003). Experience sampling: Promises and pitfalls, strengths and weaknesses. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 4, 5-34.
- Segal, D. L., & Coolidge, F. L. (2003). Objective assessment of personality and psychopathology: An overview. In M. J. Hilsenroth, D. L. Segal & M. Hersen (Eds.), Comprehensive handbook of psychological assessment: Personality assessment (pp. 3-13). Hoboken, NJ: J. Wiley & Sons.
- Self, D. W. (1998). Neural substrates of drug craving and relapse in drug addiction. Annals of Medicine, 30, 379-389.

- Shadel, W. G., Niaura, R., Goldstein, M. G., & Abrams, D. B. (2000). Does the Five Factor Model of personality apply to smokers? A preliminary investigation. *Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research*, *5*, 114-120.
- Shadel, W. G., Niaura, R., Brown, R. A., Hutchison, K. E., & Abrams, D. B. (2001). A content analysis of smoking craving. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *57*, 145-150.
- Shaffer, H. J. (1997). The psychology of stage change. In J. H. Lowinson, P. Ruiz, R. B. Millman & J. G. Langrod (Eds.), *Substance abuse: a comprehensive textbook* (pp. 100-106). Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Shaham, Y., Funk, D., Erb, S., Brown, T. J., Walker, C. D., & Stewart, J. (1997). Corticotropin-releasing factor, but not corticosterone, is involved in stressinduced relapse to heroin-seeking in rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 2605-2614.
- Shapiro, D., Jamner, L. D., Davydov, D. M., & James, P. (2002). Situations and moods associated with smoking in everyday life. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 16, 342-345.
- Sherwood, N. (1993). Effects of nicotine on human psychomotor performance. Human Psychopharmacology, 8, 155-184.
- Shiffman, S., & Jarvik, M. E. (1976). Smoking withdrawal symptoms in two weeks of abstinence. *Psychopharmacology*, *50*, 35-39.
- Shiffman, S., & Prange, M. (1988). Self-reported and self-monitored smoking patterns. *Addictive Behaviors, 13*, 201-204.
- Shiffman, S. (1989). Trans-situational consistency in smoking relapse. *Health Psychology*, *8*, 471-481.
- Shiffman, S., Paty, J. A., Kassel, J. D., Gnys, M., & Zettler-Segal, M. (1994). Smoking behaviour and smoking history of tobacco chippers. *Experimental* and Clinical Psychology, 2, 126-142.
- Shiffman, S., Paty, J. A., Gnys, M., Kassel, J. A., & Hickcox, M. (1996). First lapses to smoking: within-subjects analysis of real-time reports. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *64*, 366-379.
- Shiffman, S., Hickcox, M., Paty, J. A., Gnys, M., Richards, T., & Kassel, J. D. (1997a). Individual differences in the context of smoking lapse episodes. *Addictive Behaviors, 22*, 797-811.
- Shiffman, S., Hufford, M., Hickcox, M., Paty, J. A., Gnys, M., & Kassel, J. D. (1997b). Remember that? A comparison of real-time versus retrospective recall of smoking lapses. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65, 292-300.
- Shiffman, S. (1998). Behavioural assessment. In D. Donovan & G. Marlatt (Eds.), Assessment of addictive behaviours (pp. 139-188). New York: Guildford.
- Shiffman, S., Paty, J. A., Rohay, J. M., Di Marino, M. E., & Gitchell, J. G. (2001). The efficacy of computer-tailored smoking cessation material as a supplement to nicotine patch therapy. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 64, 35-46.
- Shiffman, S., Gwaltney, C. J., Balabanis, M. H., Liu, K. S., Paty, J. A., Kassel, J. D., Hickcox, M., & Gnys, M. (2002). Immediate antecedents of cigarette smoking: an analysis from ecological momentary assessment. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 111, 531-545.
- Shiffman, S., Paty, J. A., Gwaltney, C. J., & Dang, Q. (2004). Immediate antecedents of cigarette smoking: An analysis of unrestricted smoking patterns. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 133, 166-171.
- Shiffman, S., & Waters, A. J. (2004). Negative affect and smoking lapses: a prospective analysis. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72, 192-201.
- Siegel, S. (1988). Drug anticipation and the treatment of dependence. *NIDA Research Monograph, 84*, 1-24.
- Smith, G. M. (1970). Personality and smoking: A review of the empirical literature. In W. A. Hunt (Ed.), *Learning mechanisms and smoking*. Chicago: Aldinc.

Smith, B. D., J., W. R., & Jones, B. E. (1983). Extraversion and multiple levels of caffeine-induced arousal: effects on overhabituation and dishabituation. *Psychophysiology*, 20, 29-34.

Snijders, T. A. B., & Bosker, R. J. (1999). *Multilevel analysis: An introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Solomon, R. L., & Corbit, J. D. (1974). An opponent-process theory of motivation. I. Temporal dynamics of affect. *Psychological Review*, *81*, 119-145.
- Solomon, R. L. (1980). The opponent-process theory of acquired motivation: the costs of pleasure and the benefits of pain. *American Psychologist, 35*, 691-712.

Somoza, E. C., Dyrenforth, S. R., & Goldsmith, J. (1995). *In search of a universal drug craving scale.* Presented at the 148th Annual American Psychiatric Association Meeting; Miami Beach, Florida.

Soria, R., Stapleton, J. M., Gilson, S. F., Sampson-Cone, A., Henningfield, J. E., & London, E. D. (1996). Subjective and cardiovascular effects of intravenous nicotine in smokers and non-smokers. *Psychopharmacology*, 128, 221-226.

Spanagel, R., & Weiss, F. (1999). The dopamine hypothesis of reward: past and current status. *Trends in Neuroscience*, 22, 521-527.

Spielberger, C. (1986). Psychological determinants of smoking behavior. In R. Tollison (Ed.), Smoking and society: Toward a more balanced assessment (pp. 89-134). Lexington, MA: Heath.

Spielberger, C. (1996). *State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory*. Odessa: Psychological Assessment Resources.

Spring, B., Wurtman, J., Gleason, R., Wurtman, R., & Kessler, K. (1991). Weight gain and withdrawal symptoms after smoking cessation: a preventive intervention using d-fenfluramine. *Health Psychology*, 10, 216-223.

Spring, B., Pagoto, S., McChargue, D., Hedeker, D., & Werth, J. (2003). Altered reward value of carbohydrate snacks for female smokers withdrawn from nicotine. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior, 76*, 351-360.

- Staiger, P., Dawe, S., & McCarthy, R. (2000). Responsivity to food cues in bulimic women and controls. *Appetite*, *35*, 27-33.
- Stahl, S. M. (2000). *Essential psychopharmacology* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Steiner, J. E., Glaser, D., Hawilo, M. E., & Berridge, K. C. (2001). Comparative expression of hedonic impact: affective reactions to taste by human infants and other primates. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 25*, 53-74.

Stelmack, R. M., & Stalikas, A. (1991). Galen and the Humor theory of temperament. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 12, 255-263.

Stewart, J., de Wit, H., & Eikelboom, R. (1984). The role of unconditioned and conditioned drug effects in the self-administration of opiates and stimulants. *Psychological Review*, 91, 251-268.

- Steyer, R., Schmitt, M., & Eid, M. (1999). Latent state-trait theory and research in personality and individual differences. *European Journal of Personality*, 13(389-408).
- Stone, A. A., Kessler, R. C., & Haythornthwaite, J. A. (1991). Measuring daily events and experiences: Decisions for the researcher. *Journal of Personality*, 59, 575-607.
- Stone, A. A., Neale, J. M., & Shiffman, S. (1993). Daily assessments of stress and coping and their association with mood. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 15, 8-16.
- Stone, A. A., & Shiffman, S. (1994). Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) in behavioral medicine. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *16*, 199-202.
- Stone, A. A., Smyth, J., Pickering, T., & Schwartz, J. (1996). Daily mood variability: Shapes of diurnal patterns and determinants of diurnal patterns. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 26, 1286–1305.
- Stone, A. A., Shiffman, S., & DeVries, M. W. (1999). Ecological momentary assessment. In D. Kahneman, E. Diener & N. Schwarz (Eds.), *Well-being:*

The Foundations of Hedonic Psychology (pp. 61-84). New York: Russell-Sage.

- Stone, A. A., Shiffman, S., Schwartz, J. E., Broderick, J. E. & Hufford, M. R. (2002). Patient non-compliance with paper diaries. *British Medical Journal, 324*, 1193-1194.
- Stone, A. A., Shiffman, S., Schwartz, J. E., Broderick, J. E. & Hufford, M. R. (2003). Patient compliance with paper and electronic diaries. *Controlled Clinical Trials*, 24, 182-199.
- Stunkard, A. J., & Messick, S. (1985). The three-factor eating questionnaire to measure dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 29, 71-83.
- Stunkard, A. J., & Wadden, T. A. (1990). Restrained eating and human obesity. *Nutrition Reviews*, 48, 78-86.
- Tate, J. C., & Stanton, A. L. (1990). Assessment of the validity of the Reasons for Smoking scale. *Addictive Behaviors, 15*, 129-135.
- Tate, J., & Schmidt, J. M. (1993). A proposed revision of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire. *Addictive Behaviours, 18*, 135-143.
- Tavares, H., Zilberman, M. L., & el-Guebaly, N. (2003). Are there cognitive and behavioural approaches specific to the treatment of pathological gambling? *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 48, 22-27.
- Taylor, J. A. (1953). A personality scale of manifest anxiety. *Journal of Abnormal* and Social Psychology, 48, 285-290.
- Taylor, R. C., Harris, N. A., Singleton, E. G., Moolchan, E. T., & Heishman, S. J. (2000). Tobacco craving: intensity-related effects of imagery scripts in drug abusers. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 8, 75-87.
- Ten Berge, M. A., & De Raad, B. (2002). The structure of situations from a personality perspective. *European Journal of Personality*, 16, 81-102.
- Ternes, J. W. (1977). An opponent-process theory of habitual behavior with special reference to smoking. In M. E. Jarvik, J. W. Cullen, E. R. Grits, T. M. Vogt & L. J. West (Eds.), *Research on smoking behavior* (pp. 157-182). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Terracciano, A., & Costa, P. T., Jr. (2004). Smoking and the Five-Factor Model of personality. *Addiction*, 99, 472-481.
- Thayer, R. E. (1996). *The origins of everyday moods*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Thomas, D. L., & Diener, E. (1990). Memory and accuracy in the recall of emotions. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 59, 291-297.
- Tiffany, S. T., & Drobes, D. J. (1990). Imagery and smoking urges: the manipulation of affective content. *Addictive Behaviors*, *15*, 531-539.
- Tiffany, S. T. (1990). A cognitive model of drug urges and drug-use behavior: Role of automatic and nonautomatic processes. *Psychological Review*, 97, 147-168.
- Tiffany, S. T., & Drobes, D. J. (1991). The development and initial validation of a questionnaire on smoking urges. *British Journal of Addiction, 86*, 1467-1476.
- Tiffany, S. T. (1992). A critique of contemporary urge and craving research: Methodological, psychometric, and theoretical issues. *Advances in Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 14, 123-139.
- Tiffany, S. T. (1995). Potential functions of classical conditioning in drug addiction. In D. C. Drummond, S. T. Tiffany, S. Glautier, & B. Remington (Eds.), *Addictive behavior: Cue exposure, theory, and practice* (pp. 47-71). New York: John Wiley and Sons
- Tiffany, S. T. (1997). New perspectives on the measurement, manipulation and meaning of drug craving. *Human Psychopharmacology*, *12*, 103 113.
- Tiffany, S. T. (1999). Cognitive concepts of craving. Alcohol Research and Health, 23, 215-224.
- Tiffany, S. T., & Conklin, C. A. (2000). A cognitive processing model of alcohol

craving and compulsive alcohol use. Addiction, 95, S145-153.

- Tiffany, S. T., Cox, L. S., & Elash, C. A. (2000). Effects of transdermal nicotine patches on abstinence-induced and cue-elicited craving in cigarette smokers. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *68*, 233-240.
- The Tobacco Products Labelling (Safety) Regulations. (1991). *Consumer Protection* (Statutory Instruments: 1991: 1530). London: Stationery Office.
- Tomkins, S. (1992). Affect, imagery, consciouness, Vol. 4: Cognition: Duplication and transformation of information. New York: Springer Publishing.
- Toneatto, T. (1999a). A metacognitive analysis of craving: implications for treatment. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *55*, 527-537.
- Toneatto, T. (1999b). Metacognition and substance use. Addictive Behaviors, 24, 167-174.
- UNDCP and WHO Informal Expert Committee on the Drug-Craving Mechanism. (1992). Report, United Nations International Drug Control Programme and World Health Organisation. Technical report series V. 92-54439T
- U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2000). *Nutrition and your health: Dietary guidelines for Americans* (5th ed). USDA Home and Garden Bulleting No. 232, Washington, DC: USDA.
- Vague, J. (1991). Obesities. London: John Libbey.
- Verheul, R., van den Brink, W., & Geerlings, P. (1999). A three-pathway psychobiological model of craving for alcohol. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 34, 197-222.
- Verheul, R., van den Brink, W., & Geerlings, P. (1999). A three-pathway psychobiological model of craving for alcohol. *Alcohol and Alcoholism, 34*, 197-222.
- Viscusi, W. K. (1990). Do smokers underestimate risks? Journal of Political Economy, 98, 1253-1269.
- Volkow, N. D., Wang, G. J., Fowler, J. S., Gatley, S. J., Logan, J., Ding, Y. S., et al. (1999). Blockade of striatal dopamine transporters by intravenous methylphenidate is not sufficient to induce self-reports of "high". *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 288(1), 14-20.
- Vollrath, M., & Torgersen, S. (2002). Who takes health risks? A probe into eight personality types. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *32*, 1185-1198.
- Wagenaar, W. A. (1986). My memory: A study of autobiographical memory over six years. *Cognitive Psychology*, 18, 225-252.
- Warburton, D. M. (1988). The puzzle of nicotine use. In M. Lader (Ed.), *The* psychopharmacology of addiction (pp. 27-49). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Warburton, D. M. (1990). Heroin, cocaine and low nicotine. In D. M. Warburton (Ed.), *Addiction controversies* (pp. 21-35). London: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Warburton, D. M. (1992). Nicotine as a cognitive enhancer. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 16, 181-191.
- Watkins, S. S., Koob, G. F., & Markou, A. (2000). Neural mechanisms underlying nicotine addiction: acute positive reinforcement and withdrawal. *Nicotine and Tobacco Research*, 2(1), 19-37.
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54, 1063-1070.
- Watson, D., & Clark, L. A. (1992). On traits and temperament: General and specific factors of emotional experience and their relation to the five-factor model. *Journal of Personality*, 60, 441-476.
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Harkness, A. R. (1994). Structures of personality and their relevance to psychopathology. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 103, 1-14.
- Watson, D. (2000). Mood and temperament. New York: Guilford Press.

- Weingarten, H. P., & Elston, D. (1991). Food cravings in a college population. Appetite, 17, 167-175.
- Wells, A., & Matthews, G. (1994). Attention and emotion: A clinical perspective. Hove, UK: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Welsh, S. O., Davis, C., & Shaw, A. (1993). USDA's food guide, background and development. Miscellaneous Publication No. 1514. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office.
- West, S. G., & Hepworth, J. T. (1991). Statistical issues in the study of temporal data: daily experiences. *Journal of Personality*, *59*, 609-662.
- West, R. (1993). Beneficial effects of nicotine: fact or fiction? *Addiction*, *88*, 589-590.
- West, R., & Gossop, M. (1994). Overview: A comparison of withdrawal symptoms from different drug classes. *Addiction*, *89*, 1483-1489.
- West, R., McEwan, A., & Bates, C. (1999). Sex and smoking: Comparisons between male and female smokers. London: No Smoking Day.
- Westerterp-Plantenga, M. S., Kempen, K. P. G., & Saris, W. H. M. (1998). Determinants of weight maintenance in women after diet-induced weight reduction. *International Journal of Obesity*, 22, 1-6.

 Wetter, D. W., Kenford, S. L., Welsch, S. K., Smith, S. S., Fouladi, R. T., Fiore, M.
 C., & Baker, T. B. (2004). Prevalence and predictors of transitions in smoking behavior among college students. *Health Psychology*, 23, 168-177.

Wheeler, L., & Reis, H. T. (1991). Self-recording of everyday life events: Origins, types, and uses. *Journal of Personality*, 59, 339-354.

WHO Expert Committees on Mental Health and on Alcohol. (1955). The "craving" for alcohol. *Quarterly Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 16, 33-66.

- WHO. (1997). The World Health Report: Conquering suffering, enriching humanity. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wikler, A. (1965). Conditioning factors in opiate addiction and relapse. In D. I. Willner & G. G. Kassenbaum (Eds.), *Narcotics* (pp. 7-21). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Wikler, A. (1980). *Opioid dependence: Mechanisms and treatment*. New York: Plenum Press.
- Williamson, D. F., Madans, J., Anda, R. F., Kleinman, J. C., Giovino, G. A., & Byers, T. (1991). Smoking cessation and severity of weight gain in a national cohort. New England Journal of Medicine, 324, 739-745.
- Willner, P., Hardman, S., & Eaton, G. (1995). Subjective and behavioural evaluation of cigarette cravings. *Psychopharmacology*, *118*, 171-177.

Wills, T., & Shiffman, S. (1985). Coping and substance abuse: A conceptual framework. In T. Wills & S. Shiffman (Eds.), *Coping and substance abuse* (pp. 1-24). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

- Wills, T. A., & Vaughn, R. (1989). Social support and smoking in early adolescence. Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 12, 321–339.
- Winkielman, P., & Berridge, K. C. (2004). Unconscious emotion. *Current Directions* in Psychological Science, 13, 120-123.
- Wise, R. A., & Bozarth, M. A. (1987). A psychomotor stimulant theory of addiction. *Psychological Review*, *94*, 469-492.
- Wise, R. A. (1988). The neurobiology of craving: Implications for understanding and treatment of addiction. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 97, 118-132.
- Wise, R. A. (1996). Addictive drugs and brain stimulation reward. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 19, 319-340.
- Wise, R. A. (1997). Drug self-administration viewed as ingestive behaviour. Appetite, 28, 1-5.
- Wolf, M. E. (1998). The role of excitatory amino acids in behavioral sensitization to psychomotor stimulants. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *54*, 679-720.
- Zajonc, R. B. (2000). Feeling and thinking: Closing the debate over the independence of affect. In J. P. Forgas (Ed.), *Feeling and thinking: The role of affect in social cognition* (pp. 31-58.). New York: Cambridge University

Press.

- Zelenski, J. M., & Larsen, R. J. (2000). The distribution of emotions in everyday life: A state and trait perspective from experience sampling data. *Journal of Research in Personality, 34*, 178-197.
- Zhang, H., & Sulzer, D. (2004). Frequency-dependent modulation of dopamine release by nicotine. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7, 581-582.
- Zilberman, M. L., Tavares, H., & el-Guebaly, N. (2003). Relationship between craving and personality in treatment-seeking women with substance-related disorders. *BMC Psychiatry*, *3*, 1.
- Zillig, L. M. P., Hemenover, S. H., & Dienstbier, R. A. (2002). What do we assess when we assess a Big 5 trait? A content analysis of the affective, behavioral, and cognitive processes represented in Big 5 personality inventories. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 28*, 847-885.
- Zinbarg, R., & Mohlman, J. (1998). Individual differences in the acquisition of affectively-valenced associations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74, 1024-1040.
- Zinser, M. C., Fiore, M. C., Davidson, R. J., & Baker, T. B. (1999). Manipulating smoking motivation: impact on an electrophysiological index of approach motivation. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 108, 240-254.

Appendix A. Smoking diary materials

-

Smoker History

Gender: Male Female Date of Birth:	(Plea	se tick as	s appropr	iate)			
The following questions gather l answer to each question in the a	backgrour appropriat	nd inform te space.	ation abo	ut your si	moking b	ehaviour.	Please write your
How old were you when you sm	oked you	r first ciga	arette?	an sen da b Galeria da Maria			
How long have you been smoki	ng at your	current i	rate?			deniaen S	
When smoking the heaviest, ho	w many c	igarettes	did you s	moke pe	r day?		
What brand are you currently sr	noking? _						
How many serious attempts to o Total number	quit smoki	ng have y	you made	?			
	cor ili	e si kron					
	F	Readine	ess to C	hange			
How strong is your desire to qui	t smoking	?					
Please indicate the extent of you where 1 indicates that you have desire to quit smoking.	ur desire t no desire	to quit sm to quit s	noking on moking a	the scale nd 10 inc	e below. T licates tha	⁻ he scale at you ha	ranges from 1 to 10, ve a very strong
(No desire)	4	5	6	7	8	9 (Very s	10 strong desire)
How confident are you in your a	bility to qu	uit smokir	ng?				
Please indicate the extent of you wanted to quit) on the scale belo confidence in your ability to quit to quit smoking.	ur confide ow. The s smoking	nce in yo cale rang and 10 in	our ability ges from 1 ndicates th	to quit sn I to 10, w hat you h	noking (if here 1 ind ave abso	you were dicates th lute confi	to decide that you at you have no dence in your ability
1 2 3 (No confidence)	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 (Absolute confidence)
How addicted to smoking do you	u perceive	e yourself	f to be?				
Please indicate the extent to wh scale ranges from 1 to 10, when 10 indicates that, in your opinion	iich you b e 1 indica n, you are	elieve you tes that, heavily a	u are dep in your op addicted t	endent o binion, yo o smokin	n smoking u are not g.	g on the s at all add	scale below. The licted to smoking, and

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (Not at all) (Heavily addicted) Indicate your response to each question by ticking the appropriate box below it.

How much do the people closest to you want you to stop smoking?

They want me to continue smoking
They don't care one way or the other
Somewhat
Very much

Among your close friends, what percentage would you say smoke?

Almost none
 Less than 25 percent
 Between 25 and 50 percent
 About half
 Between 50 and 75 percent
 More than 75 percent

Among the students on your course, what percentage would you say smoke?

Almost none
Less than 25 percent
Between 25 and 50 percent
About half
Between 50 and 75 percent
More than 75 percent

Which of your relatives smoke? (Tick all that apply)

Ц	Parent(s)
	Sibling(s)
	Grandparent(s)
	Partner
	Other

		Revised FTQ		
1. How many cigarettes a day do	o you smoke	? (circle one)		
10 or less	11-15	16-20	21-25	26 or more
2. How deeply do you inhale? (ci	ircle one)			
1	2	3	4	5
I do not inhale	te geografi	Moderately		Very Deeply
3. How often do you smoke more	e in the mor	ning than the rest of the d	ay?	
1 Never	2	3 About half the time	4	5 Always
4. How often do you smoke your	r first cigaret	te within 30 minutes of wa	aking? (circl	e one)
1 Never	2	3 About half the time	4	5 Always
5. How difficult would it be for yo	ou to give up	your first cigarette of the	day? (circle	one)
1 Not Difficult	2	3 Somewhat Difficult	4	5 Extremely Difficult
6. How difficult do you find it to r cinema, etc.)? (circle one)	efrain from s	smoking in places where i	it is forbidde	en (e.g. in church, at the library,
1 Not Difficult	2	3 Somewhat Difficult	4	5 Extremely Difficult
7. How often do you smoke whe (circle one)	en you are si	ck with a cold, the flu, or a	are so ill tha	at you are in bed for most of the day?
1 Never	2	3 About half the time	4	5 Always
8. On average, about how much	n of the cigar	ette do you smoke? (circle	e one)	
1	2	3	4	5
1⁄2 or less	1/2	2/3	3/4	ALL
9. On average, how often do yo	u inhale? (ci	rcle one)		
1 Never	2	3 About half the time	4	5 Always
10. On average, how often do yoone)	ou hold ciga	rette smoke in your lungs	for a mom	ent or two before exhaling? (circle
1 Never	2	3 About half the time	4	5 Always

MORNING ASSESSMENT: Please complete prior to lunch.

The assessment consists of 2 measures: the UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist and the QSU-Brief Form.

Take the assessment at a time when you are not smoking.

Please do not complete this assessment immediately before or after smoking.

Aim for a time when you have not recently smoked and are not preparing to smoke imminently.

When you are ready to complete the 2 measures overleaf, enter the current time below.

TIME NOW: _____

UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist

MORNING ASSESSMENT: Part 1 of 2 (continues on next page)

Instructions

This section of the questionnaire is concerned with your current feelings. Please answer **every** question, even if you find it difficult. Answer, as honestly as you can, what is true of **you**. Please do not choose a reply just because it seems like the 'right thing to say'. Your answers will be kept entirely confidential. Also, be sure to answer according to how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. Don't just put down how you usually feel. You should try and work quite quickly: there is no need to think very hard about the answers. The first answer you think of is usually the best.

Here is a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Please indicate how well each word describes how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. For each word, circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood.

	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly	Definitely
			Not	Not
1. Happy		2	3	4
2. Dissatisfied	1	2	3	4
3. Energetic		2	3	4
4. Relaxed	1	2	3	4
5. Alert		2	3	4
6. Nervous	1	2	3	4
7. Passive	12	. 2	3	4
8. Cheerful	1	2	3	4
9. Tense		2	3	4
10. Jittery	**************************************	2	3	4
11. Sluggish		2	3	411011144
12. Sorry	1	2	3	4
13. Composed		2	3	4
14. Depressed	1 LONGI HER BERTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMONTHERMON	2	3	4 ארא מא נעצריינייניינייניינייניינייניינייניינייניינ
15 Restful		2	3	4
16. Vigorous	1 KNOVERSEMESSEMENTER STREET SCOL	2		4
17 Anxious		2		4
18. Satisfied		2 (2)	3	
		3 1 1 1 2 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		Letter and A
20. 5a0		2 1411133515311521151515		4 1987-1997
22 Active				SALES STOLLA
22. Active	ALL THE REPORT OF TAXABLE	openne		
24 Tired				
25. Impatient			States and the second	HIMMENDER
26 Approved	AND DESCRIPTION OF A DE			
27 Angel	ALL SASSAGES STREET, SASSAGES		EXCLASSING PROVIDE	SKEALAGERED
28 Irritated				
29 Grouchy	Sector and a sector of the	2	3	
	地位10月1日,在日本省委委员会的管理部委员会委员会的"政	如1999年1月1日,1999年1月1日,1999年1月1日 1999年1月1日(1999年1月1日) 1999年1月1日(1999年1月1日)	的时候,我们们不愿意的意义。我们们来了。"	和利益和22回254

QSU-Brief Form

MORNING ASSESSMENT: Part 2 of 2

Instructions

Indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by circling the appropriate score on the scale below it, ranging from 1 (you **strongly disagree** with the statement above) to 7 (you **strongly agree** with the statement above). Please complete every item. We are interested in how you are thinking or feeling **right now** as you are filling out the questionnaire.

١.	Thave a desire for a	cigarette	right now	۷.					
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
2.	Nothing would be be	etter than	smoking	a cigarett	e right no	ow.			
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
3.	If it were possible, I	probably	would sm	oke now.					
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
4.	I could control things	s better ri	ght now if	I could s	moke.				
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
5.	All I want right now i	s a cigare	ette.						
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
6.	I have an urge for a	cigarette							
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
7.	A cigarette would ta	ste good	now.						
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
8.	I would do almost a	nything fo	or a cigar	ette right	now.				
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
9.	Smoking would mak	ke me les	s depress	sed.					
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
10.	I am going to smoke	e as soon	as possi	ble.					
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree

EVENING ASSESSMENT: Please complete in the evening.

The assessment consists of 2 measures: the UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist and the QSU-Brief Form.

Take the assessment at a time when you are not smoking.

Please do not complete this assessment immediately before or after smoking.

Aim for a time when you have not recently smoked and are not preparing to smoke imminently.

When you are ready to complete the 2 measures overleaf, enter the current time below.

TIME NOW: _____

UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist

EVENING ASSESSMENT: Part 1 of 2 (continues on next page)

Instructions

This section of the questionnaire is concerned with your current feelings. Please answer **every** question, even if you find it difficult. Answer, as honestly as you can, what is true of **you**. Please do not choose a reply just because it seems like the 'right thing to say'. Your answers will be kept entirely confidential. Also, be sure to answer according to how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. Don't just put down how you usually feel. You should try and work quite quickly: there is no need to think very hard about the answers. The first answer you think of is usually the best.

Here is a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Please indicate how well each word describes how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. For each word, circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood.

	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly	Definitely
			Not	Not
1. Happy		2	3	4
2. Dissatisfied	1	2	3	4
3. Energetic	1	2	3	4
4. Relaxed	1	2	3	4
5. Alert		2	3	4
6. Nervous	1	2	3	4
7. Passive		2	3	4
8. Cheerful	1	2	3	4
9. Tense		2	3	4
10. Jittery	1 אמר אנות האנושי ויאנים אינים איז מידע אולים אינים לא מידע ביינים	2		4
11: Sluggish		21.1	3.1	4
12. Sorry	1	2	3	4
13. Composed		2,	3	建学学学生4
14. Depressed	AN ARCHINE AND	2	3	4
15. Restful		2	11.13	国际国际管影派4
16. Vigorous	1	2		4
17 Anxious		1	3	4
18. Satisfied	1 CITAL STREET, CONTRACTOR STREET, CONTRACT, CONTRACT, CONTRACT, CONTRACT, CONTRACT, CONTRACT, CONTRACT, CONTRACT	2	3	
19. Unenterprising				关于法律的第三人
20. Sad		2	3 Contentational Technology	4 (1988)
21: Calm				BREADERADURE A
22. Active	U.S.G. SARANA STREAM	2		BITERIAM RID
24 Tirod	a da ser a ser de la companya da ser de la c I			A A
25. Impationt	CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP	2	SECTION STREET, STREET, ST	EFERAL HERE
26 Annoved	i ya kulon na kalingan na kulon na kulo Na kulon na k			anales and the second
27 Apan				
28 Irritated	an tanan manana kata kata kata kata kata kata kata	2	3	A anti-Anti-Selection and
29 Grouchy		2	in the second second	
	這個的考虑是是認識的理論和認識的思想。這些認識的思想的	AF SHE SON HIT FROM THE SECOND STREET, ST		AGAR-SHIP DEPENDING

QSU-Brief Form

EVENING ASSESSMENT: Part 2 of 2

Instructions

Indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by circling the appropriate score on the scale below it, ranging from 1 (you **strongly disagree** with the statement above) to 7 (you **strongly agree** with the statement above). Please complete every item. We are interested in how you are thinking or feeling **right now** as you are filling out the questionnaire.

I have a desire for a cigarette right now. 1. Strongly Disagree 1 Strongly Agree 2. Nothing would be better than smoking a cigarette right now. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 3. If it were possible, I probably would smoke now. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 4. I could control things better right now if I could smoke. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree All I want right now is a cigarette. 5. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 6. I have an urge for a cigarette. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 7. A cigarette would taste good now. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree I would do almost anything for a cigarette right now. 8. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 9. Smoking would make me less depressed. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 10. I am going to smoke as soon as possible. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree

BIG 5 (IPIP modification)

<u>On the following pages</u>, there are phrases describing people's behaviours. Please use the rating scale below to describe how accurately each statement describes **you**. Describe yourself as you generally are now, not as you wish to be in the future. Describe yourself as you honestly see yourself, in relation to other people you know of the same sex as you are, and roughly your same age. So that you can describe yourself in an honest manner, your responses will be kept in absolute confidence. Please read each statement carefully, and then circle the number that corresponds to the appropriate description on the scale.

Response Options

- 1: Very Inaccurate
- 2: Moderately Inaccurate
- 3: Neither Inaccurate nor Accurate
- 4: Moderately Accurate
- 5: Very Accurate

	Very Inaccurate	Moderately Inaccurate	Netther Inaccurate nor Accurate	Moderately Accurate	Very
I am the life of the party.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel little concern for others.	1	2	m	4	2
I am always prepared.	1	2	m	4	2
I get stressed out easily.	1	2	m	4	Ω
I have a rich vocabulary.	1	2	ĸ	4	Ŋ
I don't talk a lot.	1	2	£	4	Ŋ
I am interested in people.	1	2	3	4	Ŋ
I leave my belongings around.	1	2	£	4	5
I am relaxed most of the time.	1	2	ß	4	S
I have difficulty understanding abstract ideas.	1	2	m	4	5
I feel comfortable around people.	1	2	3	4	2
I insult people.	1	2	ĸ	4	ŝ
I pay attention to details.	1	2	m	4	5
I worry about things.	1	2	m	4	ŝ
I have a vivid imagination.	1	2	£	4	Ŋ
I keep in the background.	1	2	ĸ	4	5
I sympathise with others' feelings.	1	2	£	4	5
I make a mess of things.	1	2	m	4	5

	Very Inaccurate	Moderately Inaccurate	Neither Inaccurate nor Accurate	Moderately Accurate	Very
I seldom feel blue.	1	2	e	4	5
I am not interested in abstract ideas.	1	2	m	4	ŝ
I start conversations.	1	2	m	4	Ŋ
I am not interested in other people's problems.	1	2	m	4	Ŋ
I get chores done right away.	1	2	ĸ	4	Ŀ
I am easily disturbed.	1	2	£	4	Ŋ
I have excellent ideas.	1	2	£	4	Ŋ
I have little to say.	1	2	ĸ	4	5
I have a soft heart.	1	2	3	4	5
I often forget to put things back in their proper place.	1	2	£	4	ŝ
I get upset easily.	1	2	ĸ	4	S
I do not have a good imagination.	1	2	m	4	2
I talk to a lot of different people at parties.	1	2	m	4	ß
I'm not really interested in others.	1	2	3	4	5
I like order.	1	2	£	4	Ŀ.
I change my mood a lot.	1	2	m	4	5
I am quick to understand things.	1	2	£	4	5
I don't like to draw attention to myself.	1	2	3	4	2

	Very Inaccurate	Moderately Inaccurate	Neither Inaccurate nor Accurate	Moderately Accurate	Very Accurate
I shirk my duties.	1	2	3	4	5
I take time out for others.	1	2	3	4	5
I have frequent mood swings.	1	2	3	4	5
I use difficult words.	1	2	£	4	5
I don't mind being the centre of attention.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel others' emotions.	1	2	3	4	5
I follow a schedule.	1	2	3	4	5
I get irritated easily.	1	2	3	4	5
I spend time reflecting on things.	1	2	З	4	5
I am quiet around strangers.	1	2	ю	4	5
I make people feel at ease.	1	2	m	4	2
I am exacting in my work.	1	2	ĸ	4	Ŀ
I often feel blue.	1	2	£	4	5
I am full of ideas.	1	2	£	4	5

BIS/BAS scale

what the item says. Please respond to all items; do not leave any blank. Choose only one response to each statement. Please be as accurate and honest as you can be. Each item of this questionnaire is a statement that a person may either agree with or disagree with. For each item, indicate how much you agree or disagree with

	Very true for me	Somewhat true for me	Somewhat false for me	Very false for me
1. Even if something bad is about to happen to me, I rarely experience fear or nervousness.	1	2	e	4
2. I go out of my way to get things I want.	1	2	3	4
3. When I'm doing well at something I love to keep at it.	1	2	e	4
4. I'm always willing to try something new if I think it will be fun.	1	2	3	4
5. When I get something I want, I feel excited and energised.	1	2	3	4
6. Criticism or scolding hurts me quite a bit.	1	2	3	4
7. When I want something I usually go all-out to get it.	1	2	3	4
8. I will often do things for no other reason than that they might be fun.	1	2	3	4
9. If I see a chance to get something I want I move on it right away.	1	2	3	4
10. I feel pretty worried or upset when I think or know somebody is angry at me.	1	2	3	4
11. When I see an opportunity for something I like I get excited right away.	1	2	£	4
12. I often act on the spur of the moment.	1	2	3	4
13. If I think something unpleasant is going to happen I usually get pretty 'worked up'.	1	2	3	4
14. When good things happen to me, it affects me strongly.	1	2	3	4
15. I feel worried when I think I have done poorly at something important.	1	2	3	4
16. I crave excitement and new sensations.	1	2	3	4
17. When I go after something I use a 'no holds barred' approach.	1	2	3	4
18. I have very few fears compared to my friends.	1.	2	e	4
19. It would excite me to win a contest.	1	2	£	4
20. I worry about making mistakes.	1	2	3	4

Information Sheet: The 48-hour monitoring period

This sheet provides some additional advice and instructions for using the diary materials (the Cigarette-diary sheets and Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet) during your monitoring period.

During the monitoring period, you should complete the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet and the compact Cigarette-diary sheets. You will complete the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet by providing your responses on five separate occasions (in five separate columns), as prompted by the sheet. The number of Cigarette-diary sheets you complete is dependent on how many cigarettes you smoke; you should complete one sheet for each cigarette you smoke.

Fixed -Interval Assessment Sheet

At 8pm on the start date that you agreed with the researcher, you should complete the first (leftmost) column of the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet. This marks the start of your monitoring period. You should complete the subsequent fixed-interval assessments at the times stated. On completion of the fifth assessment column, your monitoring period will end.

If, for any of the fixed-interval assessments, you are unable to respond at the time stated, you should try to respond as close to the time as you can. This might mean completing an assessment slightly earlier than prompted if, for example, you are aware in advance that you may not have the opportunity to respond at, or just after, the stated time. It might also mean completing an assessment at the earliest opportunity *after* the stated time; if you are late in responding to a fixed-interval assessment for any reason, you should respond as soon as you are able. Do not leave any assessment columns blank.

When responding, you should write in every cell – if a statement does not fit your experiences, you should put a zero in the appropriate cell to represent this. Similarly, if you have not consumed any alcohol, coffee/tea, or spent any money on tobacco, you should indicate this in the appropriate cell.

Please refer to the instructions on the 'Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet' for further guidance on completing the sheet.

Cigarette-diary sheets

Over the duration of the monitoring period, you should monitor your smoking episodes by completing both sides of a (double-sided) Cigarette-diary sheet for each cigarette you smoke. The sheets are compact enough to be kept with your cigarette packet, and you should keep at least as many sheets with you as cigarettes in your possession.

Although it is important that you complete the pre and post-smoking assessments as close in time to the smoking episode as possible, there may be some situations where it is not safe to do so. You should always prioritise your safety in such situations. For example, if you decide to smoke whilst driving a car, you should safely park your car in order to complete a Cigarette-diary sheet. You would need to park before and after smoking to complete the sheet, and should try to do this – safety permitting – as close to the smoking episode as possible (although delays in responding may be unavoidable).

The sheets allow you to specify the time that you actually smoke, as well as the time at which you begin to complete the corresponding diary sheet. This is so that we can tell when you have had to start a sheet after having actually smoked. If you have to start a sheet after you have smoked, you should fill in the pre-section to reflect your state before you smoked; try to recall exactly how you felt. Normally it will not be necessary to specify a separate smoking time, as you should be filling in the first side of the diary sheet immediately before you smoke.

Try not to modify your smoking patterns during the monitoring period; it is important that you record your normal patterns of behaviour, as they would occur if you were not monitoring them.

Please refer to the A4 sheet entitled 'The Cigarette-diary Sheet' for further instruction on how the sheets should be completed.

The Cigarette-diary Sheet

For each cigarette you smoke during the 48-hour participation period, you should complete a cigarette-diary sheet. The diary sheet is compact enough to be kept with/inside your cigarette packet, so that it is more convenient for you to monitor your smoking episodes as they occur. The diary sheet is double-sided, with the first side of the sheet assessing your pre-smoking state, and the second side assessing your post-smoking state. You should complete the pre-smoking assessment immediately before you begin smoking, and the post-smoking assessment immediately after you have finished smoking.

For each cigarette you smoke, you should complete a cigarette-diary sheet as instructed below:



Fixed Interval Assessment Sheet

This assessment sheet is to be completed five times over the course of the 48-hour diary period. In the first assessment (8pm, DAY 0), answer each section so as to reflect your experiences since 12pm of the same day. At other assessment intervals, you should answer so as to reflect your experiences since the previous assessment interval. For example, the second assessment (12pm, DAY 1) should reflect experiences between 8pm on DAY 0 and 12pm on DAY 1.

ON COMPLETION OF THE FIRST ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 0) YOU SHOULD BEGIN TO MONITOR YOUR SMOKING BEHAVIOUR USING THE CIGARETTE-DIARY SHEETS, AND ON COMPLETION OF THE FIFTH ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 2) YOU SHOULD STOP MONITORING YOUR SMOKING BEHAVIOUR.

Rate how truthfully each statement below reflects your experiences from the time of your previous assessment to the time of the current assessment.

Ratings should be made as a scaled score ranging from 0 to 10 and entered into the appropriate box.

f 0 indicates that the statement is completely false (does not reflect your experiences at all), a rating of 10 indicates that the statement is very true of your experiences.

	0100		1/1	Ū.	AV 7
	DAYU		0	10 / 10m /	ABrm (at altima
	8pm (actual time:)	I Zpm (actual time:	opini (actual time:	1 1 2 PILLI (actual time:	John I Jacinal III Ne.
"I've felt unable to control the important things in my life"	「「「「「「「」」」 「「」」				
"I've felt confident about my ability to handle personal problems"					
"I've felt things were going my way"		and and the second s			
"I've felt difficulties were piling up so high that I could not overcome them"					
"I've frequently felt an urge or desire to smoke"					
"The urges, or desires, to smoke that I've experienced have been weak"		States of the second			
"The urges to smoke that I've experienced have been lasting a long time"	いたいまいたい よいまい				
"I've found it difficult to concentrate on what I've been doing"					
"I have found it easy to ianore potential distractions"	「「「「「「「」」」	たいなが見いなかれた	一部 御子部 なった	「「「「「「「」」」	
"I've frequently been exposed to passive smoke"		and the second second second	and a second second second second		
"Other neonale's smoke has hear very noticeahle"	「「「「「「「「」」」		and the second s	- The Market of the State	1.4
Olitical people's sittoke trus been very troncouple	「日本」」「日本」「日本」「日本」	時不死一ないあみ~ 一時	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Think back over the experiences vou have had since the time of your prev	ious assessment; ov	er this time period:			
What was the most pleasurable experience you had?				14 14	
				Mineso Siplicia Basa Closer There	
Rate the pleasantness of this experience out of 10					
What was the least pleasurable experience you had?			t s Storie		
Rate the unpleasantness of this experience out of 10	「「「「「「」」」			50	
This had available to the time of vour previous assessment	; over this time peri	od:			
	~ と 小松の松を約日の	No. No. No.			
How many units or alconol ridve you collouriteut				-	
How many cups of tea/coffee have you consumed?	■ 「 と 律原教 学 / 水口				

*Overleaf you will find a chart to assist you in calculating your alcohol consumption.

Calculating Alcohol Consumption

This chart enables the calculation of units in any given bottle or can of beer, cider, wine or spirits. Just look down the left hand column until you come to the strength of the drink in question; then read along the line horizontally until you come to the relevant can, bottle or glass size. The figure shown is the total number of units in the container, rounded to the nearest manageable fraction.

		PUI	3 MEAS	URES			BC	TTLES	AND CA	NS																															
%Alcohol by Volume	Beer Cider 1/2 pint	Beer Cider 1pint	Spirits 1/8 gill	Ver- mouth 1/3 gill	Wine 125ml 4oz	Beer Cider 275ml	Beer Cider 330ml	Beer Cider 440ml	Wines Spirits 70cl	Wines Spirits Cider 75cl	Wines Spirits Beer Cider 1litre																														
1%	1/4	1/2	-	-	-	1/4	1/3	1/2	2/3	3/4	1	Low alc	ohol wine	s & beers																											
3%	3/4	13/4	-	-	1/3	3/4	1	1 1/3	2	21/4	3	Low	/strength	beers																											
31/2%	1	2	-	-	1/2	1	1 1/4	11/2	21/2	22/3	31/3	Ctanda		- h 0																											
4%	1	21/4	-	-	1/2	1	1 1/3	1 3/4	23/4	3	4	Standa	ra strengti cider	n deers &																											
41/2%	1 1/4	21/2	-	-	1/2	11/4	11/2	2	31/4	31/3	41/2																														
5%	11/2	23/4	-	-	2/3	11/3	12/3	21/4	31/2	33/4	5	Export	strength																												
51/2%	11/2	3	-	-	2/3	11/2	13/4	21/2	33/4	4	51/2	beers, strong l ciders		Babycham																											
6%	13/4	31/2	-	-	3/4	12/3	2	22/3	41/4	41/2	6	cid	ers																												
8%	21/4	41/2	-	-	1	21/4	22/3	31/2	51/2	6	8		Super																												
9%	21/2	5	-	-	1	21/2	3	4	61/4	63/4	9	Table	Table	Table	Table	Table	Table	Table	Table	Table	Table	Table																		strength	Pomagne
10%	23/4	52/3	-	-	11/4	23/4	31/3	41/2	7	71/2	10												beers																		
11%	3	61/4	-	-	11/3	3	32/3	43/4	73/4	81/4	11	wines																													
12%	-	-	-	-	11/2	-	-	-	81/2	9	12		Barle	ey wine																											
13%	-	-	-	-	12/3	-	-	-	9	93/4	13																														
131/2%	-	-	-	-	12/3	-	-	-	91/2	101/4	131/2	Ginger	wine, Mon	tilla wine																											
141/2%	-	-	-	3/4	13/4	-	-	-	101/4	11	141/2	Verm	ouths, Sar	natogen																											
15%	-	-	-	3/4	2	-	-	-	101/2	111/4	15	E	British she	пту																											
17%	-	-	-	3/4	2	-	-	-	12	123/4	17	C	ream liqe	urs																											
171/2%	-	-	-	1	21/4	-	-	-	121/4	13	171/2	Sh	erry, Advo	ocaat																											
20%	-	-	-	. 1	21/2	-	-	-	14	15	20		Port																												
24%	-	-	2/3	11/4	3	-	-	-	163/4	18	24	Cherry	/ brandy, (Malibu	Campari,																											
25%	-	-	2/3	11/4	3	-	-	-	171/2	183/4	25		Pimms																												
261/2%	-	-	2/3	11/3	31/3	-	-	-	181/2	20	261/2		Liqeurs																												
371/2%	-	-	1	-	42/3	-	-	-	261/4	28	371/2	"Su	ib-norm" S	pirits																											
40%	-	-	1	-	5	-	-	-	28	30	40	St	andard Sp	oirits																											
43%	-	-	1	-	51/3	-	-	-	30	321/4	43	"Impo	rt" Strengt	h Spirits																											

Appendix B. Eating diary materials

Personal Information

Gender: 🗌 Male	E Female	(Please	tick as	appropriate)
----------------	----------	---------	---------	--------------

Date of Birth:

The following questions gather information about your body mass history. Please write your answer to each question in the appropriate space, using a relevant unit of measurement: (cm) (ft in) (kg) (st lbs).

What is your current height?

What is your current weight?

What was your lowest adult weight? _____

What was your highest weight?

What do you consider to be your ideal weight?

Readiness for Dietary Change

In this context, attempts to diet are defined as any periods of time over which you adapt your food intake to achieve weight loss/health improvement.

How many serious attempts to diet have you made?

Total number

How strong is your current desire to diet?

Please indicate the extent of your desire to diet on the scale below. The scale ranges from 1 to 10, where 1 indicates that you have no desire to diet and 10 indicates that you have a very strong desire to diet.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (No desire) (Very strong desire)

How confident are you in your ability to diet?

Please indicate the extent of your confidence in your ability to diet (if you were to decide that you wanted to diet) on the scale below. The scale ranges from 1 to 10, where 1 indicates that you have no confidence in your ability to diet and 10 indicates that you have absolute confidence in your ability to diet.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (No confidence) (Absolute confidence)

How addicted to snacking do you perceive yourself to be?

Please indicate the extent to which you believe you are dependent on snacking on the scale below. The scale ranges from 1 to 10, where 1 indicates that, in your opinion, you are not at all addicted to snacking, and 10 indicates that, in your opinion, you are heavily addicted to snacking.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
(Not at all)										(Heavily addicted)

How much do the people closest to you want you to diet? (Please tick the appropriate box)

Th
Th
Sc
Ve

They want me to continue eating as I do presently They don't care one way or the other Somewhat Very much MORNING ASSESSMENT: Please complete prior to lunch.

The assessment consists of 2 measures: the UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist and the QEU-Brief Form.

Take the assessment at a time when you are not eating.

Please do not complete this assessment immediately before or after eating.

Aim for a time when you have not recently eaten and are not preparing to eat imminently.

When you are ready to complete the 2 measures overleaf, enter the current time below.

TIME NOW: _____

UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist

MORNING ASSESSMENT: Part 1 of 2 (continues on next page)

Instructions

This section of the questionnaire is concerned with your current feelings. Please answer **every** question, even if you find it difficult. Answer, as honestly as you can, what is true of **you**. Please do not choose a reply just because it seems like the 'right thing to say'. Your answers will be kept entirely confidential. Also, be sure to answer according to how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. Don't just put down how you usually feel. You should try and work quite quickly: there is no need to think very hard about the answers. The first answer you think of is usually the best.

Here is a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Please indicate how well each word describes how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. For each word, circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood.

	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly	Definitely
			Not	Not
1. Нарру		2	53	4
2. Dissatisfied	1	2	3	4
3. Energetic		2	3.13	74
4. Relaxed	and the second second	2	3	4
5. Alert		5,2	£3	4
6. Nervous	1	2	3	4
7. Passive	1	, 2	3.1.3	4
8. Cheerful	1	2	3	4
9. Tense		2	3	4
10. Jittery	1	2	3	4
11. Sluggish		2	-3	4
12. Sorry	1	2	3	
13. Composed		A	时间 13 13	4
14. Depressed		2	3	4
15. Restful		2	53	12111111111111111111111111111111111111
16. Vigorous	1	2	S CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR	4
17. Anxious		2	1 1 C 3 3	4
18. Satisfied	1	2	3	4
19. Unenterprising	·公司的法律保持通过法律法		1.14 1.13	制的高端运4
20. Sad	1 100/05/05/979/979/05/05/979/05/05/05/05/05/05/05/05/05/05/05/05/05/	2	3	4
21. Calm		2	1.3	間國國語國國了4
22. Active	1 1970-1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1 1976 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) - 1986 (1986) -	2 ************************************	3	4
23. Contented	三国的国际部署的1443年	2.13		4
24. I ired	1 CENTERAL DELANDERS OF REPEATENCES	2 812108-01-02078-0288-0888-08	3 	4
25. Impatient		2.1.1	3.	网络哈哈哈哈格
26. Annoyed		2	3	4 2011
27. Angry		Ren Hereite 2 an an a		
20. Irritated	1 Construction of the second	2 01011111112000	3	4
29. Grouchy	与为此的法律和利用的有法	and the second second	3	688

QEU-Brief Form

MORNING ASSESSMENT: Part 2 of 2

Instructions

Indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by circling the appropriate score on the scale below it, ranging from 1 (you **strongly disagree** with the statement above) to 7 (you **strongly agree** with the statement above). Please complete every item. We are interested in how you are thinking or feeling **right now** as you are filling out the guestionnaire.

1. I have a desire to eat right now.

Stre	ongly Disagree	1 a.e 1 e e 6	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
2.	Nothing would be	better than	n eating	somethin	g right no	w.			
Stre	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
з.	If it were possible,	I probably	would	eat now.					
Stre	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
4.	I could control thin	ngs better i	right nov	v if I could	eat.				
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
5.	All I want right not	w is somet	hing to e	at.					
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
6.	I have an urge for	something	g to eat.						
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
7.	Eating would be e	enjoyable ri	ght now						
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
8.	I would do almost	anything f	or some	food righ	t now.				
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
9.	Eating would mak	ke me less	depress	ed.					
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
10.	I am going to eat	as soon as	s possibl	e.					
Str	ongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree

EVENING ASSESSMENT: Please complete in the evening.

The assessment consists of 2 measures: the UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist and the QEU-Brief Form.

Take the assessment at a time when you are not eating.

Please do not complete this assessment immediately before or after eating.

Aim for a time when you have not recently eaten and are not preparing to eat imminently.

When you are ready to complete the 2 measures overleaf, enter the current time below.

TIME NOW: _____

UWIST Mood Adjective Checklist

EVENING ASSESSMENT: Part 1 of 2 (continues on next page)

Instructions

This section of the questionnaire is concerned with your current feelings. Please answer **every** question, even if you find it difficult. Answer, as honestly as you can, what is true of **you**. Please do not choose a reply just because it seems like the 'right thing to say'. Your answers will be kept entirely confidential. Also, be sure to answer according to how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. Don't just put down how you usually feel. You should try and work quite quickly: there is no need to think very hard about the answers. The first answer you think of is usually the best.

Here is a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Please indicate how well each word describes how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. For each word, circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood.

	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly	Definitely
			1101	Not
1. Happy	1	2,	3	4
2. Dissatisfied	1	2	3	4
3. Energetic	1.1	2	3	4
4. Relaxed	1	2	3	4
5. Alert	1	2	3	4
6. Nervous	1	2	3	4
7. Passive		2.111	3.5.1.2	57 F1 54
8. Cheerful	1	2	3 HUMBER I REFERENCE	4
9. Tense		216.0	3.4	浙江已经制起4
10. Jittery	1 TOWN RECEIPTION AND THE RESIDENCE	2	3	4 MERICIAN T
11. Sluggish				验证制度法4
12. Sorry	1 Ministerretteren			
13. Composed		KREETERS 2 TERRES		A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
15 Deettul				
16 Vigorous		212220112	2	
17 Anyour			N N I CALLEN AND	
18 Satisfied	2 aan kandis berekender skalder 1		3	4
19 Unentemrising	COLUMN SAY MAN			
20. Sad	1	2 2	3	4
21. Calm				4
22. Active	1 1	2	3	4
23. Contented		2	3	4
24. Tired	1	2	3	4
25. Impatient		2	3	4
26. Annoyed	1	2	3	4
27. Angry	1	2	3	4
28. Irritated	1	2	3	4
29. Grouchy	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2	3	4

QEU-Brief Form

EVENING ASSESSMENT: Part 2 of 2

Instructions

Indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by circling the appropriate score on the scale below it, ranging from 1 (you **strongly disagree** with the statement above) to 7 (you **strongly agree** with the statement above). Please complete every item. We are interested in how you are thinking or feeling **right now** as you are filling out the questionnaire.

1. I have a desire to eat right now. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree Λ 2. Nothing would be better than eating something right now. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree If it were possible, I probably would eat now. 3. Strongly Disagree Δ Strongly Agree 4. I could control things better right now if I could eat. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 5. All I want right now is something to eat. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree I have an urge for something to eat. 6. Strongly Disagree 1 Strongly Agree Eating would be enjoyable right now. 7. Strongly Disagree 1 Strongly Agree I would do almost anything for some food right now. 8. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 9. Eating would make me less depressed. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree 10. I am going to eat as soon as possible. Strongly Disagree Strongly Agree

THQ-Revised Form

Instructions

Indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by circling the appropriate score on the scale below it. Please complete every item. We are interested in how you are thinking or feeling **right now** as you are filling out the questionnaire.

1. How hungry do	you feel rig	ht now?						
Not at all	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	As hungry as I've ever felt
2. How full does y	our stomacl	h feel righ	t now?					
Not at all full	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Very full
3. How strong is y	our desire t	o eat righ	t now?					
Very weak	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Very strong
4. How much food	d do you thir	nk you cou	uld eat rig	ht now?				
Nothing at all	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	A large amount

BIG 5 (IPIP modification)

On the following pages, there are phrases describing people's behaviours. Please use the rating scale below to describe how accurately each statement describes **you**. Describe yourself as you generally are now, not as you wish to be in the future. Describe yourself as you honestly see yourself, in relation to other people you know of the same sex as you are, and roughly your same age. So that you can describe yourself in an honest manner, your responses will be kept in absolute confidence. Please read each statement carefully, and then circle the number that corresponds to the appropriate description on the scale.

Response Options

- 1: Very Inaccurate
- 2: Moderately Inaccurate
- 3: Neither Inaccurate nor Accurate
- 4: Moderately Accurate
- 5: Very Accurate
| | Very
Inaccurate | Moderately
Inaccurate | Neither Inaccurate
nor Accurate | Moderately
Accurate | Very
Accurate |
|-------------------------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------|------------------|
| I am the life of the party. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I feel little concern for others. | 1 | 2 | e | 4 | 5 |
| I am always prepared. | 1 | 2 | æ | 4 | 5 |
| I get stressed out easily. | 1 | 2 | ю | 4 | 5 |
| I have a rich vocabulary. | 1 | 2 | œ | 4 | 5 |
| I don't talk a lot. | 1 | 2 | œ | 4 | 5 |
| I am interested in people. | 1 | 2 | ю | 4 | 5 |
| I leave my belongings around. | 1 | 2 | ß | 4 | 5 |
| I am relaxed most of the time. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I have difficulty understanding abstract ideas. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I feel comfortable around people. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I insult people. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I pay attention to details. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I worry about things. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I have a vivid imagination. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I keep in the background. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I sympathise with others' feelings. | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| I make a mess of things. | 1 | 2 | ß | 4 | 5 |

	Very Inaccurate	Moderately Inaccurate	Neither Inaccurate nor Accurate	Moderately Accurate	Very Accurate
I seldom feel blue.	1	2	m	4	5
I am not interested in abstract ideas.	1	2	e	4	5
I start conversations.	1	2	б	4	5
I am not interested in other people's problems.	1	2	3	4	5
I get chores done right away.	1	2	3	4	5
I am easily disturbed.	1	2	ю	4	5
I have excellent ideas.	1	2	ĸ	4	5
I have little to say.	1	2	m	4	5
I have a soft heart.	1	2	ĸ	4	5
I often forget to put things back in their proper place.	1	2	С	4	5
I get upset easily.	1	2	3	4	5
I do not have a good imagination.	1	2	3	4	2
I talk to a lot of different people at parties.	1	2	3	4	5
I'm not really interested in others.	1	2	3	4	2
I like order.	1	2	3	4	5
I change my mood a lot.	1	2	З	4	2
I am quick to understand things.	1	2	ß	4	5
I don't like to draw attention to myself.	1	2	З	4	5

	Very Inaccurate	Moderately Inaccurate	Netther Inaccurate nor Accurate	Moderately Accurate	Very Accurate
I shirk my duties.	1	2	m	4	5
I take time out for others.	1	2	3	4	5
I have frequent mood swings.	and the second second	2	3	4	5
I use difficult words.	, 1	2	3	4	5
I don't mind being the centre of attention.	1	2	3	4	5
I feel others' emotions.	1	2	e	4	5
I follow a schedule.	1	2	£	4	5
I get irritated easily.	1	2	С	4	5
I spend time reflecting on things.	1	2	3	4	5
I am quiet around strangers.	1	2	ñ	4	5
I make people feel at ease.	1	2	ĸ	4	5
I am exacting in my work.	1	2	£	4	2
I often feel blue.	1	2	ĸ	4	5
I am full of ideas.	1	2	З	4	5

.
-
_
TO.
11
17
(5)
~
m
3444
20 A S
UD.
_

what the item save. Please respond to all items: do not leave any blank. Choose only one response to each statement. Please be as accurate and honest as you can be Each item of this questionnaire is a statement that a person may either agree with or disagree with. For each item, indicate how much you agree or disagree with

Respond to each item as if it were the only item. That is, don't worry about being "consistent" in	your responses. C	Somewhat true	Somewhat false	or each item. Very false
	for me	for me	for me	for me
1. Even if something bad is about to happen to me, I rarely experience fear or nervousness.	1	2	e	4
2. I go out of my way to get things I want.	1	2	C	4
3. When I'm doing well at something I love to keep at it.	1	2	M	4
4. I'm always willing to try something new if I think it will be fun.	1	2	67	4
5. When I get something I want, I feel excited and energised.	1	2	3	4
6. Criticism or scolding hurts me quite a bit.	1	2	ĸ	4
7. When I want something I usually go all-out to get it.	1	2	e	4
8. I will often do things for no other reason than that they might be fun.	1	2	m	47
9. If I see a chance to get something I want I move on it right away.	1	2	m	Ŧ
10. I feel pretty worried or upset when I think or know somebody is angry at me.	1	2	3	4
11. When I see an opportunity for something I like I get excited right away.	1	2	е	4
12. I often act on the spur of the moment.	1	2	m	4
13. If I think something unpleasant is going to happen I usually get pretty 'worked up'.	1	2	m	4
14. When good things happen to me, it affects me strongly.	1	2	£	4
15. I feel worried when I think I have done poorly at something important.	1	2	£	4
16. I crave excitement and new sensations.	1	2	£	4
17. When I go after something I use a 'no holds barred' approach.	1	2	£	4
18. I have very few fears compared to my friends.	1	2	3	4
19. It would excite me to win a contest.	1	2	Э	4
20. I worry about making mistakes.	1	2	3	4

TFEQ scale

what the item says. Please respond to all items; do not leave any blank. Choose only one response to each statement. Please be as accurate and honest as you can be. Each item of this questionnaire is a statement that a person may either agree with or disagree with. For each item, indicate how much you agree or disagree with

	Very true for me	Somewhat tru for me	e Somewhat false forme	Very talse for me
1.1 deliberately take small helpings as a means of controlling my weight.	erana contro dolect lo — contra	2	3	4
2. Sometimes when I start eating, I just can't seem to stop.	an an saoing ar lai 6 D— tiouid	2	E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E	4
I do not eat some foods because they make me fat.	an a Gaedi k -	2	3	аййа Ч
 1 often avoid 'stocking up' on tempting foods. 		2	e	Ą
. When I feel anxious, I find myself eating.		2	3	4
o. When I smell food. I find it difficult to keep from eating, even if I have just finished a med		2	3	4
. I consciously hold back at meals in order not to gain weight.		2	3	4
). When I feel blue, I often overeat.	-	2	3	Φ
. I am always hungry enough to eat at any time.	-	2	З	4
0. I get so hungry that my stomach often feels like a battomless pit.	-	2	3	4
1. I consciously eat less than I want.	1 1 1	2	3	Φ
2. I often feel hungry.	1	2	3	4
3. I eat whatever I want, whenever I want it.	-	2	3	4
4. I find it hard to stop eating before I finish the food on my plate.	1 1 1	2	3	4
5. When I feel Ionely, I console myself by eating.	-	2	3	4
6. I go on eating binges though I am not hungry.	1	2	3	4
7. Being with someone who is eating often makes me hungry enough to eat also.	-	2	3	4
8. I am constantly limiting my food intake and never 'giving in'.	1	2	a te d	4
9. When I see a real delicacy, I often get so hungry that I have to eat right away.	-	2	e	4

Information Sheet: The 48-hour monitoring period

This sheet provides some additional advice and instructions for using the diary materials (the Snack-diary sheets and Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet) during your monitoring period.

During the monitoring period, you should complete the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet and the compact Snackdiary sheets. You will complete the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet by providing your responses on five separate occasions (in five separate columns), as prompted by the sheet. The number of Snack-diary sheets you complete is dependent on how many snacks/meals you consume; you should complete one sheet for each snack or meal that you eat.

Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet

At 8pm on the start date that you agreed with the researcher, you should complete the first (leftmost) column of the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet. This marks the start of your monitoring period. You should complete the subsequent fixed-interval assessments at the times stated. On completion of the fifth assessment column, your monitoring period will end.

If, for any of the fixed-interval assessments, you are unable to respond at the time stated, you should try to respond as close to the time as you can. This might mean completing an assessment slightly earlier than prompted if, for example, you are aware in advance that you may not have the opportunity to respond at, or just after, the stated time. It might also mean completing an assessment at the earliest opportunity *after* the stated time; if you are late in responding to a fixed-interval assessment for any reason, you should respond as soon as you are able. Do not leave any assessment columns blank.

When responding, you should write in every cell – if a statement does not fit your experiences, you should put a zero in the appropriate cell to represent this. Similarly, if you have not consumed any alcohol or coffee/tea you should indicate this in the appropriate cell.

Please refer to the instructions on the 'Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet' for further guidance on completing the sheet.

Snack-diary sheets

Over the duration of the monitoring period, you should monitor your eating episodes by completing both sides of a (double-sided) Snack-diary sheet for each snack/meal you eat. The sheets are compact enough to be kept on your person, and you should keep at least as many sheets with you as the maximum number of eating episodes you expect to occur.

Although it is important that you complete the pre and post-eating assessments as close in time to the eating episode as possible, there may be some situations where it is not safe to do so. You should **always prioritise your safety** in such situations. For example, if you decide to eat whilst driving a car, you should safely park your car in order to complete a Snack-diary sheet. You would need to park before and after eating to complete the sheet, and should try to do this – safety permitting – as close to the snacking episode as possible (although delays in responding may be unavoidable).

The sheets allow you to specify the time that you actually eat, as well as the time at which you begin to complete the corresponding diary sheet. This is so that we can tell when you have had to start a sheet after having actually eaten. If you have to start a sheet after you have eaten, you should fill in the pre- section to reflect your state before you ate; try to recall exactly how you felt. Normally it will not be necessary to specify a separate eating time, as you should be filling in the first side of the diary sheet immediately before you eat each snack.

Try not to modify your eating patterns during the monitoring period; it is important that you record your normal patterns of behaviour, as they would occur if you were not monitoring them.

Please refer to the A4 sheet entitled 'The Snack-diary Sheet' for further instruction on how the sheets should be completed.

Fixed Interval Assessment Sheet

This assessment sheet is to be completed five times over the course of the 48-hour dairy period. In the first assessment (8pm, DAY 0), answer each section so as to reflect your experiences since 12pm of the same day. At other assessment intervals, you should answer so as to reflect your experiences since the previous assessment interval. For example, the second assessment (12pm, DAY 1) should reflect experiences between 8pm on DAY 0 and 12pm on DAY 1.

ON COMPLETION OF THE FIRST ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 0) YOU SHOULD BEGIN TO MONITOR YOUR SNACKING BEHAVIOUR USING THE SNACK-DIARY SHEETS, AND ON COMPLETION OF THE FIFTH ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 2) YOU SHOULD STOP MONITORING YOUR SNACKING BEHAVIOUR.

Rate how truthfully each statement below reflects your experiences from the time of your previous assessment to the time of the current assessment.

Ratings shoud be made on a scale ranging from 0 to 10 and entered into the appropriate box.

A rating of 0 indicates that the statement is completely false (does not reflect your experiences at all), a rating of 10 indicates that the statement is very true of your experiences.

	DAY 0	1	DAY 1	a	AY 2
	8pm (actual time:) 12pm (actual time:) 8pm (actual time:	12pm (actual time:) 8pm (actual time:
"Tve felt unable to control the important things in my life"	いたいというので		「「「「「」」」、「「」」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」	いいないであ	
"T've felt confident about my ability to handle personal problems"	「「「「「「「」」」	「 「 「 」 」 」 」 」 」 」 」 」 」 」		2 1 1	
"T've felt things were going my way"	and the first	Bate & Anthone.		and the second	
"I've felt difficulties were piling up so high that I could not overcome them"	「「「「「「」」」」	「「「「「「「」」」	三 なした 「あまを」 たい	「「「「「「「「」」」	
"T've frequently felt hungry (an urge or desire to eat)"	and the second second second	ちょうしていたいかいたい	all the second of the		
"The urges, or desires, to eat that I've experienced have been weak"		and the state and the	A THE PART AND A THE A		
"The urges to eat that I've experienced have been lasting a long time"		1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1			
"I've found it difficult to concentrate on what I've been doing"					
"I have found it easy to ignore potential distractions"	日本 日本 日本 日本 日本	三十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二十二	の一時になるの時代にあって	「 「 」 「 」 」 」 」	
"T've frequently been around other people eating"	Robert Contractor	「「「「「「「」」」			
"T've been very aware that other people are eating"	「「「「「「」」」	States and safety	and a stand of the stand of the		1913 1913
"I've not spent any time in environments where others are eating"	「日本日本の日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本日本	ローはしたのほうほう	「日日報を加かけ」「「「「「「	「「「「「「「「」」」」	
Think back over the experiences you have had since the time of your previous asses	ssment; over this time perio	:pc		2.25 T	
What was the most pleasurable experience you had?				VVice en Seur tis Rea er Cite d Stite	
Rate the pleasantness of this experience out of 10					
What was the least pleasurable experience you had?	Unger Verm	Tatola Witton	itan fa Expose baorg ch	Low at	
Rate the unpleasantness of this experience out of 10	「日本の一日本の日本の日本	4	ゆう 一 学校 読 神	100	
Think back over your behaviour since the time of your previous assessment; over this	is time period:		durany Ciclan Sigila Sigila Nagi		
How many units of alcohol have you consumed?*	※ 「日本」第一日本の日本の日本		南日子の第二日		
How many cups of tea/coffee have you consumed?	法子教会というという観光		100 A		ar ba

Overheaf you will find a chart to assist you in calculating your alcohol consumption.

ſ

The Snack-diary Sheet

For each snack or meal that you eat during the 48-hour participation period, you should complete a snack-diary sheet. The diary sheet is compact enough to be kept on your person, so that it is more convenient for you to monitor your eating episodes as they occur. The diary sheet is double-sided, with the first side of the sheet assessing your pre-eating state, and the second side assessing your post-eating state. You should complete the pre-eating assessment immediately before you eat the snack or meal and the post-eating assessment immediately after you have finished eating.

For each snack/meal you consume, you should complete a snack-diary sheet:

	This side of the snack-diary sheet should be completed immediately before you eat the snack/meal.
	Please fill in the date (dd/mm) and time (e.g. 13:45/1.45pm) at the top of the page.
Dete 7 / 11 Anne 20:05 (Time ate:)	Underline or circle one of the options here to indicate where you are about to eat. If you choose the "elsewhere" option, please specify your location in a convenient space on the sheet.
reslaurant, other's house, ouldoors off-campus, elsewhere Activity Company Sticking, working subsection Sticking, walking Coursemples, workmales elephoning finding finding finding socialising1aking finding	Underline or circle one or more of the options here to indicate <i>what</i> you are doing as you are about to eat. In the example shown here, the participant has indicated that she is about to eat a snack whilst resting. If you choose the "other" option, please specify your activity in a convenient space on the sheet.
walching TV. Itilitering to music strangers others striking teakcolfee stirking alcohol, sither frow strong is your desire to est right now? Ino desire) 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 (very strong) Mood Definitery Slightly Definitely	Underline or circle one or more of the options here to indicate <i>who</i> you are with as you are about to eat. In the example shown here, the participant is about to smoke in the presence of her <u>partner</u> and her <u>course-mates</u> . She has also underlined <u>eating</u> to indicate that there is at least one other person in her present company who is also eating. If you choose the "others" option, please specify the type of company in a convenient space on the sheet.
Not Not Not Valopy 1 2 3 4 valor 1 2 3 4 valopisin 1 2 3 4 posted 1 2 3 4	Indicate the intensity of your hunger here by circling or underlining the appropriate score on the scale, where 0 indicates that you have no real desire to eat and 6 indicates that you have an intense desire to eat.
	This section of the sheet is concerned with your feelings prior to eating. It presents a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Indicate how well each word describes how you are feeling. For each word, underline or circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood.
dente da rege	Please answer, as honestly as you can, what is true of you . Also, be sure to answer according to how you feel at the moment that you are giving your responses . Don't just put down how you usually feel. Try and work quite quickly: the first answer you think of is usually best.
	This slde of the snack-diary sheet should be completed immediately after you have finished eating.
1 1 1 2 3	Please fill in the present time at the top of the page.
AFTER eating Time how: 20:14 What did you prepare to eat? (List items'appropriate estimates of quantity)	List the items that you prepared to eat here. Please record the approximate values of calorific and fat content after each item (where possible). In the example shown here, the participant has indicated that the cereal bar she prepared to eat contained 127 calories and 1.8 grams of fat.
cereal bar (127.kcal, 18g fat), ande, yoghurt (247.kcal, 2.3\$f)	Underline or circle the appropriate option here to indicate the extent to which you consumed the food you had prepared. In the example here, the participant only ate some of the food she had intended to.
How much of this food did you actority eat? all (none left-over) - most	This question assesses the strength of your urge/desire to eat immediately <i>after</i> you have eaten a snack. Indicate the intensity of your hunger here by circling or underlining the appropriate score on the scale, where 0 indicates that you have no real desire to eat and 6 indicates that you have an overwhelming desire to eat.
Mood Definitely Slightly Slightly Definitely Not Not Not Strike Reppy D 2 3 4 Reference A 4 Referenc	This section of the sheet is concerned with your feelings <i>after</i> eating. It presents a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Indicate how well each word describes how you are feeling. For each word, underline or circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood.
Annoyed 1 2 0 4 Boalieks 9 2 3 4 anxious 2 3 0	Please answer, as honestly as you can, what is true of you . Also, be sure to answer according to how you feel at the moment that you are giving your responses. Don't just put down how you usually feel. Try and work quite quickly: the first answer you think of is usually best.

Calculating Alcohol Consumption

This chart enables the calculation of units in any given bottle or can of beer, cider, wine or spirits. Just look down the left hand column until you come to the strength of the drink in question; then read along the line horizontally until you come to the relevant can, bottle or glass size. The figure shown is the total number of units in the container, rounded to the nearest manageable fraction.

		PU	B MEAS	URES			BC	TTLES	AND CA	NS	******			
%Alcohol by Volume	Beer Cider 1/2 pint	Beer Cider 1pint	Spirits 1/8 gill	Ver- mouth 1/3 gill	Wine 125ml 4oz	Beer Cider 275ml	Beer Cider 330ml	Beer Cider 440ml	Wines Spirits 70cl	Wines Spirits Cider 75cl	Wines Spirits Beer Cider 1litre		ana o¥11+ a	
1%	1/4	1/2	-	-	-	1/4	1/3	1/2	2/3	3/4	1	Low alc	ohol wine	s & beers
3%	3/4	13/4	-	-	1/3	3/4	1	11/3	2	21/4	3	Low	strength	beers
31/2%	1	2	-	-	1/2	1	11/4	11/2	21/2	22/3	31/3	<u></u>		
4%	1	21/4	-	-	1/2	1	11/3	13/4	23/4	3	4	Standa	cider	n beers &
41/2%	1 1/4	21/2	-	-	1/2	1 1/4	11/2	2	31/4	31/3	41/2			
5%	11/2	23/4	-	-	2/3	1 1/3	12/3	21/4	31/2	33/4	5	Export	strength	
51/2%	11/2	3	-	-	2/3	11/2	13/4	21/2	33/4	4	51/2	beers,	strong	Babycham
6%	13/4	31/2	-	-	3/4	12/3	2	22/3	41/4	41/2	6	cid	ers	
8%	21/4	41/2	-	-	1	21/4	22/3	31/2	51/2	6	8		Super	
9%	21/2	5	-	-	1	21/2	3	4	61/4	63/4	9		strength	Pomagne
10%	23/4	52/3	-	-	11/4	23/4	31/3	41/2	7	71/2	10	Table	beers	
11%	3	61/4	-	-	11/3	3	32/3	43/4	73/4	81/4	11	wines		
12%	-	-	-	-	11/2	-	-	-	81/2	9	12		Barle	əy winə
13%	-	-	-	-	12/3	-	-	-	9	93/4	13			
131/2%	-	-	-	-	12/3	-	-	-	91/2	101/4	131/2	Ginger	wine, Mon	tilla wine
141/2%	-	-	-	3/4	13/4	-	-	-	101/4	11	141/2	Verm	ouths, Sar	natogen
15%	-	-	-	3/4	2	-	-	-	101/2	111/4	15	E	British she	rry
17%	-	-	-	3/4	2	-	-	-	12	123/4	17	C	ream liqe	urs
171/2%	-	-	-	1	21/4	-	-	-	121/4	13	171/2	Sh	erry, Advo	ocaat
20%	-	-	-	1	21/2	-	-	-	14	15	20		Port	
24%	-	-	2/3	11/4	3	-	-	-	163/4	18	24	Cherry	/ brandy, (Malibu	Campari,
25%	-	-	2/3	11/4	3	-	-	-	171/2	183/4	25		Pimms	
261/2%	-	-	2/3	11/3	31/3	-	-	-	181/2	20	261/2		Liqeurs	
371/2%	-	-	1	-	42/3	-	-	-	261/4	28	371/2	"Su	b-norm" S	Spirits
40%	-	-	1	-	5	-	-	-	28	30	40	St	andard Sp	pirits
43%	-	-	1	-	51/3	-	-	-	30	321/4	43	"Impo	rt" Strengt	h Spirits

Appendix C. Quasi-interventional diary materials

The initial assessment was the same as that administered in the original smoking diary (Appendix A), and is not shown again here.

.

Information Sheet: The 72-hour monitoring period

This sheet provides some additional advice and instructions for using the diary materials (the Cigarettediary sheets and Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheets) during your monitoring period.

During the monitoring period, you should complete the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheets (1 and 2) and the compact Cigarette-diary sheets. You will complete the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheets by providing your responses on seven separate occasions (in seven separate columns/sections), as prompted by the sheets. The number of Cigarette-diary sheets you complete is dependent on how many cigarettes you smoke; you should complete one sheet for each cigarette you smoke.

Fixed –Interval Assessment Sheet 1

At 8pm on the start date that you agreed with the researcher, you should complete the first (leftmost) column of the Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet. This marks the start of your monitoring period. You should complete the subsequent fixed-interval assessments at the times stated. On completion of the seventh assessment column, your monitoring period will end.

If, for any of the fixed-interval assessments, you are unable to respond at the time stated, you should try to respond as close to the time as you can. This might mean completing an assessment slightly earlier than prompted if, for example, you are aware in advance that you may not have the opportunity to respond at, or just after, the stated time. It might also mean completing an assessment at the earliest opportunity *after* the stated time; if you are late in responding to a fixed-interval assessment for any reason, you should respond as soon as you are able. Do not leave any assessment columns blank.

When responding, you should write in every cell – if a statement does pt fit your experiences, you should put a zero in the appropriate cell to represent this. Similarly, if you have not consumed any alcohol or coffee/tea, you should indicate this in the appropriate cell.

Please refer to the instructions on the 'Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet 1' for further guidance on completing the sheet.

Fixed –Interval Assessment Sheet 2

Every time you complete an assessment column on Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet 1 you should immediately go on to complete the corresponding assessment of mood and urge to smoke on Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet 2.

These measures pertain to your present feelings (at the time you are completing each assessment), you should **not** be thinking back over your experiences as you did for Fixed -Interval Assessment Sheet 1.

Please refer to the instructions on the 'Fixed-Interval Assessment Sheet 2' for further guidance on completing the sheet.

Cigarette-diary sheets

Over the duration of the monitoring period, you should monitor your smoking episodes by completing both sides of a (double-sided) Cigarette-diary sheet for each cigarette you smoke. The sheets are compact enough to be kept on your person/with your cigarette packet, and you should keep at least as many sheets with you as cigarettes.

Although it is important that you complete the pre and post-smoking assessments as close in time to the smoking episode as possible, there may be some situations where it is not safe to do so. You should always prioritise your safety in such situations. For example, if you decide to smoke whilst driving a car, you should safely park your car in order to complete a Cigarette-diary sheet. You would need to park before and after smoking to complete the sheet, and should try to do this – safety permitting – as close to the smoking episode as possible (although delays in responding may be unavoidable).

The sheets allow you to specify the time that you actually smoke, as well as the time at which you begin to complete the corresponding diary sheet. This is so that we can tell when you have had to start a sheet after having actually smoked. If you have to start a sheet after you have smoked, you should fill in the pre-section to reflect your state before you smoked; **try to recall exactly how you felt**. Normally it will not be necessary to specify a separate smoking time, as you should be filling in the first side of the diary sheet immediately before you smoke each cigarette.

Try not to modify your smoking patterns during the monitoring period before you are asked to attempt abstinence; it is important that you record your normal patterns of behaviour, as they would occur if you were not monitoring them. During the abstinence period you are encouraged to refrain from smoking, but, if you do smoke during this period, please monitor each episode using the cigarette-diary sheets as before. **Please prioritise honesty over compliance**. After the phase of encouraged abstinence you will go on monitoring your smoking episodes (if/when they occur) for a further 24 hours. You are not explicitly encouraged to abstain during this final phase of monitoring, but neither are you encouraged to smoke; you should behave as youwould if you were no longer participating in the study.

Please refer to the A4 sheet entitled 'The Cigarette-diary Sheet' for further instruction on how the sheets should be completed.

The Cigarette-diary Sheet

For each cigarette you smoke during the 72-hour participation period, you should complete a cigarette-diary sheet. The diary sheet is compact enough to be kept with/inside your cigarette packet, so that it is more convenient for you to monitor your smoking episodes as they occur. The diary sheet is double-sided, with the first side of the sheet assessing your pre-smoking state, and the second side assessing your post-smoking state. You should complete the pre-smoking assessment immediately before you begin smoking, and the post-smoking assessment immediately after you have finished smoking.

For each cigarette you smoke, you should complete a cigarette-diary sheet as instructed below:





This side of the cigarette-diary sheet should be completed immediately after you have smoked the cigarette.

Indicate how much of the cigarette you smoked by drawing a vertical line at the appropriate point on the cigarette diagram.

Underline or circle the appropriate option here to indicate the extent to which you inhaled when smoking the cigarette.

This question assesses the strength of your urge/desire to smoke immediately after you have smoked a cigarette. Indicate the extent of your desire for a cigarette here by circling or underlining the appropriate score on the scale, where 0 indicates that you have no real desire to smoke and 6 indicates that you have an overwhelming desire to smoke.

This section of the sheet is concerned with your feelings after smoking. It presents a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Indicate how well each word describes how you are feeling. For each word, underline or circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood.

Please answer, as honestly as you can, what is true of **you**. Also, be sure to answer according to how you feel **at the moment that you are giving your responses**. Don't just put down how you usually feel. Try and work quite quickly: the first answer you think of is usually best.

Fixed Interval Assessment Sheet 1

This assessment sheet is to be completed seven times over the course of the 72-hour diary period. In the first assessment (8pm, DAY 0), answer each section so as to reflect your experiences since 12pm of the same day. At other assessment intervals, you should answer so as to reflect your experiences since the previous assessment interval. For example, the second assessment (12pm, DAY 1) should reflect experiences between 8pm on DAY 0 and 12pm on DAY 1.

ON COMPLETION OF THE FIRST ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 0) YOU SHOULD BEGIN TO MONITOR YOUR SMOKING BEHAVIOUR USING THE CIGARETTE-DIARY SHEETS, AND ON COMPLETION OF THE SEVENTH ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 3) YOU SHOULD STOP MONITORING YOUR SMOKING BEHAVIOUR.

YOU ARE ASKED TO ATTEMPT ABSTINENCE FROM SMOKING FROM THE MOMENT THAT YOU COMPLETE THE THIRD ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 1) TO THE MOMENT THAT YOU COMPLETE THE FIFTH ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 2)

Rate how truthfully each statement below reflects your experiences from the time of your previous assessment to the time of the current assessment.

statement is completely false (does not reflect your experiences at all), a rating of 10 indicates that the statement is very true of your experiences. Ratings should be made as a scaled score ranging from 0 to 10 and entered into the appropriate box.

a rating of 0 indicates that the statement is completely laise loos not to the						
	DAYD		۲۲] – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –	41	12	-
	gram (12nm Cactual time	BDM (actual time:)	12pm (actual time:)	8pm (actual time:)	-
	Opini Jaccuai unie.					-
"".va falt unable to control the important things in my life"						-
I versus directions of control and the handle nerconal problems"						-
1 VE FEIL COILIDE IL ADULL 11) ADILLY TO TRATICE POLICIES	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR					-
1 Vertett unitigs were going my way where each discription uses allow up so high that 1 could not overcome them"						-
"I ve trequently teit an urge or desire to sinoke						-
"The urges, or desires, to smoke that I ve experienced have been weak						-
"The urges to smoke that I've experienced have been lasting a long time						_
"The found it difficult to concentrate on what I've been doind"						-
"I have found it easy to ignore potential disulaturity						
"I've frequently been exposed to passive smoke"						
"Other people's smoke has been very noticeable"						
"T've not chent any time in smoky environments"						

tink back over the experiences you have had since the time of your previous assessment; over this time period;

What was the most pleasurable experience you had?	
Date the pleasantness of this experience out of 10	
What was the least pleasurable experience you had?	
019-1	
Rate the unpleasantness of this experience out of 10	

(END ABSTAINING	BEGIN ABSTAINING	BEGIN MONITORING	y cups of tea/coffee have you consumed:
			an of two looffee have volt conclumed?
			lifts of alconol have you consumeut
			TCP

Please turn over for assessments 6 and 7 (DAY 3)

Fixed Interval Assessment Sheet 1 (b)

This assessment sheet is to be completed seven times over the course of the 72-hour diary period. In the first assessment (8pm, DAY 0), answer each section so as to reflect your experiences since 12pm of the same day. At other assessment intervals, you should answer so as to reflect your experiences since the previous assessment interval. For example, the second assessment (12pm, DAY 1) should reflect experiences between 8pm on DAY 0 and 12pm on DAY 1.

ON COMPLETION OF THE FIRST ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 0) YOU SHOULD BEGIN TO MONITOR YOUR SMOKING BEHAVIOUR USING THE CIGARETTE-DIARY SHEETS, AND ON COMPLETION OF THE SEVENTH ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 3) YOU SHOULD STOP MONITORING YOUR SMOKING BEHAVIOUR.

YOU ARE ASKED TO ATTEMPT ABSTINENCE FROM SMOKING FROM THE MOMENT THAT YOU COMPLETE THE THIRD ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 1) TO THE MOMENT THAT YOU COMPLETE THE FIFTH ASSESSMENT (8pm, DAY 2)

Rate how truthfully each statement below reflects your experiences from the time of your previous assessment to the time of the current assessment

Ratings should be made as a scaled score ranging from 0 to 10 and entered into the appropriate box

A rating of 0 indicates that the statement is completely false (does not reflect your experiences at all), a rating of 10 indicates that the statement is very true of your experiences. 1

	1	JH1 3
	12pm (actual time:) 8pm (actual time:
I've felt unable to control the important things in my life"		
I've felt confident about my ability to handle personal problems"		
I've felt things were going my way"		and the second data was not a second
I've felt difficulties were piling up so high that I could not overcome them"	and a second of the second	the second state which we want
I've frequently felt an urge or desire to smoke"	tales of a pulse	「「「「「「「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」
The urges, or desires, to smoke that I've experienced have been weak"		A Street of the second second
The urges to smoke that I've experienced have been lasting a long time"		
I've found it difficult to concentrate on what I've been doing"		
I have found it easy to ignore potential distractions"	A CARLES AND A CAR	
I've frequently been exposed to passive smoke"		
Other people's smoke has been very noticeable"		and the state of the second
The not spent any time in smoky environments"		
	A STATE OF THE STA	

Think back over the experiences you have had since the time of your previous assessment; over this time period:

What was the most pleasurable experience you had?	
Rate the pleasantness of this experience out of 10	
What was the least pleasurable experience you had?	
Rate the unpleasantness of this experience out of 10	and the second se

hink back over your behaviour since the time of your previous assessment; over this time period:

END MONITORING	
	How many cups of tea/coffee have you consumed?
	How many units of alcohol have you consumed?*
	I NINK DACK OVER YOUR DERIGYIOUR SILICE WE WILLE OF YOU PLEASE

*The attached shart will seeist you in salculation wird alcohol consumption

rixed interval Assessment Sheet 2

Mood Form Instructions. The Mood Form presents a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Indicate how well each word describes how you are feeling. This Fixed Interval Assessment Sheet is concerned with your feelings and desire to smoke at each interval.

For each word, underline or circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood right now.

Desire Scale Instructions Indicate the extent of your desire for a cigarette right now by circling or underlining the appropriate score on the scale.

0 indicates that you have no real desire to smoke and 6 indicates that you have an overwhelming desire to smoke.

			-			mou			Dave 1		Rnm	2	
Day 0 8pm	_			T ADO		111/71		+	+ 600			1	
Mood Definitely Slig	ghtly	Slightly Not	Definitely Not	Mood	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly Not D	efinitely Not	Mood	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly Not D	befinitely Not
happy 1	2	5	4	happy	1	2	3	4	happy	-	~	~	4
active 1	2	~	4	active	-	2	3	4	active	1	2	m	Ŧ
relaxed 1	2	3	4	relaxed	-	2	3	4	relaxed	-	2	m	7
sluggish 1	2	7*1	4	dsigguis	1	2		4	sluggish	-		~	4
depressed 1	2	-	4	depressed	1	2	1	4	depressed	-		同時	4
	~		4	annoyed	1	2	1	4	annoyed	1	2 2 2	-77	ч
formed 1	2	s	4	focused	1	2	1	4	focused	-	14	-	Ŧ
aproves 1	2	3	7	SUDIXUE	1	2	3	4	SUDIXUE	-	14	m	4
How stored is vour decire for a c	cinarett	e now?		How strong is	your desire	for a cigarett	te now?		How strong	s your desire	for a cigaret	te now?	
(no desire) 0 1 2	3	4 5	6 (very strong)	(and desire) (-	2 3	4	6 (very strong)	(no desire)	1 0	2	4	6 (very st
				C men		1200		100 001 00	Day 2		8pm		
								-					
				Mood	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly Not	Definitely Not	Mood	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly Not [Definitely Not
				happy	1	2	3	4	happy	1-1-2	~	~	4
				active	1	2	3	4	active	-1-	1	14	ч
				relaxed	1	2	3	4	relaxed	-		10	4
				diugoish	1	2	1	4	ysigguls	1.0		*	4
				depressed	100	2		4	depressed	1			4
				annoyed	-	2	3	4	annoyed	1	1	and a second	4
				focused	-	2	3	Ŧ	focused	1.2	1.1.4.1.4	-	4
				anxious	1	2		4	SUOIXUE	- 1	1.		P.
				How strong	s your desire	for a cigaret	te now?		How strong	is your desire	for a cigare	tte now?	
				(no desire)	0 1	2 3	4	6 (very strong)	(no desire)	0 1	2	4	6 (very s
							110010						
				Day 3		12pm	the second		5 Yec		spm		
				Mood	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly Not	Definitely Not	Mood	Definitely	Slightly	Slightly Not	Definitely Not
				happy	1	2	3	ч	happy		2	r)	4
				active	-	2	e	4	active	1		er.	σ
				relaxed	01 83	2	3	4	relaxed	1	-	~	4
				diuggish	1	2	3	4	sluggish	1 5	2	-	4
•				depressed	1	2	Э	4	depressed	1	2	in	4
				annoyed	1	2	3	4	annoyed	1	2	С	4
				focused	1	2	£	4	focused	1	2	ε.	4
				anxious	1	2	m	•	anxious	-	2	m	4
				How stron	is your desir	e for a cigar	ette now?		How strong	is your desir	e for a cigar	ette now?	
				Inited and		د د		6 Ivervistrand	(no desire)	0 1	2 3	4 5	6 (very

-0

(no desire)

5 6 (very strong)

4

~ ~ -

(no desire) 0

Calculating Alcohol Consumption

This chart enables the calculation of units in any given bottle or can of beer, cider, wine or spirits. Just look down the left hand column until you come to the strength of the drink in question; then read along the line horizontally until you come to the relevant can, bottle or glass size. The figure shown is the total number of units in the container, rounded to the nearest manageable fraction.

		PU	3 MEAS	URES			BC	TTLES	AND CA	ANS				
%Alcohol by Volume	Beer Cider 1/2 pint	Beer Cider 1pint	Spirits 1/8 gill	Ver- mouth 1/3 gill	Wine 125ml 4oz	Beer Cider 275ml	Beer Cider 330ml	Bəər Cidər 440ml	Wines Spirits 70cl	Wines Spirits Cider 75cl	Wines Spirits Beer Cider 1litre			
1%	1/4	1/2	-	-	-	1/4	1/3	1/2	2/3	3/4	1	Low alc	ohol wine	s & beers
3%	3/4	13/4	-	-	1/3	3/4	1	11/3	2	21/4	3	Low	strength	bee r s
31/2%	1	2	-	-	1/2	1	11/4	11/2	21/2	22/3	31/3	Chanda		haana 0
4%	1	21/4	-	-	1/2	1	11/3	13/4	23/4	3	4	Standal	cider	n beers &
41/2%	1 1/4	21/2	-	-	1/2	11/4	11/2	2	31/4	31/3	41/2			
5%	1 1/2	23/4	-	-	2/3	1 1/3	12/3	21/4	31/2	33/4	5	Export s	strength	
51/2%	11/2	3	-	-	2/3	11/2	13/4	21/2	33/4	4	51/2	beers,	strong	Babycham
6%	13/4	31/2	-	-	3/4	12/3	2	22/3	41/4	41/2	6	cia	ers	
8%	21/4	41/2	-	-	1	21/4	22/3	31/2	51/2	6	8		Super	
9%	21/2	5	-	-	1	21/2	3	4	61/4	63/4	9	st	strength	Pomagne
10%	23/4	52/3	-	-	11/4	23/4	31/3	41/2	7	71/2	10	Table	beers	
11%	3	61/4	-	-	11/3	3	32/3	43/4	73/4	81/4	11	wines		
12%	-	-	-	-	11/2	-	-	-	81/2	9	12		Barle	əy winə
13%	-	-	-	-	12/3	-	-	-	9	93/4	13			
131/2%	-	-	-	-	12/3	-	-	-	91/2	101/4	131/2	Ginger	wine, Mor	itilla wine
141/2%	-	-	-	3/4	13/4	-	-	-	101/4	11	141/2	Verm	ouths, Sar	natogen
15%	-	-	-	3/4	2	-	-	-	101/2	111/4	15	E	British she	nry
17%	-	-	-	3/4	2	-	-	-	12	123/4	17	C	ream liqe	urs
171/2%	-	-	-	1	21/4	-	-	-	121/4	13	171/2	Sh	erry, Advo	ocaat
20%	-	-	-	1	21/2	-	-	-	14	15	20		Port	
24%	-	-	2/3	11/4	3	-	-	-	163/4	18	24	Cherry	/ brandy, (Malibu	Campa ri ,
25%	-	-	2/3	11/4	3	-	-	-	171/2	183/4	25		Pimms	
261/2%	-	-	2/3	11/3	31/3	-	-	-	181/2	20	261/2		Liqeurs	
371/2%	-	-	1	-	42/3	-	-	-	261/4	28	371/2	"Su	b-nom" S	Spirits
40%	-	-	1	-	5	-	-	-	28	30	40	St	andard Sp	oirits
43%	-	-	1	-	51/3	-	-	-	30	321/4	43	"Impo	rt" Strengt	th Spirits

Appendix D. Initial questionnaire materials

SMOKER QUESTIONNAIRE

Instructions

This section of the questionnaire gathers information about you and your smoking. Please complete the following sections by filling in the blanks and ticking the appropriate boxes.

		General Information
Date of birth:		
Gender: 🗌 Male	E Female	(Please tick as appropriate)
Time of day now:		

Smoking history

The following questions gather background information about your smoking behaviour. Please fill in the boxes as appropriate.

How old were you when you smoked your first cigarette?
How long have you been smoking at your current rate?
When smoking the heaviest, how many cigarettes did you smoke per day?
How long has it been since you had a cigarette?
(State time elapsed in appropriate units e.g. 5 minutes, 2 weeks, 7 years)
Would you class yourself as an occasional/social smoker?
(Please answer "yes" or "no")
What brand are you currently smoking?

Triggers to smoking

The following questions are designed to identify triggers to your smoking. Please answer all the questions. Extra paper is available if you require more writing space. Current smokers: please answer the questions so as to reflect your recent (and ongoing) smoking-related experiences. Former smokers: please answer the questions so as to reflect your smoking-related experiences before you stopped smoking. Try to recall your usual smoking behaviour, and the thoughts and feelings that you associated with smoking at the time.

External

1. Who are/were you usually with when smoking?

LYÖ SOMANA	Participant No.
2. Where do/did you usually smoke?	
	587 (7. 5) /
3. <u>When</u> do/did you usually smoke?	
entrese fronteu de 北京国際語 現目 Wales Bale United White the arrowing antipolitise receivance	
4. <u>What</u> do/did you usually do while smoking?	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
5. What other things (e.g. specific sights, smells, and tastes) or events do/d	lid you associate with smoking?
While putting on asserted of abroats	
When going cut for the systems	
Off an Value work	
Internal While and sing the second	
1. What are/were your thoughts just before smoking?	
Inside my house I Anywhere house or groups with house I in the meteode of contained according to several according	
 What are/were your feelings just before smoking? (Can you think of s associate with a desire to smoke?) 	pecific feelings that you
Life a beneric som nicker som var det som	

2

•

Trigger Checklist

-

Do/Did you usually smoke in the following situations? (*Please tick all that apply*)

L	When feeling anxious or under a lot of stress
	When wanting something in your mouth
	When relaxing
E	When wanting to cheer up
Ē	When wanting to keep busy
Ē	When bored or trying to pass the time
Ē	When around other smokers
Ē	When drinking alcoholic beverages
Ē	When drinking coffee or tea
Ē	When talking on the telephone
Ē	When in pain
Ē	After meals
Ē	After having sex
ī	While at the toilet
Ē	In the bathtub or shower
ī	After exercising
Ē	While driving a car
ř	While putting on makeup or shaving
ř	While getting dressed
ř	When going out for the evening
ř	After leaving work
ī	On arrival at work
ř	While watching TV
ř	While gardening
ř	In public buildings
ī	While walking down the street
ř	At work
Ē	Inside my house
ľ	Anywhere inside or around my house
ř	In the presence of certain relatives (such as parents grandparents in-laws
ī	In presence of my spouse partner or children
ì	Inside the houses of non-smokers
ŕ	In other neoples' cars
Ì	
i	In a bar
i	During recreation (bowling etc.)
1999 L	_ During recreation (bowning, ctc)

4

UWIST MOOD ADJECTIVE CHECKLIST

Instructions

This section of the questionnaire is concerned with your current feelings. Please answer every question, even if you find it difficult. Answer, as honestly as you can, what is true of you. Please do not choose a reply just because it seems like the 'right thing to say'. Your answers will be kept entirely confidential. Also, be sure to answer according to how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. Don't just put down how you usually feel. You should try and work quite quickly: there is no need to think very hard about the answers. The first answer you think of is usually the best.

Here is a list of words that describe people's moods or feelings. Please indicate how well each word describes how you feel **AT THE MOMENT**. For each word, circle the answer from 1 to 4 which best describes your mood.

Definitely Slightly	Slightly Not	Definitely Not
1. Happy 1 2	3	4
2. Dissatisfied 1 2	3	4
3. Energetic 1 2	3	4
4. Relaxed 1 2	3	4
5. Alert	. 3	4
6. Nervous 1 2	3	4
7. Passive 1 2	3	4
8. Cheerful 1 2	3	4
9. Tense 1 2	3	4
10. Jittery 1 2	3	4
11. Sluggish 1 2	3	4
12. Sorry 1 2	3	4
13. Composed 1 2	- 3,	4
14. Depressed 1 2	3	4
15. Restful 1. 2	3	4
16. Vigorous 1 2	3	4
17 Anxious 1 2	13	4
18. Satisfied 1 2	3	4
19. Unenterprising 1 2	3	4
20. Sad 1 2	3	4
21. Calm 1 2	3	4
22. Active 1 2	3	4
23. Contented 1 2	3	4
24. Tired 1 2	3	4
25. Impatient 1 2	3	4
26. Annoyed 1 2	3	4
27. Angry 1 2	3	4
28. Irritated 1 2	3	4
29. Grouchy 1 2	3.00	4

FAGERSTRÖM TEST (current smoker)

Instructions

Please answer the following questions so as to reflect your current smoking behaviour. Indicate your response to each question by ticking the appropriate box below it.

1. How soon after you wake up do you smoke your first cigarette?



2. Do you find it difficult to not smoke in places where you shouldn't, such as in church, in school, in a movie, at the library, on the bus, in court, or in the hospital?

] Yes No

3. Which cigarette would you most hate to give up-which cigarette do you treasure the most?

The first one in the morning Any other one

4. How many cigarettes do you smoke each day?

10 or fewer 11-20 21-30 31 or more

5. Do you smoke more during the first few hours after waking up than during the rest of the day?

6. Do you still smoke if you are so sick that you are in bed most of the day-or if you have a cold or the flu and have trouble breathing?

Yes No



QSU-BRIEF FORM

Instructions

Indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by circling the appropriate score on the scale below it, ranging from 1 (you strongly disagree with the statement above) to 7 (you strongly agree with the statement above). Please complete every item. We are interested in how you are thinking or feeling right now as you are filling out the questionnaire.

1. I have a	desire for a	cigarette	e right no	OW.					
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
2. Nothing	would be b	etter than	n smokir	ng a ciga	rette righ	nt now.			
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
3. If it were	e possible, I	probabl	y would	smoke n	iow.				
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
4. I could c	control thing	gs better	right nov	w if I cou	uld smok	æ.			
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
5. All I wa	ant right no	ow is a c	cigarette	e.					
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
6. I have an	n urge for a	cigarette							
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
7. A cigare	tte would ta	iste good	l now.						
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
8. I would	do almost a	nything	for a cig	arette rig	ght now.				
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
9. Smoking	g would ma	ke me le:	ss depres	ssed.					
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
10. I am goi	ng to smok	e as soon	as poss	ible.					
Strongly Dis	sagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree